SERVICES AGREEMENT

(1) THE SECRETARY OF STATE FOR THE HOME DEPARTMENT (ACTING THROUGH UK VISAS & IMMIGRATION)

and

(2) VF WORLDWIDE HOLDINGS LIMITED

AGREEMENT

relating to

Visa and Citizenship Application Services (VCAS)

Lot 4: Asia and Asia Pacific

Contains public sector information licensed under the Open Government Licence v3.0 available at http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/

CONTENTS

SEC1	ΓΙΟΝ A – PRELIMINARIES	1
1	DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION	1
2	DUE DILIGENCE	3
3	WARRANTIES	4
SEC1	FION B – THE SERVICES	7
4	TERM	7
5	SERVICES	8
6	IMPLEMENTATION	13
7	PERFORMANCE INDICATORS	14
8	SERVICES IMPROVEMENT	
9	EQUIPMENT AND MAINTENANCE	18
SEC ₁	TION C – PAYMENT, TAXATION AND VALUE FOR MONEY	
PRO\	/ISIONS	19
10	FINANCIAL AND TAXATION MATTERS	19
SEC1	FION D – CONTRACT GOVERNANCE	
11	GOVERNANCE	21
12	RECORDS, REPORTS, AUDITS & OPEN BOOK DATA	21
13	CHANGE	
SEC1	TION E – SUPPLIER PERSONNEL AND SUPPLY CHAIN	23
14	SUPPLIER PERSONNEL	
15	SUPPLY CHAIN RIGHTS AND PROTECTIONS	
SEC1	FION F - INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY, DATA AND	
	FIDENTIALITY	35
16	INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS	35
17	TRANSFER AND LICENCES GRANTED BY THE SUPPLIER	
18	LICENCES GRANTED BY THE AUTHORITY	41
19	IPRs INDEMNITY	42
20	OPEN SOURCE PUBLICATION	
21	AUTHORITY DATA AND SECURITY REQUIREMENTS	44
22	CONFIDENTIALITY	
23	TRANSPARENCY AND FREEDOM OF INFORMATION	
24	PROTECTION OF PERSONAL DATA	49
25	PUBLICITY AND BRANDING	58
	FION G – LIABILITY, INDEMNITIES AND INSURANCE	60
26	LIMITATIONS ON LIABILITY	
27	INSURANCE	63
SEC1	FION H – REMEDIES AND RELIEF	64
28	RECTIFICATION PLAN PROCESS	
29	DELAY PAYMENTS	66
30	REMEDIAL ADVISER	66
31	STEP-IN RIGHTS	68
32	AUTHORITY CAUSE	70
33	FORCE MAJEURE	72
	FION I – TERMINATION AND EXIT MANAGEMENT	
34	TERMINATION RIGHTS	75
35	CONSEQUENCES OF EXPIRY OR TERMINATION	
	TION J – MISCELLANEOUS AND GOVERNING LAW	
36	COMPLIANCE	

37	ASSIGNMENT AND NOVATION	81
38	WAIVER AND CUMULATIVE REMEDIES	81
39	RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES	81
40	PREVENTION OF FRAUD AND BRIBERY	82
41	SEVERANCE	83
42	FURTHER ASSURANCES	84
43	ENTIRE AGREEMENT	84
44	THIRD PARTY RIGHTS	84
45	NOTICES	84
46	DISPUTES	86
47	GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION	86

SCHEDULES

4		e-	- 4 -	
1	1)	efin	111	nne
- 1	\boldsymbol{L}	CIIII		UHIJ

2. Service Requirements

- 2.1 Services Description
- 2.2 Performance Levels
- 2.3 Standards
- 2.4 Security Management
- 2.5 Insurance Requirements

3. Authority Responsibilities

4. Supplier Matters

- 4.1 Supplier Solution
- 4.2 Commercially Sensitive Information
- 4.3 Notified Key Sub-contractors
- 4.4 Third Party Contracts

5. **Software**

6. **Implementation and Testing**

- 6.1 Implementation Plan
- 6.2 Testing Procedures

7. Financial Matters

- 7.1 Charges and Invoicing
- 7.2 Payments on Termination
- 7.3 Benchmarking
- 7.4 Financial Distress
- 7.5 Financial Reports and Audit Rights

8. Governance

- 8.1 Governance
- 8.2 Change Control Procedure
- 8.3 Dispute Resolution Procedure
- 8.4 Reports and Records Provisions
- 8.5 Exit Management
- 8.6 Service Continuity Plan and Corporate Resolution Planning
- 8.7 Conduct of Claims

9. **Employment**

- 9.1 Staff Transfer
- 9.2 Key Personnel

10. Guarantee

11. Processing Personal Data

BETWEEN:

- (1) The Secretary of State for the Home Department of 2 Marsham Street, London SW1P 4DF acting through UK Visas & Immigration (the "Authority"); and
- (2) VF WORLDWIDE HOLDINGS LIMITED a company registered in Dubai International Financial Center under registered number 5973 whose registered office is at Unit Office GV08/L02/201, Level 2, Gate Village Building 08, Dubai International Financial Center, Dubai, (the "Supplier")

(each a "Party" and together the "Parties").

INTRODUCTION

- (A) The Authority is responsible for making decisions on who has the right to visit or stay in the United Kingdom and for making decisions on passport applications. The Authority wishes to procure a global network of Visa & Citizenship Application Services Centers for the delivery of customer facing activities in relation to these responsibilities.
- (B) On 08 December 2021 the Authority advertised in the Find a Tender service (reference 2021/S 000-030608), inviting prospective suppliers to submit proposals for the provision of certain services in support of UK Visas & Immigration and Her Majesty's Passport Office activities.
- (C) The Supplier is a leading provider of outsourced visa and passport application services and associated technology services and has experience in the provision of such services.
- (D) On the basis of the Supplier's response to the advertisement and a subsequent tender process, the Authority selected the Supplier as its preferred supplier.
- (E) The Parties have agreed to contract with each other in accordance with the terms and conditions set out below.

IT IS AGREED as follows:

SECTION A - PRELIMINARIES

1 <u>DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION</u>

- 1.1 In this Agreement, unless otherwise provided or the context otherwise requires, capitalised expressions shall have the meanings set out in Schedule 1 (*Definitions*) or the relevant Schedule in which that capitalised expression appears.
- 1.2 In this Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires:
 - (a) the singular includes the plural and vice versa;
 - (b) reference to a gender includes the other gender and the neuter;

- (c) references to a person include an individual, company, body corporate, corporation, unincorporated association, firm, partnership or other legal entity or Central Government Body;
- (d) a reference to any Law includes a reference to that Law as amended, extended, consolidated or re-enacted from time to time;
- (e) any reference in this Agreement which immediately before Exit Day was a reference to (as it has effect from time to time):
 - (i) any EU regulation, EU decision, EU tertiary legislation or provision of the European Economic Area ("**EEA**") agreement ("**EU References**") which is to form part of domestic law by application of section 3 of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 shall be read on and after Exit Day as a reference to the EU References as they form part of domestic law by virtue of section 3 of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 as modified by domestic law from time to time; and
 - (ii) any EU institution or EU authority or other such EU body shall be read on and after Exit Day as a reference to the UK institution, authority or body to which its functions were transferred:
- (f) the words "including", "other", "in particular", "for example" and similar words shall not limit the generality of the preceding words and shall be construed as if they were immediately followed by the words "without limitation";
- (g) references to "writing" include typing, printing, lithography, photography, display on a screen, electronic and facsimile transmission and other modes of representing or reproducing words in a visible form, and expressions referring to writing shall be construed accordingly;
- (h) the headings are for ease of reference only and shall not affect the interpretation or construction of this Agreement;
- (i) unless otherwise provided and save for references in Annexes 1 to 3 of Schedule 5 (*Software*) and in Schedule 10 (*Guarantee*), references to Clauses and Schedules are references to the clauses and schedules of this Agreement and references in any Schedule to Paragraphs, Parts and Annexes are, unless otherwise provided, references to the paragraphs, parts and annexes of the Schedule or the Part of the Schedule in which the references appear; and
- references to this Agreement are references to this Agreement as amended from time to time.
- 1.3 Where a standard, policy or document is referred to in this Agreement by reference to a hyperlink, then if the hyperlink is changed or no longer provides access to the relevant standard, policy or document, the Supplier shall notify

- the Authority and the Parties shall update this Agreement with a reference to the replacement hyperlink.
- 1.4 If there is any conflict between the Clauses and the Schedules and/or any Annexes to the Schedules, the conflict shall be resolved in accordance with the following order of precedence:
 - (a) the Clauses and Schedule 1 (*Definitions*);
 - (b) Schedules 2.1 (Services Description) and 2.2 (Performance Levels) and their Annexes;
 - (c) any other Schedules and their Annexes (other than Schedule 4.1 (Supplier Solution) and its Annexes); and
 - (d) Schedule 4.1 (Supplier Solution) and its Annexes (if any).
- 1.5 The Schedules and their Annexes form part of this Agreement.
- 1.6 In entering into this Agreement the Authority is acting as part of the Crown.

2 **DUE DILIGENCE**

- 2.1 The Supplier acknowledges that, subject to the Allowable Assumptions:
 - (a) the Authority has delivered or made available to the Supplier all of the information and documents that the Supplier considers necessary or relevant for the performance of its obligations under this Agreement;
 - (b) it has made its own enquiries to satisfy itself as to the accuracy and adequacy of the Due Diligence Information;
 - (c) it has satisfied itself (whether by inspection or having raised all relevant due diligence questions with the Authority before the Effective Date) of all relevant details relating to:
 - (i) the Authority Requirements;
 - (ii) the suitability of the existing and (to the extent that it is defined or reasonably foreseeable at the Effective Date) future Operating Environment;
 - (iii) the operating processes and procedures and the working methods of the Authority;
 - (iv) the ownership, functionality, capacity, condition and suitability for use in the Services of the Authority Assets; and
 - (v) the existing contracts (including any licences, support, maintenance and other agreements relating to the Operating Environment) referred to in the Due Diligence Information which may be novated to, assigned to or managed by the Supplier under this Agreement and/or which the Supplier will require the benefit of for the provision of the Services; and

- (d) it has advised the Authority in writing of:
 - (i) each aspect, if any, of the Operating Environment that is not suitable for the provision of the Services;
 - (ii) the actions needed to remedy each such unsuitable aspect; and
 - (iii) a timetable for and, to the extent that such costs are to be payable to the Supplier, the costs of those actions,

and such actions, timetable and costs are fully reflected in this Agreement, including the Services Description and/or Authority Responsibilities as applicable.

- 2.2 The Supplier shall not be excused from the performance of any of its obligations under this Agreement on the grounds of, nor, subject to Clause 2.3, shall the Supplier be entitled to recover any additional costs or charges, arising as a result of:
 - (a) any unsuitable aspects of the Operating Environment;
 - (b) any misinterpretation of the Authority Requirements; and/or
 - (c) any failure by the Supplier to satisfy itself as to the accuracy and/or adequacy of the Due Diligence Information.
- 2.3 The Parties shall comply with the provisions of Paragraph 6 of Part C of Schedule 7.1 (*Charges and Invoicing*) in relation to the verification of any Allowable Assumptions.

3 WARRANTIES

- 3.1 The Authority represents and warrants that:
 - (a) it has full capacity and authority to enter into and to perform this Agreement;
 - (b) this Agreement is executed by its duly authorised representative;
 - there are no actions, suits or proceedings or regulatory investigations before any court or administrative body or arbitration tribunal pending or, to its knowledge, threatened against it that might affect its ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement; and
 - (d) its obligations under this Agreement constitute its legal, valid and binding obligations, enforceable in accordance with their respective terms subject to applicable bankruptcy, reorganisation, insolvency, moratorium or similar Laws affecting creditors' rights generally and subject, as to enforceability, to equitable principles of general application (regardless of whether enforcement is sought in a proceeding in equity or law).

- 3.2 The Supplier represents and warrants that:
 - (a) it is validly incorporated, organised and subsisting in accordance with the Laws of its place of incorporation;
 - (b) it has full capacity and authority to enter into and to perform this Agreement;
 - (c) this Agreement is executed by its duly authorised representative;
 - (d) it has all necessary consents and regulatory approvals to enter into this Agreement;
 - (e) it has notified the Authority in writing of any actions, suits or proceedings or regulatory investigations before any court or administrative body or arbitration tribunal pending or, to its knowledge, any threatened against it or any of its Affiliates that might affect its ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement;
 - (f) its execution, delivery and performance of its obligations under this Agreement will not constitute a breach of any Law or obligation applicable to it and will not cause or result in a default under any agreement by which it is bound;
 - (g) its obligations under this Agreement constitute its legal, valid and binding obligations, enforceable in accordance with their respective terms subject to applicable bankruptcy, reorganisation, insolvency, moratorium or similar Laws affecting creditors' rights generally and subject, as to enforceability, to equitable principles of general application (regardless of whether enforcement is sought in a proceeding in equity or law);
 - (h) all written statements and representations in any written submissions made by the Supplier as part of the procurement process, including without limitation its response to the selection questionnaire and ITT (if applicable), its tender and any other documents submitted remain true and accurate except to the extent that such statements and representations have been superseded or varied by this Agreement or to the extent that the Supplier has otherwise disclosed to the Authority in writing prior to the date of this Agreement;
 - (i) it has notified the Authority in writing of any Occasions of Tax Non-Compliance and any litigation in which it is involved that is in connection with any Occasion of Tax Non-Compliance;
 - (j) it has all necessary rights in and to the Licensed Software, the Third Party IPRs, the Supplier Background IPRs and any other materials made available by the Supplier (and/or any Sub-contractor) to the Authority which are necessary for the performance of the Supplier's obligations under this Agreement and/or the receipt of the Services by the Authority;

- (k) the Baseline Financial Model is a true and accurate reflection of the Costs and Supplier Profit Margin forecast by the Supplier and the Supplier does not have any other internal financial model in relation to the Services inconsistent with the Financial Model;
- (I) it is not subject to any contractual obligation, compliance with which is likely to have a material adverse effect on its ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement;
- (m) no proceedings or other steps have been taken and not discharged (nor, to the best of its knowledge, are threatened) for the winding up of the Supplier or for its dissolution or for the appointment of a receiver, administrative receiver, liquidator, manager, administrator or similar officer in relation to any of the Supplier's assets or revenue; and
- (n) within the previous 12 months, no Financial Distress Events have occurred or are subsisting (or any events that would be deemed to be Financial Distress Events under this Agreement had this Agreement been in force) and there are currently no matters that it is aware of that could cause a Financial Distress Event to occur or subsist.
- 3.3 The representations and warranties set out in Clause 3.2 shall be deemed to be repeated by the Supplier on the Effective Date (if later than the date of signature of this Agreement) by reference to the facts then existing.
- 3.4 Each of the representations and warranties set out in Clauses 3.1 and 3.2 shall be construed as a separate representation and warranty and shall not be limited or restricted by reference to, or inference from, the terms of any other representation, warranty or any other undertaking in this Agreement.
- 3.5 If at any time a Party becomes aware that a representation or warranty given by it under Clause 3.1 or 3.2 has been breached, is untrue or is misleading, it shall immediately notify the other Party of the relevant occurrence in sufficient detail to enable the other Party to make an accurate assessment of the situation.
- 3.6 For the avoidance of doubt, the fact that any provision within this Agreement is expressed as a warranty shall not preclude any right of termination which the Authority may have in respect of breach of that provision by the Supplier.
- 3.7 Except as expressly stated in this Agreement, all warranties and conditions whether express or implied by statute, common law or otherwise are hereby excluded to the extent permitted by Law.

SECTION B - THE SERVICES

4 TERM

- 4.1 This Agreement shall:
 - (a) come into force on the Effective Date, save for Clauses 1 (Definitions and Interpretation), 3 (Warranties), 4 (Term), 22 (Confidentiality), 23 (Transparency and Freedom of Information), 25 (Publicity and Branding), 26 (Limitations on Liability), 38 (Waiver and Cumulative Remedies), 39 (Relationship of the Parties), 41 (Severance), 43 (Entire Agreement), 44 (Third Party Rights), 45 (Notices), 46 (Disputes) and 47 (Governing Law and Jurisdiction), which shall be binding and enforceable as between the Parties from the date of signature; and
 - (b) unless terminated at an earlier date by operation of Law or in accordance with Clause 34 (*Termination Rights*), terminate:
 - (i) at the end of the Initial Term; or
 - (ii) if the Authority elects to extend by giving the Supplier at least six (6) Months' notice before the end of the Initial Term, at the end of the first year of the Extension Period; or
 - (iii) if the Authority elects to extend by giving the Supplier at least six (6) Months' notice before the end of the first year of the Extension Period, at the end of the second year of the Extension Period; or
 - (iv) if the Authority elects to extend by giving the Supplier at least six (6) Months' notice before the end of the second year of the Extension Period, at the end of the Extension Period.

Condition Precedent

- 4.2 Save for Clauses 1 (Definitions and Interpretation), 3 (Warranties), 4 (Term), 22 (Confidentiality), 23 (Transparency and Freedom of Information), 25 (Publicity and Branding), 26 (Limitations on Liability), 38 (Waiver and Cumulative Remedies), 39 (Relationship of the Parties), 41 (Severance), 43 (Entire Agreement), 44 (Third Party Rights), 45 (Notices), 46 (Disputes) and 47 (Governing Law and Jurisdiction), this Agreement is conditional upon the valid execution and delivery to the Authority of the Guarantee (the "Condition Precedent"). The Authority may in its sole discretion at any time agree to waive compliance with the Condition Precedent by giving the Supplier notice in writing.
- 4.3 The Supplier shall satisfy, or procure the satisfaction of, the Condition Precedent as soon as possible. In the event that the Condition Precedent is not satisfied within 20 Working Days after the date of this Agreement then, unless the Condition Precedent is waived by the Authority in accordance with Clause 4.2:

- (a) this Agreement shall automatically cease and shall not come into effect; and
- (b) neither Party shall have any obligation to pay any compensation to the other Party as a result of such cessation.
- 4.4 The Supplier shall consult with the Authority in relation to the steps it takes to satisfy the condition set out in Clause 4.2 and shall keep the Authority fully informed of its progress in satisfying the condition and of any circumstances which are likely to result in the condition not being satisfied by the date set out in Clause 4.3.

5 **SERVICES**

Standard of Services

- 5.1 The Supplier shall provide:
 - (a) the Implementation Services from (and including) the Implementation Services Commencement Date; and
 - (b) the Operational Services in each case from (and including) the relevant Operational Service Commencement Date.
- 5.2 The Supplier shall ensure that:
 - (a) the Services:
 - (i) comply in all respects with the Services Description; and
 - (ii) are supplied in accordance with the Supplier Solution and the provisions of this Agreement; and
 - (b) where:
 - (i) the Operational Services to be provided from any Operational Service Commencement Date are similar to services that the Authority was receiving immediately prior to that Operational Service Commencement Date (such similar services being "Preceding Services"); and
 - (ii) the standard and level of service received by the Authority in respect of any of the Preceding Services in the 12 month period immediately prior to that Operational Service Commencement Date have been disclosed to the Supplier in the Due Diligence Information (such preceding services being "Relevant Preceding Services"),

the Operational Services to be provided from the relevant Operational Service Commencement Date that are similar to the Relevant Preceding Services are in each case provided to a standard and level of service which is at least as good as the standard and level of service received by the Authority in respect of the Relevant Preceding Services in the 12 month period

immediately prior to the relevant Operational Service Commencement Date.

5.3 The Supplier shall:

- (a) perform its obligations under this Agreement, including in relation to the supply of the Services and any Goods in accordance with:
 - (i) all applicable Law;
 - (ii) Good Industry Practice;
 - (iii) the Standards;
 - (iv) the Baseline Security Requirements;
 - (v) the Quality Plans;
 - (vi) the Authority IT Strategy; and
 - (vii) the Supplier's own established procedures and practices to the extent the same do not conflict with the requirements of Clauses 5.3(a)(i) to 5.3(a)(vi); and
- (b) deliver the Services using efficient business processes and ways of working having regard to the Authority's obligation to ensure value for money.
- In the event that the Supplier becomes aware of any inconsistency between the requirements of Clauses 5.3(a)(i) to 5.3(a)(vi), the Supplier shall immediately notify the Authority Representative in writing of such inconsistency and the Authority Representative shall, as soon as practicable, notify the Supplier which requirement the Supplier shall comply with.

Supplier covenants

- 5.5 The Supplier shall:
 - (a) at all times allocate sufficient resources with the appropriate technical expertise to supply the Deliverables and to provide the Services in accordance with this Agreement;
 - (b) save to the extent that obtaining and maintaining the same are Authority Responsibilities and subject to Clause 13 (*Change*), obtain, and maintain throughout the duration of this Agreement, all the consents, approvals, licenses and permissions (statutory, regulatory contractual or otherwise) it may require and which are necessary for the provision of the Services;
 - (c) ensure that:
 - (i) it shall continue to have all necessary rights in and to the Licensed Software, the Third Party IPRs, the Supplier Background IPRs and any other materials made available by the Supplier (and/or any Sub-contractor) to the Authority

- which are necessary for the performance of the Supplier's obligations under this Agreement and/or the receipt of the Services by the Authority;
- (ii) the release of any new Software or upgrade to any Software complies with the interface requirements in the Services Description and (except in relation to new Software or upgrades which are released to address Malicious Software or to comply with the requirements of Schedule 2.4 (Security Management)) shall notify the Authority 3 months before the release of any new Software or Upgrade;
- (iii) all Software including Upgrades, Updates and New Releases used by or on behalf of the Supplier are currently supported versions of that Software and perform in all material respects in accordance with the relevant specification;
- (iv) any products or services recommended or otherwise specified by the Supplier for use by the Authority in conjunction with the Deliverables and/or the Services shall enable the Deliverables and/or Services to meet the Authority Requirements; and
- (v) the Supplier System and Assets used in the performance of the Services will be free of all encumbrances (except as agreed in writing with the Authority) and will be Euro Compliant;
- (d) minimise any disruption to the Services, the IT Environment and/or the Authority's operations when carrying out its obligations under this Agreement;
- (e) ensure that any Documentation and training provided by the Supplier to the Authority are comprehensive, accurate and prepared in accordance with Good Industry Practice;
- (f) co-operate with the Other Suppliers and provide reasonable information (including any Documentation), advice and assistance in connection with the Services to any Other Supplier to enable such Other Supplier to create and maintain technical or organisational interfaces with the Services and, on the expiry or termination of this Agreement for any reason, to enable the timely transition of the Services (or any of them) to the Authority and/or to any Replacement Supplier;
- (g) to the extent it is legally able to do so, hold on trust for the sole benefit of the Authority, all warranties and indemnities provided by third parties or any Sub-contractor in respect of any Deliverables and/or the Services and, where any such warranties are held on trust, at its cost enforce such warranties in accordance with any reasonable directions that the Authority may notify from time to time to the Supplier;

- (h) unless it is unable to do so, assign to the Authority on the Authority's written request and at the cost of the Supplier any such warranties and/or indemnities as are referred to in Clause 5.5(g);
- (i) provide the Authority with such assistance as the Authority may reasonably require during the Term in respect of the supply of the Services;
- (j) gather, collate and provide such information and co-operation as the Authority may reasonably request for the purposes of ascertaining the Supplier's compliance with its obligations under this Agreement;
- (k) notify the Authority in writing as soon as reasonably possible and in any event within 1 month of any change of Control taking place;
- (I) notify the Authority in writing within 10 Working Days of their occurrence of any actions, suits or proceedings or regulatory investigations before any court or administrative body or arbitration tribunal pending or, to its knowledge, threatened against it that might affect its ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement;
- (m) ensure that neither it, nor any of its Affiliates, embarrasses the Authority or otherwise brings the Authority into disrepute by engaging in any act or omission in relation to this Agreement which is reasonably likely to diminish the trust that the public places in the Authority; and
- (n) manage closure or termination of Services and end of life of Goods to take account of the Authority's disposal requirements, including recycling and scope for re-use, and all applicable Standards.
- 5.6 An obligation on the Supplier to do, or to refrain from doing, any act or thing shall include an obligation upon the Supplier to procure that all Subcontractors and Supplier Personnel also do, or refrain from doing, such act or thing.
- 5.7 Without prejudice to Clauses 19.2 and 19.3 (*IPRs Indemnity*) and any other rights and remedies of the Authority howsoever arising, the Supplier shall:
 - (a) remedy any breach of its obligations in Clauses 5.5(b) to 5.5(d) inclusive within 3 Working Days of becoming aware of the breach or being notified of the breach by the Authority where practicable or within such other time period as may be agreed with the Authority (taking into account the nature of the breach that has occurred);
 - (b) remedy any breach of its obligations in Clause 5.5(a) and Clauses 5.5(e) to 5.5(j) inclusive within 20 Working Days of becoming aware of the breach or being notified of the breach by the Authority; and
 - (c) meet all the costs of, and incidental to, the performance of such remedial work,

and any failure of the Supplier to comply with its obligations under Clause 5.7(a) or Clause 5.7(b) within the specified or agreed timeframe shall constitute a Notifiable Default.

Specially Written Software warranty

- 5.8 Without prejudice to Clauses 5.5 (*Supplier Covenants*) and 5.7 (*Services*) and any other rights and remedies of the Authority howsoever arising, the Supplier warrants to the Authority that all components of the Specially Written Software shall:
 - (a) be free from material design and programming errors;
 - (b) perform in all material respects in accordance with the relevant specifications contained in the Supplier Solution and Documentation; and
 - (c) not infringe any Intellectual Property Rights.

Continuing obligation to provide the Services.

- 5.9 The Supplier shall continue to perform all of its obligations under this Agreement and shall not suspend the supply of the Services, notwithstanding:
 - (a) any withholding of the Service Charges by the Authority pursuant to Clause 7.2(d)(ii) (*Performance Failures*);
 - (b) the existence of an unresolved Dispute; and/or
 - (c) any failure by the Authority to pay any Charges,

unless the Supplier is entitled to terminate this Agreement under Clause 34.3(a) (*Termination by the Supplier*) for failure to pay undisputed Charges.

Optional Services

- 5.10 The Authority may require the Supplier to provide any or all of the Optional Services at any time by giving notice to the Supplier in writing. The Supplier acknowledges that the Authority is not obliged to take any Optional Services from the Supplier and that nothing shall prevent the Authority from receiving services that are the same as or similar to the Optional Services from any third party.
- 5.11 If a Change Request is submitted, the Supplier shall, as part of the Impact Assessment provided by the Supplier in relation to such Change Request, provide details of the impact (if any) that the proposed Change will have on the relevant Optional Services.
- 5.12 Following receipt of the Authority's notice pursuant to Clause 5.10:
 - (a) the Parties shall document the inclusion of the relevant Optional Services within the Services in accordance with the Change Control Procedure, modified to reflect the fact that the terms and conditions on which the Supplier shall provide the relevant Optional Services have already been agreed;

- (b) the Supplier shall implement and test the relevant Optional Services in accordance with the Optional Services Implementation Plan;
- (c) any additional charges for the Optional Services shall be incorporated in the Charges as specified in Paragraph 3 of Part B of Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing); and
- (d) the Supplier shall, from the date agreed in the Optional Services Implementation Plan (or, if later, the date of Achievement of any Milestones associated with the commencement of the relevant Optional Services (if any)), provide the relevant Optional Services to meet or exceed the applicable Target Performance Level in respect of all Performance Indicators applicable to the Optional Services as set out in Annex 1 of Schedule 2.2 (*Performance Levels*).

Power of attorney

5.13 By way of security for the performance of its obligations under Clauses 5.5(g) and 5.5(h) (*Supplier covenants*) the Supplier hereby irrevocably appoints the Authority as its agent and attorney to act with full power and authority in the Supplier's name and on its behalf to do all such acts and execute all such documents as may be necessary or desirable to enforce any such warranties and/or effect any such assignment as are referred to in such Clauses and to delegate one or more of the powers conferred on it by this Clause 5.13 (other than the power to delegate) to officer(s) appointed for that purpose by the Authority and may vary or revoke such delegation at any time.

Authority Responsibilities

5.14 The Authority shall comply with its responsibilities set out in Schedule 3 (*Authority Responsibilities*).

6 IMPLEMENTATION

Quality Plans

- 6.1 The Supplier shall develop, within three (3) Months of the Effective Date, quality plans that ensure that all aspects of the Services are the subject of quality management systems and are consistent with BS EN ISO 9001 or any equivalent standard which is generally recognised as having replaced it ("Quality Plans").
- 6.2 The Supplier shall obtain the Authority Representative's written approval of the Quality Plans before implementing them, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. The Supplier acknowledges and accepts that the Authority's approval shall not act as an endorsement of the Quality Plans and shall not relieve the Supplier of its responsibility for ensuring that the Services are provided to the standard required by this Agreement.
- 6.3 Following the approval by the Authority of the Quality Plans:
 - (a) the Supplier shall design and deliver all Deliverables in accordance with the Quality Plans; and

(b) any Changes to the Quality Plans shall be agreed in accordance with the Change Control Procedure.

Implementation Plan and Delays

- 6.4 The Parties shall comply with the provisions of Schedule 6.1 (*Implementation Plan*) in relation to the agreement and maintenance of the Detailed Implementation Plan.
- 6.5 The Supplier shall:
 - (a) comply with the Implementation Plan; and
 - (b) ensure that each Milestone is Achieved on or before its Milestone Date.
- 6.6 If the Supplier becomes aware that there is, or there is reasonably likely to be, a Delay:
 - (a) it shall:
 - (i) notify the Authority in accordance with Clause 28.1 (*Rectification Plan Process*); and
 - (ii) comply with the Rectification Plan Process in order to address the impact of the Delay or anticipated Delay; and
 - (iii) use all reasonable endeavours to eliminate or mitigate the consequences of any Delay or anticipated Delay; and
 - (b) if the Delay or anticipated Delay relates to a Key Milestone, the provisions of Clause 29 (*Delay Payments*) shall apply.

Testing and Achievement of Milestones

6.7 The Parties shall comply with the provisions of Schedule 6.2 (*Testing Procedures*) in relation to the procedures to determine whether a Milestone or Test has been Achieved.

7 PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

- 7.1 The Supplier shall:
 - (a) provide the Operational Services in such a manner so as to meet or exceed the Target Performance Level for each Performance Indicator from the Milestone Date for each relevant CPP Milestone; and
 - (b) comply with the provisions of Schedule 2.2 (*Performance Levels*) in relation to the monitoring and reporting on its performance against the Performance Indicators.

Performance Failures

- 7.2 If in any Service Period:
 - (a) a KPI Failure occurs, Service Credits shall be deducted from the Service Charges in accordance with Paragraph 3 of Part C of Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing);
 - (b) a Material KPI Failure occurs, the Supplier shall comply with the Rectification Plan Process (in addition to Service Credits accruing in accordance with Clause 7.2(a));
 - (c) a PI Failure occurs, the Supplier shall notify the Authority of the action (if any) it will take to rectify the PI Failure and/or to prevent the PI Failure from recurring; and/or
 - (d) a Material PI Failure occurs:
 - (i) the Supplier shall comply with the Rectification Plan Process; and
 - (ii) the Authority may withhold a proportionate amount of the Service Charges in accordance with the process set out in Clause 10.7 (Set Off and Withholding) until the relevant Material PI Failure is rectified to the reasonable satisfaction of the Authority, at which point the Authority shall pay the amount withheld.
- 7.3 Service Credits shall be the Authority's exclusive financial remedy for a KPI Failure except where:
 - (a) the Supplier has over the previous 12 month period accrued Service Credits in excess of the Service Credit Cap;
 - (b) the KPI Failure:
 - (i) breaches the relevant KPI Service Threshold;
 - (ii) has arisen due to the wilful default by the Supplier or any Supplier Personnel; or
 - (iii) results in:
 - (A) the corruption or loss of any Authority Data (in which case the remedies under Clause 21.7 (*Authority Data and Security Requirements*) shall also be available); and/or
 - (B) the Authority being required to make a compensation payment to one or more third parties;
 - (c) the Supplier has fraudulently misreported its performance against any Performance Indicator; and/or

(d) the Authority is otherwise entitled to or does terminate the relevant Services or this Agreement pursuant to Clause 34.1(b) (*Termination by the Authority*).

Unacceptable KPI Failure

- 7.4 If in any Service Period, an Unacceptable KPI Failure occurs:
 - (a) the Authority shall (subject to the Service Credit Cap set out in Clause 26.4(b) (*Financial and other limits*)) be entitled to withhold and retain as compensation for the Unacceptable KPI Failure a sum equal to any Service Charges which would otherwise have been due to the Supplier in respect of that Service Period (such sum being "Compensation for Unacceptable KPI Failure"); and
 - (b) if the Authority withholds and retains such Compensation for Unacceptable KPI Failure, any Service Points and Service Credits that would otherwise have accrued during the relevant Service Period shall not accrue,

provided that the operation of this Clause 7.4 shall be without prejudice to any right which the Authority may have to terminate this Agreement and/or to claim damages from the Supplier as a result of such Unacceptable KPI Failure.

7.5 The Supplier:

- (a) agrees that the application of Clause 7.4 is commercially justifiable where an Unacceptable KPI Failure occurs; and
- (b) acknowledges that it has taken legal advice on the application of Clause 7.4 and has had the opportunity to price for that risk when calculating the Service Charges.

Critical Performance Failure

7.6 If a Critical Performance Failure occurs, the Authority may exercise its rights to terminate this Agreement in whole or in part pursuant to Clause 34.1 or 34.2 (*Termination by the Authority*).

Changes to Performance Indicators and Service Credits

- 7.7 Not more than once in each Contract Year the Authority may, on giving the Supplier at least 3 months' notice:
 - (a) change the weighting that applies in respect of one or more specific Key Performance Indicators; and/or
 - (b) convert one or more:
 - (i) Key Performance Indicators into a Subsidiary Performance Indicator; and/or
 - (ii) Subsidiary Performance Indicators into a Key Performance Indicator (in which event the Authority shall also set out in the

notice details of what will constitute a Minor KPI Failure and a Material KPI Failure for the new Key Performance Indicator).

- 7.8 The Supplier shall not be entitled to object to any changes made by the Authority under Clause 7.7, or increase the Service Charges as a result of such changes provided that:
 - (a) the total number of Key Performance Indicators does not exceed 20;
 - (b) the principal purpose of the change is to reflect changes in the Authority's business requirements and/or priorities or to reflect changing industry standards; and
 - (c) there is no change to the Service Credit Cap.

8 SERVICES IMPROVEMENT

- 8.1 The Supplier shall have an ongoing obligation throughout the Term to identify new or potential improvements to the Services in accordance with this Clause 8. As part of this obligation the Supplier shall identify and report to the Programme Board once every 12 months on:
 - (a) the emergence of new and evolving relevant technologies which could improve the IT Environment and/or the Services, and those technological advances potentially available to the Supplier and the Authority which the Parties may wish to adopt;
 - (b) new or potential improvements to the Services including the quality, responsiveness, procedures, benchmarking methods, likely performance mechanisms and customer support services in relation to the Services;
 - (c) new or potential improvements to the interfaces or integration of the Services with other services provided by third parties or the Authority which might result in efficiency or productivity gains or in reduction of operational risk;
 - (d) changes in business processes and ways of working that would enable the Services to be delivered at lower cost and/or with greater benefits to the Authority; and/or
 - (e) changes to the IT Environment, business processes and ways of working that would enable reductions in the total energy consumed in the delivery of Services.
- 8.2 The Supplier shall ensure that the information that it provides to the Authority shall be sufficient for the Authority to decide whether any improvement should be implemented. The Supplier shall provide any further information that the Authority requests.
- 8.3 If the Authority wishes to incorporate any improvement identified by the Supplier the Authority shall send the Supplier a Change Request in accordance with the Change Control Procedure.

9 EQUIPMENT AND MAINTENANCE

Supplier Equipment

- 9.1 The Supplier shall be solely responsible for the cost of carriage of Supplier Equipment to the Sites and to the Authority Premises, including its off-loading, removal of all packaging and all other associated costs. Likewise on termination or expiry of this Agreement the Supplier shall be responsible for the removal and safe disposal of all relevant Supplier Equipment from the Sites and the Authority Premises, including the cost of packing, carriage and making good the Sites and/or the Authority Premises following removal, and taking account of any sustainability requirements, including safe removal of data and recycling requirements.
- 9.2 All the Supplier's property, including Supplier Equipment, shall remain at the sole risk and responsibility of the Supplier, except that the Authority shall be liable for loss of or damage to any of the Supplier's property located on Authority Premises which is due to the negligent act or omission of the Authority.
- 9.3 Subject to any express provision of the Service Continuity Plan to the contrary, the loss or destruction for any reason of any Supplier Equipment shall not relieve the Supplier of its obligation to supply the Services in accordance with this Agreement, including the Target Performance Levels.

Maintenance

- 9.4 The Supplier shall create and maintain a rolling schedule of planned maintenance to the IT Environment (the "Maintenance Schedule") which shall be agreed with the Authority. Once the Maintenance Schedule has been agreed with the Authority Representative, the Supplier shall only undertake such planned maintenance (which shall be known as "Permitted Maintenance") in accordance with the Maintenance Schedule.
- 9.5 The Supplier shall give as much notice as is reasonably practicable to the Authority Representative prior to carrying out any Emergency Maintenance.
- 9.6 The Supplier shall carry out any necessary maintenance (whether Permitted Maintenance or Emergency Maintenance) where it reasonably suspects that the IT Environment or the Services or any part thereof has or may have developed a fault. Any such maintenance shall be carried out in such a manner and at such times so as to avoid (or where this is not possible so as to minimise) disruption to the IT Environment and the Services.

SECTION C - PAYMENT, TAXATION AND VALUE FOR MONEY PROVISIONS

10 FINANCIAL AND TAXATION MATTERS

Charges and Invoicing

- 10.1 In consideration of the Supplier carrying out its obligations under this Agreement, including the provision of the Services, the Authority shall pay the Charges to the Supplier in accordance with the pricing and payment profile and the invoicing procedure specified in Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing).
- 10.2 Except as otherwise provided, each Party shall each bear its own costs and expenses incurred in respect of compliance with its obligations under Clauses 6.7 (Testing and Achievement of Milestones), 12 (Records, Reports, Audits and Open Book Data), 23 (Transparency and Freedom of Information), 24 (Protection of Personal Data) and, to the extent specified therein, Clause 30 (Remedial Adviser) and Clause 31 (Step-In Rights).
- 10.3 If the Authority fails to pay any undisputed Charges properly invoiced under this Agreement, the Supplier shall have the right to charge interest on the overdue amount at the applicable rate under the Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998, accruing on a daily basis from the due date up to the date of actual payment, whether before or after judgment.

VAT

- 10.4 The Charges are stated exclusive of VAT, which shall be added at the prevailing rate as applicable and paid by the Authority following delivery of a valid VAT invoice.
- 10.5 The Supplier shall indemnify the Authority on a continuing basis against any liability, including any interest, penalties or costs incurred, that is levied, demanded or assessed on the Authority at any time in respect of the Supplier's failure to account for or to pay any VAT relating to payments made to the Supplier under this Agreement. Any amounts due under this Clause 10.5 shall be paid in cleared funds by the Supplier to the Authority not less than five Working Days before the date upon which the tax or other liability is payable by the Authority.

Set-off and Withholding

- 10.6 The Authority may set off any amount owed by the Supplier to the Crown or any part of the Crown (including the Authority) against any amount due to the Supplier under this Agreement or under any other agreement between the Supplier and the Authority.
- 10.7 If the Authority wishes to:
 - (a) set off any amount owed by the Supplier to the Crown or any part of the Crown (including the Authority) against any amount due to the Supplier pursuant to Clause 10.6; or

(b) exercise its right pursuant to Clause 7.2(d)(ii) (*Performance Failures*) to withhold payment of a proportion of the Service Charges,

it shall give notice to the Supplier within thirty (30) days of receipt of the relevant invoice, setting out the Authority's reasons for withholding or retaining the relevant Charges.

Benchmarking

10.8 The Parties shall comply with the provisions of Schedule 7.3 (*Benchmarking*) in relation to the benchmarking of any or all of the Services.

Financial Distress

10.9 The Parties shall comply with the provisions of Schedule 7.4 (*Financial Distress*) in relation to the assessment of the financial standing of the Supplier and other specified entities and the consequences of a change to that financial standing.

Promoting Tax Compliance

- 10.10 If, at any point during the Term, an Occasion of Tax Non-Compliance occurs, the Supplier shall:
 - (a) notify the Authority in writing of such fact within 5 Working Days of its occurrence; and
 - (b) promptly provide to the Authority:
 - (i) details of the steps which the Supplier is taking to address the Occasion of Tax Non-Compliance and to prevent the same from recurring, together with any mitigating factors that it considers relevant; and
 - (ii) such other information in relation to the Occasion of Tax Non-Compliance as the Authority may reasonably require.

SECTION D - CONTRACT GOVERNANCE

11 GOVERNANCE

11.1 The Parties shall comply with the provisions of Schedule 8.1 (*Governance*) in relation to the management and governance of this Agreement.

Representatives

- 11.2 Each Party shall have a representative for the duration of this Agreement who shall have the authority to act on behalf of their respective Party on the matters set out in, or in connection with, this Agreement.
- 11.3 The initial Supplier Representative shall be the person named as such in Schedule 9.2 (*Key Personnel*). Any change to the Supplier Representative shall be agreed in accordance with Clause 14 (*Supplier Personnel*).
- 11.4 The Authority shall notify the Supplier of the identity of the initial Authority Representative within 5 Working Days of the Effective Date. The Authority may, by written notice to the Supplier, revoke or amend the authority of the Authority Representative or appoint a new Authority Representative.

12 RECORDS, REPORTS, AUDITS & OPEN BOOK DATA

- 12.1 The Supplier shall comply with the provisions of:
 - (a) Schedule 8.4 (*Reports and Records Provisions*) in relation to the maintenance and retention of Records; and
 - (b) Part A of Schedule 7.5 (*Financial Reports and Audit Rights*) in relation to the maintenance of Open Book Data.
- 12.2 The Parties shall comply with the provisions of:
 - (a) Part B of Schedule 7.5 (*Financial Reports and Audit Rights*) in relation to the provision of the Financial Reports; and
 - (b) Part C of Schedule 7.5 (*Financial Reports and Audit Rights*) in relation to the exercise of the Audit Rights by the Authority or any Audit Agents.

13 CHANGE

Change Control Procedure

13.1 Any requirement for a Change shall be subject to the Change Control Procedure.

Change in Law

- 13.2 The Supplier shall neither be relieved of its obligations to supply the Services in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement nor be entitled to an increase in the Charges as the result of:
 - (a) a General Change in Law; or

- (b) a Specific Change in Law where the effect of that Specific Change in Law on the Services is reasonably foreseeable at the Effective Date.
- 13.3 If a Specific Change in Law occurs or will occur during the Term (other than as referred to in Clause 13.2(b)), the Supplier shall:
 - (a) notify the Authority as soon as reasonably practicable of the likely effects of that change, including:
 - (i) whether any Change is required to the Services, the Charges or this Agreement; and
 - (ii) whether any relief from compliance with the Supplier's obligations is required, including any obligation to Achieve a Milestone and/or to meet the Target Performance Levels; and
 - (b) provide the Authority with evidence:
 - that the Supplier has minimised any increase in costs or maximised any reduction in costs, including in respect of the costs of its Sub-contractors;
 - (ii) as to how the Specific Change in Law has affected the cost of providing the Services; and
 - (iii) demonstrating that any expenditure that has been avoided, for example which would have been required under the provisions of Clause 8 (Services Improvement), has been taken into account in amending the Charges.
- 13.4 Any variation in the Charges or relief from the Supplier's obligations resulting from a Specific Change in Law (other than as referred to in Clause 13.2(b)) shall be implemented in accordance with the Change Control Procedure.

SECTION E - SUPPLIER PERSONNEL AND SUPPLY CHAIN

14 SUPPLIER PERSONNEL

14.1 The Supplier shall:

- (a) Provide in advance of any admission to Authority Premises a list of the names of all Supplier Personnel requiring such admission, specifying the capacity in which they require admission and giving such other particulars as the Authority may reasonably require;
- (b) ensure that all Supplier Personnel:
 - (i) are appropriately qualified, trained and experienced to provide the Services with all reasonable skill, care and diligence;
 - (ii) are vetted in accordance with Good Industry Practice and, where applicable, the security requirements set out in Schedule 2.1 (Services Description) and Schedule 2.4 (Security Management); and
 - (iii) comply with all reasonable requirements of the Authority concerning conduct at the Authority Premises, including the security requirements as set out in Schedule 2.4 (Security Management);
- (c) subject to Schedule 9.1 (*Staff Transfer*), retain overall control of the Supplier Personnel at all times so that the Supplier Personnel shall not be deemed to be employees, agents or contractors of the Authority;
- (d) be liable at all times for all acts or omissions of Supplier Personnel, so that any act or omission of a member of any Supplier Personnel which results in a Default under this Agreement shall be a Default by the Supplier;
- (e) use all reasonable endeavours to minimise the number of changes in Supplier Personnel;
- (f) replace (temporarily or permanently, as appropriate) any Supplier Personnel as soon as practicable if any Supplier Personnel have been removed or are unavailable for any reason whatsoever;
- (g) bear the programme familiarisation and other costs associated with any replacement of any Supplier Personnel; and
- (h) procure that the Supplier Personnel shall vacate the Authority Premises immediately upon the termination or expiry of this Agreement.

- 14.2 If the Authority reasonably believes that any of the Supplier Personnel are unsuitable to undertake work in respect of this Agreement, it may:
 - (a) refuse admission to the relevant person(s) to the Authority Premises; and/or
 - (b) direct the Supplier to end the involvement in the provision of the Services of the relevant person(s).

Key Personnel

- 14.3 The Supplier shall ensure that the Key Personnel fulfil the Key Roles at all times during the Term. Schedule 9.2 (*Key Personnel*) lists the Key Roles and names of the persons who the Supplier shall appoint to fill those Key Roles at the Effective Date.
- 14.4 The Authority may identify any further roles as being Key Roles and, following agreement to the same by the Supplier, the relevant person selected to fill those Key Roles shall be included on the list of Key Personnel.
- 14.5 The Supplier shall not remove or replace any Key Personnel (including when carrying out Exit Management) unless:
 - (a) requested to do so by the Authority;
 - (b) the person concerned resigns, retires or dies or is on maternity leave, paternity leave or shared parental leave or long-term sick leave;
 - (c) the person's employment or contractual arrangement with the Supplier or a Sub-contractor is terminated for material breach of contract by the employee; or
 - (d) the Supplier obtains the Authority's prior written consent (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed).

14.6 The Supplier shall:

- (a) notify the Authority promptly of the absence of any Key Personnel (other than for short-term sickness or holidays of 2 weeks or less, in which case the Supplier shall ensure appropriate temporary cover for that Key Role):
- (b) ensure that any Key Role is not vacant for any longer than 10 Working Days;
- (c) give as much notice as is reasonably practicable of its intention to remove or replace any member of Key Personnel and, except in the cases of death, unexpected ill health or a material breach of the Key Personnel's employment contract, this will mean at least 60 Working Days' notice;
- (d) ensure that all arrangements for planned changes in Key Personnel provide adequate periods during which incoming and outgoing

personnel work together to transfer responsibilities and ensure that such change does not have an adverse impact on the performance of the Services; and

- (e) ensure that any replacement for a Key Role:
 - (i) has a level of qualifications and experience appropriate to the relevant Key Role; and
 - (ii) is fully competent to carry out the tasks assigned to the Key Personnel whom he or she has replaced.

Employment Indemnity

- 14.7 The Parties agree that other than to the extent covered by the indemnities set out in Schedule 9.1 (*Staff Transfer*):
 - (a) the Supplier shall both during and after the Term indemnify the Authority against all Employee Liabilities that may arise as a result of any claims brought against the Authority by any person where such claim arises from any act or omission of the Supplier or any Supplier Personnel; and
 - (b) the Authority shall both during and after the Term indemnify the Supplier against all Employee Liabilities that may arise as a result of any claims brought against the Supplier by any person where such claim arises from any act or omission of the Authority or any of the Authority's employees, agents, consultants and contractors.

Income Tax and National Insurance Contributions

- 14.8 Where the Supplier or any Supplier Personnel are liable to be taxed in the UK or to pay national insurance contributions in respect of consideration received under this Agreement, the Supplier shall:
 - (a) at all times comply with the Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions)
 Act 2003 and all other statutes and regulations relating to income
 tax, and the Social Security Contributions and Benefits Act 1992
 and all other statutes and regulations relating to national insurance
 contributions, in respect of that consideration; and
 - (b) indemnify the Authority against any income tax, national insurance and social security contributions and any other liability, deduction, contribution, assessment or claim arising from or made in connection with the provision of the Services by the Supplier or any Supplier Personnel.

Staff Transfer

- 14.9 The Parties agree that:
 - (a) where the commencement of the provision of the Services or any part of the Services results in one or more Relevant Transfers, Schedule 9.1 (*Staff Transfer*) shall apply as follows:

- (i) where the Relevant Transfer involves the transfer of Transferring Authority Employees, Part A and Part D of Schedule 9.1 (*Staff Transfer*) shall apply;
- (ii) where the Relevant Transfer involves the transfer of Transferring Former Supplier Employees, Part B and Part D of Schedule 9.1 (*Staff Transfer*) shall apply;
- (iii) where the Relevant Transfer involves the transfer of Transferring Authority Employees and Transferring Former Supplier Employees, Parts A, B and D of Schedule 9.1 (*Staff Transfer*) shall apply; and
- (iv) Part C of Schedule 9.1 (*Staff Transfer*) shall not apply;
- (b) where commencement of the provision of the Services or a part of the Services does not result in a Relevant Transfer, Part C of Schedule 9.1 (*Staff Transfer*) shall apply, Part D of Schedule 9.1 may apply and Parts A and B of Schedule 9.1 (*Staff Transfer*) shall not apply; and
- (c) Part E of Schedule 9.1 (*Staff Transfer*) shall apply on the expiry or termination of the Services or any part of the Services.

15 SUPPLY CHAIN RIGHTS AND PROTECTIONS

Advertising Sub-contract Opportunities

- 15.1 The Supplier shall in respect of Lot 5 (United Kingdom):
 - (a) subject to Clauses 15.3 and 15.4, advertise on Contracts Finder all Sub-contract opportunities arising from or in connection with the provision of the Goods and/or Services and/or Works above a minimum threshold of £25,000 that arise during the Term;
 - (b) within ninety (90) days of awarding a Sub-contract to a Sub-contractor, update the notice on Contracts Finder with details of the successful Sub-contractor;
 - (c) monitor the number, type and value of the Sub-contract opportunities placed on Contracts Finder advertised and awarded in its supply chain during the Term;
 - (d) provide reports on the information at Clause 15.1(c) to the Authority in the format and frequency as reasonably specified by the Authority; and
 - (e) promote Contracts Finder to its suppliers and encourage those organisations to register on Contracts Finder.
- 15.2 Each advert referred to in Clause 15.1 above shall provide a full and detailed description of the Sub-contract opportunity with each of the mandatory fields being completed on Contracts Finder by the Supplier.

- 15.3 The obligation at Clause 15.1 shall only apply in respect of Sub-contract opportunities arising after the Effective Date.
- 15.4 Notwithstanding Clause 15.1 the Authority may, by giving its prior written approval, agree that a Sub-contract opportunity is not required to be advertised on Contracts Finder.

Appointment of Sub-contractors

- 15.5 The Supplier shall exercise due skill and care in the selection and appointment of any Sub-contractors to ensure that the Supplier is able to:
 - (a) manage any Sub-contractors in accordance with Good Industry Practice:
 - (b) comply with its obligations under this Agreement in the delivery of the Services; and
 - (c) assign, novate or otherwise transfer to the Authority or any Replacement Supplier any of its rights and/or obligations under each Sub-contract that relates exclusively to this Agreement.
- 15.6 Prior to sub-contracting any of its obligations under this Agreement, the Supplier shall notify the Authority in writing of:
 - (a) the proposed Sub-contractor's name, registered office and company registration number;
 - (b) the scope of any Services to be provided by the proposed Subcontractor; and
 - (c) where the proposed Sub-contractor is an Affiliate of the Supplier, evidence that demonstrates to the reasonable satisfaction of the Authority that the proposed Sub-contract has been agreed on "arm's-length" terms.
- 15.7 If requested by the Authority within 10 Working Days of receipt of the Supplier's notice issued pursuant to Clause 15.6, the Supplier shall also provide:
 - (a) a copy of the proposed Sub-contract; and
 - (b) any further information reasonably requested by the Authority.
- 15.8 The Authority may, within 10 Working Days of receipt of the Supplier's notice issued pursuant to Clause 15.6 (or, if later, receipt of any further information requested pursuant to Clause 15.7), object to the appointment of the relevant Sub-contractor if it considers that:
 - (a) the appointment of a proposed Sub-contractor may prejudice the provision of the Services and/or may be contrary to the interests of the Authority;
 - (b) the proposed Sub-contractor is unreliable and/or has not provided reasonable services to its other customers:

- (c) the proposed Sub-contractor employs unfit persons; and/or
- (d) the proposed Sub-contractor should be excluded in accordance with Clause 15.22 (*Termination of sub-contracts*);

in which case, the Supplier shall not proceed with the proposed appointment.

15.9 If:

- (a) the Authority has not notified the Supplier that it objects to the proposed Sub-contractor's appointment by the later of 10 Working Days of receipt of:
 - (i) the Supplier's notice issued pursuant to Clause 15.6; and
 - (ii) any further information requested by the Authority pursuant to Clause 15.7; and
- (b) the proposed Sub-contract is not a Key Sub-contract which shall require the written consent of the Authority in accordance with Clause 15.10 (Appointment of Key Sub-contractors),

the Supplier may proceed with the proposed appointment and, where the Sub-contract is entered into exclusively for the purpose of delivery of the Services, may notify the Authority that the relevant Sub-contract shall constitute a Third Party Contract for the purposes of Schedule 4.4 (*Third Party Contracts*).

Appointment of Key Sub-contractors

- 15.10 Where the Supplier wishes to enter into a Key Sub-contract or replace a Key Sub-contractor, it must obtain the prior written consent of the Authority, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed. For these purposes, the Authority may withhold its consent to the appointment of a Key Sub-contractor if it reasonably considers that:
 - the appointment of a proposed Key Sub-contractor may prejudice the provision of the Services or may be contrary to the interests of the Authority;
 - (b) the proposed Key Sub-contractor is unreliable and/or has not provided reasonable services to its other customers; and/or
 - (c) the proposed Key Sub-contractor employs unfit persons; and/or
 - (d) the proposed Key Sub-contractor should be excluded in accordance with Clause 15.22 (*Termination of sub-contracts*).
- 15.11 The Authority consents to the appointment of the Key Sub-contractors listed in Schedule 4.3 (*Notified Key Sub-contractors*).
- 15.12 Except where the Authority has given its prior written consent, the Supplier shall ensure that each Key Sub-contract shall include:
 - (a) provisions which will enable the Supplier to discharge its obligations under this Agreement;

- (b) a right under CRTPA for the Authority to enforce any provisions under the Key Sub-contract which are capable of conferring a benefit upon the Authority;
- (c) a provision enabling the Authority to enforce the Key Sub-contract as if it were the Supplier;
- (d) a provision enabling the Supplier to assign, novate or otherwise transfer any of its rights and/or obligations under the Key Subcontract to the Authority or any Replacement Supplier without restriction (including any need to obtain any consent or approval) or payment by the Authority;
- (e) obligations no less onerous on the Key Sub-contractor than those imposed on the Supplier under this Agreement in respect of:
 - (i) data protection requirements set out in Clauses 21 (Authority Data and Security Requirements) and 24 (Protection of Personal Data);
 - (ii) FOIA requirements set out in Clause 23 (*Transparency and Freedom of Information*);
 - (iii) the obligation not to embarrass the Authority or otherwise bring the Authority into disrepute set out in Clause 5.5(m) (Services);
 - (iv) the keeping of records in respect of the services being provided under the Key Sub-contract, including the maintenance of Open Book Data; and
 - (v) the conduct of Audits set out in Part C of Schedule 7.5 (Financial Reports and Audit Rights);

in each case provided that those obligations are not inconsistent with the local law requirements of the jurisdiction in which the Key Sub-contractor operates, and if they are inconsistent obligations on the Key Sub-contractor as close as possible to those imposed on the Supplier under this Agreement;

- (f) provisions enabling the Supplier to terminate the Key Sub-contract on notice on terms no more onerous on the Supplier than those imposed on the Authority under Clauses 34.1(a) (*Termination by the Authority*) and 35.4 (*Payments by the Authority*) and Schedule 7.2 (*Payments on Termination*) of this Agreement;
- (g) a provision restricting the ability of the Key Sub-contractor to subcontract all or any part of the services provided to the Supplier under the Key Sub-contract without first seeking the written consent of the Authority;
- (h) a provision enabling the Supplier or the Authority to appoint a Remedial Adviser on substantially the same terms as are set out in Clause 30 (Remedial Adviser);

- (i) a provision enabling the Supplier, the Authority or any other person on behalf of the Authority to step-in on substantially the same terms as are set out in Clause 31 (*Step-in Rights*);
- (j) a provision requiring the Key Sub-contractor to participate in, and if required by the Authority in the relevant Multi-Party Procedure Initiation Notice to procure the participation of all or any of its Sub-contractors in, the Multi-Party Dispute Resolution Procedure; and
- (k) a provision requiring the Key Sub-contractor to:
 - (i) promptly notify the Supplier and the Authority in writing of any of the following of which it is, or ought to be, aware:
 - (A) the occurrence of a Financial Distress Event in relation to the Key Sub-contractor; or
 - (B) any fact, circumstance or matter of which it is aware which could cause the occurrence of a Financial Distress Event in relation to the Key Sub-contractor,
 - and in any event, provide such notification within 10 Working Days of the date on which the Key Sub-contractor first becomes aware of such; and
 - (ii) co-operate with the Supplier and the Authority in order to give full effect to the provisions of Schedule 7.4 (*Financial Distress*), including meeting with the Supplier and the Authority to discuss and review the effect of the Financial Distress Event on the continued performance and delivery of the Services, and contributing to and complying with the Financial Distress Remediation Plan, and providing the information specified at paragraph 4.3(b)(ii) of Schedule 7.4 (*Financial Distress*).
- 15.13 The Supplier shall not terminate or materially amend the terms of any Key Sub-contract without the Authority's prior written consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed.

Supply chain protection

- 15.14 The Supplier shall ensure that all Sub-contracts (which in this sub-clause includes any contract in the Supplier's supply chain made wholly or substantially for the purpose of performing or contributing to the performance of the whole or any part of this Agreement) contain provisions:
 - (a) giving the Supplier a right to terminate the Sub-contract if the Sub-contractor fails to comply in the performance of the Sub-contract with legal obligations applicable to the Sub-contractor in the fields of environmental, social or labour law;
 - (b) requiring the Supplier or other party receiving goods or services under the contract to consider and verify invoices under that contract in a timely fashion;

- (c) that if the Supplier or other party fails to consider and verify an invoice in accordance with sub-paragraph (b), the invoice shall be regarded as valid and undisputed for the purpose of sub-paragraph (d) after a reasonable time has passed;
- (d) requiring the Supplier or other party to pay any undisputed sums which are due from it to the Sub-contractor within a specified period not exceeding thirty (30) days of verifying that the invoice is valid and undisputed;
- (e) giving the Authority a right to publish the Supplier's compliance with its obligation to pay undisputed invoices within the specified payment period; and
- (f) requiring the Sub-contractor to include a clause to the same effect as this Clause 15.14 in any contracts it enters into wholly or substantially for the purpose of performing or contributing to the performance of the whole or any part of this Agreement.

15.15 The Supplier shall:

- (a) pay any undisputed sums which are due from it to a Sub-contractor within thirty (30) days of verifying that the invoice is valid and undisputed;
- (b) include within the Balanced Scorecard Report produced by it pursuant to Schedule 2.2 (*Performance Levels*) a summary of its compliance with Clause 15.15(a), such data to be certified each Quarter by a director of the Supplier as being accurate and not misleading.

15.16 Without prejudice to Clause 15.15(a), the Supplier shall:

- (a) pay any sums which are due from it to any Sub-contractor or Unconnected Sub-contractor pursuant to any invoice (or other notice of an amount for payment) on the earlier of:
 - (i) the date set out for payment in the relevant Sub-contract or Unconnected Sub-contract; or
 - (ii) the date that falls sixty (60) days after the day on which the Supplier receives an invoice (or otherwise has notice of an amount for payment); and
- (b) include within the Balanced Scorecard Report produced by it pursuant to Schedule 2.2 (Performance Levels) a summary of its compliance with Clause 15.16(a), such data to be certified every six months by a director of the Supplier as being accurate and not misleading.
- 15.17 If any Balanced Scorecard Report shows that in either of the last two six month periods the Supplier failed to pay 95% or above of all Sub-contractor or Unconnected Sub-contractor invoices (or other notice of an amount for payment) within sixty (60) days of receipt, the Supplier shall upload to the

Virtual Library within fifteen (15) Working Days of submission of the latest Balanced Scorecard Report an action plan (the "**Action Plan**") for improvement. The Action Plan shall include, but not be limited to, the following:

- (a) identification of the primary causes of failure to pay 95% or above of all Sub-contractor or Unconnected Sub-contractor invoices (or other notice of an amount for payment) within sixty (60) days of receipt;
- (b) actions to address each of the causes set out in sub-paragraph (a); and
- (c) mechanism for and commitment to regular reporting on progress to the Supplier's Board.
- 15.18 The Action Plan shall be certificated by a director of the Supplier and the Action Plan or a summary of the Action Plan published on the Supplier's website within ten (10) Working Days of the date on which the Action Plan is uploaded to the Virtual Library.
- 15.19 Where the Supplier fails to pay any sums due to any Sub-contractor or Unconnected Sub-contractor in accordance with the terms set out in the relevant Sub-contract or Unconnected Sub-contract, the Action Plan shall include details of the steps the Supplier will take to address this.
- 15.20 The Supplier shall comply with the Action Plan or any similar action plan connected to the payment of Sub-contractors or Unconnected Sub-contractors which is required to be submitted to the Authority as part of the procurement process and such action plan shall be included as part of the Supplier's Solution (to the extent it is not already included).
- 15.21 Notwithstanding any provision of Clauses 22 (*Confidentiality*) and 25 (*Publicity and Branding*), if the Supplier notifies the Authority (whether in a Balanced Scorecard Report or otherwise) that the Supplier has failed to pay a Subcontractor's undisputed invoice within thirty (30) days of receipt or that it has failed to pay 95% or above of its Sub-Contractors or Unconnected Subcontractors within sixty (60) days after the day on which the Supplier receives an invoice or otherwise has notice of an amount for payment, or the Authority otherwise discovers the same, the Authority shall be entitled to publish the details of the late or non-payment (including on government websites and in the press).

Termination of Sub-contracts

- 15.22 The Authority may require the Supplier to terminate:
 - (a) a Sub-contract where:
 - (i) the acts or omissions of the relevant Sub-contractor have caused or materially contributed to the Authority's right of termination pursuant to Clause 34.1(b) (*Termination by the Authority*);

- (ii) the relevant Sub-contractor or any of its Affiliates have embarrassed the Authority or otherwise brought the Authority into disrepute by engaging in any act or omission which is reasonably likely to diminish the trust that the public places in the Authority, regardless of whether or not such act or omission is related to the Sub-contractor's obligations in relation to the Services or otherwise:
- (iii) the relevant Sub-contractor has failed to comply in the performance of its Sub-contract with legal obligations applicable to the Sub-contractor in the fields of environmental, social or labour law; and/or
- (iv) the Authority has found grounds for exclusion of the Subcontractor in accordance with Clause 15.27; and
- (b) a Key Sub-contract where there is a Change of Control of the relevant Key Sub-contractor, unless:
 - (i) the Authority has given its prior written consent to the particular Change of Control, which subsequently takes place as proposed; or
 - (ii) the Authority has not served its notice of objection within 6 months of the later of the date the Change of Control took place or the date on which the Authority was given notice of the Change of Control.

Competitive Terms

- 15.23 If the Authority is able to obtain from any Sub-contractor or any other third party (on a like-for-like basis) more favourable commercial terms with respect to the supply of any goods, software or services used by the Supplier or the Supplier Personnel in the supply of the Services, then the Authority may:
 - (a) require the Supplier to replace its existing commercial terms with that person with the more favourable commercial terms obtained by the Authority in respect of the relevant item; or
 - (b) enter into a direct agreement with that Sub-contractor or third party in respect of the relevant item.
- 15.24 If the Authority exercises either of its options pursuant to Clause 15.23, then the Charges shall be reduced by an amount that is agreed in accordance with the Change Control Procedure.
- 15.25 The Authority's right to enter into a direct agreement for the supply of the relevant items is subject to:
 - (a) the Authority making the relevant item available to the Supplier where this is necessary for the Supplier to provide the Services; and

(b) any reduction in the Charges taking into account any unavoidable costs payable by the Supplier in respect of the substituted item, including in respect of any licence fees or early termination charges.

Retention of Legal Obligations

15.26 Notwithstanding the Supplier's right to sub-contract pursuant to this Clause 15, the Supplier shall remain responsible for all acts and omissions of its Sub-contractors and the acts and omissions of those employed or engaged by the Sub-contractors as if they were its own. In respect of any element of the Services delivered by Supplier Personnel and/or which are Sub-contracted by the Supplier, an obligation on the Supplier to do or to refrain from doing any act or thing under this Agreement, shall include an obligation on the Supplier to procure that the Supplier Personnel and the Sub-contractor also do or refrain from doing such act or thing in their delivery of those elements of the Services.

Exclusion of Sub-contractors

- 15.27 Where the Authority considers whether there are grounds for the exclusion of a Sub-contractor under Regulation 57 of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015, then:
 - (a) if the Authority finds there are compulsory grounds for exclusion, the Supplier shall replace or shall not appoint the Sub-contractor;
 - (b) if the Authority finds there are non-compulsory grounds for exclusion, the Authority may require the Supplier to replace or not to appoint the Sub-contractor and the Supplier shall comply with such a requirement.

Reporting SME/VCSE Sub-contracts

- 15.28 In addition to any other Management Information requirements set out in this Agreement, the Supplier agrees that it shall, at no charge, provide timely, full, accurate and complete Supply Chain Transparency Information Reports to the Authority thirty (30) days prior to the of the end of each financial year by providing all of the information described in the Supply Chain Transparency Information Template in the format set out in the Schedule 8.4 (*Reports and Records Provisions*) Annex 4 and in accordance with any guidance issued by the Authority from time to time.
- 15.29 The Authority may update the Supply Chain Transparency Information Template from time to time (including the data required and/or format) by issuing a replacement version with at least thirty (30) days' notice and specifying the date from which it must be used.

SECTION F - INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY, DATA AND CONFIDENTIALITY

16 <u>INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS</u>

- 16.1 Except as expressly set out in this Agreement:
 - (a) the Authority shall not acquire any right, title or interest in or to the Intellectual Property Rights of the Supplier or its licensors, namely:
 - (i) the Supplier Software;
 - (ii) the Third Party Software;
 - (iii) the Third Party IPRs; and
 - (iv) the Supplier Background IPRs;
 - (b) the Supplier shall not acquire any right, title or interest in or to the Intellectual Property Rights of the Authority or its licensors, including:
 - (i) the Authority Software;
 - (ii) the Authority Data; and
 - (iii) the Authority Background IPRs;
 - (c) Specially Written Software and Project Specific IPRs (except for any Know-How, trade secrets or Confidential Information contained therein) shall be the property of the Authority.
- 16.2 Where either Party acquires, by operation of law, title to Intellectual Property Rights that is inconsistent with the allocation of title set out in Clause 16.1, it shall assign in writing such Intellectual Property Rights as it has acquired to the other Party on the request of the other Party (whenever made).
- 16.3 Neither Party shall have any right to use any of the other Party's names, logos or trademarks on any of its products or services without the other Party's prior written consent.
- 16.4 Unless the Authority otherwise agrees in advance in writing:
 - (a) all Specially Written Software and any software element of Project Specific IPRs shall be created in a format, or able to be converted into a format, which is suitable for publication by the Authority as open-source software; and
 - (b) where the Specially Written Software and any software element of Project Specific IPRs are written in a format that requires conversion before publication as open-source software, the Supplier shall also provide the converted format to the Authority.
- 16.5 Where the Authority agrees that any Specially Written Software and/or any software element of Project Specific IPRs should be excluded from Open-Source publication, the Supplier shall as soon as reasonably practicable

provide written details of the impact that such exclusion will have on the Authority's ability to publish other Open-Source software under Clause 20 (*Open Source Publication*).

17 TRANSFER AND LICENCES GRANTED BY THE SUPPLIER

Specially Written Software and Project Specific IPRs

- 17.1 Subject to Clause 17.17 (*Patents*) the Supplier hereby agrees to transfer to the Authority, or shall procure the transfer to the Authority of, all rights (subject to Clause 16.1(a) (*Intellectual Property Rights*)) in the Specially Written Software and the Project Specific IPRs including (without limitation):
 - (a) the Documentation, Source Code and the Object Code of the Specially Written Software; and
 - (b) all build instructions, test instructions, test scripts, test data, operating instructions and other documents and tools necessary for maintaining and supporting the Specially Written Software (together the "Software Supporting Materials");

but not including any Know-How, trade secrets or Confidential Information.

17.2 The Supplier:

- (a) shall:
 - (i) inform the Authority of all Specially Written Software and any element of Project Specific IPRs that constitutes a modification or enhancement to Supplier Software or Third Party Software; and
 - (ii) deliver to the Authority the Specially Written Software and the software element of Project Specific IPRs in both Source Code and Object Code forms together with relevant Documentation and all related Software Supporting Materials within seven (7) days of the issue of a Milestone Achievement Certificate in respect of the relevant Deliverable and shall provide updates of the Source Code and of the Software Supporting Materials promptly following each new release of the Specially Written Software, in each case on media that is reasonably acceptable to the Authority; and
 - (iii) without prejudice to Clause 17.11 (*Third Party Software and Third Party IPRs*), provide full details to the Authority of any Supplier Background IPRs or Third Party IPRs which are embedded in or which are an integral part of the Specially Written Software or any element of Project Specific IPRs;
- (b) acknowledges and agrees that the ownership of the media referred to in Clause 17.2(a)(ii) shall vest in the Authority upon their receipt by the Authority; and

(c) shall execute all such assignments as are required to ensure that any rights in the Specially Written Software and Project Specific IPRs are properly transferred to the Authority.

Supplier Software and Supplier Background IPRs

- 17.3 The Supplier shall not use any Supplier Non-COTS Software or Supplier Non-COTS Background IPR in the provision of the Services unless it is detailed in Schedule 5 (*Software*) or sent to the Technical Board for review and approval granted by the Authority.
- 17.4 The Supplier hereby grants to the Authority:
 - (a) subject to the provisions of Clause 17.17 (*Patents*) and Clause 35.11(b) (*Consequences of expiry or termination*), perpetual, royalty-free and non-exclusive licences to use (including but not limited to the right to load, execute, store, transmit, display and copy (for the purposes of archiving, backing up, loading, execution, storage, transmission or display)):
 - (i) the Supplier Non-COTS Software for which the Supplier delivers a copy to the Authority for any purpose relating to the Services (or substantially equivalent services) or for any purpose relating to the exercise of the Authority's (or any other Central Government Body's) business or function; and
 - (ii) the Supplier Non-COTS Background IPRs for any purpose relating to the Services (or substantially equivalent services) or for any purpose relating to the exercise of the Authority's (or any other Central Government Body's) business or function;
 - (b) a licence to use the Supplier COTS Software for which the Supplier delivers a copy to the Authority and Supplier COTS Background IPRs on the licence terms identified in a letter in or substantially in the form set out in Annex 1 to Schedule 5 (Software) and signed by or on behalf of the Parties on or before the Effective Date provided always that the Authority shall remain entitled to sub-license and to assign and novate the Supplier COTS Software and Supplier COTS Background IPRs on equivalent terms to those set out in Clauses 17.7 (Authority's right to sub-licence) and 17.8 (Authority's right to assign/novate sub-licences) in relation to the Supplier Non-COTS Software and Supplier Non-COTS Background IPRs; and
 - (c) a perpetual royalty-free non-exclusive licence to use without limitation any Know-How, trade secrets or Confidential Information contained within the Specially Written Software or the Project Specific IPRs.
- 17.5 At any time during the Term or following termination or expiry of this Agreement, the Supplier may terminate the licence granted in respect of the Supplier Non-COTS Software under Clause 17.4(a)(i) or in respect of the Supplier Non-COTS Background IPRs under Clause 17.4(a)(ii) by giving thirty

- (30) days' notice in writing (or such other period as agreed by the Parties) if the Authority or any person to whom the Authority grants a sub-licence pursuant to Clause 17.7 (*Authority's right to sub-license*) commits any material breach of the terms of Clause 17.4(a)(i) or 17.4(a)(ii) or 17.7(a)(ii) (as the case may be) which, if the breach is capable of remedy, is not remedied within 20 Working Days after the Supplier gives the Authority written notice specifying the breach and requiring its remedy.
- 17.6 In the event the licence of the Supplier Non-COTS Software or the Supplier Non-COTS Background IPRs is terminated pursuant to Clause 17.5, the Authority shall:
 - (a) immediately cease all use of the Supplier Non-COTS Software or the Supplier Non-COTS Background IPRs (as the case may be);
 - (b) at the discretion of the Supplier, return or destroy documents and other tangible materials to the extent that they contain any of the Supplier Non-COTS Software and/or the Supplier Non-COTS Background IPRs, provided that if the Supplier has not made an election within 6 months of the termination of the licence, the Authority may destroy the documents and other tangible materials that contain any of the Supplier Non-COTS Software and/or the Supplier Non-COTS Background IPRs (as the case may be); and
 - (c) ensure, so far as reasonably practicable, that any Supplier Non-COTS Software and/or Supplier Non-COTS Background IPRs that are held in electronic, digital or other machine-readable form ceases to be readily accessible (other than by the information technology staff of the Authority) from any computer, word processor, voicemail system or any other device containing such Supplier Non-COTS Software and/or Supplier Non-COTS Background IPRs.

Authority's right to sub-license

- 17.7 Subject to Clause 17.17 (*Patents*) the Authority may sub-license:
 - (a) the rights granted under Clause 17.4(a) (Supplier Software and Supplier Background IPRs) to a third party (including for the avoidance of doubt, any Replacement Supplier) provided that:
 - (i) the sub-licence is on terms no broader than those granted to the Authority;
 - (ii) the sub-licence authorises the third party to use the rights licensed in Clause 17.4(a) (Supplier Software and Supplier Background IPRs) only for purposes relating to the Services (or substantially equivalent services) or for any purpose relating to the exercise of the Authority's (or any other Central Government Body's) business or function; and
 - (iii) the sub-licensee shall have executed a confidentiality undertaking in favour of the Supplier in or substantially in the form set out in Annex 2 to Schedule 5 (*Software*); and

- (b) the rights granted under Clause 17.4(a) (Supplier Software and Supplier Background IPRs) to any Approved Sub-Licensee to the extent necessary to use and/or obtain the benefit of the Specially Written Software and/or the Project Specific IPRs provided that:
 - (i) the sub-licence is on terms no broader than those granted to the Authority; and
 - (ii) the Supplier has received a confidentiality undertaking in its favour in or substantially in the form set out in Annex 2 to Schedule 5 (*Software*) duly executed by the Approved Sub-Licensee.

Authority's right to assign/novate licences

- 17.8 The Authority may assign, novate or otherwise transfer its rights and obligations under the licences granted pursuant to Clause 17.4(a) (Supplier Software and Supplier Background IPRs) to:
 - (a) A Central Government Body; or
 - (b) to anybody (including any private sector body) which performs or carries on any of the functions and/or activities that previously had been performed and/or carried on by the Authority.
- 17.9 Any change in the legal status of the Authority which means that it ceases to be a Central Government Body shall not affect the validity of any licence granted in Clause 17.4 (Supplier Software and Supplier Background IPRs). If the Authority ceases to be a Central Government Body, the successor body to the Authority shall still be entitled to the benefit of the licence granted in Clause 17.4 (Supplier Software and Supplier Background IPRs).
- 17.10 If a licence granted in Clause 17.4 (Supplier Software and Supplier Background IPRs) is novated under Clause 17.8 (Authority's right to assign/novate licences) or there is a change of the Authority's status pursuant to Clause 17.9, the rights acquired on that novation or change of status shall not extend beyond those previously enjoyed by the Authority.

Third Party Software and Third Party IPRs

- 17.11 The Supplier shall not use in the provision of the Services (including in any Specially Written Software or in the software element of Project Specific IPRs) any Third-Party Non-COTS Software or Third Party Non-COTS IPRs unless detailed in Schedule 5 (*Software*) or approval is granted by the Authority following a review by the Technical Board and has in each case either:
 - (a) first procured that the owner or an authorised licensor of the relevant Third Party Non-COTS IPRs or Third Party Non-COTS Software (as the case may be) has granted a direct licence to the Authority on a royalty-free basis to the Authority and on terms no less favourable to the Authority than those set out in Clauses 17.4(a) and 17.5 (Supplier Software and Supplier Background IPRs) and Clause 17.8 (Authority's right to assign/novate licences); or

- (b) complied with the provisions of Clause 17.12.
- 17.12 If the Supplier cannot obtain for the Authority a licence in respect of any Third Party Non-COTS Software and/or Third Party Non-COTS IPRs in accordance with the licence terms set out in Clause 17.11(a), the Supplier shall:
 - (a) notify the Authority in writing giving details of what licence terms can be obtained from the relevant third party and whether there are alternative software providers which the Supplier could seek to use; and
 - (b) use the relevant Third Party Non-COTS Software and/or Third Party Non-COTS IPRs only if the Authority has first approved in writing the terms of the licence from the relevant third party.

17.13 The Supplier shall:

- (a) notify the Authority in writing of all Third Party COTS Software and Third Party COTS IPRs that it uses and the terms on which it uses them; and
- (b) unless instructed otherwise in writing by the Authority in any case within 20 Working Days of notification pursuant to Clause 17.12(a), use all reasonable endeavours to procure in each case that the owner or an authorised licensor of the relevant Third Party COTS Software and Third Party COTS IPRs grants a direct licence to the Authority on terms no less favourable (including as to indemnification against IPRs Claims) than those on which such software is usually made commercially available by the relevant third party.
- 17.14 Should the Supplier become aware at any time, including after termination, that the Specially Written Software and/or the Project Specific IPRs contain any Intellectual Property Rights for which the Authority does not have a suitable licence, then the Supplier must notify the Authority within ten (10) days of what those rights are and which parts of the Specially Written Software and the Project Specific IPRs they are found in.

Termination and Replacement Suppliers

- 17.15 For the avoidance of doubt, the termination or expiry of this Agreement shall not of itself result in any termination of any of the licences granted by the Supplier or relevant third party pursuant to or as contemplated by this Clause 17.
- 17.16 The Supplier shall, if requested by the Authority in accordance with Schedule 8.5 (*Exit Management*) and at the Supplier's cost:
 - (a) grant (or procure the grant) to any Replacement Supplier of:
 - (i) a licence to use any Supplier Non-COTS Software, Supplier Non-COTS Background IPRs, Third Party Non-COTS IPRs and/or Third Party Non-COTS Software on a royalty-free basis to the Replacement Supplier and on terms no less

favourable than those granted to the Authority in respect of the relevant Software and/or IPRs pursuant to or as contemplated by this Clause 17 subject to receipt by the Supplier of a confidentiality undertaking in its favour in or substantially in the form set out in Annex 2 to Schedule 5 (Software) duly executed by the Replacement Supplier;

- (ii) a licence to use any Supplier COTS Software and/or Supplier COTS Background IPRs, on terms no less favourable (including as to indemnification against IPRs Claims) than those on which such software is usually made commercially available by the Supplier; and/or
- (b) use all reasonable endeavours to procure the grant to any Replacement Supplier of a licence to use any Third Party COTS Software and/or Third Party COTS IPRs on terms no less favourable (including as to indemnification against IPRs Claims) than those on which such software is usually made commercially available by the relevant third party.

Patents

17.17 Where a patent owned by the Supplier is necessarily infringed by the use of the Specially Written Software or Project Specific IPRs by the Authority or any Replacement Supplier, the Supplier hereby grants to the Authority and the Replacement Supplier a non-exclusive, irrevocable, royalty-free, worldwide patent licence to use the infringing methods, materials or software solely for the purpose for which they were delivered under this Agreement.

18 <u>LICENCES GRANTED BY THE AUTHORITY</u>

- 18.1 The Authority hereby grants to the Supplier a royalty-free, non-exclusive, non-transferable licence during the Term to use the Authority Software, the Authority Background IPRs, the Specially Written Software, the Project Specific IPRs and the Authority Data solely to the extent necessary for performing the Services in accordance with this Agreement, including (but not limited to) the right to grant sub-licences to Sub-contractors provided that:
 - (a) any relevant Sub-contractor has entered into a confidentiality undertaking with the Supplier on the same terms as set out in Clause 22 (*Confidentiality*); and
 - (b) the Supplier shall not, without the Authority's prior written consent, use the licensed materials for any other purpose or for the benefit of any person other than the Authority.
- 18.2 In the event of the termination or expiry of this Agreement, the licence granted pursuant to Clause 18.1 and any sub-licence granted by the Supplier in accordance with Clause 18.1 shall terminate automatically on the date of such termination or expiry and the Supplier shall:
 - (a) immediately cease all use of the Authority Software, the Authority Background IPRs and the Authority Data (as the case may be);

- (b) at the discretion of the Authority, return or destroy documents and other tangible materials that contain any of the Authority Software, the Authority Background IPRs and the Authority Data, provided that if the Authority has not made an election within 6 months of the termination of the licence, the Supplier may destroy the documents and other tangible materials that contain any of the Authority Software, the Authority Background IPRs and the Authority Data (as the case may be); and
- (c) ensure, so far as reasonably practicable, that any Authority Software, Authority Background IPRs and Authority Data that are held in electronic, digital or other machine-readable form ceases to be readily accessible from any Supplier computer, word processor, voicemail system or any other Supplier device containing such Authority Software, Authority Background IPRs and/or Authority Data.

19 IPRs INDEMNITY

- 19.1 The Supplier shall at all times, during and after the Term, on written demand indemnify the Authority and each other Indemnified Person, and keep the Authority and each other Indemnified Person indemnified, against all Losses incurred by, awarded against or agreed to be paid by an Indemnified Person arising from an IPRs Claim.
- 19.2 If an IPRs Claim is made, or the Supplier anticipates that an IPRs Claim might be made, the Supplier may, at its own expense and sole option, either:
 - (a) procure for the Authority or other relevant Indemnified Person the right to continue using the relevant item which is subject to the IPRs Claim; or
 - (b) replace or modify the relevant item with non-infringing substitutes provided that:
 - (i) the performance and functionality of the replaced or modified item is at least equivalent to the performance and functionality of the original item;
 - (ii) the replaced or modified item does not have an adverse effect on any other services or the IT Environment;
 - (iii) there is no additional cost to the Authority or relevant Indemnified Person (as the case may be); and
 - (iv) the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall apply to the replaced or modified Services.
- 19.3 If the Supplier elects to procure a licence in accordance with Clause 19.2(a) or to modify or replace an item pursuant to Clause 19.2(b), but this has not avoided or resolved the IPRs Claim, then:
 - (a) the Authority may terminate this Agreement (if subsisting) with immediate effect by written notice to the Supplier; and

(b) without prejudice to the indemnity set out in Clause 19.1, the Supplier shall be liable for all reasonable and unavoidable costs of the substitute items and/or services including the additional costs of procuring, implementing and maintaining the substitute items.

20 OPEN SOURCE PUBLICATION

- 20.1 The Supplier agrees that the Authority may at its sole discretion publish as Open Source Software all or part of the Specially Written Software and any software element of the Project Specific IPRs after the Operational Service Commencement Date.
- 20.2 The Supplier hereby warrants that the Specially Written Software and any software element of the Project Specific IPRs:
 - (a) are suitable for release as Open Source and that any release will not allow a third party to use the Open Source software to in any way compromise the operation, running or security of the Specially Written Software, the Project Specific IPRs or the Authority System;
 - (b) shall not cause any harm or damage to any party using anything published as Open Source and that the Specially Written Software and the Project Specific IPRs do not contain any Malicious Software;
 - (c) do not contain any material which would bring the Authority into disrepute upon publication as Open Source;
 - (d) do not contain any IPR owned or claimed to be owned by any third party which is found, or alleged to be found, in the Specially Written Software and the Project Specific IPRs ("Non-Party IPRs"); and
 - (e) will be supplied in a format suitable for publication as Open Source ("the Open Source Publication Material") no later than the Operational Service Commencement Date.
- 20.3 The Supplier shall ensure that the Open Source Publication Material provided to the Authority does not include any Supplier Software or Supplier Background IPRs save that which the Supplier is willing to allow to be included in any Open Source publication. In such a case, the Supplier hereby acknowledges that any such Supplier Software or Supplier Background IPRs will become Open Source and will be licensed and treated as such following publication by the Authority and any third party that uses the Open Source Publication Materials on the terms of the Open Source licence used by the Authority when publishing as Open Source.
- 20.4 The Supplier hereby indemnifies the Authority against all claims in which the Authority is, or is threatened to be, a party for any alleged infringement of any Non-Party IPRs arising from publication of the Specially Written Software and any software element of the Project Specific IPRs as Open Source under subclause 20.1.

21 AUTHORITY DATA AND SECURITY REQUIREMENTS

- 21.1 The Supplier shall not delete or remove any proprietary notices contained within or relating to the Authority Data.
- 21.2 The Supplier shall not store, copy, disclose, or use the Authority Data except as necessary for the performance by the Supplier of its obligations under this Agreement or as otherwise expressly authorised in writing by the Authority.
- 21.3 To the extent that Authority Data is held and/or processed by the Supplier, the Supplier shall supply that Authority Data to the Authority as requested by the Authority in the format specified in Schedule 2.1 (Services Description).
- 21.4 The Supplier shall preserve the integrity of Authority Data and prevent the corruption or loss of Authority Data at all times that the relevant Authority Data is under its control or the control of any Sub-contractor.
- 21.5 The Supplier shall perform secure back-ups of all Authority Data and shall ensure that up-to-date back-ups are stored off-site in accordance with the Service Continuity Plan. The Supplier shall ensure that such back-ups are available to the Authority (or to such other person as the Authority may direct) at all times upon request and are delivered to the Authority at no less than 6 monthly intervals (or such other intervals as may be agreed in writing between the Parties).
- 21.6 The Supplier shall ensure that any system on which the Supplier holds any Authority Data, including back-up data, is a secure system that complies with the Security Requirements.
- 21.7 If the Authority Data is corrupted, lost or sufficiently degraded as a result of the Supplier's Default so as to be unusable, the Authority may:
 - (a) require the Supplier (at the Supplier's expense) to restore or procure the restoration of Authority Data to the extent and in accordance with the requirements specified in Schedule 8.6 (Service Continuity Plan and Corporate Resolution Planning) and the Supplier shall do so as soon as practicable but not later than 5 Working Days from the date of receipt of the Authority's notice; and/or
 - (b) itself restore or procure the restoration of Authority Data, and shall be repaid by the Supplier any reasonable expenses incurred in doing so to the extent and in accordance with the requirements specified in Schedule 8.6 (Service Continuity Plan and Corporate Resolution Planning).
- 21.8 If at any time the Supplier suspects or has reason to believe that Authority Data has or may become corrupted, lost or sufficiently degraded in any way for any reason, then the Supplier shall notify the Authority immediately and inform the Authority of the remedial action the Supplier proposes to take.
- 21.9 The Supplier shall comply with the requirements of Schedule 2.4 (*Security Management*).

- 21.10 The Authority shall notify the Supplier of any changes or proposed changes to the Baseline Security Requirements.
- 21.11 If the Supplier believes that a change or proposed change to the Baseline Security Requirements will have a material and unavoidable cost implication to the Services it may submit a Change Request. In doing so, the Supplier must support its request by providing evidence of the cause of any increased costs and the steps that it has taken to mitigate those costs. Any change to the Charges shall then be agreed in accordance with the Change Control Procedure.
- 21.12 Until and/or unless a change to the Charges is agreed by the Authority pursuant to Clause 21.11 the Supplier shall continue to perform the Services in accordance with its existing obligations.

22 **CONFIDENTIALITY**

- 22.1 For the purposes of this Clause 22, the term "**Disclosing Party**" shall mean a Party which discloses or makes available directly or indirectly its Confidential Information and "**Recipient**" shall mean the Party which receives or obtains directly or indirectly Confidential Information.
- 22.2 Except to the extent set out in this Clause 22 or where disclosure is expressly permitted elsewhere in this Agreement, the Recipient shall:
 - (a) treat the Disclosing Party's Confidential Information as confidential and keep it in secure custody (which is appropriate depending upon the form in which such materials are stored and the nature of the Confidential Information contained in those materials);
 - (b) not disclose the Disclosing Party's Confidential Information to any other person except as expressly set out in this Agreement or without obtaining the owner's prior written consent;
 - (c) not use or exploit the Disclosing Party's Confidential Information in any way except for the purposes anticipated under this Agreement; and
 - (d) immediately notify the Disclosing Party if it suspects or becomes aware of any unauthorised access, copying, use or disclosure in any form of any of the Disclosing Party's Confidential Information.
- 22.3 The Recipient shall be entitled to disclose the Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party where:
 - (a) the Recipient is required to disclose the Confidential Information by Law, provided that Clause 23 (*Transparency and Freedom of Information*) shall apply to disclosures required under the FOIA or the EIRs;
 - (b) the need for such disclosure arises out of or in connection with:
 - (i) any legal challenge or potential legal challenge against the Authority arising out of or in connection with this Agreement;

- (ii) the examination and certification of the Authority's accounts (provided that the disclosure is made on a confidential basis) or for any examination pursuant to section 6(1) of the National Audit Act 1983 of the economy, efficiency and effectiveness with which the Authority is making use of any Services provided under this Agreement; or
- (iii) the conduct of a Central Government Body review in respect of this Agreement; or
- (c) the Recipient has reasonable grounds to believe that the Disclosing Party is involved in activity that may constitute a criminal offence under the Bribery Act 2010 and the disclosure is being made to the Serious Fraud Office.
- 22.4 If the Recipient is required by Law to make a disclosure of Confidential Information, the Recipient shall as soon as reasonably practicable and to the extent permitted by Law notify the Disclosing Party of the full circumstances of the required disclosure including the relevant Law and/or regulatory body requiring such disclosure and the Confidential Information to which such disclosure would apply.
- 22.5 The Supplier may disclose the Confidential Information of the Authority on a confidential basis only to:
 - (a) Supplier Personnel who are directly involved in the provision of the Services and need to know the Confidential Information to enable performance of the Supplier's obligations under this Agreement;
 - (b) its auditors; and
 - (c) its professional advisers for the purposes of obtaining advice in relation to this Agreement.

Where the Supplier discloses Confidential Information of the Authority pursuant to this Clause 22.5, it shall remain responsible at all times for compliance with the confidentiality obligations set out in this Agreement by the persons to whom disclosure has been made.

- 22.6 The Authority may disclose the Confidential Information of the Supplier:
 - (a) on a confidential basis to any Central Government Body for any proper purpose of the Authority or of the relevant Central Government Body;
 - (b) to Parliament and Parliamentary Committees or if required by any Parliamentary reporting requirement;
 - (c) to the extent that the Authority (acting reasonably) deems disclosure necessary or appropriate in the course of carrying out its public functions:
 - (d) on a confidential basis to a professional adviser, consultant, supplier or other person engaged by any of the entities described in Clause

- 22.6(a) (including any benchmarking organisation) for any purpose relating to or connected with this Agreement;
- (e) on a confidential basis for the purpose of the exercise of its rights under this Agreement, including the Audit Rights, its step-in rights pursuant to Clause 31 (*Step-In Rights*), its rights to appoint a Remedial Adviser pursuant to Clause 30 (*Remedial Adviser*) and Exit Management rights; or
- (f) on a confidential basis to a proposed Successor Body in connection with any assignment, novation or disposal of any of its rights, obligations or liabilities under this Agreement,

and for the purposes of the foregoing, references to disclosure on a confidential basis shall mean disclosure subject to a confidentiality agreement or arrangement containing terms no less stringent than those placed on the Authority under this Clause 22.

22.7 Nothing in this Clause 22 shall prevent a Recipient from using any techniques, ideas or know-how gained during the performance of this Agreement in the course of its normal business to the extent that this use does not result in a disclosure of the Disclosing Party's Confidential Information or an infringement of Intellectual Property Rights.

23 TRANSPARENCY AND FREEDOM OF INFORMATION

- 23.1 The Parties acknowledge that:
 - (a) the Transparency Reports;
 - (b) the content of this Agreement, including any changes to this Agreement agreed from time to time, except for
 - (i) any information which is exempt from disclosure in accordance with the provisions of the FOIA, which shall be determined by the Authority; and
 - (ii) Commercially Sensitive Information; and
 - (c) the Publishable Performance Information

(together the "Transparency Information") are not Confidential Information.

- 23.2 Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Supplier hereby gives its consent for the Authority to publish to the general public the Transparency Information in its entirety (but with any information which is exempt from disclosure in accordance with the provisions of the FOIA redacted). The Authority shall, prior to publication, consult with the Supplier on the manner and format of publication and to inform its decision regarding any redactions but shall have the final decision in its absolute discretion.
- 23.3 The Supplier shall assist and co-operate with the Authority to enable the Authority to publish the Transparency Information, including the preparation of

- the Transparency Reports in accordance with Paragraph 1 of Schedule 8.4 (Reports and Records Provisions).
- 23.4 If the Authority believes that publication of any element of the Transparency Information would be contrary to the public interest, the Authority shall be entitled to exclude such information from publication. The Authority acknowledges that it would expect the public interest by default to be best served by publication of the Transparency Information in its entirety. Accordingly, the Authority acknowledges that it will only exclude Transparency Information from publication in exceptional circumstances and agrees that where it decides to exclude information from publication it will provide a clear explanation to the Supplier.
- 23.5 The Authority shall publish the Transparency Information in a format that assists the general public in understanding the relevance and completeness of the information being published to ensure the public obtain a fair view on how the Agreement is being performed, having regard to the context of the wider commercial relationship with the Supplier.
- The Supplier agrees that any Information it holds that is not included in the Transparency Reports but is reasonably relevant to or that arises from the provision of the Services shall be provided to the Authority on request unless the cost of doing so would exceed the appropriate limit prescribed under section 12 of the FOIA. The Authority may disclose such information under the FOIA and the EIRs and may (except for Commercially Sensitive Information, Confidential Information (subject to Clause 22.6(c)) and Open Book Data) publish such Information. The Supplier shall provide to the Authority within five (5) Working Days (or such other period as the Authority may reasonably specify) any such Information requested by the Authority.
- 23.7 The Supplier acknowledges that the Authority is subject to the requirements of the FOIA and the EIRs. The Supplier shall:
 - (a) provide all necessary assistance and cooperation as reasonably requested by the Authority to enable the Authority to comply with its obligations under the FOIA and EIRs;
 - (b) transfer to the Authority all Requests for Information relating to this Agreement that it receives as soon as practicable and in any event within 2 Working Days of receipt;
 - (c) provide the Authority with a copy of all Information held on behalf of the Authority which is requested in a Request For Information and which is in its possession or control in the form that the Authority requires within 5 Working Days (or such other period as the Authority may reasonably specify) of the Authority's request for such Information; and
 - (d) not respond directly to a Request For Information addressed to the Authority unless authorised in writing to do so by the Authority.
- 23.8 The Supplier acknowledges that the Authority may be required under the FOIA and EIRs to disclose Information (including Commercially Sensitive

Information) without consulting or obtaining consent from the Supplier. The Authority shall take reasonable steps to notify the Supplier of a Request For Information (in accordance with the Secretary of State's section 45 Code of Practice on the Discharge of the Functions of Public Authorities under Part 1 of the FOIA) to the extent that it is permissible and reasonably practical for it to do so but (notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement) the Authority shall be responsible for determining in its absolute discretion whether any Commercially Sensitive Information and/or any other information is exempt from disclosure in accordance with the FOIA and EIRs.

24 PROTECTION OF PERSONAL DATA

Status of the Controller

- 24.1 The Parties acknowledge that for the purposes of the Data Protection Legislation, the nature of the activity carried out by each of them in relation to their respective obligations under this Agreement will determine the status of each Party under the Data Protection Legislation. A Party may act as:
 - (a) "Controller" (where the other Party acts as the "Processor");
 - (b) "Processor" (where the other Party acts as the "Controller");
 - (c) "Joint Controller" (where both Parties are considered to jointly control the same Personal Data);
 - (d) "Independent Controller" of the Personal Data where the other Party is also "Controller" of the same Personal Data in its own right (but there is no element of joint control);

and the Parties shall set out in Schedule 11 (*Processing Personal Data*) which scenario or scenarios are intended to apply under this Agreement.

Where one Party is Controller and the other Party its Processor

- 24.2 Where a Party is a Processor, the only processing that it is authorised to do is listed in Schedule 11 (*Processing Personal Data*) by the Controller.
- 24.3 The Processor shall notify the Controller immediately if it considers that any of the Controller's instructions infringe the Data Protection Legislation.
- 24.4 The Processor shall provide all reasonable assistance to the Controller in the preparation of any Data Protection Impact Assessment prior to commencing any processing. Such assistance may, at the discretion of the Controller, include:
 - (a) a systematic description of the envisaged processing operations and the purpose of the processing;
 - (b) an assessment of the necessity and proportionality of the processing operations in relation to the Services;
 - (c) an assessment of the risks to the rights and freedoms of Data Subjects; and

- (d) the measures envisaged to address the risks, including safeguards, security measures and mechanisms to ensure the protection of Personal Data.
- 24.5 The Processor shall, in relation to any Personal Data processed in connection with its obligations under this Agreement:
 - (a) process that Personal Data only in accordance with Schedule 11 (*Processing Personal Data*), unless the Processor is required to do otherwise by Law. If it is so required, the Processor shall promptly notify the Authority before processing the Personal Data unless prohibited by Law;
 - (b) ensure that it has in place Protective Measures, including in the case of the Controller the measures set out in Clause 21 (Authority Data and Security Requirements), which the Controller may reasonably reject (but failure to reject shall not amount to approval by the Controller of the adequacy of the Protective Measures) having taken account of the:
 - (i) nature of the data to be protected;
 - (ii) harm that might result from a Data Loss Event;
 - (iii) state of technological development; and
 - (iv) cost of implementing any measures;
 - (c) ensure that:
 - (i) the Processor Personnel do not process Personal Data except in accordance with this Agreement (and in particular Schedule 11 (*Processing Personal Data*));
 - (ii) it takes all reasonable steps to ensure the reliability and integrity of any Processor Personnel who have access to the Personal Data and ensure that they:
 - (A) are aware of and comply with the Processor's duties under this Clause, Clauses 22 (Confidentiality) and 21 (Authority Data and Security Requirements);
 - (B) are subject to appropriate confidentiality undertakings with the Processor or any Sub-processor;
 - (C) are informed of the confidential nature of the Personal Data and do not publish, disclose or divulge any of the Personal Data to any third Party unless directed in writing to do so by the Controller or as otherwise permitted by this Agreement; and
 - (D) have undergone adequate training in the use, care, protection and handling of Personal Data;

- (d) where the Personal Data is subject to UK GDPR, not transfer such Personal Data outside of the EU unless the prior written consent of the Controller has been obtained and the following conditions are fulfilled:
 - (i) the transfer is in accordance with Article 45 of the UK GDPR (or section 73 of DPA 2018);
 - (ii) the Controller or the Processor has provided appropriate safeguards in relation to the transfer (whether in accordance with Article 46 of the UK GDPR or Section 73 of DPA 2018) as determined by the Controller which could include relevant parties entering into the International Data Transfer Agreement or International Data Transfer Agreement Addendum to the European Commission's SCCs as published by the Information Commissioner's Office and as set out in Annex 2 to Schedule 11(*Processing Personal Data*), as well as any additional measures determined by the Controller;
 - (iii) the Data Subject has enforceable rights and effective legal remedies;
 - (iv) the Processor complies with its obligations under the Data Protection Legislation by providing an adequate level of protection to any Personal Data that is transferred (or, if it is not so bound, uses its best endeavours to assist the Controller in meeting its obligations); and
 - (v) the Processor complies with any reasonable instructions notified to it in advance by the Controller with respect to the processing of the Personal Data; and
- (e) where the Personal Data is subject to EU GDPR, not transfer such Personal Data outside of the EU unless the prior written consent of the Controller has been obtained and the following conditions are fulfilled:
 - (i) the transfer is in accordance with Article 45 of the EU GDPR; or
 - (ii) the Controller or the Processor has provided appropriate safeguards in relation to the transfer in accordance with Article 46 of the EU GDPR as determined by the Controller which could include relevant parties entering into Standard Contractual Clauses in the European Commission's decision 2021/914/EU set out in Annex 3 to Schedule 31 (*Processing Personal Data*) or such updated version of such Standard Contractual Clauses as are published by the European Commission from time to time as well as any additional measures determined by the Controller;

- (iii) the Data Subject has enforceable rights and effective legal remedies;
- (iv) the Processor complies with its obligations under the EU GDPR by providing an adequate level of protection to any Personal Data that is transferred (or, if it is not so bound, uses its best endeavours to assist the Controller in meeting its obligations); and
- (v) the Processor complies with any reasonable instructions notified to it in advance by the Controller with respect to the processing of the Personal Data; and
- (f) at the written direction of the Controller, delete or return Personal Data (and any copies of it) to the Controller on termination of the Agreement unless the Processor is required by Law to retain the Personal Data.
- 24.6 Subject to Clause 24.7, the Processor shall notify the Controller immediately if it:
 - (a) receives a Data Subject Request (or purported Data Subject Request);
 - (b) receives a request to rectify, block or erase any Personal Data;
 - (c) receives any other request, complaint or communication relating to either Party's obligations under the Data Protection Legislation;
 - (d) receives any communication from the Information Commissioner or any other regulatory authority in connection with Personal Data processed under this Agreement;
 - (e) receives a request from any third Party for disclosure of Personal Data where compliance with such request is required or purported to be required by Law; or
 - (f) becomes aware of a Data Loss Event.
- 24.7 The Processor's obligation to notify under Clause 24.6 shall include the provision of further information to the Controller in phases, as details become available.
- 24.8 Taking into account the nature of the processing, the Processor shall provide the Controller with reasonable assistance in relation to either Party's obligations under Data Protection Legislation and any complaint, communication or request made under Clause 24.6 (and insofar as possible within the timescales reasonably required by the Controller) including by promptly providing:
 - (a) the Controller with full details and copies of the complaint, communication or request;

- (b) such assistance as is reasonably requested by the Controller to enable it to comply with a Data Subject Request within the relevant timescales set out in the Data Protection Legislation;
- (c) the Controller, at its request, with any Personal Data it holds in relation to a Data Subject;
- (d) assistance as requested by the Controller following any Data Loss Event; and/or
- (e) assistance as requested by the Controller with respect to any request from the Information Commissioner's Office, or any consultation by the Controller with the Information Commissioner's Office.
- 24.9 The Processor shall maintain complete and accurate records and information to demonstrate its compliance with this Clause. This requirement does not apply where the Processor employs fewer than 250 staff, unless:
 - (a) the Controller determines that the processing is not occasional;
 - (b) the Controller determines the processing includes special categories of data as referred to in Article 9(1) of the GDPR or Personal Data relating to criminal convictions and offences referred to in Article 10 of the GDPR; or
 - (c) the Controller determines that the processing is likely to result in a risk to the rights and freedoms of Data Subjects.
- 24.10 The Processor shall allow for audits of its Data Processing activity by the Controller or the Controller's designated auditor.
- 24.11 The Parties shall designate a Data Protection Officer if required by the Data Protection Legislation.
- 24.12 Before allowing any Sub-processor to process any Personal Data related to this Agreement, the Processor must:
 - (a) notify the Controller in writing of the intended Sub-processor and processing;
 - (b) obtain the written consent of the Controller;
 - (c) enter into a written agreement with the Sub-processor which give effect to the terms set out in this Clause 24 such that they apply to the Sub-processor; and
 - (d) provide the Controller with such information regarding the Subprocessor as the Controller may reasonably require.
- 24.13 The Processor shall remain fully liable for all acts or omissions of any of its Sub-processors.
- 24.14 The Authority may, at any time on not less than 30 Working Days' notice, revise this Clause by replacing it with any applicable controller to processor

- standard clauses or similar terms forming part of an applicable certification scheme (which shall apply when incorporated by attachment to this Agreement).
- 24.15 The Parties agree to take account of any guidance issued by the Information Commissioner's Office. The Authority may on not less than 30 Working Days' notice to the Supplier amend this Agreement to ensure that it complies with any guidance issued by the Information Commissioner's Office.

Where the Parties are Joint Controllers of Personal Data

24.16 In the event that the Parties are Joint Controllers in respect of Personal Data under this Agreement, the Parties shall implement Clauses that are necessary to comply with Article 26 of the UK GDPR based on the terms set out in Annex 1 to Schedule 11 (*Processing Personal Data*).

Where the Parties are Independent Controllers of Personal Data

- 24.17 With respect to Personal Data provided by one Party to another Party for which each Party acts as Controller but which is not under the Joint Control of the Parties, each Party undertakes to comply with the applicable Data Protection Legislation in respect of their processing of such Personal Data as Controller.
- 24.18 Each Party shall process the Personal Data in compliance with its obligations under the Data Protection Legislation and not do anything to cause the other Party to be in breach of it.
- 24.19 Where a Party has provided Personal Data to the other Party in accordance with Clause 24.17, the recipient of the Personal Data will provide all such relevant documents and information relating to its data protection policies and procedures as the other Party may reasonably require.
- 24.20 The Parties shall be responsible for their own compliance with Articles 13 and 14 GDPR in respect of the processing of Personal Data for the purposes of this Agreement.
- 24.21 The Parties shall only provide Personal Data to each other:
 - (a) to the extent necessary to perform the respective obligations under this Agreement;
 - (b) in compliance with the Data Protection Legislation (including by ensuring all required fair processing information has been given to affected Data Subjects);
 - (c) where the Personal Data is subject to UK GDPR and where the provision of Personal Data from one Party to another involves transfer of such data to outside the UK, if the prior written consent of the non-transferring Party has been obtained and the following conditions are fulfilled:
 - (i) the transfer is in accordance with Article 45 of the UK GDPR or DPA 2018 Section 73; or

- (ii) the transferring Party has provided appropriate safeguards in relation to the transfer (whether in accordance with Article 46 of the UK GDPR or DPA 2018 Section 75) as determined by the non-transferring Party which could include the International Data Transfer Agreement or International Data Transfer Agreement Addendum to the European Commission's SCCs as published by the Information Commissioner's Office and as set out in Annex 2 to Schedule 31(*Processing Personal Data*), as well as any additional measures determined by the non-transferring Party;
- (iii) the Data Subject has enforceable rights and effective legal remedies;
- (iv) the transferring Party complies with its obligations under the Data Protection Legislation by providing an adequate level of protection to any Personal Data that is transferred (or, if it is not so bound, uses its best endeavours to assist the non-transferring Party in meeting its obligations); and
- (v) the transferring Party complies with any reasonable instructions notified to it in advance by the non-transferring Party with respect to the processing of the Personal Data;
- (d) where the Personal Data is subject to EU GDPR and where the provision of Personal Data from one Party to another involves transfer of such data to outside the EU, if the prior written consent of the non-transferring Party has been obtained and the following conditions are fulfilled:
 - (i) the transfer is in accordance with Article 45 of the EU GDPR; or
 - (ii) the transferring Party has provided appropriate safeguards in relation to the transfer in accordance with Article 46 of the EU GDPR as determined by the non-transferring Party which could include relevant parties entering into Standard Contractual Clauses in the European Commission's decision 2021/914/EU set out in Annex 3 to Schedule 31 (*Processing Personal Data*) or such updated version of such Standard Contractual Clauses as are published by the European Commission from time to time as well as any additional measures determined by the non-transferring Party;
 - (iii) the Data Subject has enforceable rights and effective legal remedies;
 - (iv) the transferring Party complies with its obligations under the Data Protection Legislation by providing an adequate level of protection to any Personal Data that is transferred (or, if it is not so bound, uses its best endeavours to assist the non-transferring Party in meeting its obligations); and

- (v) the transferring Party complies with any reasonable instructions notified to it in advance by the non-transferring Party with respect to the processing of the Personal Data; and
- (e) where it has recorded it in Schedule 11 (*Processing Personal Data*).
- 24.22 Taking into account the state of the art, the costs of implementation and the nature, scope, context and purposes of processing as well as the risk of varying likelihood and severity for the rights and freedoms of natural persons, each Party shall, with respect to its processing of Personal Data as independent Controller, implement and maintain appropriate technical and organisational measures to ensure a level of security appropriate to that risk, including, as appropriate, the measures referred to in Article 32(1)(a), (b), (c) and (d) of the UK GDPR, and the measures shall, at a minimum, comply with the requirements of the Data Protection Legislation, including Article 32 of the UK GDPR.
- 24.23 A Party processing Personal Data for the purposes of this Agreement shall maintain a record of its processing activities in accordance with Article 30 of the UK GDPR and shall make the record available to the other Party upon reasonable request.
- 24.24 Where a Party receives a request by any Data Subject to exercise any of their rights under the Data Protection Legislation in relation to the Personal Data provided to it by the other Party pursuant to this Agreement ("the Request Recipient"):
 - (a) the other Party shall provide any information and/or assistance as reasonably requested by the Request Recipient to help it respond to the request or correspondence, at the cost of the Request Recipient; or
 - (b) where the request or correspondence is directed to the other party and/or relates to the other party's Processing of the Personal Data, the Request Recipient will:
 - (i) promptly, and in any event within five (5) Working Days of receipt of the request or correspondence, inform the other party that it has received the same and shall forward such request or correspondence to the other party; and
 - (ii) provide any information and/or assistance as reasonably requested by the other party to help it respond to the request or correspondence in the timeframes specified by Data Protection Legislation.
- 24.25 Each party shall promptly notify the other Party upon it becoming aware of any Personal Data Breach relating to Personal Data provided by the other party pursuant to this Agreement and shall:
 - (a) do all such things as reasonably necessary to assist the other Party in mitigating the effects of the Data Breach;

- (b) implement any measures necessary to restore the security of any compromised Personal Data;
- (c) work with the other Party to make any required notifications to the Information Commissioner's Office and affected Data Subjects in accordance with the Data Protection Legislation (including the timeframes set out therein); and
- (d) not do anything which may damage the reputation of the other Party or that Party's relationship with the relevant Data Subjects, save as required by Law.
- 24.26 Personal Data provided by one Party to the other Party may be used exclusively to exercise rights and obligations under this Agreement as specified in Schedule 11 (*Processing Personal Data*).
- 24.27 Personal Data shall not be retained or processed for longer than is necessary to perform each Party's obligations under this Agreement which is specified in Schedule 11 (*Processing Personal Data*).
- 24.28 Notwithstanding the general application of Clauses 24.2 to 24.15 to Personal Data, where the Supplier is required to exercise its regulatory and/or legal obligations in respect of Personal Data, it shall act as an Independent Controller of Personal Data in accordance with Clause 24.16 to 24.27.

Standard Contractual Clauses

- 24.29 It is noted that on 28 June 2021 the European Commission made an implementing decision pursuant to Article 45 of the EU GDPR on the adequate protection of personal data by the United Kingdom which contains carve-outs for certain transfers outside of the EU to the UK of certain types of Personal Data (the "UK Adequacy Decision"). If any transfer of Personal Data which is subject to EU GDPR pursuant to this Contract is not covered by the UK Adequacy Decision or at any time during the term of the Contract the UK Adequacy Decision is:
 - 24.29.1 withdrawn, invalidated, overruled or otherwise ceases to have effect, or
 - 24.29.2 amended in such a way as to affect the transfers of Personal Data outside of the EU which are contemplated under this Contract,

Clauses 24.30 to 24.31 below shall apply.

24.30 The Parties agree:

- 24.30.1 that without any further action being required they have entered into the Standard Contractual Clauses in the European Commission's decision 2021/914/EU set out in Annex 4 to Schedule 31 (*Processing Personal Data*) in respect of data transfers by the Supplier outside of the EU to the UK;
- 24.30.2 that, where no other appropriate safeguard or exemption applies, that the Personal Data subject to this Contract (and to which

- Chapter V of the EU GDPR applies) will be transferred in accordance with those Standard Contractual Clauses as of the date the Parties entered into those Standard Contractual Clauses:
- 24.30.3 to use best endeavours to complete the annexes to the Standard Contractual Clauses promptly and at their own cost for the purpose of giving full effect to them; and
- 24.30.4 that if there is any conflict between this Contract and the Standard Contractual Clauses the terms of the Standard Contractual Clauses shall apply.
- 24.31 In the event that the European Commission updates, amends, substitutes, adopts or publishes new Standard Contractual Clauses from time to time, the Parties agree:
 - 24.31.1 that the most up to date Standard Contractual Clauses from time to time shall be automatically incorporated in place of those in Annex 4 to Schedule 31 (*Processing Personal Data*) and that such incorporation is not a Change;
 - 24.31.2 that where no other appropriate safeguard or exemption applies, that the Personal Data subject to this Contract (and to which Chapter V of the EU GDPR applies) will be transferred in accordance with the relevant form of the most up to date Standard Contractual Clauses as of the date the European Commission decision regarding such new Standard Contractual Clauses becomes effective;
 - 24.31.3 to use best endeavours to complete any part of the most up to date Standard Contractual Clauses that a Party must complete promptly and at their own cost for the purpose of giving full effect to them; and
 - 24.31.4 that if there is any conflict between this Contract and the most up to date Standard Contractual Clauses the terms of the most up to date Standard Contractual Clauses shall apply.

25 **PUBLICITY AND BRANDING**

- 25.1 The Supplier shall not:
 - (a) make any press announcements or publicise this Agreement or its contents in any way; or
 - (b) use the Authority's name or brand in any promotion or marketing or announcement of orders;

without the prior written consent of the Authority, which shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed.

25.2 Each Party acknowledges to the other that nothing in this Agreement either expressly or by implication constitutes an endorsement of any products or services of the other Party (including the Services, the Supplier System and the Authority System) and each Party agrees not to conduct itself in such a way as to imply or express any such approval or endorsement.

SECTION G - LIABILITY, INDEMNITIES AND INSURANCE

26 LIMITATIONS ON LIABILITY

Unlimited liability

- 26.1 Neither Party limits its liability for:
 - (a) death or personal injury caused by its negligence, or that of its employees, agents or sub-contractors (as applicable);
 - (b) fraud or fraudulent misrepresentation by it or its employees;
 - (c) breach of any obligation as to title implied by section 12 of the Sale of Goods Act 1979 or section 2 of the Supply of Goods and Services Act 1982; or
 - (d) any liability to the extent it cannot be limited or excluded by Law.
- 26.2 The Supplier's liability in respect of the indemnities in Clause 10.5 (*VAT*), Clause 14.7 (*Employment Indemnity*), Clause 14.8 (*Income Tax and National Insurance Contributions*), Clause 19 (*IPRs Indemnity*), Schedule 9.1 (*Staff Transfer*) and the Annexes to Schedule 9.1 (*Staff Transfer*) shall be unlimited.
- 26.3 The Authority's liability in respect of the indemnities in Clause 14.7 (*Employment Indemnity*), Schedule 9.1 (*Staff Transfer*) and the Annexes to Schedule 9.1 (*Staff Transfer*) shall be unlimited.

Financial and other limits

- 26.4 Subject to Clauses 26.1 and 26.2 (*Unlimited Liability*) and Clauses 26.7 (*Consequential losses*):
 - the Supplier's aggregate liability in respect of loss of or damage to the Authority Premises or other property or assets of the Authority (including technical infrastructure, assets or equipment but excluding any loss or damage to the Authority's Data or any other data) that is caused by Defaults of the Supplier occurring in each and any Contract Year shall in no event exceed £10 million;
 - (b) the Supplier's aggregate liability in respect of:
 - (i) loss or damage to Authority Data;
 - (ii) breach of the Data Protection Legislation; and
 - (iii) breach of the Standard Contractual Clauses,

that is caused by Default of the Supplier occurring in each and any Contract Year shall in no event exceed £10 million:

- (c) the Supplier's aggregate liability in respect of all:
 - (i) Service Credits; and
 - (ii) Compensation for Unacceptable KPI Failure:

incurred in any rolling period of 12 months shall be subject to the Service Credit Cap; and

- (d) the Supplier's aggregate liability in respect of all other Losses incurred by the Authority under or in connection with this Agreement as a result of Defaults by the Supplier shall in no event exceed:
 - (i) in relation to Defaults occurring in the first Contract Year, an amount equal to 150% of the Estimated Year 1 Charges;
 - (ii) in relation to Defaults occurring during any subsequent Contract Year, an amount equal to 150% of the Charges paid and/or due to be paid to the Supplier under this Agreement in the Contract Year immediately preceding the occurrence of the Default; and
 - (iii) in relation to Defaults occurring after the end of the Term, an amount equal to 150% of the Charges paid and/or due to be paid to the Supplier in the 12 month period immediately prior to the last day of the Term,

provided that where any Losses referred to this Clause 26.4(d) have been incurred by the Authority as a result of the Supplier's abandonment of this Agreement or the Supplier's willful default, willful breach of a fundamental term of this Agreement or willful repudiatory breach of this Agreement, the references in such Clause to 150% shall be deemed to be references to 200%.

- 26.5 Deductions from Charges shall not be taken into consideration when calculating the Supplier's liability under Clause 26.4(c).
- 26.6 Subject to Clauses 26.1 and 26.3 (*Unlimited Liability*) and Clause 26.7 (*Consequential Losses*) and without prejudice to the Authority's obligation to pay the Charges as and when they fall due for payment:
 - (a) the Authority's total aggregate liability in respect of all Losses incurred by the Supplier under or in connection with this Agreement as a result of early termination of this Agreement by the Authority pursuant to Clause 34.1(a) (*Termination by the Authority*) or by the Supplier pursuant to Clause 34.3(a) (*Termination by the Supplier*) shall in no event exceed the following amounts:
 - (i) in relation to the Unrecovered Payment, the amount set out in Paragraph 4 of Schedule 7.2 (*Payments on Termination*);
 - (ii) in relation to the Breakage Costs Payment, the amount set out in Paragraph 3.2 of Schedule 7.2 (*Payments on Termination*); and
 - (iii) in relation to the Compensation Payment, the amount set out in Paragraph 6 of Schedule 7.2 (*Payments on Termination*); and

- (b) the Authority's aggregate liability in respect of all Losses incurred by the Supplier under or in connection with this Agreement as a result of Defaults of the Authority shall in no event exceed:
 - (i) in relation to Defaults occurring in the first Contract Year, an amount equal to the Estimated Year 1 Charges;
 - (ii) in relation to Defaults occurring during any subsequent Contract Year, an amount equal to the total Charges paid and/or due to be paid under this Agreement in the Contract Year immediately preceding the occurrence of the Default; and
 - (iii) in relation to Defaults occurring after the end of the Term, an amount equal to the total Charges paid and/or due to be paid to the Supplier in the 12 month period immediately prior to the last day of the Term.

Consequential Losses

- 26.7 Subject to Clauses 26.1, 26.2 and 26.3 (*Unlimited Liability*) and Clause 26.8, neither Party shall be liable to the other Party for:
 - (a) any indirect, special or consequential Loss; or
 - (b) any loss of profits, turnover, business opportunities or damage to goodwill (in each case whether direct or indirect).
- 26.8 Notwithstanding Clause 26.7 but subject to Clause 26.4, the Supplier acknowledges that the Authority may, amongst other things, recover from the Supplier the following Losses incurred by the Authority to the extent that they arise as a result of a Default by the Supplier:
 - (a) any additional operational and/or administrative costs and expenses incurred by the Authority, including costs relating to time spent by or on behalf of the Authority in dealing with the consequences of the Default;
 - (b) any wasted expenditure or charges;
 - the additional cost of procuring Replacement Services for the remainder of the Term and/or replacement Deliverables, which shall include any incremental costs associated with such Replacement Services and/or replacement Deliverables above those which would have been payable under this Agreement;
 - (d) any compensation or interest paid to a third party by the Authority;
 - (e) any fine or penalty incurred by the Authority pursuant to Law and any costs incurred by the Authority in defending any proceedings which result in such fine or penalty; and
 - (f) any anticipated savings identified in Schedule 7.6 (*Anticipated Savings*).

Conduct of indemnity claims

26.9 Where under this Agreement one Party indemnifies the other Party, the Parties shall comply with the provisions of Schedule 8.7 (*Conduct of Claims*) in relation to the conduct of claims made by a third person against the Party having (or claiming to have) the benefit of the indemnity.

Mitigation

26.10 Each Party shall use all reasonable endeavours to mitigate any loss or damage suffered arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, including any Losses for which the relevant Party is entitled to bring a claim against the other Party pursuant to the indemnities in this Agreement.

27 **INSURANCE**

27.1 The Supplier shall comply with the provisions of Schedule 2.5 (*Insurance Requirements*) in relation to obtaining and maintaining insurance.

SECTION H - REMEDIES AND RELIEF

28 <u>RECTIFICATION PLAN PROCESS</u>

- 28.1 In the event that:
 - (a) there is, or is reasonably likely to be, a Delay; and/or
 - (b) in any Service Period there has been:
 - (i) a Material KPI Failure; and/or
 - (ii) a Material PI Failure; and/or
 - (c) the Supplier commits a material Default that is capable of remedy (and for these purposes a material Default may be a single material Default or a number of Defaults or repeated Defaults (whether of the same or different obligations and regardless of whether such Defaults are remedied) which taken together constitute a material Default),

(each a "Notifiable Default"), the Supplier shall notify the Authority of the Notifiable Default as soon as practicable but in any event within 3 Working Days of becoming aware of the Notifiable Default, detailing the actual or anticipated effect of the Notifiable Default and, unless the Notifiable Default also constitutes a Rectification Plan Failure or other Supplier Termination Event, the Authority may not terminate this Agreement in whole or in part on the grounds of the Notifiable Default without first following the Rectification Plan Process.

Notification

- 28.2 If:
 - (a) the Supplier notifies the Authority pursuant to Clause 28.1 that a Notifiable Default has occurred; or
 - (b) the Authority notifies the Supplier that it considers that a Notifiable Default has occurred (setting out sufficient detail so that it is reasonably clear what the Supplier has to rectify),

then, unless the Notifiable Default also constitutes a Supplier Termination Event and the Authority serves a Termination Notice, the Supplier shall comply with the Rectification Plan Process.

28.3 The "Rectification Plan Process" shall be as set out in Clauses 28.4 (Submission of the draft Rectification Plan) to 28.9 (Agreement of the Rectification Plan).

Submission of the draft Rectification Plan

28.4 The Supplier shall submit a draft Rectification Plan to the Authority for it to review as soon as possible and in any event within 10 Working Days (or such other period as may be agreed between the Parties) after the original notification pursuant to Clause 28.2 (*Notification*). The Supplier shall submit a

draft Rectification Plan even if the Supplier disputes that it is responsible for the Notifiable Default.

- 28.5 The draft Rectification Plan shall set out:
 - (a) full details of the Notifiable Default that has occurred, including a root cause analysis;
 - (b) the actual or anticipated effect of the Notifiable Default; and
 - (c) the steps which the Supplier proposes to take to rectify the Notifiable Default (if applicable) and to prevent such Notifiable Default from recurring, including timescales for such steps and for the rectification of the Notifiable Default (where applicable).
- 28.6 The Supplier shall promptly provide to the Authority any further documentation that the Authority reasonably requires to assess the Supplier's root cause analysis. If the Parties do not agree on the root cause set out in the draft Rectification Plan, either Party may refer the matter to be determined by an expert in accordance with Paragraph 6 of Schedule 8.3 (*Dispute Resolution Procedure*).

Agreement of the Rectification Plan

- 28.7 The Authority may reject the draft Rectification Plan by notice to the Supplier if, acting reasonably, it considers that the draft Rectification Plan is inadequate, for example because the draft Rectification Plan:
 - (a) is insufficiently detailed to be capable of proper evaluation;
 - (b) will take too long to complete;
 - (c) will not prevent reoccurrence of the Notifiable Default; and/or
 - (d) will rectify the Notifiable Default but in a manner which is unacceptable to the Authority.
- 28.8 The Authority shall notify the Supplier whether it consents to the draft Rectification Plan as soon as reasonably practicable. If the Authority rejects the draft Rectification Plan, the Authority shall give reasons for its decision and the Supplier shall take the reasons into account in the preparation of a revised Rectification Plan. The Supplier shall submit the revised draft of the Rectification Plan to the Authority for review within 5 Working Days (or such other period as agreed between the Parties) of the Authority's notice rejecting the first draft.
- 28.9 If the Authority consents to the Rectification Plan:
 - (a) the Supplier shall immediately start work on the actions set out in the Rectification Plan; and
 - (b) the Authority may no longer terminate this Agreement in whole or in part on the grounds of the relevant Notifiable Default;

save in the event of a Rectification Plan Failure or other Supplier Termination Event.

29 **DELAY PAYMENTS**

29.1 The provisions of Paragraphs 1 and 2 of Part C of Schedule 7.1 (*Charges and Invoicing*) shall apply in relation to the payment of Delay Payments.

30 REMEDIAL ADVISER

- 30.1 If:
 - (a) any of the Intervention Trigger Events occur; or
 - (b) the Authority reasonably believes that any of the Intervention Trigger Events are likely to occur,

(each an "Intervention Cause"), the Authority may give notice to the Supplier (an "Intervention Notice") giving reasonable details of the Intervention Cause and requiring:

- (i) a meeting between the Authority Representative and the Supplier Representative to discuss the Intervention Cause; and/or
- (ii) the appointment as soon as practicable by the Supplier of a Remedial Adviser, as further described in this Clause 30.

For the avoidance of doubt, if the Intervention Cause is also a Supplier Termination Event, the Authority has no obligation to exercise its rights under this Clause 30.1 prior to or instead of exercising its right to terminate this Agreement.

- 30.2 If the Authority gives notice that it requires the appointment of a Remedial Adviser:
 - (a) the Remedial Adviser shall be:
 - (i) a person selected by the Supplier and approved by the Authority; or
 - (ii) if none of the persons selected by the Supplier have been approved by the Authority (or no person has been selected by the Supplier) within 10 Working Days following the date on which the Intervention Notice is given, a person identified by the Authority;
 - (b) the terms of engagement and start date agreed with the Remedial Adviser must be approved by the Authority; and
 - (c) any right of the Authority to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Clause 34.1(b) (*Termination by the Authority*) for the occurrence of that Intervention Cause shall be suspended for 60 Working Days from (and including) the date of the Intervention Notice (or such

other period as may be agreed between the Parties)(the "Intervention Period").

- 30.3 The Remedial Adviser's overall objective shall be to mitigate the effects of, and (to the extent capable of being remedied) to remedy, the Intervention Cause and to avoid the occurrence of similar circumstances in the future. In furtherance of this objective (but without diminishing the Supplier's responsibilities under this Agreement), the Parties agree that the Remedial Adviser may undertake any one or more of the following actions:
 - (a) observe the conduct of and work alongside the Supplier Personnel to the extent that the Remedial Adviser considers reasonable and proportionate having regard to the Intervention Cause;
 - (b) gather any information the Remedial Adviser considers relevant in the furtherance of its objective;
 - (c) write reports and provide information to the Authority in connection with the steps being taken by the Supplier to remedy the Intervention Cause;
 - (d) make recommendations to the Authority and/or the Supplier as to how the Intervention Cause might be mitigated or avoided in the future; and/or
 - (e) take any other steps that the Authority and/or the Remedial Adviser reasonably considers necessary or expedient in order to mitigate or rectify the Intervention Cause.

30.4 The Supplier shall:

- (a) work alongside, provide information to, co-operate in good faith with and adopt any reasonable methodology in providing the Services recommended by the Remedial Adviser;
- (b) ensure that the Remedial Adviser has all the access it may require in order to carry out its objective, including access to the Assets;
- (c) submit to such monitoring as the Authority and/or the Remedial Adviser considers reasonable and proportionate in respect of the Intervention Cause;
- (d) implement any reasonable recommendations made by the Remedial Adviser that have been approved by the Authority within the timescales given by the Remedial Adviser; and
- (e) not terminate the appointment of the Remedial Adviser prior to the end of the Intervention Period without the prior consent of the Authority (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld).

30.5 The Supplier shall be responsible for:

(a) the costs of appointing, and the fees charged by, the Remedial Adviser; and

(b) its own costs in connection with any action required by the Authority and/or the Remedial Adviser pursuant to this Clause 30.

30.6 If:

- (a) the Supplier:
 - (i) fails to perform any of the steps required by the Authority in an Intervention Notice; and/or
 - (ii) is in Default of any of its obligations under Clause 30.4; and/or
- (b) the relevant Intervention Trigger Event is not rectified by the end of the Intervention Period,

(each a "**Remedial Adviser Failure**"), the Authority shall be entitled to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Clause 34.1(b) (*Termination by the Authority*).

31 STEP-IN RIGHTS

- 31.1 On the occurrence of a Step-In Trigger Event, the Authority may serve notice on the Supplier (a "Step-In Notice") that it will be taking action under this Clause 31 (Step-in Rights), either itself or with the assistance of a third party (provided that the Supplier may require any third parties to comply with a confidentiality undertaking equivalent to Clause 22 (Confidentiality)). The Step-In Notice shall set out the following:
 - (a) the action the Authority wishes to take and in particular the Services that it wishes to control (the "**Required Action**");
 - (b) the Step-In Trigger Event that has occurred and whether the Authority believes that the Required Action is due to the Supplier's Default;
 - (c) the date on which it wishes to commence the Required Action;
 - (d) the time period which it believes will be necessary for the Required Action;
 - (e) whether the Authority will require access to the Supplier's premises and/or the Sites; and
 - (f) to the extent practicable, the impact that the Authority anticipates the Required Action will have on the Supplier's obligations to provide the Services during the period that the Required Action is being taken.
- 31.2 Following service of a Step-In Notice, the Authority shall:
 - (a) take the Required Action set out in the Step-In Notice and any consequential additional action as it reasonably believes is necessary to achieve the Required Action;

- (b) keep records of the Required Action taken and provide information about the Required Action to the Supplier;
- (c) co-operate wherever reasonable with the Supplier in order to enable the Supplier to continue to provide the Services in relation to which the Authority is not assuming control; and
- (d) act reasonably in mitigating the cost that the Supplier will incur as a result of the exercise of the Authority's rights under this Clause 31.
- 31.3 For so long as and to the extent that the Required Action is continuing, then:
 - the Supplier shall not be obliged to provide the Services to the extent that they are the subject of the Required Action;
 - (b) no Deductions shall be applicable in relation to Charges in respect of Services that are the subject of the Required Action and the provisions of Clause 31.4 shall apply to Deductions from Charges in respect of other Services; and
 - (c) the Authority shall pay to the Supplier the Charges after subtracting any applicable Deductions and the Authority's costs of taking the Required Action.
- 31.4 If the Supplier demonstrates to the reasonable satisfaction of the Authority that the Required Action has resulted in:
 - (a) the degradation of any Services not subject to the Required Action; or
 - (b) the non-Achievement of a Milestone,

beyond that which would have been the case had the Authority not taken the Required Action, then the Supplier shall be entitled to an agreed adjustment of the Charges.

- 31.5 Before ceasing to exercise its step in rights under this Clause 31 the Authority shall deliver a written notice to the Supplier (a "**Step-Out Notice**"), specifying:
 - (a) the Required Action it has actually taken; and
 - (b) the date on which the Authority plans to end the Required Action (the "**Step-Out Date**") subject to the Authority being satisfied with the Supplier's ability to resume the provision of the Services and the Supplier's plan developed in accordance with Clause 31.6.
- 31.6 The Supplier shall, following receipt of a Step-Out Notice and not less than 20 Working Days prior to the Step-Out Date, develop for the Authority's approval a draft plan (a "Step-Out Plan") relating to the resumption by the Supplier of the Services, including any action the Supplier proposes to take to ensure that the affected Services satisfy the requirements of this Agreement.
- 31.7 If the Authority does not approve the draft Step-Out Plan, the Authority shall inform the Supplier of its reasons for not approving it. The Supplier shall then

revise the draft Step-Out Plan taking those reasons into account and shall resubmit the revised plan to the Authority for the Authority's approval. The Authority shall not withhold or delay its approval of the draft Step-Out Plan unnecessarily.

- 31.8 The Supplier shall bear its own costs in connection with any step-in by the Authority under this Clause 31, provided that the Authority shall reimburse the Supplier's reasonable additional expenses incurred directly as a result of any step-in action taken by the Authority under:
 - (a) limbs (c) or (d) of the definition of a Step-In Trigger Event; or
 - (b) limbs (e) and (f) of the definition of a Step-in Trigger Event (insofar as the primary cause of the Authority serving the Step-In Notice is identified as not being the result of the Supplier's Default).

32 **AUTHORITY CAUSE**

- 32.1 Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, if the Supplier has failed to:
 - (a) Achieve a Milestone by its Milestone Date;
 - (b) provide the Operational Services in accordance with the Target Performance Levels; and/or
 - (c) comply with its obligations under this Agreement,

(each a "Supplier Non-Performance"),

and can demonstrate that the Supplier Non-Performance would not have occurred but for an Authority Cause, then (subject to the Supplier fulfilling its obligations in this Clause 32):

- the Supplier shall not be treated as being in breach of this Agreement to the extent the Supplier can demonstrate that the Supplier Non-Performance was caused by the Authority Cause;
- (ii) the Authority shall not be entitled to exercise any rights that may arise as a result of that Supplier Non-Performance:
 - (A) to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Clause 34.1(b) (*Termination by the Authority*); or
 - (B) to take action pursuant to Clauses 30 (*Remedial Adviser*) or 31 (*Step-In*);
- (iii) where the Supplier Non-Performance constitutes the failure to Achieve a Milestone by its Milestone Date:
 - (A) the Milestone Date shall be postponed by a period equal to the period of Delay that the Supplier can demonstrate was caused by the Authority Cause;

- (B) if the Authority, acting reasonably, considers it appropriate, the Implementation Plan shall be amended to reflect any consequential revisions required to subsequent Milestone Dates resulting from the Authority Cause;
- (C) if the Milestone is a Key Milestone, the Supplier shall have no liability to pay any Delay Payments associated with the Key Milestone to the extent that the Supplier can demonstrate that such failure was caused by the Authority Cause; and
- (D) the Supplier shall be entitled to claim compensation subject to and in accordance with the principles set out in Paragraph 2 of Part C of Schedule 7.1 (*Charges and Invoicing*); and/or
- (iv) where the Supplier Non-Performance constitutes a Performance Failure:
 - (A) the Supplier shall not be liable to accrue Service Credits:
 - (B) the Authority shall not be entitled to withhold any of the Service Charges pursuant to Clause 7.2(d)(ii) (Performance Failures);
 - (C) the Authority shall not be entitled to withhold and retain any Compensation for Unacceptable KPI Failure pursuant to Clause 7.4(a) (*Unacceptable KPI Failure*); and
 - (D) the Supplier shall be entitled to invoice for the Service Charges for the relevant Operational Services affected by the Authority Cause,

in each case, to the extent that the Supplier can demonstrate that the Performance Failure was caused by the Authority Cause.

- 32.2 In order to claim any of the rights and/or relief referred to in Clause 32.1, the Supplier shall as soon as reasonably practicable (and in any event within 10 Working Days) after becoming aware that an Authority Cause has caused, or is reasonably likely to cause, a Supplier Non-Performance, give the Authority notice (a "Relief Notice") setting out details of:
 - (a) the Supplier Non-Performance;
 - (b) the Authority Cause and its effect, or likely effect, on the Supplier's ability to meet its obligations under this Agreement;
 - (c) any steps which the Authority can take to eliminate or mitigate the consequences and impact of such Authority Cause; and

- (d) the relief and/or compensation claimed by the Supplier.
- 32.3 Following the receipt of a Relief Notice, the Authority shall as soon as reasonably practicable consider the nature of the Supplier Non-Performance and the alleged Authority Cause and whether it agrees with the Supplier's assessment set out in the Relief Notice as to the effect of the relevant Authority Cause and its entitlement to relief and/or compensation, consulting with the Supplier where necessary.
- 32.4 The Supplier shall use all reasonable endeavours to eliminate or mitigate the consequences and impact of an Authority Cause, including any Losses that the Supplier may incur and the duration and consequences of any Delay or anticipated Delay.
- 32.5 Without prejudice to Clause 5.9 (*Continuing obligation to provide the Services*), if a Dispute arises as to:
 - (a) whether a Supplier Non-Performance would not have occurred but for an Authority Cause; and/or
 - (b) the nature and/or extent of the relief and/or compensation claimed by the Supplier,
 - either Party may refer the Dispute to the Dispute Resolution Procedure. Pending the resolution of the Dispute, both Parties shall continue to resolve the causes of, and mitigate the effects of, the Supplier Non-Performance.
- 32.6 Any Change that is required to the Implementation Plan or to the Charges pursuant to this Clause 32 shall be implemented in accordance with the Change Control Procedure.

33 FORCE MAJEURE

- 33.1 Subject to the remaining provisions of this Clause 33 (and, in relation to the Supplier, subject to its compliance with its obligations in Schedule 8.6 (Service Continuity Plan and Corporate Resolution Planning)), a Party may claim relief under this Clause 33 from liability for failure to meet its obligations under this Agreement for as long as and only to the extent that the performance of those obligations is directly affected by a Force Majeure Event. Any failure or delay by the Supplier in performing its obligations under this Agreement which results from a failure or delay by an agent, Sub-contractor or supplier shall be regarded as due to a Force Majeure Event only if that agent, Sub-contractor or supplier is itself impeded by a Force Majeure Event from complying with an obligation to the Supplier.
- 33.2 The Affected Party shall as soon as reasonably practicable issue a Force Majeure Notice, which shall include details of the Force Majeure Event, its effect on the obligations of the Affected Party and any action the Affected Party proposes to take to mitigate its effect.
- 33.3 If the Supplier is the Affected Party, it shall not be entitled to claim relief under this Clause 33 to the extent that consequences of the relevant Force Majeure Event:

- (a) are capable of being mitigated, but the Supplier has failed to do so;
- (b) should have been foreseen and prevented or avoided by a prudent provider of services similar to the Services, operating to the standards required by this Agreement; or
- (c) are the result of the Supplier's failure to comply with its Service Continuity Plan (except to the extent that such failure is also due to a Force Majeure Event that affects the execution of the Service Continuity Plan).
- 33.4 Subject to Clause 33.5, as soon as practicable after the Affected Party issues the Force Majeure Notice, and at regular intervals thereafter, the Parties shall consult in good faith and use reasonable endeavours to agree any steps to be taken and an appropriate timetable in which those steps should be taken, to enable continued provision of the Services affected by the Force Majeure Event.
- 33.5 The Parties shall at all times following the occurrence of a Force Majeure Event and during its subsistence use their respective reasonable endeavours to prevent and mitigate the effects of the Force Majeure Event. Where the Supplier is the Affected Party, it shall take all steps in accordance with Good Industry Practice to overcome or minimise the consequences of the Force Majeure Event.
- 33.6 Where, as a result of a Force Majeure Event:
 - (a) an Affected Party fails to perform its obligations in accordance with this Agreement, then during the continuance of the Force Majeure Event:
 - (i) the other Party shall not be entitled to exercise any rights to terminate this Agreement in whole or in part as a result of such failure other than pursuant to Clause 34.1(c) (Termination by the Authority) or Clause 34.3(b) (Termination by the Supplier); and
 - (ii) neither Party shall be liable for any Default arising as a result of such failure;
 - (b) the Supplier fails to perform its obligations in accordance with this Agreement:
 - (i) the Authority shall not be entitled:
 - (A) during the continuance of the Force Majeure Event to exercise its rights under Clause 30 (*Remedial Adviser*) and/or Clause 31 (*Step-in Rights*) as a result of such failure;
 - (B) to receive Delay Payments pursuant to Clause 29 (*Delay Payments*) to the extent that the Achievement of any Milestone is affected by the Force Majeure Event: and

- (C) to receive Service Credits, to withhold any of the Service Charges pursuant to Clause 7.2(d)(ii) (Performance Failures) or withhold and retain any of the Service Charges as compensation pursuant to Clause 7.4(a) (Unacceptable KPI Failure) to the extent that a Performance Failure has been caused by the Force Majeure Event; and
- (ii) the Supplier shall be entitled to receive payment of the Charges (or a proportional payment of them) only to the extent that the Services (or part of the Services) continue to be performed in accordance with the terms of this Agreement during the occurrence of the Force Majeure Event.
- 33.7 The Affected Party shall notify the other Party as soon as practicable after the Force Majeure Event ceases or no longer causes the Affected Party to be unable to comply with its obligations under this Agreement.
- 33.8 Relief from liability for the Affected Party under this Clause 33 shall end as soon as the Force Majeure Event no longer causes the Affected Party to be unable to comply with its obligations under this Agreement and shall not be dependent on the serving of notice under Clause 33.7.

SECTION I – TERMINATION AND EXIT MANAGEMENT

34 TERMINATION RIGHTS

Termination by the Authority

- 34.1 The Authority may terminate this Agreement (in whole or in part, including in respect of one or more Services, Countries or Locations, or any combination of Services, Countries and/or Locations) by issuing a Termination Notice to the Supplier:
 - (a) for convenience at any time;
 - (b) if a Supplier Termination Event occurs;
 - (c) if a Force Majeure Event endures for a continuous period of more than ninety (90) days; or
 - (d) if the Agreement has been substantially amended to the extent that the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 require a new procurement procedure,

and this Agreement shall terminate on the date specified in the Termination Notice.

34.2 Where the Authority:

- (a) is terminating this Agreement under Clause 34.1(b) due to the occurrence of either limb (b) and/or (g) of the definition of Supplier Termination Event, it may rely on a single material Default or on a number of Defaults or repeated Defaults (whether of the same or different obligations and regardless of whether such Defaults are cured) which taken together constitute a material Default; and/or
- (b) has the right to terminate this Agreement under Clause 34.1(b) or Clause 34.1(c), it may, prior to or instead of terminating the whole of this Agreement, serve a Termination Notice requiring the partial termination of this Agreement to the extent that it relates to any part of the Services which are materially affected by the relevant circumstances.

Termination by the Supplier

- 34.3 The Supplier may, by issuing a Termination Notice to the Authority, terminate:
 - this Agreement if the Authority fails to pay an undisputed sum due to the Supplier under this Agreement which in aggregate exceeds an amount which is the rolling monthly average of the payable Banded Fixed Service Charges, Maximum Volume Point Relief Payments, Temporary Relief Payments, and Banded Volumetric Service Charges and such amount remains outstanding 40 Working Days after the receipt by the Authority of a notice of non-payment from the Supplier; or

(b) any Services that are materially impacted by a Force Majeure Event that endures for a continuous period of more than ninety (90) days,

and this Agreement or the relevant Services (as the case may be) shall then terminate on the date specified in the Termination Notice (which shall not be less than 20 Working Days from the date of the issue of the Termination Notice). If the operation of Clause 34.3(b) would result in a Partial Termination, the provisions of Clause 34.4 (*Partial Termination*) shall apply.

Partial Termination

- 34.4 If the Supplier notifies the Authority pursuant to Clause 34.3(b) (*Termination by the Supplier*) that it intends to terminate this Agreement in part and the Authority, acting reasonably, believes that the effect of such Partial Termination is to render the remaining Services incapable of meeting a significant part of the Authority Requirements, then the Authority shall be entitled to terminate the remaining part of this Agreement by serving a Termination Notice to the Supplier within 1 month of receiving the Supplier's Termination Notice. For the purpose of this Clause 34.4, in assessing the significance of any part of the Authority Requirements, regard shall be had not only to the proportion of that part to the Authority Requirements as a whole, but also to the importance of the relevant part to the Authority.
- 34.5 The Parties shall agree the effect of any Change necessitated by a Partial Termination (whether notified by the Authority or the Supplier) in accordance with the Change Control Procedure, including the effect the Partial Termination may have on any other Services and the Charges, provided that:
 - (a) the Supplier shall not be entitled to an increase in the Charges in respect of the Services that have not been terminated if the Partial Termination arises due to the occurrence of a Supplier Termination Event;
 - (b) any adjustment to the Charges (if any) shall be calculated in accordance with the Financial Model and must be reasonable; and
 - (c) the Supplier shall not be entitled to reject the Change.

35 CONSEQUENCES OF EXPIRY OR TERMINATION

General Provisions on Expiry or Termination

35.1 The provisions of Clauses 5.8 (Specially Written Software warranty), 10.4 and 10.5 (VAT), 10.6 and 10.7 (Set-off and Withholding), 12 (Records, Reports, Audits and Open Book Data), 14.7 (Employment Indemnity), 14.8 (Income Tax and National Insurance Contributions), 16 (Intellectual Property Rights), 17 (Licences Granted by the Supplier), 19.1 (IPRs Indemnity), 22 (Confidentiality), 23 (Transparency and Freedom of Information), 24 (Protection of Personal Data), 26 (Limitations on Liability), 35 (Consequences of Expiry or Termination), 41 (Severance), 43 (Entire Agreement), 44 (Third Party Rights), 46 (Disputes) and 47 (Governing Law and Jurisdiction), and the provisions of Schedules 1 (Definitions), 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing), 7.2 (Payments on Termination), 7.5 (Financial Reports and Audit Rights), 8.3

(Dispute Resolution Procedure), 8.4 (Reports and Records Provisions), 8.5 (Exit Management), and 9.1 (Staff Transfer), shall survive the termination or expiry of this Agreement.

Exit Management

35.2 The Parties shall comply with the provisions of Schedule 8.5 (*Exit Management*) and any current Exit Plan in relation to orderly transition of the Services to the Authority or a Replacement Supplier.

Payments by the Authority

- 35.3 If this Agreement is terminated by the Authority pursuant to Clause 34.1(a) (*Termination by the Authority*) or by the Supplier pursuant to Clause 34.3(a) (*Termination by the Supplier*), the Authority shall pay the Supplier the following payments (which shall be the Supplier's sole remedy for the termination of this Agreement):
 - (a) the Termination Payment; and
 - (b) the Compensation Payment, if either of the following periods is less than ninety (90) days:
 - (i) the period from (but excluding) the date that the Termination Notice is given (or, where Paragraph 2.1(a) of Part D of Schedule 7.1 (*Charges and Invoicing*) applies, deemed given) by the Authority pursuant to Clause 34.1(a) (*Termination by the Authority*)) to (and including) the Termination Date; or
 - (ii) the period from (and including) the date of the non-payment by the Authority referred to in Clause 34.3(a) (*Termination by the Supplier*) to (and including) the Termination Date.
- 35.4 If this Agreement is terminated (in part or in whole) by the Authority pursuant to Clauses 34.1(b), 34.1(c) and/or 34.2 (*Termination by the Authority*), or the Term expires, the only payments that the Authority shall be required to make as a result of such termination (whether by way of compensation or otherwise) are:
 - (a) payments in respect of any Assets or apportionments in accordance with Schedule 8.5 (*Exit Management*); and
 - (b) payments in respect of unpaid Charges for Services received up until the Termination Date.
- 35.5 The costs of termination incurred by the Parties shall lie where they fall if:
 - (a) either Party terminates or partially terminates this Agreement for a continuing Force Majeure Event pursuant to Clauses 34.1(c) or 34.2(b) (*Termination by the Authority*) or 34.3(b) (*Termination by the Supplier*); or

(b) the Authority terminates this Agreement under Clause 34.1(d) (*Termination by the Authority*).

Payments by the Supplier

- 35.6 In the event of termination or expiry of this Agreement, the Supplier shall repay to the Authority all Charges it has been paid in advance in respect of Services not provided by the Supplier as at the date of expiry or termination.
- 35.7 If this Agreement is terminated (in whole or in part) by the Authority pursuant to Clause 34.1(b) (*Termination by the Authority*) prior to Achievement of one or more CPP Milestones, the Authority may at any time on or within 12 months of the issue of the relevant Termination Notice by issue to the Supplier of written notice (a "**Milestone Adjustment Payment Notice**") require the Supplier to repay to the Authority an amount equal to the aggregate Milestone Adjustment Payment Amounts in respect of each CPP Milestone to which the Milestone Adjustment Payment Notice relates.
- 35.8 A Milestone Adjustment Payment Notice shall specify:
 - (a) each CPP Milestone to which it relates;
 - (b) in relation to each such CPP Milestone, each Deliverable relating to that CPP Milestone that the Authority wishes to retain, if any (each such Deliverable being a "**Retained Deliverable**"); and
 - those Retained Deliverables, if any, the Allowable Price for which the Authority considers should be subject to deduction of an adjusting payment on the grounds that they do not or will not perform in all material respects in accordance with their specification (such adjusting payment being an "Allowable Price Adjustment"),

and may form part of a Termination Notice.

- 35.9 The Supplier shall within 10 Working Days of receipt of a Milestone Adjustment Payment Notice, in each case as applicable:
 - (a) notify the Authority whether it agrees that the Retained Deliverables which the Authority considers should be subject to an Allowable Price Adjustment as specified in the relevant Milestone Adjustment Payment Notice should be so subject; and
 - (b) in relation to each such Retained Deliverable that the Supplier agrees should be subject to an Allowable Price Adjustment, notify the Authority of the Supplier's proposed amount of the Allowable Price Adjustment and the basis for its approval;
 - (c) provide the Authority with its calculation of the Milestone Adjustment Payment Amount in respect of each CPP Milestone the subject of the relevant Milestone Adjustment Payment Notice using its proposed Allowable Price Adjustment, including details of:
 - (i) all relevant Milestone Payments; and

- (ii) the Allowable Price of each Retained Deliverable; and
- (d) provide the Authority with such supporting information as the Authority may require.
- 35.10 If the Parties do not agree the calculation of a Milestone Adjustment Payment Amount within 20 Working Days of the Supplier's receipt of the relevant Milestone Adjustment Payment Notice, either Party may refer the Dispute to the Dispute Resolution Procedure.
- 35.11 If the Authority issues a Milestone Adjustment Payment Notice pursuant to Clause 35.7:
 - (a) the Authority shall:
 - (i) securely destroy or return to the Supplier all Non-retained Deliverables that are in tangible form; and
 - (ii) ensure that all Non-retained Deliverables that are held in electronic, digital or other machine-readable form cease to be readily accessible (other than by the information technology staff of the Authority) from any computer, word processor, voicemail system or any other device containing such all Non-retained Deliverables,

in each case as soon as reasonably practicable after repayment of the aggregate Milestone Adjustment Payment Amounts repayable pursuant to that Milestone Adjustment Payment Notice; and

(b) all licences granted pursuant to Clause 17 (*Licences granted by the Supplier*) in respect of Specially Written Software and Project Specific IPRs and any Supplier Non-COTS Software and/or Supplier Background IPRs shall terminate upon such repayment to the extent that they relate to the Non-retained Deliverables.

SECTION J - MISCELLANEOUS AND GOVERNING LAW

36 COMPLIANCE

Health and Safety

- 36.1 The Supplier shall perform its obligations under this Agreement (including those in relation to the Services) in accordance with:
 - (a) all applicable Law regarding health and safety; and
 - (b) the Health and Safety Policy whilst at the Authority Premises.
- 36.2 Each Party shall notify the other as soon as practicable of any health and safety incidents or material health and safety hazards at the Authority Premises of which it becomes aware and which relate to or arise in connection with the performance of this Agreement. The Supplier shall instruct the Supplier Personnel to adopt any necessary associated safety measures in order to manage any such material health and safety hazards.

Equality and Diversity

- 36.3 The Supplier shall:
 - (a) perform its obligations under this Agreement (including those in relation to the Services) in accordance with:
 - (i) all applicable equality Law (whether in relation to race, sex, gender reassignment, age, disability, sexual orientation, religion or belief, pregnancy, maternity or otherwise);
 - (ii) the Authority's equality and diversity policy as provided to the Supplier from time to time; and
 - (iii) any other requirements and instructions which the Authority reasonably imposes in connection with any equality obligations imposed on the Authority at any time under applicable equality Law; and
 - (b) take all necessary steps, and inform the Authority of the steps taken, to prevent unlawful discrimination designated as such by any court or tribunal, or the Equality and Human Rights Commission or (any successor organisation).

Official Secrets Act and Finance Act

- 36.4 The Supplier shall comply with the provisions of:
 - (a) the Official Secrets Acts 1911 to 1989; and
 - (b) section 182 of the Finance Act 1989.

37 ASSIGNMENT AND NOVATION

- 37.1 The Supplier shall not assign, novate or otherwise dispose of or create any trust in relation to any or all of its rights, obligations or liabilities under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the Authority.
- 37.2 The Authority may at its discretion assign, novate or otherwise dispose of any or all of its rights, obligations and liabilities under this Agreement and/or any associated licences to:
 - (a) any Central Government Body; or
 - (b) to a body other than a Central Government Body (including any private sector body) which performs any of the functions that previously had been performed by the Authority,
 - and the Supplier shall, at the Authority's request, enter into a novation agreement in such form as the Authority shall reasonably specify in order to enable the Authority to exercise its rights pursuant to this Clause 37.2.
- 37.3 A change in the legal status of the Authority such that it ceases to be a Central Government Body shall not (subject to Clause 37.4) affect the validity of this Agreement and this Agreement shall be binding on any successor body to the Authority.
- 37.4 If the Authority assigns, novates or otherwise disposes of any of its rights, obligations or liabilities under this Agreement to a body which is not a Central Government Body or if a body which is not a Central Government Body succeeds the Authority (any such body a "Successor Body"), the Supplier shall have the right to terminate for an Insolvency Event affecting the Successor Body identical to the right of termination of the Authority under limb (k) of the definition of Supplier Termination Event (as if references in that limb (k) to the Supplier and the Guarantor were references to the Successor Body).

38 WAIVER AND CUMULATIVE REMEDIES

- 38.1 The rights and remedies under this Agreement may be waived only by notice and in a manner that expressly states that a waiver is intended. A failure or delay by a Party in ascertaining or exercising a right or remedy provided under this Agreement or by law shall not constitute a waiver of that right or remedy, nor shall it prevent or restrict the further exercise of that or any other right or remedy. No single or partial exercise of any right or remedy shall prevent or restrict the further exercise of that or any other right or remedy.
- 38.2 Unless otherwise provided in this Agreement, rights and remedies under this Agreement are cumulative and do not exclude any rights or remedies provided by law, in equity or otherwise.

39 RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES

39.1 Except as expressly provided otherwise in this Agreement, nothing in this Agreement, nor any actions taken by the Parties pursuant to this Agreement, shall create a partnership, joint venture or relationship of employer and employee or principal and agent between the Parties, or authorise either Party

to make representations or enter into any commitments for or on behalf of any other Party.

40 PREVENTION OF FRAUD AND BRIBERY

- 40.1 The Supplier represents and warrants that neither it, nor to the best of its knowledge any Supplier Personnel, have at any time prior to the Effective Date:
 - (a) committed a Prohibited Act or been formally notified that it is subject to an investigation or prosecution which relates to an alleged Prohibited Act; and/or
 - (b) been listed by any government department or agency as being debarred, suspended, proposed for suspension or debarment, or otherwise ineligible for participation in government procurement programmes or contracts on the grounds of a Prohibited Act.
- 40.2 The Supplier shall not during the term of this Agreement:
 - (a) commit a Prohibited Act; and/or
 - (b) do or suffer anything to be done which would cause the Authority or any of the Authority's employees, consultants, contractors, subcontractors or agents to contravene any of the Relevant Requirements or otherwise incur any liability in relation to the Relevant Requirements.
- 40.3 The Supplier shall during the term of this Agreement:
 - (a) establish, maintain and enforce, and require that its Sub-contractors establish, maintain and enforce, policies and procedures which are adequate to ensure compliance with the Relevant Requirements and prevent the occurrence of a Prohibited Act;
 - (b) have in place reasonable prevention measures (as defined in sections 45(3) and 46(4) of the Criminal Finance Act 2017) to ensure that Associated Persons of the Supplier do not commit tax evasion facilitation offences as defined under that Act;
 - (c) keep appropriate records of its compliance with its obligations under Clause 40.3(a) and make such records available to the Authority on request; and
 - (d) take account of any guidance about preventing facilitation of tax evasion offences which may be published and updated in accordance with Section 47 of the Criminal Finances Act 2017.
- 40.4 The Supplier shall immediately notify the Authority in writing if it becomes aware of any breach of Clause 40.1 and/or 40.2, or has reason to believe that it has or any of the Supplier Personnel have:
 - (a) been subject to an investigation or prosecution which relates to an alleged Prohibited Act;

- (b) been listed by any government department or agency as being debarred, suspended, proposed for suspension or debarment, or otherwise ineligible for participation in government procurement programmes or contracts on the grounds of a Prohibited Act; and/or
- (c) received a request or demand for any undue financial or other advantage of any kind in connection with the performance of this Agreement or otherwise suspects that any person or Party directly or indirectly connected with this Agreement has committed or attempted to commit a Prohibited Act.
- 40.5 If the Supplier makes a notification to the Authority pursuant to Clause 40.4, the Supplier shall respond promptly to the Authority's enquiries, co-operate with any investigation, and allow the Authority to Audit any books, Records and/or any other relevant documentation in accordance with Clause 12 (Records, Reports, Audits and Open Book Data).
- 40.6 If the Supplier is in Default under Clauses 40.1 and/or 40.2, the Authority may by notice:
 - (a) require the Supplier to remove from performance of this Agreement any Supplier Personnel whose acts or omissions have caused the Default; or
 - (b) immediately terminate this Agreement.
- 40.7 Any notice served by the Authority under Clause 40.6 shall specify the nature of the Prohibited Act, the identity of the Party who the Authority believes has committed the Prohibited Act and the action that the Authority has elected to take (including, where relevant, the date on which this Agreement shall terminate).

41 **SEVERANCE**

- 41.1 If any provision of this Agreement (or part of any provision) is held to be void or otherwise unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such provision (or part) shall to the extent necessary to ensure that the remaining provisions of this Agreement are not void or unenforceable be deemed to be deleted and the validity and/or enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall not be affected.
- 41.2 In the event that any deemed deletion under Clause 41.1 is so fundamental as to prevent the accomplishment of the purpose of this Agreement or materially alters the balance of risks and rewards in this Agreement, either Party may give notice to the other Party requiring the Parties to commence good faith negotiations to amend this Agreement so that, as amended, it is valid and enforceable, preserves the balance of risks and rewards in this Agreement and, to the extent that is reasonably possible, achieves the Parties' original commercial intention.
- 41.3 If the Parties are unable to agree on the revisions to this Agreement within 5 Working Days of the date of the notice given pursuant to Clause 41.2, the matter shall be dealt with in accordance with Paragraph 4 (*Commercial*

Negotiation) of Schedule 8.3 (*Dispute Resolution Procedure*) except that if the representatives are unable to resolve the dispute within 30 Working Days of the matter being referred to them, this Agreement shall automatically terminate with immediate effect. The costs of termination incurred by the Parties shall lie where they fall if this Agreement is terminated pursuant to this Clause 41.3.

42 **FURTHER ASSURANCES**

42.1 Each Party undertakes at the request of the other, and at the cost of the requesting Party to do all acts and execute all documents which may be reasonably necessary to give effect to the meaning of this Agreement.

43 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

- 43.1 This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties in respect of its subject matter and supersedes and extinguishes all prior negotiations, arrangements, understanding, course of dealings or agreements made between the Parties in relation to its subject matter, whether written or oral.
- 43.2 Neither Party has been given, nor entered into this Agreement in reliance on, any warranty, statement, promise or representation other than those expressly set out in this Agreement.
- 43.3 Nothing in this Clause 43 shall exclude any liability in respect of misrepresentations made fraudulently.

44 THIRD PARTY RIGHTS

- 44.1 The provisions of Clause 19.1 (*IPRs Indemnity*), Paragraphs 2.1 and 2.6 of Part A, Paragraphs 2.1, 2.6, 3.1 and 3.3 of Part B, Paragraphs 2.1 and 2.3 of Part C, Part D and Paragraphs 1.4, 2.3 and 2.8 of Part E of Schedule 9.1 (*Staff Transfer*) and the provisions of Paragraph 6.9 of Schedule 8.5 (*Exit Management*) (together "**Third Party Provisions**") confer benefits on persons named or identified in such provisions other than the Parties (each such person a "**Third Party Beneficiary**") and are intended to be enforceable by Third Parties Beneficiaries by virtue of the CRTPA.
- 44.2 Subject to Clause 44.1, a person who is not a Party to this Agreement has no right under the CRTPA to enforce any term of this Agreement but this does not affect any right or remedy of any person which exists or is available otherwise than pursuant to that Act.
- 44.3 No Third Party Beneficiary may enforce, or take any step to enforce, any Third Party Provision without the prior written consent of the Authority, which may, if given, be given on and subject to such terms as the Authority may determine.
- 44.4 Any amendments or modifications to this Agreement may be made, and any rights created under Clause 44.1 may be altered or extinguished, by the Parties without the consent of any Third Party Beneficiary.

45 NOTICES

45.1 Any notices sent under this Agreement must be in writing.

45.2 Subject to Clause 45.4, the following table sets out the method by which notices may be served under this Agreement and the respective deemed time and proof of service:

Manner of Delivery	Deemed time of service	Proof of service
Email	9.00am on the first Working Day after sending	Dispatched as a pdf attachment to an e-mail to the correct e-mail address without any error message.
Personal delivery	On delivery, provided delivery is between 9.00am and 5.00pm on a Working Day. Otherwise, delivery will occur at 9.00am on the next Working Day.	Properly addressed and delivered as evidenced by signature of a delivery receipt
Prepaid, Royal Mail Signed For™ 1st Class or other prepaid, next Working Day service providing proof of delivery.	At the time recorded by the delivery service, provided that delivery is between 9.00am and 5.00pm on a Working Day. Otherwise, delivery will occur at 9.00am on the same Working Day (if delivery before 9.00am) or on the next Working Day (if after 5.00pm).	Properly addressed prepaid and delivered as evidenced by signature of a delivery receipt

45.3 Notices shall be sent to the addresses set out below or at such other address as the relevant Party may give notice to the other Party for the purpose of service of notices under this Agreement:

	Supplier	Authority
Contact		
Address		
Email		

- 45.4 The following notices may only be served as an attachment to an email if the original notice is then sent to the recipient by personal delivery or recorded delivery in the manner set out in the table in Clause 45.2:
 - (a) Step-In Notices;
 - (b) Force Majeure Notices;
 - (c) notices issued by the Supplier pursuant to Clause 34.3 (*Termination by the Supplier*);
 - (d) Termination Notices; and
 - (e) Dispute Notices.
- 45.5 Failure to send any original notice by personal delivery or recorded delivery in accordance with Clause 45.4 shall invalidate the service of the related e-mail transmission. The deemed time of delivery of such notice shall be the deemed time of delivery of the original notice sent by personal delivery or Royal Mail Signed For™ 1st Class delivery (as set out in the table in Clause 45.2) or, if earlier, the time of response or acknowledgement by the other Party to the email attaching the notice.
- 45.6 This Clause 45 does not apply to the service of any proceedings or other documents in any legal action or, where applicable, any arbitration or other method of dispute resolution (other than the service of a Dispute Notice under Schedule 8.3 (*Dispute Resolution Procedure*)).

46 DISPUTES

- 46.1 The Parties shall resolve Disputes arising out of or in connection with this Agreement in accordance with the Dispute Resolution Procedure.
- The Supplier shall continue to provide the Services in accordance with the terms of this Agreement until a Dispute has been resolved.

47 GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION

- 47.1 This Agreement and any issues, disputes or claims (whether contractual or non-contractual) arising out of or in connection with it or its subject matter or formation shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of England and Wales.
- 47.2 Subject to Clause 46 (*Disputes*) and Schedule 8.3 (*Dispute Resolution Procedure*) (including the Authority's right to refer the dispute to arbitration), the Parties agree that the courts of England and Wales shall have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute or claim (whether contractual or noncontractual) that arises out of or in connection with this Agreement or its subject matter or formation.

SCHEDULE 1

DEFINITIONS

Definitions

1.1 Unless otherwise provided or the context otherwise requires the following expressions shall have the meanings set out below.

"Accounting Reference Date"

means in each year the date to which each entity in the Financial Distress Event Group prepares its annual audited financial statements;

"Achieve"

- (a) in respect of a Test, to successfully pass a Test without any Test Issues; and
- in respect of a Milestone, the issue of a Milestone Achievement Certificate in respect of that Milestone in accordance with the provisions of Schedule 6.2 (Testing Procedures),

and "Achieved" and "Achievement" shall be construed accordingly;

"Acquired Rights Directive"

the European Council Directive 77/187/EEC on the approximation of laws of European member states relating to the safeguarding of employees' rights in the event of transfers of undertakings, businesses or parts of undertakings or businesses, as amended or reenacted from time to time:

"Actual Costs"

has the meaning given in Part D paragraph 1.4(c) of Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing);

"Actual Profit"

means in relation to any Profit Share Assessment Point, the total accumulated operating profit calculated as Actual Revenue less actual Costs (including accruals and prepayments but excluding provisions) in the corresponding Profit Share Period(s):

"Actual Profit Percentage"

means in relation to any Profit Share Assessment Point the Actual Profit for the Profit Share Assessment Point divided by the Actual Revenue for the Profit Share Assessment Point, expressed as a percentage;

"Actual Revenue"

means the:

- (a) total accumulated turnover of the Supplier, including:
- (i) Maximum Volume Point Relief Payment (as defined in Part A, paragraph 5.6 of Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing); and
- (ii) Temporary Relief Payments (as defined in part A, paragraphs 5.7-5.11 of Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing);

but excluding any payments arising from implementation, incentive payments, Pass-Through Costs and Reimbursable Expenses, AVS Revenue, regulated fee remitted to the Home Office, and any adjustments arising from the Profit Share Calculation, AVS Revenue Share, Service Credits or Delay Payments;

"Actual Volumes"

means the actual number of Appointment Volumes that take place (attended) in a Reporting Period and in the absence of evidence to the contrary shall be calculated by reference to information provided on Appointment Volumes by the Supplier's appointment booking system;

"Added Value Service (AVS)"

a service that is non-essential to a Customer's Application and is therefore optional for the Customer, but which the Supplier may offer at an additional charge in order to support or enhance the Customer's experience, including the provision of Non-Mandatory PACs:

"Added Value Services Revenue"

means revenue directly derived from providing mandatory and non mandatory Added Value Services net of Value Added Tax (or equivalent sales based taxes) or any Supplier commissions, rebates, or other Supplier adjustments, and excluding regulated fees remitted to the Home Office;

"Added Value Services Costs"

means in respect of an Added Value Service the costs that meet the following criteria:

a) directly incurred, referable, and can be allocated to the provision of that Added Value Service

inclusive of

- (i) direct incremental costs of implementing Added Value Services; and
- (ii) direct volumetric costs of Added Value Services

but exclusive of

- (iii) overheads
- (iv) Supplier mark ups;
- (v) other Supplier adjustments such as allocations of fixed costs shared with the provision of Core Services; and
- (vi) Mandatory PAC Fixed Costs; and
- (b) the costs identified under (a) can be removed from the Supplier's total cost of performing this Agreement if that Added Value Service is discontinued;

"Adjusted Monthly Volumes"

means the Actual Volumes of a Zone in an Initial Reporting Period normalised according to the following formula:

Actual Volumes in Initial Reporting Period R x number of days in Initial Reporting Period R

Number of days from and including Full Service Activation date in Initial *Reporting Period R*

the Party seeking to claim relief in respect of a Force Majeure Event;

in relation to a body corporate, any other entity which directly or indirectly Controls, is Controlled by, or is under direct or indirect common Control with, that body corporate from time to time:

the assumptions set out in Schedule 7.1 (*Charges and Invoicing*):

means the following costs elements (without double recovery) to the extent that they are reasonably and properly incurred by the Supplier in delivering services

"Affected Party"

"Affiliate"

"Allowable Assumptions"

"Allowable Costs"

under this Agreement including:

- (a) Direct Labour Cost elements to the Supplier or the Key Sub-contractor (as the context requires), calculated per Man Day where it is appropriate to do so, of engaging the Supplier Personnel, including:
 - (i) base salary paid to the Supplier Personnel;
 - (ii) employer's national insurance contributions, or other equivalent Local Country direct statutory employment taxes;
 - (iii) employer pension contributions;
 - (iv) car allowances;
 - (v) any other contractual employment benefits;
 - (vi) staff training;
 - (vii) workplace accommodation;
 - (viii) workplace IT equipment and tools reasonably necessary to perform the Services (but not including items included within limb (b) (d) below); and
 - (ix) reasonable recruitment costs, as agreed with the Authority;
- (b) costs incurred in respect of those contract specific Assets which are detailed on the Registers and which would be treated as capital costs according to generally accepted accounting principles within the UK, which shall include the cost to be charged in respect of Assets by the Supplier to the Authority or (to the extent that risk and title in any Asset is not held by the Supplier) any cost actually incurred by the Supplier in respect of those Assets;
- (c) Direct Other Costs which are not included within
 (a) or (b), to the extent that such costs are necessary and properly incurred by the Supplier in the delivery of the Services; and
- (d) Reimbursable Expenses to the extent these are incurred in delivering any Core Services where the Charges for those Services are to be calculated on a Fixed Price or Firm Price pricing mechanism;

but excluding:

- (i) Overhead;
- (ii) financing or similar costs;
- (iii) taxation;
- (iv) fines and penalties;
- (v) redundancy costs other than those redundancy costs set out in Part A,

paragraph 7;

- (vi) amounts payable under Schedule 7.3 (*Benchmarking*); and
- (vii) non-cash items (including impairments and movements in provisions);
- (viii) mark-ups.

"Allowable Price"

in relation to the Retained Deliverables relating to a CPP Milestone, if any, an amount determined in accordance with the formula:

A - B

Where:

- (a) A is an amount equal to the Costs incurred by the Supplier in providing or developing the relevant Retained Deliverables as reflected in the Financial Model together with an amount equal to the Anticipated Contract Life Service Margin thereon; and
- (b) B is an amount equal to the Allowable Price Adjustment relating to the relevant Retained Deliverables, if any, or if there is no such Allowable Price Adjustment, zero,

provided that the Allowable Price for any Retained Deliverables shall in no circumstances exceed the aggregate amount of the Milestone Payments paid to the Supplier in respect of the Milestones (or in the case of Partial Termination, the Milestones for the parts of the Services terminated) relating to that CPP Milestone;

"Allowable Price Adjustment"

has the meaning given in Clause 35.8(c) (*Payments by the Supplier*);

"Anticipated Annual Service Margin"

means the anticipated Supplier Service Margin (as a percentage), excluding profit margin attributable to Implementation Services and excluding Profit Margin attributable to Added Value Services over a contract year as calculated in the Financial Models;

"Anticipated Average Monthly Service Margin"

means the Anticipated Annual Service Profit Margin for any contract year as calculated in the Financial Model, divided by 12:

"Anticipated Contract Life Service Margin"

means the anticipated Supplier Service Margin (as a percentage), excluding profit margin attributable to Implementation Services and excluding Profit Margin attributable to Added Value Services over the Term as calculated in the Financial Model:

"Anticipated Costs"

means the Authority's anticipated amount of Actual Local Currency Costs incurred, exclusive of Indirect Overhead costs or Indirect Overhead mark-up, converted into Pounds Sterling using the appropriate UK Sterling Contract Monthly Rate in each month of the Profit Share Period, for each Country within a Lot (provided that incurred costs should not be included in both the calculation of Actual Costs, and the calculation of Added Value Services Costs), and excluding any costs arising from implementation, AVS, Pass-Through Costs and Reimbursable Expenses;

"Anticipated Country Service Profit Margin £"

"Anticipated Revenue"

has the meaning given in Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing);

means the Authority's anticipated amount of the total accumulated turnover of the Supplier, excluding any payments arising from implementation, incentive payments, Pass-Through Costs, and Reimbursable Expenses, AVS Revenue, and any adjustments arising from the Profit Share Calculation, AVS Revenue Share, Service Credits or Delay Payments;

"Anticipated Service Margin"

means the anticipated Supplier Profit Margin (expressed as a percentage), excluding profit margin attributable to Implementation Services and excluding Profit Margin attributable to Added Value Services, as calculated in the Financial Models and over an agreed timeframe;

'Anticipated Threshold Service Margin' means the Anticipated Revenue minus Anticipated Costs (expressed as a percentage), , as calculated in the Financial Models and over the relevant timeframe for the purposes of the calculation in Part D of Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing);

"Anti-Malicious (Anti Mal-ware) Software"

means Software that scans for and identifies possible Malicious Software in the IT Environment:

"Annual Revenue"

means, for the purposes of determining whether an entity is a Public Sector Dependent Supplier, the audited consolidated aggregate revenue (including share of revenue of joint ventures and Associates) reported by the Supplier or, as appropriate, the Supplier Group in its most recent published accounts, subject to the following methodology:

- (a) figures for accounting periods of other than 12 months should be scaled pro rata to produce a proforma figure for a 12 month period; and
- (b) where the Supplier, the Supplier Group and/or their joint ventures and Associates report in a foreign currency, revenue should be converted to British Pound Sterling at the closing exchange rate on the Accounting Reference Date;

"Anticipated Contract Life Profit Margin"

has the meaning given in Schedule 7.1 (*Charges and Invoicing*);

"Annual Outturn Financial Model"

the latest annual outturn "Financial Model" to be provided by the Supplier to the Authority pursuant to Paragraph 1 of Part B of Schedule 7.5 (Financial Reports and Audit Rights);

"Appeal"

means a Customer's challenge to the Authority in the event of an unsuccessful Application;

"Applicable Adjustments"

means adjustments to Amounts Payable including:

- (a) Milestone Retentions (defined in Part A, paragraph 4) of Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing)
- (b) Maximum Volume Point Relief Payments (as defined in Part A, paragraph 5.6 of Schedule

- 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing))
- (C) Temporary Relief Payments (as defined in Part A, paragraph 5.7 to 5.11 of Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing))
- (d) Pass Through Costs (defined in Part A, paragraph 7 of Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing))
- (e) AVS Revenue Share (as defined in Part A, paragraph 8 of Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing))
- (f) Reimbursable Expenses (as defined in Part A, paragraph 9 of Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing))
- (g) Delay Payments (as defined in Part C, paragraph 1 of Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing))
- (h) Service Credits (as defined in Part C, paragraph 3 of Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing))
- (i) Profit Share Payments (as defined in Part D of Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing))

"Applicable Financial Indicators"

means the financial indicators from Paragraph 5.1 of Schedule 7.4 (Financial Distress) which are to apply to the Monitored Suppliers as set out in Paragraph 6 of Schedule 7.4 (Financial Distress);

"Applicable Supplier Personnel"

any Supplier Personnel who:

- (i) at the Termination Date:
- a) are employees of the Supplier;
- b) are Dedicated Supplier Personnel;
- c) have not transferred (and are not in scope to transfer at a later date) to the Authority or the Replacement Supplier by virtue of the Employment Regulations; and
- (ii) are dismissed or given notice of dismissal by the Supplier within:
- a) 40 Working Days of the Termination Date;
- b) or such longer period required by Law, their employment contract (as at the Termination Date) or an applicable collective agreement; and
- (iii) have not resigned or given notice of resignation prior to the date of their dismissal by the Supplier; and
- (iv) the Supplier can demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Authority:
- a) are surplus to the Supplier's requirements after the Termination Date notwithstanding its obligation to provide services to its other customers;
- b) are genuinely being dismissed for reasons of redundancy; and

have been selected for redundancy by the Supplier on objective grounds other than the fact that the Supplier is entitled to reimbursement under this provision in respect of such employees;

means a Passport Application or a Visa Application;

means for each Reporting Period a Passport Application or Visa Application that results in an appointment at a Zone, excluding appointments for Added Value Services:

means a mitigation to a Financial Distress Event as agreed between the Parties, as follows:

- as at the Effective Date, as set out in Annex 2 of Schedule 7.4 (Financial Distress); and
- during the Term, as set out in Paragraph 3.4 of Schedule 7.4 (Financial Distress).

All Appropriate Accepted Mitigations, including any new or amended Appropriate Accepted Mitigations must be documented and recorded in a format and location agreed between the Parties, (for example, in a dedicated and access-controlled area of the Virtual Library);

any of the following:

- (a) a Central Government Body;
- (b) any third party providing services to a Central Government Body; and/or
- (c) any body (including any private sector body) which performs or carries on any of the functions and/or activities that previously had been performed and/or carried on by the Authority;

all assets and rights used by the Supplier to provide the Services in accordance with this Agreement but excluding the Authority Assets;

has the meaning given to it in Section 44(4) of the Criminal Finances Act 2017;

means, in relation to an entity, an undertaking in which the entity owns, directly or indirectly, between 20% and 50% of the voting rights and exercises a degree of control sufficient for the undertaking to be treated as an associate under generally accepted accounting

principles;

means written confirmation from a Relevant Authority to the Supplier that the CRP Information is approved by the Relevant Authority:

the Milestone linked to Authority to Proceed for the relevant Operational Services set out in the Implementation Plan Milestone 7;

any exercise by the Authority of its Audit Rights pursuant to Clause 12 (Records, Reports, Audit and Open Book Data) and Schedule 7.5 (Financial Reports and Audit Rights);

(a) the Authority's internal and external auditors;

"Application"

"Appointment Volume"

"Appropriate Accepted Mitigation"

"Approved Sub-Licensee"

"Assets"

"Associated Person"

"Associates"

"Assurance"

"ATP Milestone"

"Audit"

"Audit Agents"

- (b) the Authority's statutory or regulatory auditors;
- (c) the Comptroller and Auditor General, their staff and/or any appointed representatives of the National Audit Office;
- (d) HM Treasury or the Cabinet Office;
- (e) any party formally appointed by the Authority to carry out audit or similar review functions; and
- (f) successors or assigns of any of the above;

"Audit Rights"

the audit and access rights referred to in Schedule 7.5 (Financial Reports and Audit Rights);

"Authority Assets"

the Authority Materials, the Authority infrastructure and any other data, software, assets, equipment or other property owned by and/or licensed or leased to the Authority and which is or may be used in connection with the provision or receipt of the Services;

"Authority Background IPRs"

- (a) IPRs owned by the Authority before the Effective Date, including IPRs contained in any of the Authority's Know-How, documentation, processes and procedures;
- (b) IPRs created by the Authority independently of this Agreement; and/or
- (c) Crown Copyright which is not available to the Supplier otherwise than under this Agreement;

but excluding IPRs owned by the Authority subsisting in the Authority Software;

"Authority Cause"

any material breach by the Authority of any of the Authority Responsibilities, except to the extent that such breach is:

- (a) the result of any act or omission by the Authority to which the Supplier has given its prior consent; or
- (b) caused by the Supplier, any Sub-contractor or any Supplier Personnel;

"Authority Change Manager"

the person appointed to that position by the Authority from time to time and notified in writing to the Supplier or, if no person is notified, the Authority Representative;

"Authority Data"

- (a) the data, text, drawings, diagrams, images or sounds (together with any database made up of any of these) which are embodied in any electronic, magnetic, optical or tangible media, and which are:
 - (i) supplied to the Supplier by or on behalf of the Authority; and/or
 - (ii) which the Supplier is required to generate, process, store or transmit pursuant to this Agreement; or
- (b) any Personal Data for which the Authority is the Data Controller:

"Authority IT Strategy"

the Authority's IT policy in force as at the Effective Date (a copy of which has been supplied to the Supplier), as updated from time to time in accordance with the Change Control Procedure;

"Authority Materials"

the Authority Data together with any materials, documentation, information, programs and codes supplied by the Authority to the Supplier, the IPRs in which:

- (a) are owned or used by or on behalf of the Authority; and
- (b) are or may be used in connection with the provision or receipt of the Services,

but excluding any Project Specific IPRs, Specially Written Software, Supplier Software, Third Party Software and Documentation relating to Supplier Software or Third Party Software;

"Authority Premises"

premises owned, controlled or occupied by the Authority and/or any Central Government Body which are made available for use by the Supplier or its Sub-contractors for provision of the Services (or any of them);

"Authority Representative"

the representative appointed by the Authority pursuant to Clause 11.4 (*Representatives*);

"Authority Requirements"

the requirements of the Authority set out in Schedules Schedule 2.1 (Services Description), Schedule 2.2 (Performance Levels), Schedule 2.3 (Standards), Schedule 2.4 (Security Management), Schedule 2.5 (Insurance Requirements), Schedule 6.1 (Implementation Plan), Schedule 8.4 (Reports and Records Provisions), Schedule 8.5 (Exit Management) and Schedule 8.6 (Service Continuity Plan and Corporate Resolution Planning);

"Authority Responsibilities"

the responsibilities of the Authority specified in Schedule 3 (*Authority Responsibilities*);

"Authority Software"

software which is owned by or licensed to the Authority (other than under or pursuant to this Agreement) and which is or will be used by the Supplier for the purposes of providing the Services;

"Authority's Sustainability Requirements"

means the 'Authority's Sustainable Development Policy Requirements and Standards' set out in Schedule 2.6 (Social Value);

"Authority System"

the Authority's computing environment (consisting of hardware, software and/or telecommunications networks or equipment) used by the Authority or the Supplier in connection with this Agreement which is owned by the Authority or licensed to it by a third party and which interfaces with the Supplier System or which is necessary for the Authority to receive the Services;

"Authority to Proceed" or "ATP"

the authorisation to the Supplier to commence the provision of the relevant Operational Services to the Authority, provided by the Authority in the form of a Milestone Achievement Certificate in respect of the ATP Milestone:

"Authority Volumes" means the Authority's estimate of volumes of Passport Applications and Visa Applications relating to future Reporting Periods; means the official Authority document setting out "Authority Volume Estimate" Authority Volumes provided by the Authority to the Supplier to inform the charging arrangements, including movements in Bands and other changes in Charges, as set out in Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing); "Available" has the meaning given in Paragraph 1.1 of Part B of Annex 1 of Schedule 2.2; "BAFO" means the Supplier's 'Best and Final Offer' submitted during the public procurement process that resulted in the award of this Agreement; "Balanced Scorecard Report" has the meaning given in Paragraph 1.1(b) of Part B of Schedule 2.2 (Performance Levels); "Banded Fixed Service Charge" means the fixed Service Charge applicable to a given Price Band calculated in accordance with the Part A of Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing); "Banded Service Charges" means the Banded Fixed Service Charges and Banded Volumetric Service Charges payable by the Authority to the Supplier in accordance with Part A of Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing); "Banded Volumetric Service means the volumetric Service Charge applicable to a Charge" given Price Band calculated in accordance with Part A of Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing). "Banded Volume Range" or means the range of Appointment Volumes making up "Volume Band" Banding Level 1, 2, 3, 4 or 5, as applicable; "Banding Change Event" means either a Banding Upgrade or Banding Downgrade between a Banding Volume Range, excluding where the same is the result of a Contract Change in accordance with Schedule 8.2 (Change Control Procedure): "Banding Downgrade" means the resetting of a Supplier's Banded Monthly Service Charges to a lower Banded Volume Range, in accordance with the provisions of Part A of Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing); "Banding Level 1" or B₁ means the lowest Banded Volume Range set out in Annex 1 Table 3 and Annex 1 Table 4 of Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing) for which a Banded Service Charge is applicable; "Banding Level 2" or B2 means the second Banded Volume Range set out in Annex 1 Table 3 and Annex 1 Table 4 of Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing) for which a Banded Service Charge is applicable; "Banding Level 3" or B3 means the third Banded Volume Range set out in Annex 1 Table 3 and Annex 1 Table 4 of Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing) for which a Banded Service Charge is applicable;

> means the fourth Banded Volume Range set out in Annex 1 Table 3 and Annex 1 Table 4 of Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing) for which a Banded Service

Charge is applicable;

"Banding Level 4" or B4

"Banding Level 5" or B₅ means the fifth (highest) Banded Volume Range set out

in Annex 1 Table 3 and Annex 1 Table 4 of Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing) for which a Banded Service

Charge is applicable;

"Banding Notification Period" means the period granted to a Supplier to adjust the

resources required to perform the Service as a result of

a Banding Change Event;

"Banding Upgrade" means the resetting of a Supplier's Banded Service

Charges to a higher Banded Volume Range , in

accordance with the provisions of Part A of Schedule 7.1

(Charges and Invoicing);

"Baseline Financial Model" means the agreed Baseline "Financial Model" to be

provided by the Supplier to the Authority pursuant to Paragraph 1 of Part B of Schedule 7.5 (Financial Reports and Audit Rights) that, unless subsequently updated and replaced by an Updated Baseline Financial Model forms the calculated charging by the Supplier to the Authority

under this Agreement;

"Baseline Financial Model Banded

Service Charge"

means the Banded Service Charges referable to a Contract Year set out in the Baseline Financial Model:

"Baseline Security Requirements"

the Authority's baseline security requirements, the current copy of which is contained in Annex 1 of Schedule 2.4 (Security Management), as updated from time to time by the Authority and notified to the Supplier;

"Benchmarked Service"

a Service that the Authority elects to include in a Benchmark Review under Paragraph 2.3 of Schedule

7.3 (Benchmarking);

"Benchmarker" the independent third party appointed under Paragraph

3.1 of Schedule 7.3 (Benchmarking);

"Benchmark Report"

the report produced by the Benchmarker following the Benchmark Review as further described in Paragraph 5

of Schedule 7.3 (Benchmarking)

Benchmark Review a review of one or more of the Services carried out in

accordance with Paragraph 4 of Schedule 7.3 (Benchmarking)to determine whether those Services

represent Good Value;

"Bid Financial Model" the final bid "Financial model" which sets out the

Supplier's financial response to the Authority's requirements set out in Schedule 7.1 (*Charges and Invoicing*) as part of the bidding process resulting in the

award of this Agreement;

"Biometric" the process by which a person can be uniquely identified

by a representation of a Customer's unique

characteristics or features, including fingerprints, palm

prints, retina and iris patterns or a face image:

"Biometric Capture" the activity that takes place to capture all Biometric Data.

"Biometric Capture Device" Equipment to facilitate Biometric Capture;

"Biometric Data"

Biometric sample(s) collected from a specific Customer, including fingerprints, palm prints or a face image, a signature and which are an analogue or digital representation of biometric characteristics prior to biometric feature extraction process and obtained from a Biometric Capture Device or biometric capture subsystem;

"Board Confirmation"

means the written confirmation from the Supplier's Board in accordance with Paragraph 8 of Schedule 7.4 (*Financial Distress*);

"Board Member"

the initial persons appointed by the Authority and Supplier to the Boards as set out in Annex 1 of Schedule 8.1 (Governance) and any replacements from time to time agreed by the Parties in accordance with Paragraph 2.3 of Schedule 8.1 (Governance);

"Boards"

the Service Management Board, Programme Board, Change Management Board, Technical Board and Risk Management Board and "Board" shall mean any of them within Schedule 8.1 (Governance);

"Breach of Security"

an event that results, or could result, in:

- (a) any unauthorised access to or use of the Authority Data, the Services and/or the Information Management System; and/or
- (b) the loss, corruption and/or unauthorised disclosure of any information or data (including the Confidential Information, the Authority Data, and blank and printed Vignettes, passports and other Travel Documents), including any copies of such information or data, used by the Authority and/or the Supplier, in connection with this Agreement;

"Breakage Costs Payment"

an amount equal to the Redundancy Costs and the Contract Breakage Costs as at the Termination Date as determined in accordance with Paragraph 3 of Schedule 7.2 (Payments on Termination);

"Business Continuity Plan"

has the meaning given in Paragraph 2.2(a)(ii) of Schedule 8.6 (Service Continuity Plan and Corporate Resolution Planning);

"Business Continuity Services"

has the meaning given in Paragraph 4.2(b) of Schedule 8.6 (Service Continuity Plan and Corporate Resolution Planning):

"Cabinet Office Markets and Suppliers Team"

means the UK Government's team responsible for managing the relationship between government and its Strategic Suppliers, or any replacement or successor body carrying out the same function;

"CEDR"

the Center for Effective Dispute Resolution of International Dispute Resolution Center, 70 Fleet Street, London, EC4Y 1EU;

"Central Government Body"

a body listed in one of the following sub-categories of the Central Government classification of the Public Sector Classification Guide, as published and amended from time to time by the Office for National Statistics:

- (a) Government Department;
- (b) Non-Departmental Public Body or Assembly Sponsored Public Body (advisory, executive, or tribunal);
- (c) Non-Ministerial Department; or
- (d) Executive Agency;

"Certificate of Costs"

means a certificate of costs signed by the Supplier's Chief Financial Officer or Director of Finance (or equivalent as agreed in writing by the Authority in advance of issue of the relevant certificate) and substantially in the format set out in Annex 3 of Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing);

"Certification Requirements"

means the information security requirements set out in Paragraph 5 of Schedule 2.4 (Security Requirements):

"Change"

any change to this Agreement;

"Change Authorisation Note"

a form setting out an agreed Contract Change which shall be substantially in the form of Annex 2 Schedule 8.2 (*Change Control Procedure*);

"Change Communication"

any Change Request, Impact Assessment, Change Authorisation Note or other communication sent or required to be sent pursuant to Schedule 8.2 (Change Control Procedure);

"Change Control Procedure"

the procedure for changing this Agreement set out in Schedule 8.2 (Change Control Procedure);

"Change in Law"

any change in Law which impacts on the performance of the Services which comes into force after the Effective Date:

"Change Management Board"

the body described in Paragraph 5 of Schedule 8.1 (Governance);

"Change Request"

a written request for a Contract Change substantially in the form of Annex A of Schedule 8.2 (Change Control Procedure):

"Charges"

the charges for the provision of the Services set out in or otherwise calculated in accordance with Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing), including any Milestone Payment or Service Charge;

"CHECK Service Provider"

means a company which has been certified by the National Cyber Security Center, holds "Green Light" status and is authorised to provide the IT Health Check services required by Paragraph 6.1 of Schedule 2.4 (Security Requirements);

"Class 1 Transaction"

has the meaning set out in the listing rules issued by the UK Listing Authority;

"CNI"

means Critical National Infrastructure;

"Commercially Sensitive Information"

the information listed in Schedule 4.2 (Commercially Sensitive Information) comprising the information of a commercially sensitive nature relating to:

- (a) the pricing of the Services;
- (b) details of the Supplier's IPRs; and

(c) the Supplier's business and investment plans;

which the Supplier has indicated to the Authority that, if disclosed by the Authority, would cause the Supplier significant commercial disadvantage or material financial loss:

in relation to a Benchmarked Service, a service that is

identical or materially similar to the Benchmarked Service (including in terms of scope, specification, volume and quality of performance);

the supply of services to another customer of the Supplier that are the same or similar to any of the Services;

> in relation to a Comparable Service, a sample group of organisations providing the Comparable Service identified by the Benchmarker under Paragraph 4.8 of Schedule 7.3 (Benchmarking) which consists of organisations which are either of similar size to the Supplier or which are similarly structured in terms of their business and their service offering so as to be (in the Benchmarker's professional opinion) fair comparators with the Supplier or which, in the professional opinion of the Benchmarker, are best practice organisations and, where there are a reasonable number of such organisations;

The Comparison Group will as a minimum include any organisation providing services equivalent to the services under any other Lot, and the associated information will constitute Equivalent Services Data:

has the meaning given in Clause 7.4(a) (Unacceptable KPI Failure);

the payment calculated in accordance with Paragraph 6 of Schedule 7.2 (Payments on Termination);

any constituent part of the infrastructure for a Service, hardware or Software;

has the meaning given in Clause 4.2 (Condition Precedent);

- (a) Information, including all Personal Data, which (however it is conveyed) is provided by the Disclosing Party pursuant to or in anticipation of this Agreement that relates to:
 - the Disclosing Party Group; or
 - (ii) the operations, business, affairs, developments, intellectual property rights, trade secrets, know-how and/or personnel of the Disclosing Party Group;
- (b) other Information provided by the Disclosing Party pursuant to or in anticipation of this Agreement that is clearly designated as being confidential or equivalent or that ought reasonably to be considered to be confidential (whether or not it is so marked) which comes (or has come) to the Recipient's attention or

"Comparable Service"

"Comparable Supply"

"Comparison Group"

"Compensation for Unacceptable **KPI Failure**"

"Compensation Payment"

"Component"

"Condition Precedent"

"Confidential Information"

- into the Recipient's possession in connection with this Agreement;
- (c) discussions, negotiations, and correspondence between the Disclosing Party or any of its directors, officers, employees, consultants or professional advisers and the Recipient or any of its directors, officers, employees, consultants and professional advisers in connection with this Agreement and all matters arising therefrom; and
- (d) Information derived from any of the above,

but not including any Information which:

- (i) was in the possession of the Recipient without obligation of confidentiality prior to its disclosure by the Disclosing Party;
- (ii) the Recipient obtained on a non-confidential basis from a third party who is not, to the Recipient's knowledge or belief, bound by a confidentiality agreement with the Disclosing Party or otherwise prohibited from disclosing the information to the Recipient;
- (iii) was already generally available and in the public domain at the time of disclosure otherwise than by a breach of this Agreement or breach of a duty of confidentiality;
- (iv) was independently developed without access to the Confidential Information; or
- (v) relates to the Supplier's:
- (1) performance under this Agreement; or
- (2) failure to pay any Sub-contractor as required pursuant to Clause 15.15(a) (Supply Chain Protection);

"Contract Breakage Costs"

the amounts payable by the Supplier to its Key Subcontractors or other third parties (as applicable) for terminating all relevant Key Subcontracts or Third-Party Contracts as a direct result of the early termination of this Agreement;

"Contract Change"

any change to this Agreement other than an Operational Change;

"Contract Finder"

the online government portal which allows suppliers to search for information about contracts worth over £10,000 (excluding VAT) as prescribed by Part 4 of the Public Contract Regulations 2015;

"Contract Revenue"

means the monetary value (excluding VAT) received through a contract between the Supplier and a Central Government Department or its Arm's Length Bodies.

"Contract Year"

(a) a period of 12 months commencing on the Effective Date; or

(b) thereafter a period of 12 months commencing on each anniversary of the Effective Date;

provided that the final Contract Year shall end on the expiry or termination of the Term;

the possession by person, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of the other person (whether through the ownership of voting shares, by contract or otherwise) and "Controls" and "Controlled" shall be interpreted accordingly;

has the meaning given in the UK GDPR or the EU GDPR as the context requires;

means a service described in Schedule 2.1 (Services Description) which is not an Added Value Service;

the hours, from 09.00-17.00 in local time on any day during which a Location must be open to Customers for delivery of the Core Service including free-of-charge appointments;

"Corporate Change Event"

means:

- (a) any change of Control of the Supplier or a Parent Undertaking of the Supplier;
- (b) any change of Control of any member of the Supplier Group which, in the reasonable opinion of the Authority, could have a material adverse effect on the Services;
- (c) any change to the business of the Supplier or any member of the Supplier Group which, in the reasonable opinion of the Authority, could have a material adverse effect on the Services;
- (d) a Class 1 Transaction taking place in relation to the shares of the Supplier or any Parent Undertaking of the Supplier whose shares are listed on the main market of the London Stock Exchange plc;
- (e) an event that could reasonably be regarded as being equivalent to a Class 1 Transaction taking place in respect of the Supplier or any Parent Undertaking of the Supplier;
- (f) payment of dividends by the Supplier or the ultimate Parent Undertaking of the Supplier Group exceeding 25% of the Net Asset Value of the Supplier or the ultimate Parent Undertaking of the Supplier Group respectively in any 12 month period;
- (g) an order is made or an effective resolution is passed for the winding up of any member of the Supplier Group;
- (h) any member of the Supplier Group stopping payment of its debts generally or becoming unable to pay its debts within the meaning of section 123(1) of the Insolvency Act 1986 or any member of the Supplier Group ceasing to carry on all or substantially all its business, or any compromise, composition, arrangement

"Control"

"Controller"

"Core Service"

"Core Service Hours"

or agreement being made with creditors of any member of the Supplier Group;

- (i) the appointment of a receiver, administrative receiver or administrator in respect of or over all or a material part of the undertaking or assets of any member of the Supplier Group; and/or
- (j) any process or events with an effect analogous to those in paragraphs (a) to (i) inclusive above occurring to a member of the Supplier Group in a jurisdiction outside England and Wales;

"Corporate Resolution Planning Information"

means, together, the:

- (a) Group Structure Information and Resolution Commentary; and
- (b) UK Public Sector and CNI Contract Information;

"Costs"

has the meaning given in Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing):

"Counter Notice"

has the meaning given in Paragraph 7.2 of Schedule 8.3 (Dispute Resolution Procedure);

"Country"

means a country set out in the Financial Models, derived from the list of countries set out in Schedule 2.1 (Service Requirements) Annex A – Zones: Description;

"CPP Milestone"

a contract performance point as set out in the Implementation Plan, being the Milestone at which the Supplier has demonstrated that the Supplier Solution or relevant Service is working satisfactorily in its operating environment in accordance with Schedule 6.2 (*Testing Procedures*):

"Credit Rating Level"

a credit rating level as specified in Annex 1 of Schedule 7.4 (Financial Distress);

"Credit Rating Threshold"

means the minimum Credit Rating Level for each entity in the Financial Distress Event Group as set out in Annex 3 of Schedule 7.4 (Financial Distress);

"CREST Service Provider"

means a company with a SOC Accreditation from CREST International;

"Critical National Infrastructure"

means those critical elements of UK national infrastructure (namely assets, facilities, systems, networks or processes and the essential workers that operate and facilitate them), the loss or compromise of which could result in:

- (a) major detrimental impact on the availability, integrity or delivery of essential services including those services whose integrity, if compromised, could result in significant loss of life or casualties taking into account significant economic or social impacts; and/or
- (b) significant impact on the national security, national defence, or the functioning of the UK;

"Critical Performance Failure"

means:

(a) the Supplier accruing in respect of any single Zone 36 or more Service Points prior

to the invoking of any doubling pursuant to the Repeat KPI Failure mechanism set out in Schedule 2.2 (Performance Levels) in each Service Period in any 3 consecutive Service Periods; or

- (b) the Supplier accruing in respect of any single Zone 36 or more Service Points in any 3 or more Service Periods in any 6 consecutive Service Periods; or
- (c) the Supplier accruing in aggregate in respect of more than one Zone 40% or more of the Service Points applicable to those Zones in each Service Period in any 3 consecutive Service Periods; or
- (d) the Supplier accruing in aggregate in respect of more than one Zone 40% or more of the Service Points applicable to those Zones in any 3 or more Service Periods in any 6 consecutive Service Periods.
- (e) the Supplier accruing in aggregate 50% or more Service Points (in terms of the number of points allocated) in any period of three (3) months; or
- the Supplier accruing Service Credits or Compensation for Unacceptable KPI Failure which meet or exceed the Service Credit Cap;

"Critical Service Contract"

means the overall status of the Services provided under this Agreement as determined by the Authority and specified in paragraph 10 of Part B to Schedule 8.6 (Service Continuity Plan and Corporate Resolution Planning);

"CRP Information"

"CRTPA"

"Customer Insight"

means the Corporate Resolution Planning Information;

the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999;

Information pertaining to Customers' relevant opinions and drivers which allows the development and improvement of service provision;

"Customer"

a person who arranges and/or attends a Passport VCAS Center Appointment or a Visa VCAS Center Appointment performed as part of the Services provided under this Agreement;

"Cyber Essentials"

means the Cyber Essentials certificate issued under the Cyber Essentials Scheme;

"Cyber Essentials Plus"

means the Cyber Essentials Plus certificate issued under the Cyber Essentials Scheme;

"Cyber Essentials Scheme"

means the Cyber Essentials scheme operated by the National Cyber Security Center;

"Data Loss Event"

any event that results, or may result, in unauthorised access to Personal Data held by the Supplier under this Agreement, and/or actual or potential loss and/or destruction of Personal Data in breach of this Agreement, including any Personal Data Breach;

"Data Protection Impact Assessment"

an assessment by the Controller of the impact of the envisaged processing on the protection of Personal Data;

"Data Protection Legislation"

- (a) the UK GDPR
- (b) the DPA 2018 to the extent that it relates to processing of personal data and privacy;
- (c) all applicable Law about the processing of personal data and privacy; and
- (d) (to the extent it applies) the EU GDPR;

"Data Room"

means a repository within the Virtual Library titled 'Data Room' set up and managed by the Supplier and shall contain documents which are: (a) explicitly referred to in this Agreement as contained in the Data Room (which, for the avoidance of doubt, shall be the documents in the form published by the Authority during the procurement procedure which led to the award of this Contract; (b) saved in a 'read-only' format and shall not be subject to change except as in accordance with the Change Control Procedure; and (c) are incorporated into this Contract by reference.

"Data Subject"

has the meaning given in the UK GDPR or EU GDPR as the context requires;

"Data Subject Request"

a request made by, or on behalf of, a Data Subject in accordance with rights granted pursuant to the Data Protection Legislation to their Personal Data;

"Decision-Making Center (DMC)"

means an Authority facility at which Applications are assessed and decisions made in respect of those Applications;

"Dedicated Supplier Personnel"

all Supplier Personnel then assigned to the Services or any part of the Services. If the Supplier is unsure as to whether Supplier Personnel are or should be regarded as so assigned, it shall consult with the Authority whose view shall be determinative provided that the employee has been materially involved in the provision of the Services or any part of the Services;

"Deductions"

all Service Credits, Compensation for Unacceptable KPI Failure, Delay Payments or any other deduction which is paid or payable to the Authority under this Agreement;

"Default"

any breach of the obligations of the relevant Party (including abandonment of this Agreement in breach of its terms, repudiatory breach or breach of a fundamental term) or any other default, act, omission, negligence or statement:

- (a) in the case of the Authority, of its employees, servants, agents; or
- (b) in the case of the Supplier, of its Sub-contractors or any Supplier Personnel,

in connection with or in relation to the subject-matter of this Agreement and in respect of which such Party is liable to the other;

"Defect"

(a) any error, damage or defect in the manufacturing of a Deliverable; or

- (b) any error or failure of code within the Software which causes a Deliverable to malfunction or to produce unintelligible or incorrect results; or
- (c) any failure of any Deliverable to provide the performance, features and functionality specified in the Authority Requirements or the Documentation (including any adverse effect on response times) regardless of whether or not it prevents the relevant Deliverable from meeting its associated Test Success Criteria; or
- (d) any failure of any Deliverable to operate in conjunction with or interface with any other Deliverable in order to provide the performance, features and functionality specified in the Authority Requirements or the Documentation (including any adverse effect on response times) regardless of whether or not it prevents the relevant Deliverable from meeting its associated Test Success Criteria:

"Delay"

- (a) a delay in the Achievement of a Milestone by its Milestone Date; or
- (b) a delay in the design, development, testing or implementation of a Deliverable by the relevant date set out in the Implementation Plan;

"Delay Deduction Period"

the period of one hundred (100) days commencing on the relevant Milestone Date:

"Delay Payments"

the amounts payable by the Supplier to the Authority in respect of a Delay in Achieving a Key Milestone as specified in Schedule 7.1 (*Charges and Invoicing*);

"Deliverable"

an item or feature delivered or to be delivered by the Supplier at or before a Milestone Date as set out in Annex 3 of Schedule 6.1 (*Implementation Plan*) or at any other stage during the performance of this Agreement;

"Department"

a body listed in one of the following sub-categories of the Central Government classification of the Public Sector Classification Guide, as published and amended from time to time by the Office for National Statistics:

- (a) Government Department; or
- (b) Non-Ministerial Department;

"Dependent Parent Undertaking"

means any Parent Undertaking which provides any of its Subsidiary Undertakings and/or Associates, whether directly or indirectly, with any financial, trading, managerial or other assistance of whatever nature, without which the Supplier would be unable to continue the day to day conduct and operation of its business in the same manner as carried on at the time of entering into this Agreement, including for the avoidance of doubt the provision of the Services in accordance with the terms of this Agreement;

"Detailed Implementation Plan"

the plan developed and revised from time to time in accordance with Schedule 6.1 (*Implementation Plan*);

"Digital Interview"

a formal conversation between the Customer and the Authority regarding an Application;

"Digital Recording Files"

a digital recording that clearly records and identifies a Customer during Biometric Capture to a standard that can be used as evidence in the event of an unlawful act taking place during Biometric Capture;

"Direct Labour Costs"

means those allowable costs defined in sub-paragraph (a) of the definition of "Allowable Costs";

"Direct Other Costs"

means those costs:

- (a) other than Direct Labour and Direct Variable Costs:
- (b) that are attributable to and reasonably and appropriately incurred in the course of delivering the Services including the direct premises specific overheads that are attributable to an activity set out in Schedule 2.1 (Service Description); and
- (c) for which the cost or activity driver of the cost occurred on a Location:

"Disaster"

the occurrence of one or more events which, either separately or cumulatively, mean that the Services, or a material part of the Services will be unavailable for a period of 24 hours or which is reasonably anticipated will mean that the Services or a material part of the Services will be unavailable for that period;

"Disaster Recovery Plan"

has the meaning given in Paragraph 2.2(a)(iii) of Schedule 8.6 (Service Continuity Plan and Corporate Resolution Planning);

"Disaster Recovery Services"

the services embodied in the processes and procedures for restoring the Services following the occurrence of a Disaster;

"Disaster Recovery System"

the system identified by the Supplier in the Supplier Solution which shall be used for the purpose of delivering the Disaster Recovery Services;

"Disclosing Party"

has the meaning given in Clause 22.1 (Confidentiality);

"Disclosing Party Group"

- (a) where the Disclosing Party is the Supplier, the Supplier and any Affiliates of the Supplier; and
- (b) where the Disclosing Party is the Authority, the Authority and any Central Government Body with which the Authority or the Supplier interacts in connection with this Agreement;

"Dispute"

any dispute, difference or question of interpretation arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, including any dispute, difference or question of interpretation relating to the Services, failure to agree in accordance with the Change Control Procedure or any matter where this Agreement directs the Parties to resolve an issue by reference to the Dispute Resolution Procedure:

"Dispute Notice"

a written notice served by one Party on the other stating that the Party serving the notice believes that there is a Dispute;

"Dispute Resolution Procedure"

"Documentation"

the dispute resolution procedure set out in Schedule 8.3 (*Dispute Resolution Procedure*);

descriptions of the Services and Performance Indicators, details of the Supplier System (including (i) vendors and versions for off-the-shelf components and (ii) source code and build information for proprietary components), relevant design and development information, technical specifications of all functionality including those not included in standard manuals (such as those that modify system performance and access levels), configuration details, test scripts, user manuals, operating manuals, process definitions and procedures, and all such other documentation as:

- (a) is required to be supplied by the Supplier to the Authority under this Agreement;
- (b) would reasonably be required by a competent third party capable of Good Industry Practice contracted by the Authority to develop, configure, build, deploy, run, maintain, upgrade and test the individual systems that provide Services;
- (c) is required by the Supplier in order to provide the Services; and/or
- (d) has been or shall be generated for the purpose of providing the Services;

"Document Upload Assistance"

the AVS that Suppliers are mandated to provide in supporting Customers with the scan and upload of their documentation;

"DOTAS"

the Disclosure of Tax Avoidance Schemes rules which require a promoter of tax schemes to tell HMRC of any specified notifiable arrangements or proposals and to provide prescribed information on those arrangements or proposals within set time limits as contained in Part 7 of the Finance Act 2004 and in secondary legislation made under vires contained in Part 7 of the Finance Act 2004 and as extended to national insurance contributions by the National Insurance Contributions (Application of Part 7 of the Finance Act 2004) Regulations 2012, SI 2012/1868) made under section 132A of the Social Security Administration Act 1992;

"DPA"

"Due Diligence Information" an

"Effective Date"

the Data Protection Act 2018;

any information supplied to the Supplier by or on behalf of the Authority prior to the Effective Date;

the later of:

- (a) the date on which this Agreement is signed by both Parties; and
- (b) the date on which the Condition Precedent has been satisfied or waived in accordance with Clause 4.2 (Condition Precedent);

"EIRs"

the Environmental Information Regulations 2004, together with any guidance and/or codes of practice

"Emergency Exit"

issued by the Information Commissioner or any Central Government Body in relation to such Regulations;

any termination of this Agreement which is a:

- (a) termination of the whole or part of this Agreement in accordance with Clause 33 (Termination Rights), except where the period of notice given under that Clause is greater than or equal to 6 months;
- (b) termination of the provision of the Services for any reason prior to the expiry of any period of notice of termination served pursuant to Clause 33 (Termination Rights); or
- (c) wrongful termination or repudiation of this Agreement by either Party;

ad hoc and unplanned maintenance provided by the Supplier where:

- (a) the Authority reasonably suspects that the IT Environment or the Services, or any part of the IT Environment or the Services, has or may have developed a fault, and notifies the Supplier of the same; or
- (b) the Supplier reasonably suspects that the IT Environment or the Services, or any part the IT Environment or the Services, has or may have developed a fault;

"Emergency Maintenance"

"Employee Liabilities"

all claims, actions, proceedings, orders, demands, complaints, investigations (save for any claims for personal injury which are covered by insurance) and any award, compensation, damages, tribunal awards, fine, loss, order, penalty, disbursement, payment made by way of settlement and costs, expenses and legal costs reasonably incurred in connection with a claim or investigation related to employment including in relation to the following:

- (a) redundancy payments including contractual or enhanced redundancy costs, termination costs and notice payments;
- (b) unfair, wrongful or constructive dismissal compensation;
- (c) compensation for discrimination on grounds of sex, race, disability, age, religion or belief, gender reassignment, marriage or civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity or sexual orientation or claims for equal pay;
- (d) compensation for less favourable treatment of parttime workers or fixed term employees;
- (e) outstanding employment debts and unlawful deduction of wages including any PAYE and national insurance contributions;
- (f) employment claims whether in tort, contract or statute or otherwise;

(g) any investigation relating to employment matters by the Equality and Human Rights Commission or other enforcement, regulatory or supervisory body and of implementing any requirements which may arise from such investigation;

"Employment Regulations"

the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006 (SI 2006/246) as amended or replaced or any other Regulations implementing the Acquired Rights Directive;

"End User"

any person authorised by the Authority to use the IT Environment and/or the Services;

"Equivalent Services Data"

in relation to a Comparable Service, data derived from an analysis of the Comparable Service provided by the Comparison Group as adjusted in accordance with Paragraphs 4.8(a) and 4.9 of Schedule 7.3 (Benchmarking) provided that the Benchmarker shall not use any such data that relates to a period which ended more than 36 months prior to the date of the appointment of the Benchmarker;

"Estimated Year 1 Charges"

the estimated Charges payable by the Authority during the first Contract Year, as set out in the Financial Model;

"Estimated Initial Service Charges"

the estimated Service Charges payable by the Authority during the period of 12 months from the first Operational Service Commencement Date, as set out in the Financial Model:

"Ethical Wall Agreement"

an ethical wall agreement in a form similar to the draft ethical wall agreement set out at Annex 2 of Schedule 8.5 (Exit Management);

"EU GDPR"

Regulation (EU) 2016/679 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 April 2016 on the protection of natural persons with regard to the processing of personal data and on the free movement of such data (General Data Protection Regulation) as it has effect in EU law:

"Euro Compliant"

means that: (i) the introduction of the euro within any part(s) of the UK shall not affect the performance or functionality of any relevant items nor cause such items to malfunction, end abruptly, provide invalid results or adversely affect the Authority's business; (ii) all currency-reliant and currency-related functions (including all calculations concerning financial data) of any relevant items enable the introduction and operation of the euro; and (iii) in particular each and every relevant item shall, to the extent it performs or relies upon currency-related functions (including all calculations concerning financial data):

- (a) be able to perform all such functions in any number of currencies and/or in euros;
- (b) during any transition phase applicable to the relevant part(s) of the UK, be able to deal with multiple currencies and, in relation to the euro and the national currency of the relevant part(s) of the UK, dual denominations;
- (c) recognise accept, display and print all the euro currency symbols and alphanumeric codes which may

be adopted by any government and other European Union body in relation to the euro;

- (d) incorporate protocols for dealing with rounding and currency conversion;
- (e) recognise data irrespective of the currency in which it is expressed (which includes the euro) and express any output data in the national currency of the relevant part(s) of the UK and/or the euro; and
- (f) permit the input of data in euro and display an outcome in euro where such data, supporting the Authority's normal business practices, operates in euro and/or the national currency of the relevant part(s) of the UK;

"European Standard" in relation to an electronic invoice means the European

standard and any of the syntaxes published in Commission Implementing Decision (EU) 2017/1870;

"Exclusive Assets" those Assets used by the Supplier or a Key Sub-

contractor which are used exclusively in the provision of the Services (which shall include any biometric

enrolment equipment);

"Exit Day" shall have the meaning in the European Union

(Withdrawal) Act 2018;

"Exit Information" has the meaning given in Paragraph 3.1 of Schedule 8.5

(Exit Management);

"Exit Management" services, activities, processes and procedures to ensure

a smooth and orderly transition of all or part of the Services from the Supplier to the Authority and/or a Replacement Supplier, as set out or referred to in

Schedule 8.5 (Exit Management);

"Exit Manager" the person appointed by each Party pursuant to

Paragraph 2.3 of Schedule 8.5 (Exit Management) for managing the Parties' respective obligations under

Schedule 8.5 (Exit Management);

"Exit Plan" the plan produced and updated by the Supplier during

the Term in accordance with Paragraph 5 of Schedule

8.5 (Exit Management);

"Expedited Dispute Timetable" the reduced timetable for the resolution of Disputes set

out in Paragraph 3 of Schedule 8.3 (*Dispute Resolution*

Procedure);

"Expert" in relation to a Dispute, a person appointed in

accordance with Paragraph 6.2 of Schedule 8.3 (*Dispute Resolution Procedure*) to act as an expert in relation to

that Dispute;;

"Expert Determination" the process described in Paragraph 6 of Schedule 8.3

(Dispute Resolution Procedure);

"Extension Period" a period of up to three (3) years from the end of the

Initial Term;

"Fast Track Change" any Contract Change which the Parties agree to

expedite in accordance with Paragraph 8 of Schedule

8.2 (Change Control Procedure);

"Fee" a payment required from a Customer;

"Final Outturn Financial Model"

"Financial Distress Event" or "FDF"

"Financial Distress Event Group" or "FDE Group"

"Financial Distress Remediation Plan"

"Financial Indicators"

"Financial Model"

"Financial Pricing Model"

the final outturn "Financial Model" to be provided by the Supplier to the Authority pursuant to Paragraph 1 of Part B of Schedule 7.5 (Financial Reports and Audit Rights);

the occurrence of one or more of the events listed in Paragraph 3.1 of Schedule 7.4 (*Financial Distress*);

the Supplier, Key Sub-contractors, the Guarantor, the Supplier's ultimate parent undertaking, Key Sub-contractors' ultimate parent undertakings, and the Monitored Suppliers;

a plan setting out how the Supplier will ensure the continued performance and delivery of the Services in accordance with this Agreement in the event that a Financial Distress Event occurs;

in respect of the Supplier, Key Sub-contractors, the Guarantor, the Supplier's ultimate parent undertaking, the Key Sub-contractors' ultimate parent undertakings, means each of the financial indicators set out at Paragraph 5.1 of Schedule 7.4 (Financial Distress); and in respect of each Monitored Supplier, means those Applicable Financial Indicators;

comprises the relevant versions of the Financial Pricing Model, Resource Model, accompanying narrative and Model Documentation.

Versions of the financial model will include the:

- a) Bid Financial Model;
- b) approved Baseline Financial Model;
- c) latest Updated Baseline Financial Model whether or not set out in Part B, paragraph 1.1 of Schedule 7.5 (*Financial Reports and Audit Rights*), and having been most recently approved by the Authority in accordance with Paragraph 2 of Part B of Schedule 7.5 (*Financial Reports and Audit Rights*);
- d) latest Monthly Outturn Financial Model whether or not set out in Part B, paragraph 1.1 of Schedule 7.5 (Financial Reports and Audit Rights), and having been most recently approved by the Authority in accordance with Paragraph 2 of Part B of Schedule 7.5 (Financial Reports and Audit Rights);
- e) latest Annual Outturn Financial Model whether or not set out in Part B, paragraph 1.1 of Schedule 7.5 (*Financial Reports and Audit Rights*), and having been most recently approved by the Authority in accordance with Paragraph 2 of Part B of Schedule 7.5 (*Financial Reports and Audit Rights*); and
- f) Final Outturn Financial Model.

means the Excel template provided by the Authority in Annex 3 of Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing), for the purpose of returning the Supplier's financial response, derivation of actual and forecast Charges, payments and invoices, and as a performance management tool during the Term.

Versions of the Financial Pricing Model will include the:

a) Bid Financial Pricing Model;

- b) Baseline Financial Pricing Model, which subsequent to any changes arising during due diligence on or before the Effective Date, shall be agreed between the Parties and form part of the Baseline Financial Model:
- c) agreed Updated Baseline Financial Pricing Model;
- d) Monthly Outturn Financial Pricing Model;
- e) Annual Outturn Financial Pricing Model; and
- f) Final Outturn Financial Pricing Model;

the reports listed in the table in Paragraph1.1 of Part B of Schedule 7.5 (*Financial Reports and Audit Rights*);

a reasonably skilled and experienced member of the Supplier's staff who has specific responsibility for preparing, maintaining, facilitating access to, discussing, and explaining the Open Book Data and Financial Reports;

means the target thresholds for each of the Financial Indicators set out at Paragraph 5.1 of Schedule 7.4 (Financial Distress);

has the meaning given in Paragraph 1 of Part A of Schedule 7.5 (*Financial Reports and Audit Rights*);

the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and any subordinate legislation made under that Act from time to time, together with any guidance and/or codes of practice issued by the Information Commissioner or any relevant Central Government Body in relation to such Act:

any event outside the reasonable control of either Party affecting its performance of its obligations under this Agreement arising from acts, events, omissions, happenings or non-happenings beyond its reasonable control and which are not attributable to any wilful act, neglect or failure to take reasonable preventative action by that Party, including riots, war or armed conflict, acts of terrorism, acts of government, local government or regulatory bodies, fire, flood, storm or earthquake, or other natural disaster but excluding any industrial dispute relating to the Supplier or the Supplier Personnel, any failure of the Supplier to have available sufficient Supplier Personnel to perform the Services in accordance with this Agreement, or any other failure in the Supplier's or a Sub-contractor's supply chain;

a written notice served by the Affected Party on the other Party stating that the Affected Party believes that there is a Force Majeure Event;

a supplier supplying services to the Authority before the Relevant Transfer Date that are the same as or substantially similar to the Services (or any part of the Services) and shall include any sub-contractor of such supplier (or any sub-contractor of any such sub-contractor);

"Financial Reports"

"Financial Representative"

"Financial Target Thresholds"

"Financial Transparency Objectives" "FOIA"

"Force Majeure Event"

"Force Majeure Notice"

"Former Supplier"

"Former Supplier Personnel"

means all employees, officers, consultants, individual contractors and agents of the Former Supplier to fulfil all

or part of the Service Requirements;

"Free Appointment"

means appointments available to Customers without charge (other than any Regulated Fee and/ or AVS charge) and during Core service Hours;

"Full Service"

means the part of the Term from the Full Service Activation Date:

"Full Service Activation Date"

means the date the Fixed and Volumetric Service Charges for a Country or Zone become chargeable by the Supplier to the Authority, being the date following a Country's or Zone's Milestone 7 completion;

"General Anti-Abuse Rule"

(a) the legislation in Part 5 of the Finance Act 2013; and

(b) any future legislation introduced into Parliament to counteract tax advantages arising from abusive arrangements to avoid national insurance contributions;

"General Change in Law"

a Change in Law where the change is of a general legislative nature (including taxation or duties of any sort affecting the Supplier) or which affects or relates to a Comparable Supply;

Go-Live

means the point in time when a VCAS Center is physically open with the ability to deliver the Services to Customers

"Good Industry Practice"

at any time the exercise of that degree of care, skill, diligence, prudence, efficiency, foresight and timeliness which would be reasonably expected at such time from a leading and expert supplier of services similar to the Services to a customer like the Authority, such supplier seeking to comply with its contractual obligations in full and complying with applicable Laws;

"Goods"

has the meaning given in Clause 9.7 (Supply of Goods);

"Good Value"

in relation to a Benchmarked Service, that:

- (a) having taken into account the Performance Indicators and Target Service Levels, the value for money of the Charges attributable to that Benchmarked Service is at least as good as the value for money of the Upper Quartile; and
- (b) any Performance Indicators and Target Service Levels applicable to that Benchmarked Service are, having taken into account the Charges, equal to or better than the median service levels for the Comparable Service using Equivalent Services Data;

"Group Structure Information and Resolution Commentary"

means the information relating to the Supplier Group to be provided by the Supplier in accordance with Paragraphs 11 to 13 and Annex 1 of Part B of Schedule 8.6 (Service Continuity Plan and Corporate Resolution Planning):

"Guarantee"

the deed of guarantee in favour of the Authority entered into by the Guarantor on or about the date of this Agreement (which is in the form set out in Schedule 10 (*Guarantee*)), or any guarantee acceptable to the Authority that replaces it from time to time;

"Guaranteed Maximum Price" or ("GMP")

means in relation to a Milestone, 110% of the Target Price for the relevant Milestone;

"Guarantor"

means the party identified in Annex 2 of Schedule 7.4 (Financial Distress);

"Halifax Abuse Principle"

the principle explained in the CJEU Case C-255/02 Halifax and others;

"Health and Safety Policy"

the health and safety policy of the Authority and/or other relevant Central Government Body as provided to the Supplier on or before the Effective Date and as subsequently provided to the Supplier from time to time except any provision of any such subsequently provided policy that cannot be reasonably reconciled to ensuring compliance with applicable Law regarding health and safety;

"Help Desk"

the single point of contact help desk set up and operated by the Supplier for the purposes of this Agreement;

"Higher Risk Sub-contractor"

means a Sub-contractor that Processes Authority Data, where that data includes either:

(a) the Personal Data of 1000 or more individuals in aggregate during the period between the first Operational Service Commencement Date and the date on which this Agreement terminates in accordance with Clause 4.1(b); or

(b) Special Category Personal Data;

"HMPO"

means HM Passport Office;

"HMRC"

means HM Revenue & Customs;

"Impact Assessment"

an assessment of a Change Request in accordance with Paragraph 5 of Schedule 8.2 (*Change Control Procedure*):

"Impact Assessment Estimate"

has the meaning given in Paragraph 4.3 of Schedule 8.2 (*Change Control Procedure*);

"Implementation Plan"

the Outline Implementation Plan or (if and when approved by the Authority pursuant to Paragraph 3 of Schedule 6.1 (*Implementation Plan*)) the Detailed Implementation Plan as updated in accordance with Paragraph 4 of Schedule 6.1 (*Implementation Plan*) from time to time;

"Implementation Services"

the implementation services described as such in the Services Description;

"Implementation Services Commencement Date"

the date on which the Supplier is to commence provision of the first of the Services, being the Effective Date;

"Incident Management Process"

means the process which the Supplier shall implement immediately after it becomes aware of a Breach of Security which is intended to restore normal operations as quickly as possible, minimising any adverse impact on the Authority Data, the Authority, the Services and/or users of the Services and which shall be shall be prepared by the Supplier in accordance with Paragraph 3.4 using the template set out in Annex 3 of Schedule 2.4 (Security Requirements);

"Incremental Costs Incurred"

means those direct, actual and proven costs incurred by Supplier that are additional to either:

- (a) any costs already recovered by another pricing mechanism under Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing); or
- (b) any costs recovered elsewhere including recoveries from the Supplier's Sub-Contractor(s) or statutory bodies including HMRC or equivalent tax authorities of a Country;

"Incurred Costs"

means a cost that that the Supplier, has become liable for either by way of direct outlay of expenditure or enforceable agreement;

"Indemnified Person"

the Authority and each and every person to whom the Authority (or any direct or indirect sub-licensee of the Authority) sub-licenses, assigns or novates any Relevant IPRs or rights in Relevant IPRs in accordance with this Agreement;

"Independent Control"

where a Controller has provided Personal Data to another Party which is neither a Processor or Joint Controller because the recipient itself determines the purposes and means of processing but does so separately from the Controller providing it with Personal Data;

"Indexation" and "Index"

means the adjustment of an amount, sum or rate in accordance with Paragraph 5 of Part C of Schedule 7.1 (*Charges and Invoicing*);

"Indirect Overhead"

means those Overheads that are not Direct Overheads;

"Information"

all information of whatever nature, however conveyed and in whatever form, including in writing, orally, by demonstration, electronically and in a tangible, visual or machine-readable medium (including CD-ROM, magnetic and digital form);

"Information Assurance Assessment"

means the set of policies, procedures, systems and processes which the Supplier shall implement, maintain and update in accordance with Paragraph 3 of Schedule 2.4 (Security Requirements) in order to manage, mitigate and, where possible, avoid information security risks including cyber-attacks, hacks, data leaks, Personal Data Breaches and/or theft and which shall be prepared by the Supplier using the template set out in Annex 3 of Schedule 2.4 (Security Requirements);

"Information Management System"

means

- (a) those parts of the Supplier System, and those of the Sites, that the Supplier or its Sub-contractors will use to provide the parts of the Services that require Processing Authority Data; and
- (b) the associated information assets and systems (including organisational structure, controls, policies, practices, procedures, processes and resources);

"Information Security Approval Statement"

means a notice issued by the Authority which sets out the information risks which the Supplier has identified as being associated with using the Information Management System and confirms that:

(a) the Authority is satisfied that the identified risks have been adequately and appropriately addressed;

- (b) the Authority has accepted the residual risks; and
- (c) the Supplier may use the Information Management System to Process Authority Data;

"Initial Reporting Period (s)"

"Initial Term"

"Initial Upload Date"

"Insolvency Continuity Plan"

"Insolvency Event"

means the Reporting Period(s) up to and including the Full Service Activation Dates of all Zones in a Lot;

the period of four (4) years from and including the Effective Date;

means the occurrence of an event detailed in Schedule 8.4 (*Reports and Records Provisions*) Annex 3 (*Virtual Library*) which requires the Supplier to provide its initial upload of the relevant information to the Virtual Library;

has the meaning given in Paragraph 2.2(a)(iv) of Schedule 8.6 (Service Continuity Plan and Corporate Resolution Planning);

with respect to any person, means:

- (a) that person suspends, or threatens to suspend, payment of its debts, or is unable to pay its debts as they fall due or admits inability to pay its debts, or:
- (b) (being a company or a LLP) is deemed unable to pay its debts within the meaning of section 123 of the Insolvency Act 1986, or
- (c)(being a partnership) is deemed unable to pay its debts within the meaning of section 222 of the Insolvency Act 1986;
- (d) that person commences negotiations with one or more of its creditors (using a voluntary arrangement, scheme of arrangement or otherwise) with a view to rescheduling any of its debts, or makes a proposal for or enters into any compromise or arrangement with one or more of its creditors or takes any step to obtain a moratorium pursuant to Section 1A and Schedule A1 of the Insolvency Act 1986 other than (in the case of a company, a LLP or a partnership) for the sole purpose of a scheme for a solvent amalgamation of that person with one or more other companies or the solvent reconstruction of that person;
- (e) another person becomes entitled to appoint a receiver over the assets of that person or a receiver is appointed over the assets of that person;
- (f) a creditor or encumbrancer of that person attaches or takes possession of, or a distress, execution or other such process is levied or enforced on or sued against, the whole or any part of that person's assets and such attachment or process is not discharged within fourteen (14) days;
- (g) that person suspends or ceases, or threatens to suspend or cease, carrying on all or a substantial part of its business;
- (h) where that person is a company, a LLP or a partnership:
- (i) a petition is presented (which is not dismissed within fourteen (14) days of its service), a notice is

given, a resolution is passed, or an order is made, for or in connection with the winding up of that person other than for the sole purpose of a scheme for a solvent amalgamation of that person with one or more other companies or the solvent reconstruction of that person;

- (ii) an application is made to court, or an order is made, for the appointment of an administrator, or if a notice of intention to appoint an administrator is filed at Court or given or if an administrator is appointed, over that person;
- (iii) (being a company or a LLP) the holder of a qualifying floating charge over the assets of that person has become entitled to appoint or has appointed an administrative receiver; or
- (iv) (being a partnership) the holder of an agricultural floating charge over the assets of that person has become entitled to appoint or has appointed an agricultural receiver; or
- (i) any event occurs, or proceeding is taken, with respect to that person in any jurisdiction to which it is subject that has an effect equivalent or similar to any of the events mentioned above;

"Intellectual Property Rights" or "IPRs"

- (a) copyright, rights related to or affording protection similar to copyright, rights in databases, patents and rights in inventions, semi-conductor topography rights, trade marks, rights in Internet domain names and website addresses and other rights in trade names, designs, Know-How, trade secrets and other rights in Confidential Information;
- (b) applications for registration, and the right to apply for registration, for any of the rights listed at 0 that are capable of being registered in any country or jurisdiction; and
- (c) all other rights having equivalent or similar effect in any country or jurisdiction;

"Interface Control Document"

means a document that describes how the Supplier's IT systems will connect and transfer data to the Authority systems;

"Intervention Cause"

has the meaning given in Clause 30.1 (*Remedial Adviser*);

"Intervention Notice"

has the meaning given in Clause 30.1 (*Remedial Adviser*);

"Intervention Period"

has the meaning given in Clause 30.2(c) (*Remedial Adviser*);

"Intervention Trigger Event"

- (a) any event falling within limb (a), (b), (c), (e), (f) or (g) of the definition of a Supplier Termination Event;
- (b) a Default by the Supplier that is materially preventing or materially delaying the performance of the Services or any material part of the Services;
- (c) the Supplier accruing in aggregate 75% of the Service Points in a Service Period that would contribute

to triggering a Critical Performance Failure in the relevant period specified in the definition of Critical Performance Failure;

(c

- (d) the Supplier accruing Service Credits which meet or exceed 75% of the Service Credit Cap; and/or
- (e) the Supplier not Achieving a Key Milestone within seventy-five (75) days of its relevant Milestone Date;

any claim against any Indemnified Person of infringement or alleged infringement (including the defence of such infringement or alleged infringement) of any Relevant IPRs save for any such claim to the extent that it is caused by any use by or on behalf of that Indemnified Person of any Relevant IPRs, or the use of the Authority Software by or on behalf of the Supplier, in either case in combination with any item not supplied or recommended by the Supplier pursuant to this Agreement or for a purpose not reasonably to be inferred from the Services Description or the provisions of this Agreement;

information and communications technology;

the Authority System and the Supplier System;

has the meaning given in Paragraph 6.1 of Schedule 2.4 (Security Requirements);

(Security Requirements),

means the 'Invitation to Tender' used for the public procurement process that resulted in the award of this Agreement;

where two or more Controllers jointly determine the purposes and means of processing:

the Milestones identified in the Implementation Plan as key milestones and in respect of which Delay Payments may be payable in accordance with Schedule 7.1 (*Charges and Invoicing*) if the Supplier fails to Achieve the Milestone Date in respect of such Milestone;

the key performance indicators set out in Schedule 2.2 (*Performance Levels*);

those persons appointed by the Supplier to fulfil the Key Roles, being the persons listed in Schedule 9.2 (*Key Personnel*) against each Key Role as at the Effective Date or as amended from time to time in accordance with Clauses 14.5 and 14.6 (*Key Personnel*);

a role described as a Key Role in Schedule 9.2 (*Key Personnel*) and any additional roles added from time to time in accordance with Clause 14.4 (*Key Personnel*);

each Sub-contract with a Key Sub-contractor;

any Sub-contractor:

- (a) which, in the opinion of the Authority, performs (or would perform if appointed) or enables the Supplier to perform a critical role in the provision of all or any part of the Services; and/or
- (b) with a Sub-contract with a contract value which at the time of appointment exceeds (or would exceed if

"IPRs Claim"

"IT"

"IT Environment"

"IT Health Check"

"ITT"

"Joint Controllers"

"Key Milestone"

"Key Performance Indicator"

"Key Personnel"

"Key Roles"

"Key Sub-contract"

"Key Sub-contractor"

appointed) 10% of the aggregate Charges forecast to be payable under this Agreement (as set out in the Financial Model);

"Key Supplier"

any third party supplier to the Supplier:

- (a) which, in the opinion of the Authority, performs (or would perform if appointed) or enables the Supplier to perform a critical role in the provision of all or any part of the Services; and/or
- (b) with a supply contract with a contract value which at the time of appointment exceeds (or would exceed if appointed) 10% of the aggregate Charges forecast to be payable under this Agreement (as set out in the Financial Model);

all ideas, concepts, schemes, information, knowledge, techniques, methodology, and anything else in the nature of know how relating to the Services but excluding know how already in the other Party's possession before this Agreement;

a failure to meet the Target Performance Level in respect of a Key Performance Indicator;

shall be as set out against the relevant Key Performance Indicator in Schedule 2.2 (*Performance Levels*);

any law, statute, subordinate legislation within the meaning of section 21(1) of the Interpretation Act 1978, bye-law, enforceable right within the meaning of section 2 of the European Communities Act 1972, regulation, order, mandatory guidance or code of practice, judgment of a relevant court of law, or directives or requirements of any regulatory body with which the Supplier is bound to comply;

Law Enforcement Directive (Directive (EU) 2016/680);

means the level of identity assurance as outlined in the Migration and Borders Identity Assurance Framework;

all and any Software licensed by or through the Supplier, its Sub-contractors or any third party to the Authority for the purposes of or pursuant to this Agreement, including any Supplier Software, Third Party Software and/or any Specially Written Software;

means:

- a) for the purposes of the Baseline Financial Model the currency designated by the Supplier that a given Country incurs costs in and
- b) for the purposes of supplying the Services, the base currency in which the costs of a Supplier are incurred.

means:

- (a) a VCAS Center operated by the Supplier in its own premises; or
- (b) a VCAS Center operated by the Supplier in third party premises; or
- (c) a third party provided premises not operated by the Supplier;

"Know-How"

"KPI Failure"

"KPI Service Threshold"

"Law"

"LED"

"Level of Assurance"

"Licensed Software"

"Local Currency"

"Location"

"Losses"

"Lot"

"Machine Readable Zone" or

"Malicious Software"

"Management Information"

"Mandatory Premium Application Center" or "Mandatory PAC"

"Mandatory PAC Fixed Costs"

in each case at which Visa VCAS Appointments and/or Passport VCAS Appointments are conducted;

losses, liabilities, damages, costs and expenses (including legal fees on a solicitor/client basis) and disbursements and costs of investigation, litigation, settlement, judgment interest and penalties whether arising in contract, tort (including negligence), breach of statutory duty or otherwise;

means the Country or Countries (as the case may be) identified as such in the public procurement process that resulted in the award of this Agreement for which the Services are supplied under this Agreement (or where the context requires) another agreement entered into pursuant to that public procurement process;

the area in a passport that holds unique characters that are scannable by computer in order to identify both holder and document

shall have the meaning set out in Clause 9.4 (Maintenance);

any software program or code intended to destroy. interfere with, corrupt, or cause undesired effects on program files, data or other information, executable code or application software macros, whether or not its operation is immediate or delayed, and whether the malicious software is introduced wilfully, negligently or without knowledge of its existence;

the management information specified in Schedule 2.2 (Performance Levels), Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing) and Schedule 8.1 (Governance) to be provided by the Supplier to the Authority;

means a Location in a Zone required to provide a service meeting the requirements set out in Requirements C.2.12-C.2.14 of Schedule 2.1 (Services Description) identified as 'Premium Application Center' in the Service Model column of Annex A of Schedule 2.1 (Services Description);

means the direct, incremental fixed costs incurred in running a Mandatory PAC:

inclusive of:

- (a) rental, business, or other statutory property
- facility utility costs inclusive of both the fixed and (b) volume related component of any utility charges associated with the Mandatory PAC site
- (c) facility security and reception costs
- the hardware and other tangible assets that are (d) located at the Mandatory PAC
- (e) costs of staff, either wholly or partly attributable to administering Added Value Services at a Mandatory PAC;
- technology costs, either wholly or partly (f) attributable to administering Added Value Services at a Mandatory PAC;

"MRZ"

"Maintenance Schedule"

but exclusive of:

- (g) Mandatory PAC Variable Costs; and
- (h) Supplier mark-ups;

"Mandatory PAC Variable Costs"

costs that vary wholly with changes in Added Value Service volumes generated at a Mandatory PAC;

"Man Day"

means Man Hours worked per individual per day, whether or not such hours are worked consecutively and whether or not they are worked on the same day:

"Man Hours"

means the hours spent by the Supplier Personnel properly working on the Services including time spent travelling (other than to and from the Supplier's offices, or to and from the Sites) but excluding lunch breaks or absences:

"Material Change"

means a Change which:

- (a) materially changes the profile of the Charges; or
- (b) varies the total Charges payable during the Term (as forecast in the latest Financial Model) by £100k or more:
- "Material KPI Failure"
- (c) a failure by the Supplier to meet a KPI Service Threshold;

"Material PI Failure"

- (a) a failure by the Supplier to meet the PI Service Threshold in respect of 25% or more of the Subsidiary Performance Indicators that are measured in that Service Period: and/or
- (b) a failure by the Supplier to meet the Target Performance Level in respect of 50% or more of the Subsidiary Performance Indicators that are measured in that Service Period;

"Material Test Issue"

"Maximum Volume Point"

a Test Issue of Severity Level 1 or Severity Level 2; means the highest volume specified in Banding Level 5 of the Supplier's Baseline Financial Model;

"Maximum Volume Point Relief Payment"

"Measurement Period"

means a payment made by the Authority when Actual Volumes exceed the Maximum Volume Point;

in relation to a Key Performance Indicator or Subsidiary Performance Indicator, the period over which the Supplier's performance is measured (for example, a Service Period if measured monthly or a 12 month period if measured annually);

"Mediation Notice"

has the meaning given in Paragraph 4.2 of Schedule 8.3 (Dispute Resolution Procedure);

"Mediator"

the independent third party appointed in accordance with Paragraph 5.2 of Schedule 8.3 (Dispute Resolution Procedure) to mediate a Dispute;

"Medium Risk Sub-contractor"

means a Sub-contractor that Processes Authority Data, where that data

(a) includes the Personal Data of between 100 and 999 individuals (inclusive) in the period between the first Operational Service Commencement Date and the date on which this Agreement terminates in accordance with Clause 4.1(b); and

(b) does not include Special Category Personal Data;

"Milestone"

an event or task described in the Implementation Plan which, if applicable, shall be completed by the relevant Milestone Date;

"Milestone Achievement Certificate"

the certificate to be granted by the Authority when the Supplier has Achieved a Milestone, which shall be in substantially the same form as that set out in Annex 3 of Schedule 6.2 (*Testing Procedures*);

"Milestone Adjustment Payment Amount"

in respect of each CPP Milestone the subject of a Milestone Adjustment Payment Notice, an amount determined in accordance with the formula:

A - B

where:

- (a) A is an amount equal to the aggregate sum of all Milestone Payments paid to the Supplier in respect of the Milestones (or in the case of Partial Termination, the Milestones for the parts of the Services terminated) relating to that CPP Milestone; and
- (b) B is an amount equal to the aggregate Allowable Price for the Retained Deliverables relating to that CPP Milestone or, if there are no such Retained Deliverables, zero:

"Milestone Adjustment Payment Notice"

has the meaning given in Clause 35.7 (*Payments by the Supplier*);

"Milestone Costs Incurred"

means in relation to a Milestone, the sum of:

- (a) fixed day costs multiplied by the number of Man Days that have been expended by the Supplier Personnel in Achieving the relevant Milestone; and
- (b) any amount that would fall within sub-paragraphs
 (b) (d)) of the definition of Allowable Costs, to the extent that such amount has been incurred in Achieving the relevant Milestone;

"Milestone Date"

the target date set out against the relevant Milestone in the Implementation Plan by which the Milestone must be Achieved;

"Milestone Group"

means any group of Milestones agreed between the Authority and the Supplier;

"Milestone Payment"

a payment identified in Schedule 7.1 (*Charges and Invoicing*) to be made following the issue of a Milestone Achievement Certificate:

"Milestone Retention"

has the meaning given in Paragraph 1.3 of Part B of Schedule 7.1 (*Charges and Invoicing*);

"Milestone Retention Payment Date"

means the date a Milestone Retention is released by the Authority to the Supplier in accordance with Part B of Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing);

"Minimum Volume Point"

means the lowest volume specified in Banding Level 1 of the Supplier's Baseline Financial Model (and if not stated is zero (0)); "Minor KPI Failure"

shall be as set out against the relevant Key Performance Indicator in Schedule 2.2 (*Performance Levels*);

"Model Documentation"

means the User Guide and Data Book ("Model Documentation") supporting the Financial Models submitted by the Supplier at BAFO and maintained in accordance with the requirements of Schedule 7.5 Part D Paragraph 1.4 of Schedule 7.5 (Financial Reports and Audit Rights).

"Monitored Suppliers"

means those entities specified at Paragraph 6 of Schedule 7.4 (Financial Distress);

"Month"

a calendar month and "**monthly**" shall be interpreted accordingly:

"Monthly Outturn Financial Model"

the latest monthly outturn "Financial Model" to be provided by the Supplier to the Authority pursuant to Paragraph 1 of Part B of Schedule 7.5 (Financial Reports and Audit Rights):

"Multi-Party Dispute Representatives"

has the meaning given in Paragraph 9.6 of Schedule 8.3 (Dispute Resolution Procedure);

"Multi-Party Dispute Resolution Board"

has the meaning given in Paragraph 9.6 of Schedule 8.3 (Dispute Resolution Procedure);

"Multi-Party Dispute Resolution Procedure"

a Dispute which involves the Parties and one or more Related Third Parties;

"Multi-Party Procedure Initiation Notice"

has the meaning given in Paragraph 9.2 of Schedule 8.3 (*Dispute Resolution Procedure*);

"NCSC"

the National Cyber Security Center or any replacement or successor body carrying out the same function;

"Net Book Value"

the net book value of the relevant Asset(s) calculated in accordance with the depreciation policy of the Supplier set out in the letter in the agreed form from the Supplier to the Authority of the same date as this Agreement;

"New Fair Deal"

the revised Fair Deal position set out in the HM Treasury guidance: "Fair Deal for staff pensions: staff transfer from central government" issued in October 2013 including:

- (a) any amendments to that document immediately prior to the Relevant Transfer Date;
- (b) any similar pension protection in accordance with the Annexes Annex A1-Annex A3 inclusive to Part A of Schedule 9.1 (Staff Transfer) as notified to the Supplier by the Authority;

"New Releases"

an item produced primarily to extend, alter or improve the Software and/or any Deliverable by providing additional functionality or performance enhancement (whether or not defects in the Software and/or Deliverable are also corrected) while still retaining the original designated purpose of that item;

"Non-Available"

in relation to the IT Environment or the Services, that the IT Environment or the Services are not Available

"Non-Exclusive Assets"

those Assets (if any) which are used by the Supplier or a Key Sub-contractor in connection with the Services but

"Non-Mandatory Premium Application Center" or "Non-Mandatory PAC"

"Non-trivial Customer Base"

"Non-retained Deliverables"

"Notifiable Default"

"Notified Sub-Contractor"

"Object Code"

"Occasion of Tax Non-Compliance"

"On-demand Services"

"Onerous Contract"

"Onerous Contract Report"

which are also used by the Supplier or Key Subcontractor for other purposes of material value;

means a Location in a Zone providing a service meeting the requirements set out in Requirements C.2.12-C.2.14 of Schedule 2.1 (Services Description) that is not a Mandatory PAC;

a significant customer base with respect to the date of first release and the relevant market but excluding Affiliates and other entities related to the licensor;

in relation to a CPP Milestone Payment Notice and each CPP Milestone the subject of that CPP Milestone Payment Notice, Deliverables provided to the Authority which relate to the relevant CPP Milestone(s) and which are not Retained Deliverables;

shall have the meaning given in Clause 28.1 (Rectification Plan Process):

a Sub-contractor identified in the Annex to Schedule 9.1 (Staff Transfer) to whom Transferring Authority Employees and/or Transferring Former Supplier Employees will transfer on a Relevant Transfer Date;

software and/or data in machine-readable, compiled object code form;

- (a) any tax return of the Supplier submitted to a Relevant Tax Authority on or after 1 October 2012 is found on or after 1 April 2013 to be incorrect as a result of:
- (i) a Relevant Tax Authority successfully challenging the Supplier under the General Anti-Abuse Rule or the Halifax Abuse Principle or under any tax rules or legislation that have an effect equivalent or similar to the General Anti-Abuse Rule or the Halifax Abuse Principle;
- (ii) the failure of an avoidance scheme which the Supplier was involved in, and which was, or should have been, notified to a Relevant Tax Authority under the DOTAS or any equivalent or similar regime; and/or(b) any tax return of the Supplier submitted to a Relevant Tax Authority on or after 1 October 2012 gives rise on or after 1 April 2013 to a criminal conviction in any jurisdiction for tax related offences which is not spent at the Effective Date or to a civil penalty for fraud or evasion:

a mobile biometric enrolment service outside of the core VCAS Center network for which a Fee applies;

means a contract:

- (a) in which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under it, as defined under International Accounting Standard 37; and
- (b) for which the Supplier has provided the Authority with relevant supporting information supporting that designation;

means a report provided by the Supplier pursuant to Paragraph 3 of Part A to Schedule 7.5 (Financial Reports and Audit Rights);

"Open Book Data"

- complete and accurate financial and non-financial information which is sufficient to enable the Authority to verify the Charges already paid or payable and Charges forecast to be paid during the remainder of the Term, including details and all assumptions relating to:
- (a) the Supplier's Costs broken down against each Service and/or Deliverable, including actual capital expenditure (including capital replacement costs and any reductions in operating costs or other outcomes resulting from such capital expenditure) and the unit cost and total actual costs of all hardware and software;
- (b) operating expenditure relating to the provision of the Services including an analysis showing:
- (i) the unit costs and quantity of consumables and bought-in services;
- (ii) manpower resources broken down into the number and grade/role of all Supplier Personnel (free of any contingency) together with a list of agreed rates against each manpower grade;
- (iii) a list of Costs underpinning those rates for each manpower grade, being the agreed rate less the Supplier's Profit Margin;
- (iv) Reimbursable Expenses; and
- (v) any other costs; including Pass Through costs set out In Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing), Part A Paragraph 6;
- (c) Overheads;
- (d) the Supplier Profit achieved over the Term on an accruals basis;
- (e) confirmation that all methods of Cost apportionment and Overhead allocation are consistent with and not more onerous than such methods applied generally by the Supplier;
- (f) an explanation of the type and value of risk and contingencies associated with the provision of the Services, including the amount of money attributed to each risk and/or contingency;
- (g) the actual Costs profile for each Service Period;
- (h) the balance sheet for the Agreement and associated supporting schedules including fixed asset registers and supporting source documentation information for prepayments, accruals and other items.
- (i) details of Actual Volumes, split by Country, by Zone, by Location, and by Service;
- (j) details of Added Value Service revenues, whether or not mandated by the Authority.

has the meaning given in Schedule 7.5 (*Financial Reports and Audit Rights*);

computer Software that is released on the internet for use by any person, such release usually being made

"Open Source"

under a recognised open source licence and stating that it is released as open source;

the Authority System and the Sites;

any change in the Supplier's operational procedures which in all respects, when implemented:

- (a) will not affect the Charges and will not result in any other costs to the Authority;
- (b) may change the way in which the Services are delivered but will not adversely affect the output of the Services or increase the risks in performing or receiving the Services:
- (c) will not adversely affect the interfaces or interoperability of the Services with any of the Authority's IT infrastructure; and
- (d) will not require a change to this Agreement;

"Operational Service Commencement Date"

"Operating Environment"

"Operational Change"

in relation to an Operational Service, the later of:

- (a) the date identified in the Operational Services Implementation Plan upon which the Operational Service is to commence; and
- (b) where the Implementation Plan states that the Supplier must have Achieved the relevant ATP Milestone before it can commence the provision of that Operational Service, the date upon which the Supplier Achieves the relevant ATP Milestone, Milestone 7;

the operational services described as such in the Services Description;

the services described as such in Schedule 2.1 (Services Description) (if any) which are to be provided by the Supplier if required by the Authority in accordance with Clause 5.10 (Optional Services);

the implementation plan to effect the Optional Services agreed between the Parties prior to the Effective Date and, if not agreed prior to the Effective Date, to be developed by the Supplier and approved by the Authority;

any termination of the whole or any part of this Agreement which occurs:

- (a) pursuant to Clause 33 (Termination Rights) where the period of notice given by the Party serving notice to terminate pursuant to such Clause is greater than or equal to 6 months; or
- (b) as a result of the expiry of the Initial Term or any Extension Period;

any supplier to the Authority (other than the Supplier) which is notified to the Supplier from time to time and/or of which the Supplier should have been aware;

the outline plan set out at Annex 1 of Schedule 6.1 (Implementation Plan);

"Operational Services"

"Optional Services"

"Optional Services Implementation Plan"

"Ordinary Exit"

"Other Supplier"

"Outline Implementation Plan"

"Outturn Financial Pricing Model"

means a revised Financial Pricing Model submitted by a Supplier subsequent to the commencement of the Agreement;

"Outturn Resource Model"

means a revised Resource Model submitted by a Supplier subsequent to the commencement of the Agreement;

"Overhead(s)"

means those reasonable and appropriate costs indirectly incurred by the Supplier as a result of the performance of the Services, and that are wholly or partly attributable to the Services, specifically excluding:

- (a) Direct Labour Costs;
- (b) Direct Variable Costs;
- (c) Direct Other Costs; and
- (d) Non- Allowable Costs including:

any non-contract costs driven by Supplier decisions rather than Services requirements, such as

- financing, marketing and advertising costs;
- ii. research and development and general insurance costs;
- fines, penalties, taxation, other statutory compliance related charges and charges not related to the Services;

"Overhead Margin"

means Supplier Overhead Mark-up as a % / (100 + Supplier Overhead Mark-Up as a %) as calculated in accordance with Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing);

"Parent Undertaking"

has the meaning set out in section 1162 of the Companies Act 2006:

"Partial Termination"

the partial termination of this Agreement to the extent that it relates to the provision of any part of the Services as further provided for in Clause 34.2(b) (*Termination by the Authority*) or 34.3(b) (*Termination by the Supplier*) or otherwise by mutual agreement by the Parties;

"Partial Termination Event"

an event resulting in Partial Termination;

"Parties" and "Party"

have the meanings respectively given on page 1 of this Agreement;

"Passport Application"

means an application for a passport of:

- a) the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland
- b) British Overseas Passport

irrespective of whether that application requires or results in a Passport VCAS Appointment;

"Passport VCAS Appointment"

means an appointment at a Location in connection with a Passport Application, provided that where any additional Passport VASC Appointment is required under a single Passport Application as a result of Supplier breach of this Agreement it shall be treated as the same Passport VCAS Appointment as the original one for the purposes of calculating Appointment Volumes:

"Pass-Through Costs"

means those costs and expenses in respect of goods and/or services purchased by the Supplier in the provision of the Services and invoiced to the Authority for reimbursement at the purchase price, without any additional Supplier Profit Margin (as a percentage) or Charges applied;

"Performance Failure"

a KPI Failure or a PI Failure;

"Performance Indicators"

the Key Performance Indicators and the Subsidiary Performance Indicators:

"Permitted Maintenance"

has the meaning given in Clause 9.4 (Maintenance);

has the meaning given in Schedule 2.2 (Performance

Levels);

"Performance Monitoring Report"

"Performance Review Meeting"

the regular meetings between the Supplier and the Authority to manage and review the Supplier's performance under this Agreement, as further described in Paragraph 1.5 of Part B in Schedule 2.2 (Performance

Levels)

"Personal Data"

has the meaning given in the UK GDPR or the EU GDPR as the context requires;

"Personal Data Breach"

has the meaning given in the UK GDPR or the EU GDPR as the context requires;

"Personal Data Processing Statement"

means a document setting out:

- (a) the types of Personal Data which the Supplier and/or its Sub-contractors Processes or will Process under this Agreement;
- (b) the categories of Data Subjects whose Personal Data the Supplier and/or its Subcontractors Processes or will Process under this Agreement;
- (c) the nature and purpose of such Processing;
- (d) the locations at which the Supplier and/or its Sub-contractors Process Personal Data under this Agreement; and
- (e) the Protective Measures that the Supplier and, where applicable, its Sub-contractors have implemented to protect Personal Data Processed under this Agreement against a Breach of Security (insofar as that Breach of Security relates to data) or a Personal Data Breach;

"Physical Security"

protection of the physical elements of the Services including Sites, Authority personnel and Supplier Personnel, Assets and Authority Assets (including passports, Customers' documentation, vignettes, vignette management printing and distribution) and Customers who use the Services;

"PI Failure"

a failure to meet the Target Performance Level in respect of a Subsidiary Performance Indicator;

"PI Service Threshold" shall be as set out against the relevant Subsidiary

Performance Indicator in Table 2 in Part A of Annex 1 of

Schedule 2.2 (Performance Levels):

"Plan For Growth" means the Plan for Growth policy paper published by

> HM Treasury on 20 March 2013 that can be accessed at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/plan-for-

growth--5;

"Policy Outcome" means the policy areas identified in the Social Value

Model Policy Outcomes available at

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uplo ads/system/uploads/attachment data/file/940826/Social-

Value-Model-Edn-1.1-3-Dec-20.pdf

"Preceding Services" has the meaning given in Clause 5.2(b) (Standard of

Services);

"Price Band" means a band used for the calculation of Supplier

> charges attributable to a Banded Volume Range set out in Annex 1 Table 2 and Annex 1 Table 3 of Schedule 7.1

(Charges and Invoicing);

"Primary Credit Ratings" means Dun & Bradstreet credit ratings;

"Primary Credit Ratings Agency"

means Dun & Bradstreet;

"Priority Visa (PV)" means a Customer's application for a Priority Visa

Service typically within five (5) Working Days by the

Authority:

"Process" means any operation which is performed on data,

whether or not by automated means, including collection, recording, organisation, structuring, storage, adaptation or alteration, retrieval, consultation, use, disclosure by transmission, dissemination or otherwise making available, alignment or combination, restriction,

erasure or destruction:

"Processor" has the meaning given to it under the UK GDPR or the

EU GDPR as the context requires;

"Processor Personnel" means all directors, officers, employees, agents.

> consultants and suppliers of the Processor and/or of any Sub-Processor engaged in the performance of its

obligations under this Agreement;

"Profit Already Paid" the Supplier Profit paid or payable to the Supplier under

this Agreement for the period from the Effective Date up

to (and including) the Termination Date;

"Profit Margin attributable to Added Value Services"

means Added Value Service Revenues less Added

Value Services Costs:

"Profit Margin" means Supplier Profit Mark-up as a %/ (100 + Supplier

Profit Mark-Up as a %) calculated in accordance with the

terms of Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing);

"Profit Share Amount" means total amount of Profit Share to be apportioned

between the Parties in accordance with Part D of

Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing);

"Profit Share Calculation" has the meaning set out in Part D of Schedule 7.1

(Charges and Invoicing);

has the meaning set out in Part D of Schedule 7.1 "Profit Share Period"

(Charges and Invoicing);

"Profit Share Assessment Point"

"Programme Board"

"Prohibited Act"

has the meaning set out in Part D of Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing);

the body described in Paragraph 5 of Schedule 8.1 (Governance):

- (a) to directly or indirectly offer, promise or give any person working for or engaged by the Authority a financial or other advantage to:
- (i) induce that person to perform improperly a relevant function or activity; or
- (ii) reward that person for improper performance of a relevant function or activity;
- (b) to directly or indirectly request, agree to receive or accept any financial or other advantage as an inducement or a reward for improper performance of a relevant function or activity in connection with this Agreement;
- (c) an offence:
- (i) under the Bribery Act 2010 (or any legislation repealed or revoked by such Act);
- (ii) under legislation or common law concerning fraudulent acts; or
- (iii) defrauding, attempting to defraud or conspiring to defraud the Authority (including offences by the Supplier under Part 3 of the Criminal Finances Act 2017); or(d)any activity, practice or conduct which would constitute one of the offences listed under 0 above if such activity, practice or conduct had been carried out in the UK;

the individuals appointed as such by the Authority and the Supplier in accordance with Paragraph 1 of Schedule 8.1 (Governance);

appropriate technical and organisational measures which may include: pseudonymising and encrypting Personal Data, ensuring confidentiality, integrity, availability and resilience of systems and services, ensuring that availability of and access to Personal Data can be restored in a timely manner after an incident, and regularly assessing and evaluating the effectiveness of the such measures adopted by it;

- (a) Intellectual Property Rights in items created by the Supplier (or by a third party on behalf of the Supplier) specifically for the purposes of this Agreement and updates and amendments of these items including (but not limited to) database schema; and/or
- (b) Intellectual Property Rights arising as a result of the performance of the Supplier's obligations under this Agreement;

but not including the Supplier Background IPRs or the Specially Written Software;

means a supplier where that supplier, or that supplier's group has Annual Revenue of £50 million or more of

"Project Managers"

"Protective Measures"

"Project Specific IPRs"

"Public Sector Dependent Supplier"

which over 50% is generated from UK Public Sector Business:

"Public Sector and CNI Contract Information"

means the information requirements set out in accordance with Paragraphs 11 to 13 and Annex 2 of Part B of Schedule 8.6 (Service Continuity Plan and Corporate Resolution Planning);

"Publishable Performance Information"

means any of the information in the Performance Monitoring Report as it relates to a Performance Indicator where it is expressed as publishable in the table in Annex 1 which shall not constitute Commercially Sensitive Information;

"Quality Plans"

has the meaning given in Clause 6.1 (Quality Plans);

"Quarter"

the first three Service Periods and each subsequent three Service Periods (save that the final Quarter shall end on the date of termination or expiry of this Agreement):

"Rating Agencies"

means the rating agencies listed in Annex 1 of Schedule 7.4 (Financial Distress) or such other rating agencies as the Authority may decide to use:

"Receiving Party"

the Party which receives a proposed Contract Change;

"Recipient"

has the meaning given in Clause 22.1 (Confidentiality);

"Records"

has the meaning given in Schedule 8.4 (*Reports and Records Provisions*):

"Rectification Plan"

a plan to address the impact of, and prevent the reoccurrence of, a Notifiable Default;

"Rectification Plan Failure"

- (a) the Supplier failing to submit or resubmit a draft Rectification Plan to the Authority within the timescales specified in Clauses 28.4 (Submission of the draft Rectification Plan) or 28.8 (Agreement of the Rectification Plan);
- (b) the Authority, acting reasonably, rejecting a revised draft of the Rectification Plan submitted by the Supplier pursuant to Clause 28.7 (*Agreement of the Rectification Plan*);
- (c) the Supplier failing to rectify a material Default within the later of:
- (i) 30 Working Days of a notification made pursuant to Clause 28.2 (*Notification*); and
- (ii) where the Parties have agreed a Rectification Plan in respect of that material Default and the Supplier can demonstrate that it is implementing the Rectification Plan in good faith, the date specified in the Rectification Plan by which the Supplier must rectify the material Default;
- (d) a Material KPI Failure re-occurring in respect of the same Key Performance Indicator for the same (or substantially the same) root cause in any of the 3 Measurement Periods subsequent to the Measurement Period in which the initial Material KPI Failure occurred;
- (e) the Supplier not Achieving a Key Milestone by the expiry of the Delay Deduction Period; and/or

(f) following the successful implementation of a Rectification Plan, the same Notifiable Default recurring within a period of 6 months for the same (or substantially the same) root cause as that of the original Notifiable Default;

"Rectification Plan Process"

the process set out in Clauses 28.4 (Submission of the draft Rectification Plan) to 28.9 (Agreement of the Rectification Plan);

"Redundancy Costs" (7.2)

the total sum of any of the following sums paid to Applicable Supplier Personnel, each amount apportioned between the Supplier and the Authority based on the time spent by such employee on the Services as a proportion of the total Service duration:

- a) any statutory redundancy payment; and
- b) in respect of an employee who was a
 Transferring Former Supplier Employee or a
 Transferring Authority Employee, any contractual
 redundancy payment (or where such a contractual
 benefit on redundancy is a benefit payable from a
 pension scheme, the increase in cost to the Supplier as
 a net present value compared to the benefit payable on
 termination of employment without redundancy),
 provided that such employee was entitled to such
 contractual redundancy payment immediately prior to his
 or her transfer to the Supplier under the Acquired Rights
 Directive;

the register and configuration database referred to in Paragraphs 2.1(a) and 2.1(b); of Schedule 8.5 (*Exit Management*);

means the fees for Visa Applications and Passport Applications regulated by the UK Government under UK legislation;

means reasonable out of pocket travel and subsistence (for example, hotel and food) expenses, properly and necessarily incurred in the performance of the Services, calculated at the rates and in accordance with the Authority's expenses policy current from time to time, but not including:

- (a) travel expenses incurred as a result of Supplier Personnel travelling to and from their usual place of work, or to and from the premises at which the Services are principally to be performed, unless the Authority otherwise agrees in advance in writing; and
- (b) subsistence expenses incurred by Supplier Personnel whilst performing the Services at their usual place of work, or to and from the premises at which the Services are principally to be performed;

but exclusive of Added Value Services Costs.

any person who provides services to the Authority in relation to this Agreement from time to time;

a party to:

- (a) another contract with the Authority or the Supplier which is relevant to this Agreement; or
- (b) a Sub-contract;

"Registers"

"Regulated Fees"

"Reimbursable Expenses"

"Related Service Provider"

"Related Third Party"

"Relevant Authority" or "Relevant Authorities"

means the Authority and the Cabinet Office Markets and Suppliers Team or, where the Supplier is a Strategic Supplier, the Cabinet Office Markets and Suppliers Team:

"Relevant IPRs"

IPRs used to provide the Services or as otherwise provided and/or licensed by the Supplier (or to which the Supplier has provided access) to the Authority or a third party in the fulfilment of the Supplier's obligations under this Agreement including IPRs in the Specially Written Software, the Supplier Non-COTS Software, the Supplier Non-COTS Background IPRs, the Third Party Non-COTS Software and the Third Party Non-COTS IPRs but excluding any IPRs in the Authority Software, the Authority Background IPRs, the Supplier COTS Software, the Supplier COTS Background IPRS, the Third Party COTS Software and/or the Third Party COTS IPRs;

"Relevant Preceding Services"

has the meaning given in Clause 5.2(b) (Standard of Services):

"Relevant Requirements"

all applicable Law relating to bribery, corruption and fraud, including the Bribery Act 2010 and any guidance issued by the Secretary of State for Justice pursuant to section 9 of the Bribery Act 2010;

"Relevant Tax Authority"

HMRC, or, if applicable, a tax authority in the jurisdiction in which the Supplier is established;

"Relevant Transfer"

a transfer of employment to which the Acquired Rights Directive (or any equivalent or analogous Law) applies;

"Relevant Transfer Date"

in relation to a Relevant Transfer, the date upon which the Relevant Transfer takes place. For the purposes of Part A and its Annexes of Schedule 9.1 (Staff Transfer), where the Supplier or a Sub-contractor was the Former Supplier and there is no Relevant Transfer of the Fair Deal Employees because they remain continuously employed by the Supplier (or Sub-contractor), references to the Relevant Transfer Date shall become references to the Operational Service Commencement

references to the Operational Service Commencement Date:

"Relief Notice"

has the meaning given in Clause 32.2 (Authority Cause);

"Remedial Adviser"

the person appointed pursuant to Clause 30.2 (Remedial

Adviser);

"Remedial Adviser Failure"

has the meaning given in Clause 30.6 (*Remedial Adviser*);

"Repeat KPI Failure"

has the meaning given in Paragraph 3.1 of Part A in Schedule 2.2 (Performance Levels)

"Replacement Services"

any services which are the same as or substantially similar to any of the Services and which the Authority receives in substitution for any of the Services following the expiry or termination or Partial Termination of this Agreement, whether those services are provided by the

Authority internally and/or by any third party;

"Replacement Sub-Contractor"

a sub-contractor of the Replacement Supplier to whom Transferring Supplier Employees will transfer on a Service Transfer Date (or any sub-contractor of any such sub-contractor); "Replacement Supplier"

"Reporting Period"

"Request for Estimate"

"Request For Information"

"Required Action"

"Required Changes Register"

"Resource Model" or "RM"

"Retained Deliverables"

"Review Report"

"Risk Management Board"

"Risk Register"

any third party service provider of Replacement Services appointed by the Authority from time to time (or where the Authority is providing replacement Services for its own account, the Authority);

means each calendar month from the Effective Date;

a written request sent by the Authority to the Supplier, requiring that the Supplier provide it with an accurate estimate of the Partial Termination Payment or Termination Payment and Compensation Payment that would be payable if the Authority exercised its right under Clause 34.1(a) (*Termination by the Authority*) to partially terminate or terminate this Agreement for convenience or otherwise on a specified Termination Date:

a Request for Information under the FOIA or the EIRs;

has the meaning given in Clause 31.1(a) (Step-In Rights);

mean the register within the Security Management Plan which is to be maintained and updated by the Supplier and which shall record each of the changes that the Supplier shall make to the Information Management System and/or the Security Management Plan as a consequence of the occurrence of any of the events set out in Paragraph 4.2 of Schedule 2.4 (Security Requirements) together with the date by which such change shall be implemented and the date on which such change was implemented;

means the Supplier assured model provided by the Supplier setting out the level of activity and consumptions of resources.

Versions of the Resource Model will include the:

- a) Bid (BAFO) Resource Model;
- b) Baseline Resource Model, which subsequent to any changes arising during due diligence on or before the Effective Date, shall be agreed between the Parties and form part of the Baseline Financial Model:
- c) agreed Updated Baseline Resource Model;
- d) Monthly Outturn Resource Model;
- e) Annual Outturn Resource Model; and
- f) Final Outturn Resource Model.

has the meaning given in Clause 35.8(b) (*Payments by the Supplier*);

has the meaning given in Paragraphs 7.2(a) to 7.2(c) of Schedule 8.6 (Service Continuity Plan and Corporate Resolution Planning);

the body described in Paragraph 7 of Schedule 8.1 (Governance);

the register of risks and contingencies that have been factored into any Costs due under this Agreement, a

copy of which is set out in Annex 4 of Schedule 7.1 (*Charges and Invoicing*);

"Satisfaction Survey"

has the meaning given in Paragraph 1.8 of Part B in Schedule 2.2 (Performance Levels)

"Security Incident Panel"

means a panel which will consist of the Authority's Security Leads and the Supplier Security Lead which will convene on an ad hoc basis or as otherwise agreed by the Parties to discuss Security Incidents and/or security concerns, to identify lessons learnt and to agree resolutions including changes to processes in accordance with Schedule 8.1 (Governance)

"Security Management Plan"

the Supplier's security plan as attached as Annex 2 of Schedule 2.4 (Security Management) and as subsequently developed and revised pursuant to Paragraphs 3 and 4 of Schedule 2.4 (Security Management);

"Service Charges"

the periodic payments made in accordance with Schedule 7.1 (*Charges and Invoicing*) in respect of the supply of the Operational Services;

"Service Continuity Plan"

means any plan prepared pursuant to Paragraph 2 of Schedule 8.6 (Service Continuity Plan and Corporate Resolution Planning) as may be amended from time to time:

"Service Continuity Services"

the business continuity, disaster recovery and insolvency continuity services set out in Schedule 8.6 (Service Continuity Plan and Corporate Resolution Planning);

"Service Credit Cap"

the amount determined according to Part C Paragraph 3 of Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing);

"Service Credits"

credits payable by the Supplier due to the occurrence of 1 or more KPI Failures, calculated in accordance with Paragraph 3 of Part C of Schedule 7.1 (*Charges and Invoicing*);

"Service Downtime"

any period of time during which any of the Services are not Available;

"Service Period"

a calendar month, save that:

- (a) the first service period shall begin on the first Operational Service Commencement Date and shall expire at the end of the calendar month in which the first Operational Service Commencement Date falls; and
- (b) the final service period shall commence on the first day of the calendar month in which the Term expires or terminates and shall end on the expiry or termination of the Term:

"Service Points"

in relation to a KPI Failure, the points that are set out against the relevant Key Performance Indicator in the fifth column of the table in Annex 1 of Schedule 2.2 (Performance Levels):

"Service Management Board"

the body described in Paragraph 3 of Schedule 8.1 (Governance);

"Service Margin"

means Profit Margin plus Overhead Margin calculate in accordance with Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing);

"Service Requirements" means the Authority's requirement for services to be

provided by the Former Supplier with the exception of

Supplier's Solution and Security

"Service Transfer" any transfer of the Services (or any part of the Services),

for whatever reason, from the Supplier or any Subcontractor to a Replacement Supplier or a Replacement

Sub-contractor;

"Service Transfer Date" the date of a Service Transfer or, if more than one, the

date of the relevant Service Transfer as the context

requires;

"Services" any and all of the services to be provided by the Supplier

under this Agreement, including those set out in

Schedule 2.1 (Services Description);

"Services Description" the services description set out in Schedule 2.1

(Services Description);

"Severity Level" the level of severity of a Test Issue, the criteria for which

are described in Schedule 6.2 (Testing Procedures);

"Shortfall Period" has the meaning given in Paragraph 6.2 of Schedule 7.2

(Payments on Termination);

"Sites" any premises (including the Authority Premises, the

Supplier's premises or third party premises):

(a) from, to or at which:

(i) the Services are (or are to be) provided; or

(ii) the Supplier manages, organises or otherwise directs

the provision or the use of the Services; or

(b) where:

(i) any part of the Supplier System is situated; or

(ii) any physical interface with the Authority System

takes place;

"SME" an enterprise falling within the category of micro, small

and medium-sized enterprises defined by the Commission Recommendation of 6 May 2003

concerning the definition of micro, small and medium-

sized enterprises;

"Social Value" the social, economic or environmental benefits set out in

the Authority's Requirements;

"Social Value Model" means the policies set out in the Social Value Model

available at

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0620-taking-account-of-social-value-in-the-

award-of-central-government-contracts

"Software" Specially Written Software, Supplier Software and Third

Party Software;

"Software Supporting Materials" has the meaning given in Clause 17.1(b) (Specially

Written Software and Project Specific IPRs);

"Source Code" computer programs and/or data in eye-readable form

and in such form that it can be compiled or interpreted into equivalent binary code together with all related design comments, flow charts, technical information and documentation necessary for the use, reproduction,

maintenance, modification and enhancement of such software:

"Special Category Personal Data"

means the categories of Personal Data set out in article 9(1) of the GDPR;

"Specially Written Software"

any software (including database software, linking instructions, test scripts, compilation instructions and test instructions) created by the Supplier (or by a Subcontractor or other third party on behalf of the Supplier) specifically for the purposes of this Agreement, including any modifications or enhancements to Supplier Software or Third Party Software created specifically for the purposes of this Agreement;

"Specific Change in Law"

a Change in Law that relates specifically to the business

of the Authority and which would not affect a

Comparable Supply;

"Staffing Information"

has the meaning given in Schedule 9.1 (Staff Transfer);

"Standards"

the standards, polices and/or procedures identified in

Schedule 2.3 (Standards);

"Standards Hub"

the Government's open and transparent standards adoption process as documented at

http://standards.data.gov.uk/;

"Standard Operating Procedure (SOP)"

means the Authority's detailed written instructions to achieve uniformity of the performance of a specific function;

lun

"Staffing Information"

in relation to all persons identified on the Supplier's Provisional Supplier Personnel List or Supplier's Final Supplier Personnel List, as the case may be, all information required in Annex B2 (Table of Staffing Information) of Schedule 9.1 (Staff Transfer) in the format specified and with the identities of personnel anonymised where possible. The Authority may acting reasonably make changes to the format or information requested in Annex B2 of Schedule 9.1 (Staff Transfer) from time to time.

"Statutory Schemes"

means the CSPS, NHSPS or LGPS as defined in the Annexes to Part A of Schedule 9.1 (Staff Transfer);

"Step-In Notice"

has the meaning given in Clause 31.1 (Step-In Rights);

"Step-In Trigger Event"

(a) any event falling within the definition of a Supplier Termination Event;

- (b) a Default by the Supplier that is materially preventing or materially delaying the performance of the Services or any material part of the Services;
- (c) the Authority considers that the circumstances constitute an emergency despite the Supplier not being in breach of its obligations under this Agreement;
- (d) the Authority being advised by a regulatory body that the exercise by the Authority of its rights under Clause 31 (*Step-In Rights*) is necessary;
- (e) the existence of a serious risk to the health or safety of persons, property or the environment in connection with the Services; and/or

(f) a need by the Authority to take action to discharge a statutory duty;

"Step-Out Date" has the meaning given in Clause 31.5(b) (Step-In

Rights);

"Step-Out Notice" has the meaning given in Clause 31.5 (Step-In Rights); "Step-Out Plan" has the meaning given in Clause 31.6 (Step-In Rights);

> means those suppliers to government listed at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/strategic-

suppliers;

"Sub-contract" any contract or agreement (or proposed contract or

> agreement) between the Supplier (or a Sub-contractor) and any third party whereby that third party agrees to provide to the Supplier (or the Sub-contractor) all or any part of the Services or facilities or services which are material for the provision of the Services or any part thereof or necessary for the management, direction or

control of the Services or any part thereof;

"Sub-contractor" any third party with whom:

(a) the Supplier enters into a Sub-contract; or

(b) a third party under (a) above enters into a Subcontract,

or the servants or agents of that third party;

has the meaning given to that expression in recital B of

Annex 2 of Schedule 5 (Software);

any third party appointed to process Personal Data on

behalf of the Supplier related to this Agreement;

the performance indicators set out in Table 2 of Part A of Indicator" Schedule 2.2 (Performance Levels);

has the meaning set out in section 1162 of the

Companies Act 2006;

has the meaning given in Clause 37.4 (Assignment and Novation);

a submission to suggest the adoption of new or emergent standards in the format specified on

Standards Hub;

an application that is processed ahead of a Priority or Standard Application, within two (2) Working Days by

the Authority;

"Supplier Background IPRs" (a) Intellectual Property Rights owned by the Supplier before the Effective Date, for example those subsisting

> in the Supplier's standard development tools, program components or standard code used in computer programming or in physical or electronic media containing the Supplier's Know-How or generic business

methodologies; and/or

(b) Intellectual Property Rights created by the Supplier independently of this Agreement,

which in each case is or will be used before or during the Term for designing, testing implementing or providing

"Strategic Supplier"

"Sub-licence"

"Sub-processor"

"Subsidiary Performance

"Subsidiary Undertaking"

"Successor Body"

"Suggested Challenge"

"Super Priority Visa (SPV)"

the Services but excluding Intellectual Property Rights owned by the Supplier subsisting in the Supplier Software:

"Supplier Change Manager"

the person appointed to that position by the Supplier from time to time and notified in writing to the Authority or, if no person is notified, the Supplier Representative;

"Supplier COTS Background IPRs"

any embodiments of Supplier Background IPRs that:

(a) the Supplier makes generally available commercially prior to the date of this Agreement (whether by way of sale, lease or licence) on standard terms which are not typically negotiated by the Supplier save as to price; and

(b) has a Non-trivial Customer Base;

"Supplier COTS Software"

Supplier Software (including open source software) that:

(a) the Supplier makes generally available commercially prior to the date of this Agreement (whether by way of sale, lease or licence) on standard terms which are not typically negotiated by the Supplier save as to price; and

(b) has a Non-trivial Customer Base;

"Supplier Equipment"

the hardware, computer and telecoms devices and equipment used by the Supplier or its Sub-contractors (but not hired, leased or loaned from the Authority) for the provision of the Services;

"Supplier Group"

means the Supplier, its Dependent Parent Undertakings and all Subsidiary Undertakings and Associates of such Dependent Parent Undertakings;

"Supplier Non-COTS Background IPRs"

any embodiments of Supplier Background IPRs that have been delivered by the Supplier to the Authority and that are not Supplier COTS Background IPRs;

"Supplier Non-COTS Software" "Supplier Non-Performance"

Supplier Software that is not Supplier COTS Software;

has the meaning given in Clause 32.1 (Authority Cause):

"Supplier Personnel"

all directors, officers, employees, agents, consultants and contractors of the Supplier and/or of any Subcontractor engaged in the performance of the Supplier's obligations under this Agreement;

"Supplier Profit"

means in relation to a period or a Milestone (as the context requires), the difference between the total Charges (in nominal cash flow terms but excluding any Deductions) and total Costs (in nominal cash flow terms) for the relevant period or in relation to the relevant Milestone;

"Supplier Profit Margin"

means in relation to a period or a Milestone (as the context requires), the Supplier Profit for the relevant period or in relation to the relevant Milestone divided by the total Charges over the same period or in relation to the relevant Milestone and expressed as a percentage:

"Supplier Profit Mark-Up"

means the difference between the Charge applicable to a Service or Milestone and its cost, expressed as a percentage above the cost, incorporating the expected financial benefit the Supplier expects to accrue and an amount to cover the expected Indirect Overhead costs

that the Supplier will incur, and identified as a value in the Baseline Financial Pricing Model;

"Supplier Representative"

the representative appointed by the Supplier pursuant to Clause 11.3 (*Representatives*);

"Supplier Request"

a notice served by the Supplier requesting that the Dispute be treated as a Multi-Party Dispute, setting out its grounds for that request and specifying each Related Third Party that it believes should be involved in the Multi-Dispute Resolution Procedure in respect of that Dispute

"Supplier's Board"

means the Supplier's board of directors;

"Supplier's Final Supplier Personnel List"

a list provided by the Supplier of all Supplier Personnel who will transfer under the Acquired Rights Directive (or any equivalent or analogous Law) on the Service Transfer Date;

"Supplier Software"

software which is proprietary to the Supplier (or an Affiliate of the Supplier) and which is or will be used by the Supplier for the purposes of providing the Services, including the software specified as such in Schedule 5 (Software);

"Supplier's Provisional Supplier Personnel List"

a list prepared and updated by the Supplier of all Supplier Personnel who are at the date of the list wholly or mainly engaged in or assigned to the provision of the Services or any relevant part of the Services which it is envisaged as at the date of such list will no longer be provided by the Supplier and who it is expected will be Transferring Supplier Employees

"Supplier Solution"

the Supplier's solution for the Services set out in Schedule 4 (*Supplier Solution*) including any Annexes of that Schedule:

"Supplier System"

the information and communications technology system used by the Supplier in implementing and performing the Services including the Software, the Supplier Equipment, configuration and management utilities, calibration and testing tools and related cabling (but excluding the Authority System);

"Supplier Termination Event"

- (a) the Supplier's level of performance constituting a Critical Performance Failure;
- (b) the Supplier committing a material Default which is irremediable;
- (c) as a result of the Supplier's Default, the Authority incurring Losses in any Contract Year which exceed 80% of the value of the aggregate annual liability cap for that Contract Year as set out in Clause 26.4(a) (Financial and other Limits);
- (d) a Remedial Adviser Failure;
- (e) a Rectification Plan Failure;
- (f) where a right of termination is expressly reserved in this Agreement, including pursuant to:
 - (i) Clause 19 (IPRs Indemnity);

- (ii) Clause 40.6(b) (*Prevention of Fraud and Bribery*); and/or
 - a. Paragraph 7 of Schedule 7.4 (Financial Distress);
 - b. Paragraph 12 of Part B to Schedule
 8.6 (Service Continuity Plan and Corporate Resolution Planning);
- (g) the representation and warranty given by the Supplier pursuant to Clause 3.2(i) (*Warranties*) being materially untrue or misleading;
- (h) the Supplier committing a material Default under Clause 10.10 (*Promoting Tax Compliance*) or failing to provide details of steps being taken and mitigating factors pursuant to Clause 10.10 (*Promoting Tax Compliance*) which in the reasonable opinion of the Authority are acceptable;
- (i) the Supplier committing a material Default under any of the following Clauses:
 - (i) Clause 5.5(j) (Services);
 - (ii) Clause 24 (Protection of Personal Data);
 - (iii) Clause 23 (*Transparency and Freedom of Information*);
 - (iv) Clause 22 (Confidentiality);
- (v) Clause 36 (Compliance);
 - (vi) in respect of any security requirements set out in Schedule 2.1 (*Services Description*), Schedule 2.4 (*Security Management*) or the Baseline Security Requirements; and/or
 - (vii) in respect of any requirements set out in Schedule 9.1 (*Staff Transfer*);
- (j) any failure by the Supplier to implement the changes set out in a Benchmark Report as referred to in Paragraph 5.9 of Schedule 7.3 (*Benchmarking*);
- (k) an Insolvency Event occurring in respect of the Supplier or the Guarantor;
- (I) the Guarantee ceasing to be valid or enforceable for any reason (without the Guarantee being replaced with a comparable guarantee to the satisfaction of the Authority with the Guarantor or with another guarantor which is acceptable to the Authority);
- (m) a change of Control of the Supplier or a Guarantor unless:
 - (i) the Authority has given its prior written consent to the particular Change of Control, which subsequently takes place as proposed;

- (ii) the Authority has not served its notice of objection within 6 months of the later of the date on which the Change of Control took place or the date on which the Authority was given notice of the Change of Control;
- (n) a change of Control of a Key Sub-contractor unless, within 6 months of being notified by the Authority that it objects to such change of Control, the Supplier terminates the relevant Key Sub-contract and replaces it with a comparable Key Sub-contract which is approved by the Authority pursuant to Clause 15.10 (Appointment of Key Sub-contractors);
- (o) any failure by the Supplier to enter into or to comply with an Admission Agreement under the Annex to either Part A or Part B of Schedule 9.1 (Staff Transfer);
- (p) the Authority has become aware that the Supplier should have been excluded under Regulation 57(1) or (2) of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 from the procurement procedure leading to the award of this Agreement;
- (q) a failure by the Supplier to comply in the performance of the Services with legal obligations in the fields of environmental, social or labour law; or
- (r) in relation to Schedule 2.4 (Security Requirements):
 - (i) the Authority has issued two rejection notices in respect of the Risk Management Document Set under Paragraph 3.5(b) (Part A);
 - (ii) the Supplier fails to implement a change required by the Required Changes Register in accordance with the timescales set out in the Required Changes Register;
 - (iii) Supplier COTS Software and Third Party COTS Software is not within mainstream support unless the Authority has agreed in writing.
 - (iv) the Supplier fails to patch vulnerabilities in accordance with the Security Requirements; and/or.
 - (v) the Supplier fails to comply with the Incident Management Process;

"Supplier Volume Estimate"

means any estimate of Appointment Volumes provided by the Supplier under Part A of Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing);

"Supply Chain Transparency Report"

means the report provided by the Supplier to the Authority in the form set out in Annex 4 of Schedule 8.4 (*Reports and Records Provisions*);

"Supported Services for HMPO"

in countries where Passport Application submissions via a VCAS Center are not mandated, Customers may access an AVS whereby the Customer chooses to visit the VCAS Center and the Supplier helps them with the on-line completion of their Passport Application, checks the documents provided by the Customer are those requested by HMPO, and helps the Customer scan in those documents (if required).

"Supporting Documentation"

means sufficient information in writing to enable the Authority reasonably to assess whether the Charges, Reimbursable Expenses and other sums due from the Authority detailed in the information are properly payable, including copies of any applicable Milestone Achievement Certificates or receipts;

"Target Cost"

means the total direct and verifiable cost, exclusive of costs recovered through the Fixed Service Charge of delivering a Milestone, relating to this agreement;

"Target Performance Level"

the minimum level of performance for a Performance Indicator which is required by the Authority, as set out against the relevant Performance Indicator in the tables in Annex 1 of Schedule 2.2 (*Performance Levels*);

"Target Price"

means the "Target Cost" uplifted for mark-ups, agreed between the Supplier and the Authority, but exclusive of general risk, contingency or other Supplier allowances;

"Technical Board"

the body described in Paragraph 6 of Schedule 8.1

(Governance);

"Temporary Service Point"

has the same meaning as Non-Mandatory Premium

Application Center;

"Temporary Volume Relief

Payment"

means a payment made in addition to the Banded Service Charges for the circumstances set out in Part A, paragraph 5.6.2 of Schedule 7.1 (Charges and

Invoicing);

"Term"

the period commencing on the Effective Date and ending on the expiry of the Initial Term or any Extension Period or on earlier termination of this Agreement;

"Termination Assistance Notice"

has the meaning given in Paragraph 6.1 of Schedule 8.5 (*Exit Management*);

"Termination Assistance Period"

in relation to a Termination Assistance Notice, the period specified in the Termination Assistance Notice for which the Supplier is required to provide the Termination Services as such period may be extended pursuant to Paragraph 6.2 of Schedule 8.5 (*Exit Management*);

"Termination Date"

the date set out in a Termination Notice on which this Agreement (or a part of it as the case may be) is to terminate;

"Termination Estimate"

Has the meaning given in Paragraph 11.2 of Schedule 7.2 (Payments on Termination);

"Termination Event"

an event resulting in termination of the Agreement under Clause 34;

"Termination Notice"

a written notice of termination given by one Party to the other, notifying the Party receiving the notice of the intention of the Party giving the notice to terminate this Agreement (or any part thereof) on a specified date and setting out the grounds for termination;

"Termination Payment"

the payment determined in accordance with Schedule

7.2 (Payments on Termination);

"Termination Services" the services and activities to be performed by the

Supplier pursuant to the Exit Plan, including those activities listed in Annex 1 of Schedule 8.5 (Exit

Management), and any other services required pursuant

to the Termination Assistance Notice;

"Test Certificate" a certificate materially in the form of the document

contained in Annex 2 of Schedule 6.2 (Testing

Procedures) issued by the Authority when a Deliverable has been considered (possibly conditionally) to have sufficiently met relevant Test Success Criteria;

"Test Evidence" substantive materials, such as system logs, technical

documentation, Test Witness reports (etc.), which unequivocally demonstrate the assertions of a test

outcomes claim;

"Test Issue" any variance or non-conformity of a Deliverable from its

requirements (such requirements being set out in the

relevant Test Success Criteria):

"Test Issue Management Log" a log for the recording of Test Issues as described

further in Paragraph 9 of Schedule 6.2 (Testing

Procedures);

"Test Issue Threshold" in relation to the Tests applicable to a Milestone or

otherwise, a maximum number of Severity Level 3. Severity Level 4 and Severity Level 5 Test Issues as set

out in the relevant Test Plan:

"Test Plan" a plan:

> (a) for the Testing of Deliverables; and

setting out other agreed criteria related to the (b)

achievement of Milestones,

as described further in Paragraph 5 of Schedule 6.2

(Testing Procedures);

"Test Reports" the reports to be produced by the Supplier setting out

the results of Tests and Supplier recommendations and

outstanding Test Issue resolution plan;

"Tests" and "Testing" any tests required to be carried out under this

> Agreement, as further described in Schedule 6.2 (Testing Procedure) and "Tested" shall be construed

accordingly;

"Testing Procedures" the applicable testing procedures and Test Success

Criteria set out in Schedule 6.2 (Testing Procedures);

"Test Specification" the specification that sets out how Tests will

demonstrate that the Test Success Criteria have been satisfied, as described in more detail in Paragraph 7 of

Schedule 6.2 (Testing Procedures);

"Test Strategy" a strategy for the conduct of Testing as described further

in Paragraph 4 of Schedule 6.2 (Testing Procedures);

in relation to a Test, the outcomes that shall be met for "Test Success Criteria"

that Test to have been considered a success, as referred to in Paragraph 6 of Schedule 6.2 (Testing

Procedures):

any person appointed by the Authority pursuant to

Paragraph 10.1 of Schedule 6.2 (Testing Procedures); has the meaning given in Paragraph 4.4 of Part B of

Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing);

"Test Witness"

"Tethered Location"

"Third Parties (HMPO)"

a person other than a Customer (or in the case of a child the parent/person with parental responsibility who has signed the application form) permitted by HMPO to submit a Passport Application or collect a passport providing the relevant letter of authority and identification documents are present;

"Third Party Auditor"

an independent third party auditor as appointed by the Authority from time to time to confirm the completeness and accuracy of information uploaded to the Virtual Library in accordance with the requirements outlined in Schedule 8.4 (Reports and Records Provisions);

"Third Party Beneficiary"

has the meaning given in Clause 44.1 (Third Party

Rights);

"Third Party Contract"

a contract with a third party entered into by the Supplier exclusively for the purpose of delivering the Services, as listed in Schedule 4.4 (Third Party Contracts);

"Third Party COTS IPRs"

Third Party IPRs that:

(a) the Supplier makes generally available commercially prior to the date of this Agreement (whether by way of sale, lease or licence) on standard terms which are not typically negotiated by the Supplier save as to price; and

(b) have a Non-trivial Customer Base;

"Third Party COTS Software"

Third Party Software (including open source software)

(a) the Supplier makes generally available commercially prior to the date of this Agreement (whether by way of sale, lease or licence) on standard terms which are not typically negotiated by the Supplier save as to price; and

(b) have a Non-trivial Customer base;

"Third Party IPRs"

Intellectual Property Rights owned by a third party but excluding Intellectual Property Rights owned by the third party subsisting in any Third Party Software;

"Third Party Non-COTS IPRs"

Third Party IPRs that are not Third Party COTS IPRs;

"Third Party Non-COTS Software"

Third Party Software that is not Third Party COTS Software:

"Third Party Provisions"

has the meaning given in Clause 44.1 (*Third Party* Rights);

"Third Party Software"

software which is proprietary to any third party (other than an Affiliate of the Supplier) or any Open Source Software which in any case is, will be or is proposed to be used by the Supplier for the purposes of providing the Services, including the software specified as such in

Schedule 5 (Software);

"Tier 2"

means the tier in the supply chain between the Supplier delivering this Agreement to the Authority, and the further tiers of the Supplier's supply chain;

"Total Costs Incurred"

the Costs incurred by the Supplier up to the Termination Date in the performance of this Agreement and detailed in the Financial Model (but excluding Contract Breakage Costs, Redundancy Costs and any costs the Supplier would not otherwise be able to recover through the

Charges) less any Deductions up to (and including) the Termination Date;

"Transferable Assets"

those of the Exclusive Assets which are capable of legal transfer to the Authority (which must include any biometric enrolment equipment);

"Transferable Contracts"

the Sub-contracts, licences for Supplier's Software, licences for Third Party Software or other agreements which are necessary to enable the Authority or any Replacement Supplier to perform the Services or the Replacement Services, including in relation to licences all relevant Documentation;

"Transferring Assets"

has the meaning given in Paragraph 7.2(a) of Schedule 8.5 (Exit Management);

"Transferring Contracts"

has the meaning given in Paragraph 7.2(b) of Schedule 8.5 (Exit Management);

"Transferring Authority Employees"

those employees of the Authority to whom the Acquired Rights Directive (or any equivalent or analogous Law) will apply on the Relevant Transfer Date;;

"Transferring Former Supplier Employees"

in relation to a Former Supplier, those employees of the Former Supplier to whom the Acquired Rights Directive (or any equivalent or analogous Law) will apply on the Relevant Transfer Date:

"Transferring Supplier Employees"

those employees of the Supplier and/or the Supplier's Sub-contractors to whom the Acquired Rights Directive(or any equivalent or analogous Law) will apply on the Service Transfer Date;

"Transparency Information"

has the meaning given in Clause 23.1 (*Transparency* and Freedom of Information);

"Transparency Reports"

has the meaning given in Schedule 8.4 (Reports and Records Provisions):

"Travel Document"

a document which:

- (a) is an identity document issued by a government or international treaty organisation to facilitate travel:
- (b) usually assures other governments that the bearer may return to the issuing country;
- (c) does not bear proof of nationality

As a Travel Document, an EEA Identity Card, only used where a person is submitting an application under the EUSS Family Permit, means a document which:

- (a) is issued by or on behalf of the government of a EEA country recognised by the UK, which complies with international practice; and
- (b) shows both the identity and nationality of the holder;
- (c) gives the holder the right to enter the country of the government which issued the document;

the United Kingdom;

Regulation (EU) 2016/679 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 April 2016 on the protection of natural persons with regard to the processing of

"UK"

"UK GDPR"

personal data and on the free movement of such data (United Kingdom General Data Protection Regulation), as it forms part of the law of England and Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland by virtue of section 3 of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018, together with the Data Protection, Privacy and Electronic Communications (Amendments etc.) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019;

"UK Public Sector Business"

means any goods, service or works provision to UK public sector bodies, including Central Government Departments and their arm's length bodies and agencies, non-departmental public bodies, NHS bodies, local authorities, health bodies, police, fire and rescue, education bodies and devolved administrations;

"UK Public Sector / CNI Contract Information"

means the information relating to the Supplier Group to be provided by the Supplier in accordance with Paragraphs 11 to 13 and Annex 2 of Part B of Schedule 8.6 (Service Continuity Plan and Corporate Resolution Planning):

"UK Sterling Bid Rate"

means the currency rates of exchange used to calculate the UK (GBP) equivalent Banded Monthly Service charge amounts for each Local Currency, being

- a) the prior month average monthly exchange rate of UK Sterling
- b) sourced from the HMRC published exchange rates, www.oanda.com or an alternative exchange rate source as may be agreed between the parties; and
- c) dated the completed calendar month preceding the Invitation to Tender submission

"UK Sterling Contract Monthly Rate"

means the currency rates of exchange used to calculate the UK (GBP) equivalent Banded Monthly Service charge amounts for each Local Currency, or other Amounts Payable, being

- a) the average monthly exchange rate of the relevant month:
- b) sourced from HMRC published exchange rates, www.oanda.com or an alternative exchange rate source as may be agreed between the parties.

"UKVI"

United Kingdom Visas and Immigration, a division of the Home Office responsible for the UK's visa system;

"Unacceptable KPI Failure"

the Supplier failing to achieve the KPI Service Threshold in respect of more than 50% of the Key Performance Indicators that are measured in that Service Period;

"Unconnected Sub-contract"

any contract or agreement which is not a Sub-contract and is between the Supplier and a third party (which is not an Affiliate of the Supplier) and is a qualifying contract under regulation 6 of The Reporting on Payment Practices and Performance Regulations 2017;

"Unconnected Sub-contractor"

any third party with whom the Supplier enters into an Unconnected Sub-contract;

"Unrecovered Costs"

the Costs incurred by the Supplier in the performance of this Agreement (as summarised in the Financial Model) to the extent that the same remain at the Termination Date to be recovered through Charges that but for the termination of this Agreement would have been payable by the Authority after the Termination Date in accordance with Schedule 7.1 (*Charges and Invoicing*) as such Costs and Charges are forecast in the Financial Model:

"Unrecovered Payment"

an amount equal to the lower of:

- a) the sum of the Unrecovered Costs and the Unrecovered Profit; and
- b) the amount specified in Paragraph 4 of Schedule 7.2 (*Payments on Termination*);

(Total Costs Incurred x Anticipated Contract Life Profit Margin) - Profit Already Paid + Milestone Retentions remaining unpaid at the Termination Date;

the latest agreed baseline "Financial Model" to be provided by the Supplier to the Authority pursuant to Paragraph 1 of Part B of Schedule 7.5 (Financial Reports and Audit Rights);

in relation to any Software and/or any Deliverable means a version of such item which has been produced primarily to overcome Defects in, or to improve the operation of, that item:

means the occurrence of an event detailed in Schedule 8.4 (*Reports and Records Provisions*) Annex 3 (*Virtual Library*) which requires the Supplier to update the relevant information hosted on the Virtual Library;

any patch, New Release or upgrade of Software and/or a Deliverable, including standard upgrades, product enhancements, and any modifications, but excluding any Update which the Supplier or a third party software supplier (or any Affiliate of the Supplier or any third party) releases during the Term;

the top 25% of instances of provision of a Comparable Service by members of the Comparison Group ranked by best value for money to the recipients of that Comparable Service;

in respect of an Assurance, has the meaning given to it in Paragraph 11.7 of Part B to Schedule 8.6 (Service Continuity Plan and Corporate Resolution Planning);

value added tax as provided for in the Value Added Tax Act 1994:

means Visa and Citizenship Application Services;

means a non-governmental organisation that is valuedriven and which principally reinvests its surpluses to further social, environmental or cultural objectives;

the paper that articulates and effects the visa or other permissions granted by the Authority, and is affixed to a passport or Travel Document; [x];

means the process of ensuring a Vignette is created through to the point affixed to a Customer's passport;

means the data repository hosted by the Supplier containing the information about this Agreement and the

"Unrecovered Profit"

"Updated Baseline Financial Model"

"Updates"

"Update Requirement"

"Upgrades"

"Upper Quartile"

"Valid"

"VAT"

"VCAS"
"VCSE"

"Vignette"

"Vignette Management"

"Virtual Library"

Services provided under it in accordance with Schedule 8.4 (*Reports and Records Provisions*);

"Visa Application"

means an application in respect of a non-UK national for: (i) entry, leave to remain or settlement in the United Kingdom; or (ii) UK citizenship; or (iii) other services that are not Passport Applications; in each case irrespective of whether that application requires or results in a Visa VCAS Appointment;

"Visa & Citizenship Application Services Center" or "VCAS Center" means a dedicated facility or other means by which Visa VCAS Appointments and/or Passport VCAS Appointments are conducted;

"Visa VCAS Appointment"

means an appointment at a VCAS Center in connection with a Visa Application, provided that where any additional Visa VCAS Appointment is required under a single Visa Application as a result of Supplier breach of this Agreement it shall be treated as the same Visa VCAS Appointment as the original one for the purposes of calculating Appointment Volumes;

"Website"

the website that the Supplier provides to articulate and facilitate access to Services:

"Wider Sustainability Aims"

means the wider sustainability aims that the Supplier is encouraged to support where possible as set out in Annex 1 to Schedule 2.6 (Social Value);

"Working Day"

any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday in England and Wales;

"Zone"

a named geographical area within a Country which shall be determined by the boundary for that named area derived from the relevant law, regulation or other administrative decision for that Country that defines geographical areas.

SCHEDULE 2.1 SERVICES DESCRIPTION

1. **DEFINITIONS**

In this Schedule the definitions set out in Schedule 1 (Definitions) shall apply.

2. INTRODUCTION

The Secretary of State for the Home Department, acting through UK Visas and Immigration (**UKVI**), is the Authority procuring a global network of Locations, in support of Home Office (**HO**) activity. These activities primarily relate to UKVI and His Majesty's Passport Office business requirements, and the Services being procured are broken into five (5) geographic Lots, of which this Agreement represents one (1).

UKVI is a division within the Home Office and has Customers in the UK and overseas, who include:

- a) those seeking to extend permissions to work or study in the UK;
- b) those seeking to extend permissions to stay or settle with family;
- c) those seeking to evidence their rights as European Economic Area nationals and family members;
- d) those progressing from earlier immigration permissions to British nationality.

UKVI is responsible for making millions of decisions every year about who has the right to visit or stay in the UK, with a firm emphasis on national security and a culture of Customer satisfaction for people who come to the UK legally.

UKVI's vision is to be a world-leading immigration service working for a safe and prosperous UK. To that end, two of UKVI's key missions are to deliver world-class Customer service and to effectively manage migration in accordance with the law. UKVI's challenge is to transform services in a way that enhances Customer experience and controls outcomes.

A focus of UKVI's transformation programme is modernising the services through which its Customers interact with it, aiming for a smaller, more efficient footprint, with wider global reach. The vast majority of Customers have common needs that can be delivered in a coherent model, which lends itself to commercial supply. UKVI receives around 3.5m visa Applications a year.

UKVI has over 250 Visa Application Centers globally both in the UK and Overseas to enable Customers to access its services, including: submitting passports, supporting evidence, facilitating interviews and enrolling biometrics. These application centers have been divided into five geographical lots within this procurement.

HMPO is part of Migration and Borders within the Customer Service capability of the Home Office and has Customers in the UK and overseas. For this Agreement, overseas HMPO Customers will only use the following services:

- a) seeking to apply for a UK passport
- b) seeking to provide further evidence in support of a passport application.

HMPO typically receives around 400,000 to 450,000 overseas passport applications a year, overseas political events have raised this to 600,000 in recent years. Currently customers who cannot apply on-line or via direct post, due to local circumstances, make applications in person at an application point, of which 47 are outsourced, receiving approximately 20,000 applications per year. HMPO receives support with interviews in 52 outsourced points, and 14 outsourced points facilitate document collection.

For customers in countries where people can apply on-line HMPO is seeking to explore the introduction of priority and super priority services as added value services in locations where there is a demand to deliver a feasible service.

This Schedule 2.1 sets out the requirements for the Services to be provided by the Supplier.

Overview

This Schedule sets out the requirements for the Services to be provided by the Supplier, each section introduced by a brief description of what each Service entails.

Those requirements, and this document, are therefore structured as follows:

Section A: General Requirements – a series of overarching requirements that apply to all Services.

- A.1: Service Requirements
- A.2: Safeguarding
- A.3: Website
- A.4: Communication and Branding

Section B: Digital Requirements:

B.1: Interfaces

Section C: Visa & Citizenship Application Services Centers

- C.1: Locations
- C 2: Facilities
- C 3: Personnel

Section D: Appointments

• D 1: Appointments

Section E: Priority Services and Added Value Services

- E.1: Priority Services
- E.2: Added Value Services General

Section F: Fees

• F 1: Fees

Section G: Identity Check and Document Verification

- G 1: Identity check
- G.2: Identity Document Verification
- G.3: Visa Application Document Submission & Retention

Section H: Document Upload (mandatory Added Value Services)

H 1: Document Upload

Section I: Biometrics

- I 1: Biometric Enrolment
- I 2: Biometric Data Transfer
- I 3: Biometric Recording

Section J: Digital Interviewing Support

• J1: Digital Interviewing Support

Section K: Vignettes and Passport Management

- K 1: Remote Vignette Printing
- K 2: Vignette Management
- K 3: Passport Return to the Customer

Section L: HMPO Specific Requirements

- L 1: Submission of Application and Supporting Documents
- L.2: Digitising Documents
- L3: Shipment of Documents
- L4: Managing Interviews
- L5: Collection of Passport and Documents

Section M: Complaints and Customer Insight

- M 1: Complaints
- M 2: Customer Insight and Continuous Improvement

Section N: Local / Regional requirements

• N3. Republic of Ireland

Section O: DNA Testing services (non-mandatory Added Value Service)

SERVICES DESCRIPTION

For the avoidance of doubt, the Service Requirements and any obligations set out in this Agreement apply in respect only to the Zones set out in Annex A of this Schedule. To the extent that anything in this Agreement suggests or implies that the Supplier will be obliged to carry out any obligations to any Zone not set out in Annex A of this Schedule, such obligation will be excluded from the scope of this Agreement.

Note:

UKVI and HMPO: marked with "Y" means that requirements apply to that part of the Authority

Annex A – Zones: Description is incorporated in and forms part of this Schedule 2.1

Section A – General Requirements – a series of overarching requirements:

UKVI	НМРО	A.1: Servi	ce Requirements:	Authority Responsibi	lity	
Y	Y	A.1.1	The Supplier shall deliver the Services in the Zones set out in Annex A (Zones: Description) The Authority reserves the right to process an update to Columns I-K (Risk Rating) of Annex A (Zones: Description) upon revision of FCDO risk rating.			
Y		A.1.2	The Supplier shall provide a free of charge Service for specific UK Customer groups who are	The Authority sha Customer groups.	l define	the

			unable to travel to a Location due to a confirmed physical or mental health condition. The Authority will notify the Supplier when such Customers are identified and that they are eligible for a free of charge service.	
	Y	A.1.3	The Supplier will offer HMPO passport Application services, including access to the Locations, free of charge to the Customer, in the Zones as defined in Annex A (Zones: Description).	
			At Locations in Zones that are not indicated as free of charge to the Customer for HMPO services, the Supplier may provide AVS.	
Y	Y	A.1.4	The Supplier shall fully support the Authority in the appeals process by disclosing all relevant information.	
Y	Y	A.1.5	The Supplier shall provide responses to requests for information from the Authority including: Judicial Reviews; pre-action protocols; queries from Parliament; and other cross-governmental enquiries.	
Y	Y	A.1.6	The Supplier shall collaborate with the Authority in emergency situations and times of human need and crisis. This may necessitate the loan of Biometric Capture Devices, as well as staff and other necessarily unpredictable aspects of goods and services within the scope of this Agreement.	

Y	Y	A.1.7	Where the Authority requests, via Change Control, a proposal for Services to be delivered outside of the extant Zones, the Supplier shall return that proposal, including pricing and being capable of acceptance, within five (5) Working Days.	
Υ	Y	A.1.8	The Supplier shall collaborate with the Authority in the resolution of issues that may arise in delivery of the Services.	

UKVI	НМРО	A.2: Safeç	guarding requirements:	Authority Responsibility
			The Supplier shall assess and manage vulnerability needs and safeguarding risks at all times, working with the Authority in ensuring safeguarding of adults at risk and children.	
Y	Y	A.2.1	In particular the Supplier shall as a minimum be aware of the following signs which may indicate vulnerability concerns. This is not an exhaustive list and one sign in isolation may not be indicative by itself, but a combination of factors may give rise to concern:	
			Adults:	

- mental health issues
- unkempt appearance / care needs not being met.
- lack of interaction.
- aggression/evasiveness.

Children: In addition to the signs above:

- bruising / scarring / burns.
- very poor hygiene / malnourished / untreated infections or infestations.
- lack of engagement with accompanying adults.
- signs of fear and watchfulness.
- living with 'family member' or 'friend'
- evidence of drug, alcohol or substance misuse.
- sexualised behaviour.
- distinctly different dress or manner to accompanying people.
- inappropriate handling of child by carer.
- inebriation of carer.
- signs of domestic violence between adult carers.
- carers declare convictions for sexual, violent or drug offences.

Υ	Υ	A.2.2	When a concern regarding the safeguarding of a Customer arises, the Supplier shall consider the urgency of the risk and be able to determine whether an immediate intervention or non-immediate intervention is required. Supplier shall notify the Authority immediately of safeguarding risks and/or incidents that occur.	
Y	Υ	A.2.3	Supplier shall ensure that all of their Personnel receive safeguarding training, UKVI Safeguarding - Commercial Partner Awareness Pack and refresher courses every 12 months.	The Authority will provide the safeguarding training material.
Y	Y	A.2.4	Supplier shall ensure that all children under 16 attending a Location are accompanied by a responsible adult.	
Y	Y	A.2.5	All responsible adults (both parents and non-parents) accompanying children must provide an identification document which is set out when the Customer completes their Application. If no adequate identification documents are produced, the Customer must be politely refused, given an explanation of the reasons why and advised they can reschedule their appointment.	
Υ	Y	A.2.6	Letters authorising responsibility for the child must be in English or any local language if specified in Annex A, (Zones: Description) and	

			name both the responsible adult and child; names must match the identification documents presented.	
Υ	Y	A.2.7	Supplier shall maintain records, to be made available to the Authority on request, showing how they have prioritised cases addressing Customer vulnerabilities and how they have considered the welfare of vulnerable adults.	

UKVI	НМРО	A3: Webs	ite	Authority Responsibility
Y	Y	A.3.1	The Supplier shall provide a Website which is compliant with the accessible Digital Standards of Schedule 2.3 (Standards) and as a minimum includes: • an overview of the Services offered to Customers with clear delineation and navigation to those Services throughout the Website; • the VCAS Locations addresses and contact details for and of those Services; • The functionality for Customers to pay for Services; • Location availability;	

•	all relevant Fees;	
•	accessibility information for the Location;	
•	complaints procedure;	
•	Customer support and contact procedures;	
•	relevant links to gov.uk; and	
•	the ability for Customers to book Passport VAC Appointments and Visa VAC Appointments.	

UKVI	НМРО	A.4: Com	nunications and Branding	Authority Responsibility
Y	Y	A.4.1	The Supplier shall provide the Website and all other information conveyed to Customers in English and the predominant local languages, as indicated in Annex A (Zones: Description, 'local language'). Where Customer communications are provided from the Authority to the Supplier in delivery of the Service the Supplier shall translate the communication to the predominant local language as indicated in Annex A (Zones: Description, 'local language')	

			For services within the United Kingdom the Supplier shall comply with United Kingdom legislation regarding the Welsh Language Act.	
Y	Y	A.4.2	The Supplier shall establish, update and maintain the Website, and all other information conveyed to Customers in line with the Services, policy, legislation and gov.uk, and any reasonable request or instruction and updates from the Authority.	The Authority shall from time to time provide updates to information for Customer communications for the Website and any other channels.
Y	Y	A.4.3	The Supplier shall ensure there is consistent branding throughout the Locations, including shared locations, following brand guidelines provided by the Authority. This includes, where relevant, both external and internal printed (signage, posters and leaflets) media, digital and audio - visual communications.	The Authority shall provide branding guidance.
Y	Y	A.4.4	The Supplier shall provide a notice board in a prominent place within each Location which shall be for the exclusive use of the Authority to display its own information or marketing material.	The Authority shall from time to time provide updates to information for Customer communications for the notice board.
Y	Y	A.4.5	The size and position of this notice board shall be agreed with the Authority. The Supplier shall ensure that the material provided by or stipulated by the Authority shall be displayed during the	

			opening hours of the Location on this notice board.	
Y	Y	A.4.6	The notice board will include the Supplier complaints procedures and the Authority complaints procedure if a Customer wants to complain directly to the Authority.	
Y	Y	A.4.7	The notice board and Website shall also display written confirmation that the Supplier is not involved in the UKVI/HMPO decision making process and does not have the ability to decide or influence the outcome of any Application.	
Y	Y	A.4.8	The Supplier shall not use or make visible to the public any branding and/or advertising materials without the Authority's prior written consent (which shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed).	
Y	Υ	A.4.9	The external signage for each Location shall be agreed with a representative of the Authority. The extent of external signage should consider location, the security situation and the need to provide adequate notification to potential Customers.	A network of Authority representatives with responsibility for managing /supporting the relationship with Locations will be in place.
Y	Y	A.4.10	The Supplier shall not display in any part of a Location, material which, in the reasonable opinion of the Authority, is inappropriate for	

premises connected to the UK Government (including offensive, defamatory, degrading or discriminatory material, or material which criticises or is otherwise detrimental to the interests of the UK).

Section B: Digital Requirements

UKVI	НМРО	B1: Interfa	aces:	Authority Responsibility
		Sets out Authority S	the required interfaces between Supplier and Systems.	
Y	Y	B.1.1	All data must be transferred between the Parties in accordance with the DDaT/ Technical documents – Data Room.	

Section C: Locations

UKVI	НМРО	C.1: UK L	ocations:	Authority Responsibility
Y		C.1.1	For the UK, the Supplier shall provide Locations to meet Customer demand whilst keeping	

	Customer travel times to a minimum. That shall include a minimum of: • one Location in each of England's nine administrative regions, including one in each of London, Manchester and Birmingham; • one Location in each of the three devolved administrations; and • one Location in the vicinity of the Scottish Highlands and islands.	
--	----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--

UKVI	НМРО	C2: Facilit	ies	Authority Responsibility
Y	Y	C.2.1	 The Supplier shall provide the infrastructure (equipment, software, hardware, resources, facilities) to deliver the Services at each Location as set out here and in Annex A (Zones: Description), including: the infrastructure, facilities, software and hardware to operate all Services being delivered. Vignette printing hardware; the equipment, software and hardware to enable the capture of Biometric Data. 	
			For HMPO the provision and maintenance of equipment to enable the Supplier to support Customers with passport Applications, this	

Y	Y	C.2.2	includes being able to take and/or upload photos, and the ability to scan documents. The Supplier shall ensure that all Locations: • Are easily accessible (in terms of access to buildings, locations) to all potential Customers including vulnerable Customers and Customers with disabilities; • Are compliant with the Equality Act 2010 and the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 and any subsequent amendments to those Acts (including full compliance with the disability discrimination provisions) as well as any local law and customs insofar as they can be reasonably met, with UK legislation taking precedence; and • Are capable of accommodating all Customers (including wheelchair users, those with restricted mobility, dexterity or visual/hearing impairment) with no degradation to standard or experience of the Service.
Y	Y	C.2.3	The Supplier shall ensure that when Locations are open it is in line with the working pattern of the country/area in which it is located. Any

			closure as a result of public holidays shall be communicated to the Authority no later than twenty Working Days in advance of the planned closure. The Supplier may opt to open Locations outside of the usual working pattern of the country/area in which it is located either to manage periods of excess demand or as an AVS. In either case this should be agreed with the Authority in advance.	
Υ	Y	C.2.4	The Supplier shall ensure that where a Customer is being attended to by Supplier Personnel, other Customers or unaffected Third Parties are: • not privy to discussions between Supplier Personnel and the Customer; • unable to read documents that are submitted as part of the Application; and • not privy to the information being disclosed as part of the interview (interview not applicable for Lot 5 - UK).	
Y	Y	C.2.5	Locations shall include as a minimum: sufficient space within each Location to avoid queues directly outside the VCAS Center;	

			 the appropriate space, environment and security for capturing of Biometric Data; and where applicable a separate room or appropriate space for delivering Digital Interviewing (interview not applicable for Lot 5 - UK).
Υ	Y	C.2.6	The Supplier shall provide facilities which are comfortable, secure and meet local customs including: • sufficient seating; • adequate temperature control, lighting and protections from rain, wind etc.; • the provision of drinking water; and • the provision of appropriate toilet facilities compliant with any local laws or regulations.
Y	Y	C.2.7	The Supplier shall ensure that there is a stable power supply to ensure that the fulfilment of the Services is not interrupted including, where needed and based on location, an independent power supply (such as a back-up generator)

			capable of providing power to the Location during any period of outage.	
Y	Υ	C.2.8	The Supplier shall be able to track the time that the Customer spends in the Location, from initial attendance at Location security in order to as a minimum record time taken to: - undertake any Digital Interview (interview not applicable for Lot 5 - UK); - complete any Biometric Capture; - complete an Application submission; and - collect a passport.	
Υ	Υ	C.2.9	The Supplier shall capture continuous video footage of any substantive Customer interactions and any document management/financial transaction for the protection of staff and customers, and prevention of fraud. This video footage shall be retained for thirty (30) days (other than as specified in I.3.6) and made available to the Authority no later than three (3) Working Days after the request has been made.	
Υ	Y	C.2.10	The Supplier shall not use any Location on a shared basis where it delivers services to any other government client (or any person acting for	

		or on behalf of any other government client), other than where the government client is the USA, Canada, New Zealand, Australia, Norway, Switzerland, or an EU member state. This requirement shall not prevent the Supplier using a Location which is an entirely separate part of a common premises where it delivers services to any another government client (for example, an entirely self-contained office unit in an office building with shared common areas).	
Y	C.2.11	The Supplier may elect to provide a service meeting the requirements set out in Requirements C.2.12-C.2.14 in any Zone and/or Country where 'Premium Application Center' is not identified in the 'Service Model' column of Annex A to this Schedule 2.1 (Services Description). Any such service is subject to all other requirements in this Schedule 2.1 (Services Description). The Locations where such a services is provided are Non-Mandatory Premium Application Centers.	
Y	C.2.12	The Supplier shall deliver the Core Services in all Mandatory Premium Application Centers and Non-Mandatory Premium Application Centers.	
Υ	C.2.13	The Supplier shall ensure that all Customers that attend a Mandatory Premium Application	

		Center or Non-Mandatory Premium Application Center are offered (and if they accept such an offer receive) at least one of the following services in addition to the Core Services: • SPV • PV	
		 two other AVS, as approved by the Authority 	
Y	C.2.14	At Mandatory Premium Application Centers and Non-Mandatory Premium Application Centers the Supplier shall charge the Customer a fee over and above the 'User Pays' fee specified in the 'Current Funding Model' row of Table 2 to Annex A. This fee is to be set by the Supplier.	

UKVI	НМРО		onnel on sets out the requirements covering Supplier in delivery of the Services.	Authority Responsibility
Y	Y	C.3.1	The Supplier must ensure all Supplier Personnel are recruited, vetted, sufficiently trained, and undertake their duties when delivering the service in accordance with Personnel Security Clearance.	

Y	Y	C.3.2	Supplier Personnel shall be clearly identifiable by Customers as representatives of the organisation delivering the Services.	
Y	Y	C.3.3	The Supplier shall ensure that, in providing the Services, the Supplier along with its employees, agents, and contractors does not discriminate against any person (including the Customers) on the grounds of race, religion or belief, nationality, sex, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, gender reassignment, sexual orientation, age, disability or any other ground under UK law and any applicable local legislation in any relevant country.	

Section D – Appointments

UKVI	НМРО	D.1: Appointments		Authority Responsibility
Y		D.1.1	The Supplier shall provide an online Appointment Booking system for UKVI Customer Applications which interfaces with UKVI systems in accordance with the DDaT/ Technical documents – Data Room.	

Υ	Υ	D1.2	The Supplier shall offer the ability for individual Customers to amalgamate appointments where desired into one group appointment for convenience, e.g. to ensure one family attends the Location at the same time. For the avoidance of doubt, this should be at no additional cost to the Customer.	
	Y	D.1.3	Not Required	Not Required
	Υ	D.1.4	Not Required	Not Required
	Y	D.1.5	The Supplier will offer access to the Supplier provided appointment booking system as a workaround if the HMPO provided appointment booking system is unavailable.	
Y		D.1.6	The Supplier's online appointment booking system shall allow all appointments to be made, amended / cancelled / rebooked by the Customer There is no additional charge to the Customer or the Authority when Appointments are made or altered. The Supplier shall provide the Authority	

			with availability for Digital Interview appointments.	
Y	Y	D.1.7	The Supplier shall provide the Customer with the choice of appointments within Core Service Hours relevant to their location and the service being selected, as set out in Annex A (Zones: Description). The Supplier shall ensure Customers can book an appointment within Core Service Hours within five (5) working days of seeking that appointment. There will be no additional charge made to Customers for Core Service Hour appointments unless the Customer has opted for UKVI User Pay / PV / SPV or Document Upload Assistance. HMPO customers will only pay additional charges if the service is an AVS.	
Y	Y	D.1.8	The Supplier may offer Customers an appointment for Services outside of Core Service Hours, which provides greater convenience for Customers, as an AVS. For the avoidance of doubt, during times of increased demand, the Supplier may offer appointments at no additional charge to the Customer outside of Core Service Hours.	
Υ	Y	D.1.9	The Supplier shall monitor and manage individual and group appointment bookings to ensure the	

			integrity of the appointment system and that valid Customers are booking appointments (for example to ensure appointments cannot be harvested or booked by non-valid Customer for selling onwards).	
Υ		D.1.11	The Supplier shall confirm the Appointment time and location to the Customer at no cost.	
Υ		D.1.12	The Supplier shall allow the Customer to track their Application at no cost.	
Υ		D.1.13	The Supplier shall provide Appointment reminders to the Customer.	
Y	Y	D.1.14	Should the Supplier need to cancel a Customer's Appointment due to unforeseen circumstances they will notify the Customer immediately (which may include but are not limited to previously unscheduled Location closures).	

Section E: Priority Services and AVS

UKVI	НМРО	E1: Priority Services	Authority Responsibility
		The Home Office offer a series of Priority Services which enables a	
		Customer to ensure their Visa or Passport Application decision will	
		be processed within an agreed timescale. In order to support these	
		agreed timescales, the Supplier is required to ensure a series of	

		•	ken when delivering Services to a Customer who has Priority Service.	
Y	Y	E.1.1	The Customer may opt to pay for additional services such as AVS, and for UKVI PV and SPV and the Supplier shall take the Fees for those services accordingly.	
Y		E.1.2	The Supplier shall offer the Customer the opportunity to purchase and pay for PV and SPV during the online Application and appointment booking process for locations specified in Annex A (Zones: Description).	
Y		E.1.3	The Supplier shall offer the Customer the opportunity to purchase PV service at any point up to immediately before the Biometric Data has been taken.	
Y		E.1.4	The Supplier shall take the Fees for PV and SPV on behalf of the Authority.	
Y		E.1.5	The Supplier shall have the capability to take payment for SPV & PV after Biometric Enrolment, but only when instructed by the Authority. The Supplier shall ensure that Customer applications are processed sufficiently quickly to meet the fulfilment timescales of PV and SPV applications.	

	Y	E.1.6	The Supplier shall facilitate Priority / Super Priority Applications on behalf of HMPO.	
Υ	Y	E.1.7	Prior to offering any bundled services, the Supplier shall seek agreement from the Authority before proceeding where a Priority Service is included as a package with other AVS.	The Authority shall review and agree or decline the detail of any proposed bundling and marketing of Priority/Super Priority Visa Services including where it is bundled with other AVS.
Y		E.1.8	The Supplier shall ensure Customers cannot book a Super Priority Visa service on days when the Authority's Decision Making Center (DMC) for that Zone, or Application type, is closed.	, .

UKVI	НМРО	E2: AVS G	eneral:	Authority Responsibility
		Sets out gei	neral requirements for the provision of AVS.	
Y	Y	E.2.1	The Supplier shall ensure that the AVS provided do not undermine or conflict with the Core Services; in the event that they do and there is evidence accordingly, the Authority reserves the right to instruct the Supplier to immediately halt that AVS.	The Authority retains the right to review, amend, suspend, cancel or pause AVS at any point during the Term of the Agreement.
		E.2.2	When developing any new Added Value Service, to be agreed via Change Control, the Supplier shall consider the most appropriate point in the Customer	

Y	Y		Journey to offer Added Value Service and provide evidence to support their proposal for Authority consideration. The Appointment Booking System must include, and clearly mark as optional, a step in the application process, that offers Customers various AVS for them to select if required.	
Y	Y	E.2.3	Safeguards must be implemented to ensure that Customers are aware that the purchase of AVS is not a mandatory requirement of the Application process and has no bearing on the decision of the Application.	
Y	Y	E.2.4	The Supplier must ensure that AVS and Core Services are advertised in a transparent way to allow Customers to make an informed decision on whether to purchase AVS or to continue with the core processes.	
Y	Y	E.2.5	The Supplier shall ensure AVS do not comprise of any age restricted or otherwise illegal or inappropriate services, or any services that could be seen as or are detrimental to protect the brand, reputation, security and confidentiality of the Authority.	
Y	Y	E.2.6	In the event that the Supplier and Authority agree that AVS are introduced to provide premium experience appointments during Core Service Hours, there shall be no impact of such AVS on the availability of free-of-charge appointments during Core Service Hours.	

Υ	E.2.7	The Supplier shall provide support to Customers, with the digital Application process, as an AVS, in non-mandated countries.	

Section F - Fees

UKVI	НМРО	via gov.uk. These are the immigration (www.gov.uk) The Supplier On behalf of Directly to the UKV&I and H	t of these PV/ SPV Fees and AVS Fees is set out in the	Authority Responsibility The Authority shall notify the Supplier of the Application Fees applicable from time to time.
Y	Y	F.1.1	The Supplier shall take payments in the currency stipulated by the Authority for each Location using the same payment methods as the Authority wherever possible. By default, this is local currency unless otherwise agreed with the Authority.	

Y	Y	F.1.2	The Supplier shall, for each financial transaction (purchase, refund etc), provide the Customer or the Customer's representative with a digital receipt, which provides an audit trail for the Customer and the Authority.	
Υ		F.1.3	Fees taken by the Supplier on behalf of the Authority must be taken in line with the Exchange Rate Policy (ERP) including the currency offered and the exchange rate used. The Authority will provide this detail to the Supplier either digitally or manually and the schedule of when the updates will take place.	
Y		F.1.4	All refund of PV/ SPV Fees must be made at the same exchange rate as the payment and returned to the original payee and payment method wherever possible and utilise an alternate payment method if necessary.	
Y		F.1.5	Any refunds of PV/ SPV Fees will be triggered only on the instruction of the Authority following an investigation into appropriateness of the refund.	
Y	Y	F.1.6	Refunds for AVS Fees may be due as part of the service provision, for example, where services are not delivered as expected or where they were taken in error. The Supplier shall determine whether refunds of AVS are appropriate as part of the service provision. The only exception to this is where the Authority is	

			made aware of any mis-selling of AVS and investigates.	
	Y	F.1.7	The Supplier will not charge HMPO customers a further fee for the submission of any additional documentation received after the initial AVS appointment.	
Y	Y	F.1.8	The Supplier shall keep a record of all refunds requested, those processed and the date they were completed and report these to the Authority.	
Y	Y	F.1.9	The Supplier shall ensure refunds are actioned within 5 (five) Working Days of the decision that they are due.	
Y	Y	F.1.10	The Supplier shall assist the Customer in tracking refunds where needed, for example, providing reference numbers to enable the bank to locate payments.	
Y	Y	F.1.11	Any Fees taken by the Supplier on behalf of the Authority must be remitted to the Authority on a weekly basis no later than 12:00 GMT on the Wednesday immediately following the end of each week.	
Y	Y	F.1.12	The Supplier shall provide details to the Authority of each week's remittance in a single document to be received no later than 12:00 GMT on the Wednesday immediately following the end of each week.	

Y	Y	F.1.13	All AVS are offered and outlined as a non-mandatory service for the Customer and there is no obligation on the Customer to purchase any AVS as part of the service.	
Y	Y	F.1.14	The Supplier shall ensure all communications and materials relating to AVS will make this clear to Customers at all points of interaction. Those communications and materials shall describe all payment options, the relative merits, and present the Customer with the cheapest option for their entire Customer Journey, including PV/ SPV, to completion of Application.	
Y	Y	F.1.15	The Supplier shall provide the Authority with a report every month of the number of Customers who have upgraded to PV/SPV: • through their Website providing details and the type of upgrade; • the amount paid, payment method used, and currency paid in; and • at the Location and the type of upgrade	
	Y	F.1.16	The Supplier shall accept payments for HMPO dependent on the submission method required by HMPO, either: • For customers applying digitally the Supplier shall allow the customer access to gov.pay via the gov.uk passport portal; or	

		For customers exceptionally applying using a paper form the Supplier will accept a completed payment mandate (in sterling) and submit this to HMPO for processing	
Y	F.1.17	The Supplier shall provide a contingency arrangement in the event the agreed HMPO payment mechanism cannot be initiated.	

Section G – Identity Check, Document Verification, Submission & Retention - Ensures the correct Customer, Identities are checked and matched to the Customer and the Customer's Passport is either retained or transferred to the Authority for the purpose of decision issuing.

UKVI	НМРО	G.1: Identity	Check:	Authority Responsibility
		Sets out detail	on checking identity.	
Υ		G.1.1	The Supplier shall check every Customer's identity at the point of Application submission, and in doing so the Supplier shall ensure that all Customers use their passport or other recognised Travel Document as identification unless otherwise agreed by the Authority, and that the Customer beyond reasonable doubt is the live person as identified by those documents.	
Y	Y	G.1.2	The Supplier will check the identity of the Customer attending the interview using details provided by the authority, these details may include a photo image and bio details. The Supplier shall note any discrepancies in the Customer's responses and record the completion of the identity check. The Supplier shall ensure the	The Authority shall ensure the Supplier has the required details to confirm a Customer's identity before they are due to attend the interview appointment.

			discrepancies are shared with the Authority to support the interview and decision making.	
Y	Y	G.1.3	Where a child's passport is collected by the Customer who made the application, the Supplier shall confirm the identity of the Customer (and, only for HMPO applications, compare the Customer's signature to one given at the submission of the application).	
Y	Y	G.1.4	Where a third party collects the passport, the Supplier shall complete identity checks, this will include; checking the third party holds a letter signed by the Customer providing authority to collect the passport; comparing the Customer's signature to one given at the submission of the application (for HMPO only); checking an identity document for the third party which includes a photo image; and checking the receipt issued at the point of submission for the documents.	

UKVI	НМРО	_	Document Verification – sets out detail on checking ansferring detail to the Authority.	Authority Responsibility
Y		G.2.1	The Supplier shall tri-scan (UV, IR, Visible White light plus Coaxial White light) the Customer's passport or Travel Document to ensure its integrity and escalate any concerns to the Authority as soon as appropriate and possible.	
Y		G.2.3	The Supplier shall send the result of the tri-scan, including any verification report on the document	The Authority reserves right to intervene with the Supplier's

			scanned and an image of any immigration and amendment pages from the passport to the Authority immediately alongside a photograph of the Applicant taken by the Supplier (that shall also be used for the Biometric Capture), along with confirmation of proof of liveness.	processing of any Application if there are concerns about the integrity of the identity based on the tri-scan.
Y	Y	G.2.4	The Supplier shall have the functionality and capacity to read all ICAO compliant chipped passports' chips and validate the encryption keys.	
Y		G.2.5	The Supplier shall physically check the Customer's passport/Travel Document to ensure it matched the details capture in the tri-scan and has not been tampered with or otherwise falsified, and if it has, shall notify the Authority immediately whilst proceeding with the Applications.	
Y		G.2.6	The Supplier shall validate the machine readable zone (MRZ) of the passport to ensure it matches the details capture in the tri-scan and has not been tampered with or otherwise falsified, and if it has, shall notify the Authority immediately whilst proceeding with the Applications. The Supplier shall ensure that the Application is updated with details on the MRZ if those on the Application do not match those on the MRZ.	
Υ		G.2.7	The Supplier shall ensure that the Customer's biographic details (name, date of birth, nationality, sex,	

			and passport or Travel Document number as presented) match those recorded.	
Y		G.2.8	Where applicable the Supplier must also check that any third-party attending is authorised to do so by checking for written authority from the Customer and subsequent agreement from the Authority.	
Y	Y	G.2.9	Where there is concern about the integrity of the identity of a Customer or potential Customer at any point and that concern cannot be resolved by the Supplier, the Supplier shall escalate that concern to the Authority as soon as appropriate and possible.	
Y		G.2.10	The Supplier shall ensure all the Customer's supporting evidence documents, images and Biometric Data collated include the Unique Application Number (UAN) as the primary key for associating Customers with their Applications.	

UKVI	НМРО	out detail as p Customer's Pa	olication Document Submission & Retention – sets art of the Visa Application process for managing assport and other key evidence documents either to the Authority or retaining it.	Authority Responsibility
Y		G.3.1	Following the completion of identity checking and document verification requirements the Supplier shall retain the Customer's passport in a secure and controlled storage area and issue them with a	

		receipt to confirm the time and submission and retention of their Passport.	
		The Supplier shall issue the Customer with a receipt to confirm time and date of submission and retention of their passport. This may form part of any other singular document that constitutes a receipt for services received by the Customer.	
Y	G.3.2	According to Annex A (Zones: Description), the Supplier shall either: • ensure the Customer's passport is delivered to the Authority's Decision Making Center or a document handling center nominated by the Authority and is packaged in a tamper-evident envelope with a safe and strong mechanism that makes any attempt to open or physically tamper with the contents readily evident; or • store the Customer's Passport in accordance with Schedule 2.4 (Security Management); or • on occasion return the Passport to the Customer at the end of the Biometric Capture event.	
Y	G.3.3	The Supplier shall ensure that any passport sent between any Supplier location, Authority location or the	

			Customer is identified by a Unique Application Number provided by the Authority.	
Y		G.3.4	The Supplier shall ensure that where any Passport is sent between any Supplier location it is packaged in a tamper-evident envelope with a safe and strong mechanism that makes any attempt to open or physically tamper with the contents readily evident.	
Y		G.3.5	The Supplier shall ensure the Customer is aware of the submission, transportation, Vignette affixing and return process in relation to their Passport, including where the Passport shall be stored at each stage. Then the Supplier shall obtain all necessary consents to handle the Customer's passport(s) in accordance with this process.	
Y		G.3.6	Where required to deliver Passports to the Authority, the Supplier shall record and maintain up to date information on the location and status of each package, from its collection at the Location to delivery at the Authority. The Supplier shall provide the Authority upon request any information it requires on the location, status and expected delivery times of the Customer's Passport.	
Y	Y	G.3.8	Within 24 hours of becoming aware and notifying the Authority of any damaged, lost or stolen Passports, the	

Supplier shall produce a detailed Incident Report, which shall include, but not be limited to: The Supplier's delivery tracking reference; The date an time the event occurred (if known); The date and time the event was discovered;
 A threat assessment; The nature & cause of the event; Steps being taken to resolve the situation; Remedial action taken to mitigate risk of a future occurrence.

Section H – Document Upload Assistance (mandatory AVS for UKVI)

UKVI	НМРО	H.1: Document Upload Assistance:	Authority Responsibility
		Customers have the opportunity to upload documents from home, as part of their initial Application through Gov.UK. The Supplier is required to offer a mandated AVS for Document Upload Assistance, where a Customer has opted not to upload documents as part of their initial Application.	
		For HMPO Customers the ability to upload documents must be free of charge in mandated Locations (see Annex A (Zones: Description)). In non-mandated overseas Locations document upload will be part of an AVS.	

Y	H.1.1	The Supplier must offer a AVS for Document Upload Assistance to Customers, including at each of the Locations.	
Υ	H.1.2	Where the Customer chooses Document Upload Assistance, the Supplier shall digitally scan any supporting evidence documents provided by the Customer The Supplier will store the digitised documents prior to transferring these to the Authority.	
Y	H.1.3	Where required by the Authority, the Supplier shall provide the Document Upload Assistance to certain Customers (for example, Vulnerable cohorts - Family Reunion or Windrush) without charge to the Customer.	The Authority shall define any such cohorts.
Υ	H.1.5	Where Customers provide non-format evidence which cannot be digitised (e.g. that which is delicate/fragile, oversized or any considered inappropriate) they should be asked to photocopy this evidence to a suitable standard that the Supplier can digitise.	

Υ	H.1.6	The Supplier shall ensure the Customer's Supporting Evidence can be categorised in accordance with categories agreed during Implementation.	
Y	H.1.7	The Customer and Supplier shall confirm what Supporting Evidence has been provided by the Customers as directed by the application document checklist The application document checklist and Customersigned confirmation must be digitised and transmitted by the Supplier to the Authority as part of the digitised Supporting Evidence.	guidance documentation required

Section I - Biometrics

UKVI	НМРО	I.1: Biometric Enr	olment:	Authority Responsibility
		Describes the process for enrolling a Customer's Biometric Data.		
Y		I.1.1	The Supplier shall complete the Biometric Capture for all Customers who attend a Biometric Capture appointment.	
Y		1.1.2	The Supplier shall ensure that all information captured from Customers as part of Biometric Capture is undertaken in line with the HOB-	

		S001 Biometric conformance for Service Consumers v3.04 June 21	
Y	I.1	The Supplier shall ensure that Biometric Data is taken from the named Customers who booked the same appointment.	
Υ	I.1	The Supplier shall identify and flag SPV/PV Application types as part of Biometric Capture.	
Y	I.1	The Supplier shall ensure appropriate security, supervision and auditable controls are in place, ensuring the integrity of Biometric Data and Biometric Capture.	
Y	I.1	The Authority conducts Biometric Capture in a number of Embassies, Consulates and other Authority locations. The Supplier shall provide and maintain Biometric Capture Devices, including hardware and software within these locations, as indicated in Annex A (Zones: Description). The Biometric Capture Devices must be able to take the facial and fingerprint images as outlined in the best practice document. The Supplier shall include instruction on how to use the equipment	Biometric Enrolment in embassies, consulates and other Authority locations indicated in Annex A – (Zones: Description) The Authority shall ensure Suppliers can access the Embassies, Consulates and other Authority locations to maintain biometric equipment.

Y	1.1.7	Biometric Data records of any type shall be flagged with its application type: PV/SPV or otherwise.	
Y	1.1.8	Where the Supplier suspects any attempt to undermine the integrity of the Biometric Capture process is being made, the Supplier shall report this to the Authority immediately.	

UKVI	НМРО	I.2: Biometric Data	a Transfer:	Authority Responsibility
		Describes the prod Authority.	cess for transferring this Biometric Data to the	
Y		I.2.1	The Supplier shall ensure that Biometric Data is successfully transmitted to the Authority in accordance with the DDaT/ Technical documents – Data Room.	
Y		1.2.2	All Biometric Data will be transferred to the Authority as-near-to-real time as possible and no later than within 12 hours for standard Applications and within 30 mins for PV/SPV Applications; the Supplier shall	

		notify the Authority immediately if this is not possible.	
Y	1.2.3	For any period prior to the Biometric Data's transmission to the Authority, the Supplier's Biometric equipment must have the capability to hold the data securely until it can be transferred to the Authority.	
Υ	1.2.4	The Supplier shall retain Biometric Data only until it has been successfully transferred to the Authority	

UKVI	НМРО	I.3: Biometric Re	ecording:	
		•	ocess for capturing a video recording the Biometric of ensuring the integrity of the process.	Authority Responsibility
Y		1.3.1	The Supplier shall ensure that for each Customer continuous video footage is recorded from the moment the Customer first enters the Biometric Capture area up until they finally leave the Biometric Capture area.	

Υ	1.3.2	The Supplier shall ensure that the video footage recorded across the Biometric Capture event clearly and continuously shows each element of the Biometric Capture event where each Customer has their photographic image taken, each fingerprint taken and their signature scanned (signature scanning not applicable for Lot 5 - UK).	
Y	1.3.3	The Supplier shall capture still images at five (5) second intervals showing each element of the Biometric Capture event where each Customer has their photographic image taken, each fingerprint taken, and their signature scanned (signature scanning not applicable for Lot 5 – UK). The still image capture shall commence when the first of these elements is undertaken and shall cease when the last element has been successfully completed.	
Y	1.3.4	The Supplier shall ensure that each Customer and each member of the Supplier's staff participating in each Biometric Capture event shall be clearly identifiable from the recorded video footage.	
Y	1.3.5	The Supplier shall ensure that the Digital Recording File is compatible with the Authority's current system. The Supplier shall record any still images in PDF format and any video footage in mp4 format.	

Y	1.3.6	The Supplier shall make both the still images and the video footage available to the Authority via a cloud-based portal that can be securely accessed by the Authority at will. The Supplier shall make any still images and video footage available to the Authority via the cloud-based portal for 180 days after each day any elements of the Service have taken place in each Location.	
Y	1.3.7	 The Supplier shall ensure that via the cloud-based portal both the still images and the video footage can be searched for, and purged, by any combination of the following identifiers: The Authority's Unique Application Number assigned to the application associated with that Biometric Capture event; The data and time that the associated Biometric Capture event concluded; Location that the associated Biometric Capture event took place in; and/ or The member of Supplier staff that undertook the associated Biometric Capture event. 	

Y	1.3.8	The Supplier shall make available to the Authority both the still images and the video footage no later than in the timelines applicable for the transfer to the Authority of the associated Biometric Data.	
---	-------	--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--

Section J – Digital Interviewing Support – In support of a Customer's Application, some Customers are required to take part in a Digital Interview to provide more information to the Authority. Note this is only required in limited volumes at limited locations.

UKVI	НМРО	interviewing facil	Iterviewing Support - To provide secure ities to enable a Customer to take part in a remote between the controlled environment of a Location thority location.	Authority Responsibility
Y	Y	J.1.1	The Supplier shall facilitate Digital Interviewing at Locations within the Zones indicated in Annex A Zones: Description. The Supplier shall provide all hardware and software required in order for the Customer to be interviewed as part of the Supplier System. Devices must be able to run MS Teams or equivalent video conferencing software which requires a video bandwidth of at least 1.5Mbps.	The Authority will provide the Supplier in advance with the Digital Interviewing schedule for each day to include as a minimum the name and UAN of the Customer and the scheduled time of their Digital Interview.
Y	Y	J.1.2	The Supplier shall ensure that the Biometric Data of the Customer matches the Customer, after any previous identity verification and immediately before the Digital Interview commences.	

Υ	Y	J.1.3	The Supplier shall ensure the Digital Interviewing facilities are enclosed, secure and private.	
Υ	Y	J.1.4	The Supplier shall only accept Customers for a Digital Interview who had a valid booking and have arrived at the correct time and on the correct date for their interview and whose identity has been confirmed.	

Section K – Vignettes and Passport Management – The Supplier shall support the Authority issuing its decision on a Customer's Visa Application by undertaking a combination of Vignette Management, Remote Vignette Printing and returning the Passport to the Customer. The Supplier shall deliver the elements for each Zone as per Annex A (Zones: Description) to this Schedule 2.1

UKVI	НМРО		gnette Printing – The overarching requirement rocess to print Vignettes.	Authority Responsibility
Y		K.1.1	Where required by the Authority the Supplier shall work collaboratively with the Authority, using available forecasting data, to anticipate Vignette demand to ensure that sufficient stock is available to meet demand (including seasonal demand) and continually ensure the Supplier has sufficient Vignettes and resources to conduct printing duties.	The Authority will provide UKVI volume forecasts for Vignette usage.
Y		K.1.2	The Supplier shall ensure a secure environment solely for the printing, handling and storage of Vignettes in accordance with Schedule 2.4 (Security Management) and having the following features:	

Y	K.1.3	a) Continuous CCTV video coverage that covers the external door to the room, to capture footage of who enters, or attempts to enter, the room; Doors into the room should be fitted with an auto-closing mechanism; The Vignette safe dual-locking safe should be located inside the printing room. If this is not possible, the safe must be located in close proximity, on the same floor, and in a separate room with access control/lock. This safe must only be used only to store Vignettes and not used to store passports or any other documents This footage shall be stored by the Supplier and made available to the Authority electronically within one (1) Working Day of the request being made.	
Y	K.1.4	b) Restricted access to the areas where Vignettes are printed, stored and handled	
Y	K.1.5	c) A lockable cupboard/drawer for temporary storage of Vignettes should the visa writer need to leave the room during the printing process;	
Υ	K.1.6	The Supplier shall ensure that appropriate security clearances in place for staff printing and handling Vignettes in accordance with UKVI International CP Scanning Vignette Handling SOPs.	

Y	K.1.7	The Supplier shall ensure records of all Vignettes printed, spoiled/cancelled due to damage/errors are kept and made available to the Authority upon request.	l he nrinted. I his list serves as
Υ	K.1.8	Where the remote Vignette printing is undertaken at a different location to the Location, the Supplier shall be required to securely receive and manage the printed Vignettes in line with the Commercial Partner Remote Printing (CPRP) SOPs.	

UKVI	НМРО	manage process	lanagement – The overarching requirement to s to ensure Authority-issued Vignettes are affixed passports in line with the required Standards.	Authority Responsibility
Y		K.2.1	As requested by the Authority the Supplier shall deliver the Vignette Management process with Vignettes either received from the Authority or with those previously printed by the Supplier.	
Y		K.2.2	As requested by the Authority the Supplier shall transport pre-printed Vignettes from the Authority's location of choice to the Location.	
Υ		K.2.3	The Supplier is required to track delivery of Vignette consignments from the Authority,	

		immediately notifying the Authority of any delay, damaged or lost consignments.	
Y	K.2.4	Where the Authority has requested that Vignette Management is offered in a Location, the Supplier shall ensure a secure environment for the handling and storage of Vignettes. Where pre-approved by the Authority, this secure environment may be the same as that used for remote Vignette printing. The Supplier's solution for Vignette handling should meet the requirements of the UKVI International CP Scanning Vignette Handling SOPs including:	
Y	K.2.5	a) Continuous CCTV coverage in the areas where Vignettes are stored and handled. This footage shall be stored by the Supplier and made available to the Authority electronically within one (1) Working Day of the request being made.	
Y	K.2.6	b) Restricted access to the areas were Vignettes are stored and handled	
Y	K.2.7	c) Appropriate security clearances in place for staff handling Vignettes	
Y	K.2.8	d) Clear audit trails for the handling of Vignettes, stored Travel Documents.	
Y	K.2.9	The Supplier shall carefully check each Vignette against the passport bio-details page to ensure	

		that the Vignette is allocated to the correct passport and affixed accurately.	
Y	K.2.10	The Supplier shall follow Vignette endorsement procedures in line with the UKVI International CP Scanning Vignette Handling SOPs.	
Y	K.2.11	The Supplier is required to affix Vignettes to the correct Travel Document on the date of receipt from the Authority. Where an error is identified by the Supplier, the Vignette must be destroyed in line with the UKVI International CP Scanning Vignette Handling SOPs. The Supplier shall immediately notify the Authority of any errors.	
Y	K.2.12	The Supplier is required to store and handle Travel Documents in accordance with the Schedule 2.4.	
Y	K.2.13	The Supplier must report any security breaches, or suspected security breaches, involving Vignette management to the Authority immediately by email/phone and an incident log sent within 24 hours.	
Y	K.2.14	When requested by the Authority the Supplier shall manage the secure destruction of any Vignettes that are no longer required in accordance with the UKVI International CP Scanning Vignette Handling SOPs, and provide auditable records of the date, reference number and reason for destruction.	

UKVI	НМРО	returning the Pa Authority's decis	Return to the Customer - Requirements for assport to the Customer following the sion upon their Visa Application; if applicable, Vignette by either the Authority or the	Authority Responsibility
		K.3.1	Where Customer passports have been previously transferred to the Authority's Decision Making Center, when instructed by the Authority, the Supplier shall collect the Passport from the Authority and, in accordance with Annex A (Zones: Description) to this Schedule 2.1, either: • Where the Supplier has the ability to securely store passports, the Supplier shall securely deliver the Customer passports to the Location from which the Customer originally submitted their passport; or • Where the Supplier cannot securely store Passports, the Supplier shall securely deliver the Customer's passport to the address nominated by the Customer at time of submitting their passport via a courier service. This is at no additional charge to the Customer.	
Y		K.3.2	The Supplier shall inform the Customer as soon as practicably possible of either:	

		When the passport will be available for the Customer to collect from the Location where they originally undertook biometric enrolment; or	
		That their passport has been dispatched to their given address along with an estimated date of delivery.	
Y	K.3.3	Where a Customer is required to collect their passport from a Location, the Supplier shall provide a designated area within the Location for passport collection.	
		The Supplier shall ensure that this service is accessible to the Customer without the need for a pre-booked appointment and for at least 2 hours per day within Core Service Hours whenever the Location is open for Biometric Capture.	
Y	K.3.4	The Supplier shall ensure that during transportation of the Customer's passport it is packaged in a tamper-evident envelope with a safe and strong mechanism that makes any attempt to open or physically tamper with the contents readily evident.	

Y		K.3.5	Where required to transport passports from the Authority, the Supplier shall record and maintain up to date information on the location and status of each package, from its collection at the Decision Making Center, document handling center or other organisations office to its arrival at the Location, between Locations or the Customer's nominated address. The Supplier shall provide the Authority upon request any information it requires on the location, status and expected delivery times of the Customer's passport for any stage of its transportation that the Supplier is in control of.	
Y	Y	K.3.6	The Supplier shall ensure that all Customers' passports held in storage remain secure and controlled within the Location. Details of the secure and controlled area for the storage of Passports shall be provided in the Supplier's Security Plan in accordance with Schedule 2.4 (Security Management), which should include, but not be limited to the provision of a fire-proof safe and an access-controlled area that is covered by continuous CCTV coverage.	
Y	Y	K.3.7	The Supplier shall ensure that access to passports held in storage or couriered is restricted to only authorised Supplier Personnel with a role in passport submission, transportation, or Vignette affixing, and only when such Supplier	

	1		D	
			Personnel require access to perform their	
			work roles.	
Y	Y	K.3.8	The Supplier shall ensure that any passport or document sent between any Supplier location, Authority location or the Customer is identified by a Unique Application Number provided by the Authority.	
Y	Y	K.3.9	The Supplier shall make country specific arrangements for the receipt, transfer and tracking of passports and other documents which cannot be delivered directly to / from the Supplier, and to / from the required Authority location.	
Y	Y	K.3.10	All passports and other documents that are being transported must be correctly recorded, tracked and adhering to crossborder document transfer legislation where appropriate.	
Y		K.3.11	The Supplier shall store Customers' passports which are unclaimed for a period of three (3) months unless otherwise agreed with the Authority. At the end of this period the Supplier, with the agreement from the Authority, shall return the document to the nearest passport issuing Government representative for that country and keep a record and receipt of that return. The Supplier shall make every reasonable effort at regular intervals to remind the	
Y	Y	K.3.12	Customer to collect their passport throughout this period including notifying them of its return to the Authority if applicable.	

1		T 0 " 1 " 1 " 1 " 1 " 1 " 1 " 1 " 1 " 1 "	
		•	
		being submitted.	
Υ	K.3.13	The Supplier shall inform the Authority of any	
		details of missing Passports for which it	
		cannot account and which are confirmed as	
		missing whilst they are in the Supplier's	
		control.	
		The Supplier shall be responsible for	
		them as confidential and valuable.	
		The Supplier shall inform the Authority as	
		1	
Υ	K.3.14	·	
		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	
		,	
		Steps being taken to resolve the situation;	
	Y		details of missing Passports for which it cannot account and which are confirmed as missing whilst they are in the Supplier's control. The Supplier shall be responsible for Customers' Passports while they are in transit or at the Suppliers Facilities and treat them as confidential and valuable. The Supplier shall inform the Authority as soon as possible and in any case within one (1) Working Day of the Supplier's discovery of missing passports The Supplier is responsible for Customer communications and management relative to lost Passports. Y K.3.14 Within 24 hours of notifying the Authority of any damaged, lost or stolen Passports, the Supplier shall produce a detailed Incident Report, which shall include, but not be limited to: • The Supplier's delivery tracking reference; • The date & time the event occurred (if known); • The date & time the event was discovered; • A threat assessment; • The nature & cause of the event;

			Remedial action taken to mitigate risk of a future occurrence.	
Y	Y	K3.15	The Supplier shall be responsible for costs incurred due to the loss, theft, or damage of any items, including any associated out of pocket expenses.	

Section L – HMPO specific requirements – sets out the requirements specific to the delivery of services for Customers wishing to submit passport Applications and Supporting Documents. The Supplier shall also facilitate Digital Interviews, the collection of the new passport and cancellation of the old passport.

[HMPO additional context pending, to cover four entry routes/ types of Customer Journey and any other relevant distinctions]

UKVI	НМРО	Documents - T	ion of Application and Supporting The Supplier shall support the Customer or omit applications to the Authority.	Authority Responsibility
	Y	L.1.1	The Supplier shall enable the submission of passport Applications, supporting documents and payments with either a paper Application form or on-line service (using the Gov.uk passport portal) by both Customers and third parties. HMPO will determine the standard in-country submission method.	The Authority will determine and provide to the Supplier the agreed submission method of HMPO passport Applications for each country where the service applies.
	Y	L.1.2	When a paper form is used the Supplier shall check that it is complete, correct, and legible. Where the paper form is not legible, the Supplier shall provide the Customer with a new copy of the form and if necessary, support the Customer in completion of the form.	The Authority will provide access to the required forms for HMPO.

	Y	L.1.3	The Supplier shall complete the checklist at the time of submission of any HMPO passport Application. This includes the Supplier: • ensuring all relevant evidence is supplied (or an explanation provided if documents are missing); • confirming documents as true copies of the originals where colour photocopies or colour scanned images are used; • noting on the checklist the document(s) (or scanned images) provided; • ensuring the Customer confirms receipt of any returned documents; and • providing the Customer with a copy of the confirmed checklist.	
	Y	L.1.4	The Supplier shall ensure all relevant evidence is supplied to the Authority in the format stipulated by the Authority. The format may be original documents, colour photocopies or scanned images.	

Y	L.1.5	Where Customers provide non-format evidence which cannot be digitised (e.g. that which is delicate/fragile, oversized or any considered inappropriate) they should be asked to photocopy this evidence to a suitable standard that the Supplier can digitise.	
Y	L.1.6	The Supplier shall be able to capture a suitable digital photo of the Customer for an HMPO overseas passport Application which the Authority shall verify meets required standards.	
Y	L.1.7	The Supplier shall be able to accept a suitable photo (both digital and physical) sent by a Customer as part of an HMPO overseas passport Application which the Authority shall verify meets required standards.	
Y	L.1.8	The Supplier shall clearly label each Customer's supporting documents. This labelling system should be visually clear and digitally clear, and be agreed in advance with the Authority. And in particular it shall clearly flag where the application is part of a family block.	The Authority to approve the labelling system for family groups applying for HMPO passport applications

Y L.1.9	The Supplier shall use the Union Application Number provided by Authority to the Customer for registration and tracking of documentation or associated with Customer's Application
---------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

UKVI	НМРО		Documents - The Supplier shall support digitise Customer's documents.	Authority Responsibility
	Y	L.2.1	For HMPO, the Supplier is responsible for digitising supporting evidence documents on behalf of the Customer as per the DDaT/Technical documents – Data Room and submitting it to the Authority.	
	Y	L.2.2	The Supplier shall provide Document Upload Assistance free of charge to HMPO customers in those Locations marked as 'HMPO Mandatory Locations in Annex A (Zones: Description). In all other Locations it may be offered as an AVS	
	Y	L.2.3	The Supplier shall ensure that scanned documents are categorised in line with the UK Visa and Citizenship Applications Services (UKVCAS) Standard Operating Procedure (SOPs) Suppliers User Guide v3.7, correctly orientated and legible.	

UKVI	НМРО	Supplier shall	of Application and Documents - The ensure applications are securely shipped y, collaborating with logistics providers as	Authority Responsibility
	Y	L.3.1	The Supplier shall ensure for any paper application that the Customer's supporting documents including any Application forms, photos, payment mandates and /or copied documents, to be delivered to HMPO document handling units, are individually packaged and labelled (documents relating to a block booking are classed as an individual package), in a manner that ensures that the physical supporting documents are securely placed together.	Authority to supply the Document Handling Unit address to be used for each Location for HMPO passport applications.
	Y	L.3.2	The Supplier shall ensure they use the correct method of shipment to the correct delivery address of the designated HMPO document handling unit.	Authority to supply the Document Handling Unit address to be used for each Location for HMPO passport applications.
	Y	L.3.3	The Supplier shall ensure that they complete any reconciliation logs (e.g. a manifest) as required by the Authority's third-party logistics providers.	

Y L.3.4

UKVI	НМРО	Authority to co	nterviews - The Supplier shall support the onduct digital interviews, facilitating the omplete the process. Note this is only ted volumes at limited locations.	Authority Responsibility
	Y	L.4.1	The Supplier will check the identity of the Customer attending the interview using details provided by the authority, these details may include a photo image and bio details. The Supplier shall note any discrepancies in the Customer's responses and record the completion of the identity check. The Supplier shall ensure the discrepancies are shared with the Authority to support the interview and decision making.	has the required details to confirm a Customer's identity before they are due

UKVI HMPO L.5: Collection of Passport and Documents - The Supplier shall support the Customer or named third party to collect the passport and/or supporting documents when the application has been processed.	bility
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------

 •			
Y	L.5.1	The Supplier shall contact the Customer promptly to advise that their Passport and / or documents have arrived for collection at the Service Point and that the Customer should make arrangements to collect. The Supplier must make reasonable attempts to contact the Customer i.e., make contact on at least three occasions. All timescales will be agreed with the Authority.	
Y	L.5.2	Where the Customer collects the passport, the Supplier shall complete identity checks, this will include; comparing the photo in the passport to the Customer, asking the Customer to confirm their full name and date of birth, comparing the customer's signature to one given at the submission of the application, checking the receipt issued at the point of submission for the documents, and checking an identity document which includes a photo and signature.	
Y	L.5.3	Where a child's passport is collected by the Customer who made the application, the Supplier shall confirm the identity by comparing the Customer's signature to one given at the submission of the application.	
Y	L.5.4	Where a third party collects the passport, the Supplier shall complete identity checks, this will include; checking the third party holds a letter signed by the Customer	

		providing authority to collect the passport, comparing the Customer's signature to one given at the submission of the application, checking an identity document for the third party which includes a photo image, and checking the receipt issued at the point of submission for the documents.	
Y	L.5.5	The Supplier shall ensure that the Customer has brought their previous passport (if retained) to the collection appointment. The Supplier shall cancel the previous passport as instructed by the Authority.	with instructions of how to cancel
Y	L.5.6	The Supplier shall return uncollected passports and passports with errors, to the Authority after 30 days.	

Section M – Complaints and Customer Insight

UKVI	НМРО	M1: Complaints:	Authority Responsibility
		In order to continually improve Services and remedy issues, a clear process is required to ensure Customers are able to raise Complaints, and to ensure those Complaints are investigated and action taken where necessary.	

	 The Supplier shall: make the complaints process readily available to the Customer. Present the complaints management procedure to the Authority or agreement no later than sixty (60) days after the Effective Date. This procedure shall include the resolution paths for all complaint routes (how or where they were raised). Manage the end-to-end complaints procedure and make it readily available and clear to the Customer. provide clear instructions on how to make a complaint. Draft the response using language to ensure that the Customer understands the reply. notify the Authority of the resolution, both successful and unsuccessful. escalate to the Authority any complaints that need a formal response from the Authority. 	Y M.1.1	Y
--	----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	---------	---

 keep a current and comprehensive record of all complaints at any stage of their lifecycle, the content of their correspondence up to and including their resolution and provide details of the categories and volumes of complaints to the Authority. examine and evaluate complaints jointly with the Authority and use 	
those findings to identify areas for service improvement and make those improvements.	

UKVI	НМРО	Sets out the re	r Insight and Continuous Improvement quirements for capturing Customer Feedback, mer Insight and sharing this with the Authority.	Authority Responsibility
Y	Y	M.2.1	Supplier shall collect Customer Feedback and conduct quantitative and qualitative research into Customer Satisfaction summarised monthly in a report sent to the Authority, and shall use this for the purposes of: • identifying and progressing continuous improvement initiatives;	The Authority will collaborate throughout all Customer Insight and continuous improvement activity

			 Building an understanding of the needs of different types of Customers; Analysing insight/ satisfaction data and trends and using this information to develop new products and services that are based on Customer's needs and demands; Inform innovation group of underlying challenges or opportunities that can inform evolution of the Services; Evidence of sharing and adoption of best practice; Collaborative resolution of issues; Joint planning towards strategic goals (thematic feedback, SRs, operating model revisions)
Y	Y	M.2.2	The Supplier shall provide the Authority with the access to or capability to generate or receive reports based on the nearest-to-live instances of Customer and Service data.

UKVI	REF	N.3: Local / Regional specific requirements	Authority Responsibility
Y	N.3.1	For locations see table 1 below The Supplier shall allow Customers applying for Republic of Ireland (ROI) Visas to book appointments according to Section D above, in order to then allow those Customers' Biometric Capture according to Section I above.	
Y	N.3.2	Simultaneous to submitting a Customer's Biometrics to the Authority, the Supplier shall also send those Biometrics to the Irish Naturalisation and Immigration Service (INIS) of the ROI according to the Interface Control Documents.	

Section O DNA Testing services (non-mandatory AVS)

UKVI	НМРО	Reference / title	Requirement	Authority Responsibility
Y	Y	O.1	The Supplier shall provide DNA Tests for those Customers overseas and in the UK who wish to provide such evidence in order to match family members as part of their Application	
Υ	Y	O.2	The Supplier shall ensure appointments for DNA Tests are provided within two (2) weeks of a Customer's request.	
Υ	Y	O.3	The Supplier shall ensure a suitable medical practitioner collects the samples from DNA Test subjects within the Location.	
Y	Y	O.4	The Supplier shall check the Customer's identity at the point of a DNA test by checking the DNA request from the Authority, the correspondence confirming the appointment, and, if requested by the Authority, an official ID document as agreed with the Authority.	
Y	Y	O.5	When a third party will accompany a child to a DNA test the Supplier shall confirm the name and details of the third party at the point the appointment is made. Upon arrival at the Location the Supplier shall check the	

			third party's identification before allowing access to the Location.	
Y	Y	O.6	The Supplier shall witness sample collection, ensuring there is a clear and obvious segregation of duties between roles of the medial practitioner and the Supplier staff.	
Y	Y	0.7	The Supplier shall ensure that DNA Tests are undertaken in ISO/IEC17025 accredited laboratories.	
Y	Y	O.8	The Laboratory shall communicate test result to the Authority and Customers simultaneously via a method that meets DPIA and GDPR regulations, within 21 days of sample collection. The Supplier shall ensure at point of sample taking that the Customer has granted permission for results to be shared accordingly.	
Y	Y	O.9	The report sent to HMPO must also include a copy of identification documents received at the time of testing.	

Table 1 Zones for ROI MoU

Country	Zone
India	Delhi
India	Chandigarh
India	Jalandhar
India	Mumbai South
India	Pune
India	Ahmedabad
India	Chennai
India	Bangalore
India	Hyderabad
India	Cochin
India	Kolkata

Table 2 Annex A Zones: Description:

Column Title	Description
VCAS Lot Confirmation of Delivery of Service Model	the Country or Countries (as the case may be) identified as such in the public procurement process that resulted in the award of this Agreement for which the Services are supplied under this Agreement (or where the context requires) another agreement entered into pursuant to that public procurement process; the Supplier's confirmation whether it will provide the Service Model identified in the Service Model column in the Zone;
Service Model	 Service required at Location: ie: 'VCAS Center': as defined in Schedule 1 (Definitions); 'Bio kit only': Provision of Biometric Capture equipment to these Locations, per requirement I.1.6 of this Schedule 2.1 and Column Q 'Bio Kits for Authority Locally' of the Zones List; 'Courier & Bio kit': Provision of Biometric Capture Devices to these Locations, per requirement I.1.6 of this Schedule 2.1 and Column Q 'Bio Kits for Authority Locally' of the Zones List, as well as passport return services per requirements in Section K of this Schedule 2.1; 'None' denotes the Lot of the Country of this Zone, ie should the Authority request Services in such Zones post-Award; "Premium Application Center': a Mandatory Premium Application Center, as defined in Schedule 1 (Definitions); 'Processing Hub': places in which the Authority requests non-Customer facing aspects of the Services to be delivered, in support of 'Courier and Bio kit' Services, and 'Premium VCAS Center' Services in New Zealand and the US respectively.
Current Funding Model	For info only:

	'User Pays': Locations which attract the User Pays Regulated Fee that Customers must pay to the Supplier at time of appointment booking and pass through to HO (currently £55).
	 'Free to Use': Locations nominated by UKVI that do not attract that £55 surcharge to Customers.
Mandated Minimum Opening Frequency	Minimum opening hours required at that Zone.
Local Working Days	Where not as defined in Core Service Hours
Local Working Hours	Where not as defined in Core Service Hours
Local language required in addition to English	Languages to be offered in addition to English.
Crime	Crime risk rating based on the Zone
Terror	Terrorism risk rating based on the Zone
Comb.	Combined risk rating based on the Zone
Priority Visa Service	PV should be offered within this Zone
Super Priority Visa Service	SPV should be offered within this Zone
Offline Payment Option	Cash Payments accepted at this Zone
Bio Kits for Authority locally	Biometric kits Supplier to provide and maintain for Embassies and, Consulate purposes.
VM	Vignette Management service required at this Zone
Current VM Location (if not VAC)	For info: Zones that Vignette Management is currently offered in
If no then UKVI Location for VM	Zones where Vignette Management is provided by UKVI
RVP	Remote printing of Vignettes required at this Zone
Current RVP Location (if not VAC)	Zones that remote Vignette printing is currently offered in
If NO then UKVI Location for Vignette Printing	Zones where remote Vignette printing is provided by UKVI
HMPO Mandatory Locations	Zones where it is mandatory for the supplier to provide application submission from HMPO customers
HMPO Passport Collection	HMPO passport collection required at this Zone

DNA Non-Mandatory AVS - HMPO	Zone where HMPO request DNA testing to be available					
Digital Interviewing UKVI	Digital Interviewing required for UKVI at this Zone					
Digital Interviewing HMPO	Digital Interviewing required for HMPO at this Zone					

						MANDATED	LOCAL LANGUAGE		ROLKSTIN.		PRIORITY	SUPER	OFFLINE	BIO KITS		VIGNATTI RODGEGISHIN	11 (Mark)		KENDTE VIGNETI	PROMING PO	7	Passort	HUPO	PRESIDENT.	DOCUME D	TIPS CONTRACT	DESIRABLE FOR
VCAS ESF	COUNTRY	20%	CONFRMATION OF DELIVERY OF SERVICE MODE.	SERVICE MODEL	COST TO CUSTOMER	MINIMUM OPENING REQUENCY	REQUIRED IN ADDITION TO ENGLISH	Crime	Terror	Combined	VSA SERVICE?	PRODRITY VISA SERVICE?	OPTION?	FOR AUTHORITY LOCALLY	wo	FOR INFORMATION ONLY Current VM location	If NO then Authority Secation for VM	PMF1	FOR INFORMATION ONLY Current RVP Location		thority location for to be more than \$	Collection Hours (Local)	HMPO Mandatory Lecation	Paupat Calection	UKSI	HMMO	DNA TESTING?
LUC Y - POUR & PALIS PALIS.	European .	U SU	106.	VOA CHIM	PTRETU SW	a code a max	194	WINGEL	Apr.	rigi	10.	76U	76U		765	Urana .	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	FIS.		194	198	22.00 - 25.00	100	- 14	760	100	105
LEC 4 - AGO & ALIO PROFIC	sargaden	Syriat	THE.	VCAS CRIEM	Dies safe	2 colo 2 may	49	Medura	Agr.	1482	305	740	160	0	Tes.	Syrut	iqu.	THE.	Marginos	442	rya .	22.00 - 25.00	104	14.	No.	146	100
LEC 4 - AGO & ALIO PROFIC	Mucon.	Integra	THE.	ACV2 CRASS.	Dies safe	NO MORNAN	49	SS-	ED-	224	No.	740	160	0	Tes.	15mphu	iqu.	740	qu	Access Careers	rya .	ties to customer (16	No.	No.	760	No.
LEC 4 - AGO & ALIO PROFIC	W/00	saraar sen seguan	THE.	VCAS CRIEM	Dies safe	NO MORNAN	49	224	ED-	224	305	740	160	0	Tes.	Mandar Sen Mighean	iqu.	740	qu	Mana	rya .	country to tustion	16	No.	No.	760	No.
LOC 4 - AGO & ALIO PROFIC	Carreges	PERGE PRE	THE.	VCAS CRIEM	Dies safe	NO MORNAN	49	Medura	ED-	SANGUM.	305	740	160	0	Tes.	PERGE PIE	iqu.	THE.	Marginos	2/2	rya .	26.00 - 25.00	104	14.	No.	146	No.
LEC 4 - AGO & ALIO PROFIC	100	Annecidad	THE.	VCAS CRIEM	F156 12 US	2 colo 2 may	49	Medura	Agr.	1482	305	146.	160	0	Tes.	Annediged	iqu.	740	qu	Access Careers	rya .	22.00 - 25.00	104	14.	No.	146	100
LEC 4 - AGO & ALIO PROFIC	100	endace.	THE.	VCAS CRIEM	F156 12 US	2 colo 2 may	49	224	Agr.	1482	305	146.	160	0	Tes.	sargaore	iqu.	740	qu	Access Careers	rya .	22.00 - 25.00	104	14.	No.	146	100
LEC 4 - AGO & ALIO PROFIC	100	Chanagers	THE.	VCAS CRIEM	F156 12 US	2 colo 2 may	49	Medura	Agr.	1482	305	146.	160	0	Tes.	Chanagan	iqu.	740	qu	Access Careers	rya .	22.00 - 25.00	104	14.	No.	146	100
LEC 4 - AGO & ALIO PROFIC	100	Crevus	THE.	VCAS CRIEM	F156 12 US	2 colo 2 may	49	Medura	Agr.	1482	305	146.	160	0	Tes.	Chenga	iqu.	740	qu	Access Careers	rya .	22.00 - 25.00	104	14.	No.	146	100
LEC 4 - AGO & ALIO PROFIC	100	COOM	THE.	VCAS CRIEM	F156 12 US	2 colo 2 may	49	224	Agr.	1482	305	740	160	0	Tes.	COOM	iqu.	740	qu	Access Careers	rya .	22.00 - 25.00	104	14.	No.	146	100
LEC 4 - AGO & ALIO PROFIC	100	603	THE.	VCAS CRIEM	Dies safe	Monay	49	224	1405	1482	305	740	160	0	Tes.	seminon bontal	iqu.	740	qu	Access Careers	rya .	22.00 - 25.00	16	No.	No.	760	366
LIST T FROM A PAIN PAIN.	100	ougo	105	COCI CINIII	User rep.	NO INVESTIGAT	164	2.00	740	rigi.	-	-	740		765	Cent	192	790	· in	Market Decision	192	22.00 - 21.00	76	~	~	76U	
LOC 4 - AGO & ALIO PACINO	1122	Hyderatiad	166	VOS CHEW	P166-12-086	2 cole 2 may	49	Magail	Agr.	High	100	N.	140	0	N.	Hydriscae	40	160	192	Now Lette	1/0	52.00 - 25.00	100	-	160	14.	100
Lot 4 - Asia & Asia Pacific	inda	hipur	Yes	VCAS Center	User Pays	Monthly	n/a	10w	High	High	Yes	No	No	0	Tits	Delhi	ηū	No	n/a	New Debi	ηà	Courier To Gustan	No	No	No	No	Yes
LIST T FROM A PAIN PAIN.	100	Dariora	105	COCI CINIII	User rep.	a copt a new	164	WINGEL	70.	rigi.	-	-	740		765	Jacob	192	nu.	· in	Market Decision	192	22.00 - 21.00	- 10	-	~	-	
LOC 4 - AGO & ALIO PACINO	PAGE .	ROKUES	766	VOS CHEW	FIRM 12 CM	2 cole 2 may	49	Magail	Agr.	High	100	N.	140	0	N.	KONGG	40	160	192	Now Detail	1/0	52.00 - 55.00	100	-	160	14.	100
LOC 4 - AGO & ALIO PACINO	1122	CANON	166	VOS CHEW	The sen	No Maranum	49	Magail	Agr.	High	100	76	140	0	N.	Delta	40	160	192	Now Detail	1/0	Country to Custon	16	100	160	760	100
LOC 4 - AGO & ALIO PACINO	1122	Muntal (Nots)	166	VOS CHEW	P166-12-086	2 cole 2 may	49	2544	Agr.	High	100	N.	140	0	N.	secures poorl	40	160	192	Now Detail	1/0	52.00 - 25.00	100	-	160	14.	100
LOC 4 - AGO & AGO PACEC	1122	Murres pours	166	VOS CHEW	P166-12-086	2 cole 2 may	49	2544	Agr.	High	100	N.	140	0	N.	searces board	40	160	192	Now Lette	1/0	52.00 - 25.00	16	100	160	14.	100
LOC 4 - AGS & ALIS PROFIC	100	Myssis	THE.	VCAS CRIEM	Dies safe	NO MORNAN	49	224	Agr.	1482	305	740	160	0	Tes.	sargaore	iqu.	740	qu	Access Careers	rya .	22.00 - 25.00	16	No.	No.	760	100
LOC 4 - AGO & ALIO PACINO	1122	New Certs	766	VOS CHEW	FIRM 12 CM	2 cole 2 may	49	ω.	High.	High	105	14.	No	0	Tex.	New Date	1/42	140	1/0	Now Detail	7/0	52.00 - 55.00	100	14.	No.	14.	100
LEC 4 - AGO & ALIO PROFIC	100	7070	THE.	VCAS CRIEM	F156 12 US	2 colo 2 may	49	SS-	Agr.	1482	305	146.	160	0	Tes.	700	iqu.	740	qu	Access Careers	rya .	22.00 - 25.00	104	14.	No.	146	100
LEC 4 - AGO & ALIO PROFIC	100	Hewarantapuan	THE.	VCAS CRIEM	Dies safe	NO MORNAN	49	224	1405	1482	No.	740	160	0	Tes.	COOM	iqu.	740	qu	Access Careers	rya .	country to tustion	16	No.	No.	760	100
LEC 4 - AGO & ALIO PROFIC	monesa	101	THE.	VCAS CRIEM	Dies safe	NO MORNAN	noonesan	Medura	Agr.	1482	305	740	160	0	Tes.	26070	iqu.	740	qu	Mana	rya .	26.00 - 25.00	104	14.	No.	146	No.
LEC 4 - AGO & ALIO PROFIC	ribonesa	200	THE.	VCAS CRIEM	F156 12 US	2 colo 2 may	noonesan	Medura	Agr.	1482	305	740	160	0	Tes.	26070	iqu.	740	qu	Mana	rya .	26.00 - 25.00	104	14.	No.	760	No.
LOC 4 - AGO & ALIO PACINO	noonea	Sandaya	166	VOS CHEW	The sen	NO MARKET	nooneum	Magail	Agr.	High	100	76	140	0	N.	200	40	3	192	Manua	1/0	Country to Custon	16	100	160	No.	No.
COL 4 - NOW & PILO PACIE.	apar .	000	105	COCI CINIII	User rep.	NO INVESTIGAT	Appropri	2.00		1,00	-	740	740		765	nedo	192	nu.	· in	NOTE	192	24.00 - 26.00	76	~	~	76U	The same
LOC 4 - AGO & ALIO PACINO	apan	soupo	766	VOS CHEW	FIRM 12 CM	2 cole 2 may	Tipanes	200	500	224	100	76	140	0	N.	olan	40	160	192	Manu	1/0	26.00 - 26.00	16	100	160	No.	No.
LOC 4 - AGO & ALIO PACINO	LEE	Verticate	166	VCAS CRIEN	The sen	SACRONY	1/2	200	500	224	100	76	140	0	N.	xegen	qu.	30	androx.	440	1/0	Country to Custon	100	100	160	No.	No.
COL N - POSS SE PERSON.	waayaa	Kara sanga		VOG CEUE	Price Ind Colo	T LUIS T LUIS	· in	WIGGE	ė	ė	ě	ě	Æ	,	í	Kasa tanpa	· iga	ě	4	None	- Iga	24.00 - 20.00	'n	ě	ě	No.	-
LOC 4 - AGO IS ALIO PRODE	Matayaa	Sasan	THE.	VCAS CRIEW	Ont Mile	SSSSREE PRIK	49	Medura	ě	Ą	166	No.	No	0	TAK.	Eusia Lumpur	qu	No	ηs	Mana	nya .	Courier to custon	NG	No.	No.	No	No.
LEC 4 - AGS & ALIS PACEC LEC 4 - AGS & ALIS PACEC	Madayas	Man	THE.	ACVZ CHEM.	Ont Mile	STAGEST PER	49	Moun	Moun	Medun	166	No.	No	0	TAK.	Eusia tumpur Latorito	qu	No	nya	Mana	nya .	Courier to custon	NG	No.	No.	No	No.
LOC 4 - AGO & A LO PROFIC		USWSWSV	THE.	ACV2 CNEM.	Ont Mile	NO MORNAN	49	204	Š	134	No.	No.	No	0	TAK.		qu	No	ηs	Now Letts	nya .	SEGD - SHID	NG	No.	No.	No	No.
LOC 4 - AGO & A LO PROFIC	Mannar	Tanada	THE.	ACV2 CNEM.	User Pays		Morgouen	Medura	Š	SMOUTH	166	No.	No	0	TAK.	HONE ROVE	qu	No	ηs	Mana	nya .	5E-00 - 3E-00	NG	No.	No.	¥	No.
LOC 4 - AGO & A LO PROFIC	Negativa	Tangcon Kathmandu	Tit.	ACV2 CNEM.	Free IQ USE	5 days 5 week		mediani	-40	rep.	- 40	No.	No.	3	46.	tangson Kuthmandu	-92	rik.	anders.	49	1/40	54:00 - 56:00 52:00 - 56:00	TK.	W.	-e	- 44.	~
LOC 4 - AGO & A LO PROFIC	Precores	Kathranau	16.	ACV2 CNEM.	User Plus	S days a week	40	mediani	would	medu/h	40	- 100	No.	3	46.	Mana	-92	100	ų,	Associates Associa	1/40	50:00 - 5/00 50:00 - 5/00	TK.	W.	-e	×	~
LOC 4 - AGO & A LO PROFIC	Phappines Phappines	Mana		ACV2 CNEM.			40	Medura	-40	~@	-44	- 100	No.	3	46.		-92	140	1/3		1/40		16	No.	-e	- 44.	~
LOC 4 - AGO & A LO PROFIC	Prepare Sitespore	Mana	Tit.	ACV2 CNEM.	HIM IS US	5 COVE 3 WHILE 5 COVE 3 WHILE	40	Moun	NG.	rep.	-44	- 44	No.	3	46.	Maria	-92	8	ų,	Mana	7/4	25.00 - 20.00	16	No.	-e	×	~
LOC 4 - AGO & A LO PROFIC	Singapore South Roses	Sigapore	THE.		Free 12 US		49	204	Moun	dun	-44	76	No	3	46.		-42	-60	-99	Mana	nja .		NG	No.	ě	No	- No.
LOC 4 - AGO & A LO PROFIC	50001 KONS 51 DRIG	LEKOTEG	THE.	ACV2 CHEM.	Free 12 US	2 cole 2 max	Ranian	204	Š	134	166	No.	No	0	ź	Capalino	qu	6 8	ηs	None USEs	nya .	52'00 - 56'00 52'00 - 56'00	NG	No.	9	No	No.
LOT 4 - AGG & ALIG PACES	55 1993	ESONDO MERIDON	Tit.	VOS CREW	1186 10 000	a cope a week.	1/2	mediani	2	SMOUTH	- 44	No.	TA	3	465	Laones	-92	160	rys sangron	record LBSTs	1/40	22.00 - 25.00	16	No.	-e	×	~
Lot 4 - Asia & Asia Pacific	Trailed	Chlore Mri	76	VCAS Center	User Pas	No Moltrum	To .		-40				/AU	- 1	-	Rendo	- 50	-0		.qu	192	14:00 - 16:00	- "		120	- 14	
LOC 4 - AGO & A LO PROFIC	trained Vectors	Changina	76.	ACV2 CNEM.	User rays	No Morrium	Veganese	low Market	High	High	166	Ye.	No	0	TAK.		qu	THE.	Rangkok MANANOK	n/a	nya .	5E-00 - 3E-00	166	Vis.	No.		No.
LOT 4 - AGG & ALIG PACES	COCCUS.	Cartag	16.	ACVE CHEM.	CONT PARK	No Mornium	Vietnamena	Medura	Š	Medun	166	ž	No	0	TAK.	Lianang	qu	THE.	Marginox Marginox	1/4	nya .	24.00 - 26.00	166	18.	No.	¥	No.
LUC 4 - AGU SI ALIG PAGIC	Webs	HIS COLMON ON	76	ACVI CHIEN.	User row	2 cole 2 max	VISUATION	Medical	LOW .	MAZUT		- 00	160	- 1		HOUSE MADE UN	- 54	-0	MARION.	.94	192	25.00 - 26.00	- "	-	- 20		
LOT 4 - AND IS AND POINT	ACOTO ACORD	Pydrgang	1/40	10/4/Cmin	ne ne	2 LUQUE 2 MINN.	100		- 100			760	760	- 20	700		- 50	- 00	Margan.	192	190	700-200	- 66	- 100	700	100	- 00
LOCA - ALIGNA ALIGNADAL	MINISTER STATE	ryangang UE	190	709	100	-,0	-94	- 100	190	-,00	100	- 50	760	-30	-94	- 00	-,0	-00		-,94	- 100	100	- 00	100			190

SCHEDULE 2.2 PERFORMANCE LEVELS

PART A: PERFORMANCE INDICATORS AND SERVICE CREDITS

1. PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

- 1.1. Annex 1 sets out the Key Performance Indicators and Subsidiary Performance Indicators which the Parties have agreed shall be used to measure the performance of the Services by the Supplier.
- 1.2. The Supplier shall monitor its performance against each Performance Indicator and shall send the Authority a report detailing the level of service actually achieved in accordance with Part B.
- 1.3. Service Points, and therefore Service Credits, shall accrue for any KPI Failure and shall be calculated in accordance with Paragraphs 2, 3 and 5.

2. SERVICE POINTS

- 2.1. If the level of performance of the Supplier during a Service Period achieves the Target Performance Level in respect of a Key Performance Indicator, no Service Points shall accrue to the Supplier in respect of that Key Performance Indicator.
- 2.2. If the level of performance of the Supplier during a Service Period is below the Target Performance Level in respect of a Key Performance Indicator, Service Points shall accrue to the Supplier in respect of that Key Performance Indicator as set out in Paragraph 2.3.
- 2.3. The number of Service Points that shall accrue to the Supplier in respect of a KPI Failure shall be the applicable number as set out in Annex 1 depending on whether the KPI Failure is a Minor KPI Failure or fails to meet the KPI Service Threshold, unless the KPI Failure is a Repeat KPI Failure when the provisions of Paragraph 3.2 shall apply.
- 2.4. If the measurement level, as set out in Annex 1, for a Key Performance Indicator is at a Location level then Service Points shall accrue to the Supplier in respect of that Key Performance Indicator as set out in Paragraph 2.3.
- 2.5. If the measurement level, as set out in Annex 1, for a Key Performance Indicator is at a Lot level then the Service Points shall accrue to the Supplier in respect of that Key Performance Indicator as set out in Paragraph 2.3 and will then be applied to each Location in the Lot.

3. REPEAT KPI FAILURES AND RELATED KPI FAILURES

Repeat KPI Failures

3.1. If a KPI Failure occurs in respect of the same Key Performance Indicator in any two consecutive Measurement Periods, the second and any subsequent such KPI Failure shall be a "Repeat KPI Failure".

3.2. The number of Service Points that shall accrue to the Supplier in respect of a KPI Failure that is a Repeat KPI Failure shall be calculated as follows:

$$SP = P \times 2$$

where:

- **SP** = the number of Service Points that shall accrue for the Repeat KPI Failure; and
- P = the applicable number of Service Points for that KPI Failure as set out in Annex 1 depending on whether the Repeat KPI Failure is a Minor KPI Failure or a failure to meet the KPI Service Threshold.

Worked example based on the following Service Points regime for Application Registration Efficiency:

Service Availability Severity Lev	Service Points	
Target Performance Level:	100%	0
Minor KPI Failure:	98.9% - 99.9%	4
KPI Service Threshold: below	98%	8

Example 1:

If the Supplier achieves Application Registration Efficiency of 99.5% in a given Measurement Period, it will incur a Minor KPI Failure for Application Registration Efficiency in that Measurement Period and accordingly accrue 4 Service Points. If, in the next Measurement Period, it achieves Application Registration Efficiency of 99.1%, it will also incur a Minor KPI Failure and accordingly accrue 4 Service Points, but as the failure is a Repeat Failure, this amount is doubled and so the Supplier will incur 8 Service Points for the failure (i.e. $SP = 4 \times 2$). If in the next Measurement Period it achieves Application Registration Efficiency of 99.3%, the Supplier will again incur 8 Service Points.

Example 2:

If the Supplier achieves Application Registration Efficiency of 97.5% in a given Measurement Period, it will fail to meet the KPI Service Threshold for Application Registration Efficiency in that Measurement Period and accordingly accrue 8 Service Points. If, in the next Measurement Period, it achieves Application Registration Efficiency of 99.1%, it will incur a Minor KPI Failure and accordingly accrue 4 Service Point, but as the failure is a Repeat Failure, this amount is doubled and so the Supplier will incur 8 Service Points for the failure (i.e. $SP = 4 \times 2$). If in the next Measurement Period it achieves Application Registration Efficiency of 100%, the Supplier will incur 0 Service Points.]

4. PERMITTED MAINTENANCE

4.1. The Supplier shall be allowed to book a maximum of *four* hours Service Downtime in the least busy (according to Appointment Volumes) quartile for Permitted Maintenance in any one Service Period which shall take place outside of Core Service Hours, as set out in the Maintenance Schedule unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Authority.

5. SERVICE CREDITS

- 5.1. Schedule 7.1 (*Charges and Invoicing*) sets out the mechanism by which Service Points shall be converted into Service Credits.
- 5.2. The Authority shall use the Performance Monitoring Reports provided pursuant to Part B, among other things, to verify the calculation and accuracy of the Service Credits (if any) applicable to each Service Period.

6. RELIEF FROM SERVICE POINTS ACCRUING IN CERTAIN CIRCUMSTANCES

- 6.1. If Actual Volumes in a Service Period are:
 - 6.1.1. in excess of 20% above the Authority Volumes for that Service Period; and
 - 6.1.2. above the Volume Band for the Authority Volumes for that Service Period

the Supplier may be entitled to relief from Service Points accruing, even if the level of performance of the Supplier during that Service Period is below the Target Performance Level in respect of certain Key Performance Indicators, on the basis set out in this Paragraph 6.

- 6.2. The Supplier shall only be entitled to relief from Service Points accruing in the circumstances described in Paragraph 6.1:
 - 6.2.1. if it has used all reasonable endeavours to mitigate the impact of the excess Actual Volumes over Authority Volumes, including by agreeing an appropriate remediation plan with the Authority;
 - 6.2.2. for the Service Period in which the circumstances first arise, unless the Supplier demonstrates to the Authority's satisfaction (acting reasonably) that mitigation of the impact of the excess Actual Volumes over Authority Volumes will take longer than the duration of the relevant Service Period, in which case it may be entitled to relief of up to 3 months;
 - 6.2.3. for KPI 1 (Free Appointment Availability), KPI 3 (Application Registration Efficiency), and KPI 4 (Application Fulfilment Efficiency).
- 6.3. If the Authority determines that the requirements set out in Paragraph 6.2 have been fulfilled, no Service Points will accrue in the relevant Service Period even if the level of performance of the Supplier during that Service Period is below the Target Performance Level in respect of a Key Performance Indicator.

PART B: PERFORMANCE MONITORING

1. PERFORMANCE MONITORING AND PERFORMANCE REVIEW

- 1.1. Within 5 Working Days of the end of each Service Period, the Supplier shall provide:
 - a) a report to the Authority Representative which summarises the performance by the Supplier against each of the Performance Indicators at the level of measurement defined in Annex 1 and more particularly described in Paragraph 1.2 (the "Performance Monitoring Report"); and
 - b) a report created by the Supplier to the Authority's senior responsible officer which summarises the Supplier's performance over the relevant Service Period as more particularly described in Paragraph 1.3 (the "Balanced Scorecard Report").

Performance Monitoring Report

1.2. The Performance Monitoring Report shall be in such format as agreed between the Parties from time to time and contain, as a minimum, the following information:

Information in respect of the Service Period just ended

- a) for each Key Performance Indicator and Subsidiary Performance Indicator, the actual performance achieved over the Service Period, and that achieved over the previous three (3) Service Periods;
- b) a summary of all Performance Failures that occurred during the Service Period;
- c) the severity level of each KPI Failure which occurred during the Service Period and whether each PI Failure which occurred during the Service Period fell below the PI Service Threshold;
- d) which Performance Failures remain outstanding and progress in resolving them;
- e) for any Material KPI Failures or Material PI Failures occurring during the Service Period, the cause of the relevant KPI Failure or PI Failure and the action being taken to reduce the likelihood of recurrence:
- f) the status of any outstanding Rectification Plan processes, including:
 - i. whether or not a Rectification Plan has been agreed; and
 - ii. where a Rectification Plan has been agreed, a summary of the Supplier's progress in implementing that Rectification Plan:

- g) for any Repeat Failures, actions taken to resolve the underlying cause and prevent recurrence;
- h) the number of Service Points awarded in respect of each KPI Failure;
- the Service Credits to be applied, indicating the KPI Failure(s) to which the Service Credits relate;
- the conduct and performance of any agreed periodic tests that have occurred, such as the annual failover test of the Service Continuity Plan;
- k) relevant particulars of any aspects of the Supplier's performance which fail to meet the requirements of this Agreement;
- such other details as the Authority may reasonably require from time to time; and

Information in respect of previous Service Periods

- m) a rolling total of the number of Performance Failures that have occurred over the past six Service Periods;
- n) the amount of Service Credits that have been incurred by the Supplier over the past six Service Periods;
- the conduct and performance of any agreed periodic tests that have occurred in such Service Period such as the annual failover test of the Service Continuity Plan; and

Information in respect of the next Quarter

p) any scheduled Service Downtime for Permitted Maintenance and Updates that has been agreed between the Authority and the Supplier for the next Quarter.

Balanced Scorecard Report

- 1.3. The Balanced Scorecard Report shall be presented in the form of an online accessible dashboard and, as a minimum, shall contain a high level summary of the Supplier's performance over the relevant Service Period, including details of the following:
 - a) financial indicators:
 - b) the Target Performance Levels achieved;
 - c) behavioral indicators;
 - d) performance against its obligation to pay its Sub-contractors within thirty (30) days of receipt of an undisputed invoice;

- e) performance against its obligation to pay its Unconnected Subcontractors within sixty (60) days of receipt of an invoice;
- f) Milestone trend chart, showing performance of the overall programme;
- g) sustainability and energy efficiency indicators, for example energy consumption and recycling performance; and
- h) Social Value (as applicable).
- 1.4. The Performance Monitoring Report and the Balanced Scorecard Report shall be reviewed and their contents agreed by the Parties at the next Monthly Performance Call held in accordance with Paragraph 1.5.
- 1.5. The Parties shall attend meetings on a monthly basis (unless otherwise agreed) to review the Performance Monitoring Reports and the Balanced Scorecard Reports. The Monthly Performance Calls shall (unless otherwise agreed):
 - a) take place within 5 Working Days of the Performance Monitoring Report being issued by the Supplier;
 - b) take place at such location and time (within normal business hours) as the Authority shall reasonably require (unless otherwise agreed in advance); and
 - c) be attended by the Supplier Representative and the Authority Representative.
- 1.6. The Authority shall be entitled to raise any additional questions and/or request any further information from the Supplier regarding any KPI Failure and/or PI Failure.
- 1.7. Failure by the Supplier to provide the Authority with the information required to quality assure the KPIs within 5 Working Days of the end of each Service Period, will result in the Supplier accruing the maximum number of Service Points for that Service Period.

Supplier Satisfaction Surveys

- 1.8. In order to assess the level of performance of the Supplier, the Authority may undertake satisfaction surveys in respect of End Users or various groups of End Users (each such survey a "Satisfaction Survey"), the results of which may be reflected in the Balanced Scorecard Report. The subject matter of Satisfaction Surveys may include:
 - a) the assessment of the Supplier's performance by the End Users against the agreed Key Performance Indicators and Subsidiary Performance Indicators; and/or
 - b) other suggestions for improvements to the Services.

Authority shall reflect in the Balanced Scorecard Report any aspects of the Supplier's performance of the Services which the responses to the Satisfaction Surveys reasonably suggest are not meeting the Services Description.

2. PERFORMANCE RECORDS

- 2.1. The Supplier shall keep appropriate documents and records (including staff records, timesheets, training programmes, staff training records, goods received documentation, Supplier accreditation records, complaints received etc) in relation to the Services being delivered. Without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, the Supplier shall maintain accurate records of call histories for a minimum of 12 months and provide prompt access to such records to the Authority upon the Authority's request. The records and documents of the Supplier shall be available for inspection by the Authority and/or its nominee at any time and the Authority and/or its nominee may make copies of any such records and documents.
- 2.2. In addition to the requirement in Paragraph 2.1 to maintain appropriate documents and records, the Supplier shall provide to the Authority such supporting documentation as the Authority may reasonably require in order to verify the level of the performance of the Supplier both before and after each Operational Service Commencement Date and the calculations of the amount of Service Credits for any specified period.
- 2.3. The Supplier shall ensure that the Performance Monitoring Report, the Balanced Scorecard Report (as well as historic Performance Monitoring Reports and historic Balance Scorecard Reports) and any variations or amendments thereto, any reports and summaries produced in accordance with this Schedule and any other document or record reasonably required by the Authority are available to the Authority on-line and are capable of being printed.

3. PERFORMANCE VERIFICATION

3.1. The Authority reserves the right to verify the Availability of the IT Environment and/or the Services and the Supplier's performance under this Agreement against the Performance Indicators including by sending test transactions through the IT Environment or otherwise.

ANNEX 1: KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS AND SUBSIDIARY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

PART A: KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS AND SUBSIDIARY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS TABLES

The Key Performance Indicators and Subsidiary Performance Indicators that shall apply to the Operational Services are set out below.

The Supplier's performance against the Key Performance Indicators and Subsidiary Performance Indicators shall be measured for Premium Application Centers, but no Service Points shall accrue to the Supplier in respect of Premium Application Centers even if the level of performance of the Supplier during a Service Period is below the Target Performance Level in respect of a Key Performance Indicator at that Premium Application Center.

1 Key Performance Indicators

No.	Key Performance Indicator	Definition	Frequency and Level of Measurement	Severity Levels	Service Points	Publishable Performance Information
KPI 1	Free Appointment Availability 1 Passport Appointment or Visa Appointment is available for Customers to book at the Location within Core Service Hours, within five (5) Working Days from the time of seeking that appointment at each Location. NB: For those Locations that operate less frequently than once per week, the appointment shall be available on the next operating cycle from the time of seeking that appointment.	See Paragraph 2 of Part B of this Annex	Monthly Location Level	Target Performance Level: 99% (UK - 95%) Minor KPI Failure: 97% (UK - 93%) KPI Service Threshold: 95% (UK - 90%)	0 8 16	YES
KPI 2	Integrity Breaches There are no instances of integrity breaches including: loss of Vignettes, passports, other Travel Documents or Supplier Equipment; and/or selling an unobtainable PV or	See Paragraph 3 of Part B	Monthly Lot Level	Target Performance Level: 0 Minor KPI Failure: 1	0 8	YES

Official - Sensitive

No.	Key Performance Indicator	Definition	Frequency and Level of Measurement	Severity Levels	Service Points	Publishable Performance Information	
	SPV to a Customer; and/ or instances of fraudulent activity by any Supplier Personnel.	of this Annex		KPI Service Threshold: 2	16		

KPI 3	Application Registration Efficiency The Authority receives such information as the Supplier is required to provide for each Application the Supplier processes on time and with the information correctly labelled and orientated, and the Biometric Data successfully transferred to the Authority (confirmed by an HTML 200 Response). NB: For those Locations where the volume is lower than 100 in a month, the KPI severity levels will be calculated as integers as detailed in italics NB: Application timescales shall be agreed with the Authority, by VCAS Center, during Implementation before the completion of Milestone 7.	See Paragraph 4 of Part B of this Annex	Monthly Location Level	Target Performance Level: 100% (0 inefficient applications) Minor KPI Failure: 99% (1 inefficient application) KPI Service Threshold: 98% (2 inefficient applications)	0 4 8	YES
KPI 4	Application Fulfilment Efficiency The Supplier shall return the passport to the Customer on time, and with the Vignette affixed correctly first time if	See Paragraph 5 of Part B	Monthly Location Level	Target Performance Level: 100% (0 inefficient applications)	0	NO
	applicable. NB: For those Locations where the volume is lower than 100 in a month, the KPI severity levels will be calculated as integers as detailed in italics	of this Annex		Minor KPI Failure: 99% (1 inefficient application)	4	
				KPI Service Threshold: 98% (2 inefficient applications)	8	
KPI 5a	Application Services Journey Length The time taken from Customer arriving at the Supplier-	See Paragraph	Monthly Location	Target Performance Level: <30 mins	0	NO
	provided security to the completion of Biometric Data Capture shall be no longer than 30 mins.	6 of Part B of this Annex	Level Minor KPI Failure: <40 mins KPI Service Threshold: <50 mins 8		4	
	NB: this excludes incomplete journeys due to Customer failure e.g. Customers do not have the right documents			8		

KPI 5b	Passport Collection Journey Length The time taken from Customer arriving at the VCAS	See Paragraph 7 of Part B of this Annex	Monthly Location Level (except UK Locations)	Target Performance Level: <20 mins	0	NO
	Center to successfully collecting their passport shall be no longer than 20 mins NB: this excludes incomplete journeys due to Customer failure e.g. Customers do not have the right proof of identity			Minor KPI Failure: <25 mins	4	
				KPI Service Threshold: <30 mins	8	
KPI 6	Complaints Resolution The Supplier will manage service complaints effectively, reducing the number of complaints escalated to the Authority by the Customer	See Paragraph 8 of Part B of this Annex	Monthly Lot Level	Target Performance Level: 0%	0	NO
				Minor KPI Failure: 2%	4	
				KPI Service Threshold: 3%	8	
KPI 7	Supplier System Availability The Supplier System shall be Available at all times.	See Paragraph 9 of Part B of this Annex	Monthly Lot Level	Target Performance Level: 99.9%	0 NO	NO
	NB: This excludes permitted maintenance		this	Minor KPI Failure: 99.8%	4	
				KPI Service Threshold: 99.7%	8	

2 Subsidiary Performance Indicators

No.	Subsidiary Performance Indicator Title	Definition	Frequency and Level of Measurement	Severity Levels	Publishable Performance Information	
-----	----------------------------------------	------------	------------------------------------------	-----------------	-------------------------------------------	--

SPI 1	Management Information and Reporting Management Information required under Schedule 8.4 "Records and Reporting" should be delivered by the	See Paragraph 10 of Part B	Monthly Lot Level	Target Performance Level: 100% of reports provided accurately and on time	NO	
	Supplier accurately and on time.	of this Annex		KPI Service Threshold: 100% of reported provided accurately no later than 1 WD after the deadline		
SPI 2	PI 2 HMPO Submission Efficiency Applications to be submitted to HMPO with the listed expected supporting documents or explanation of acceptance without full documentation	See Paragraph 11 of Part B of this Annex	Monthly Lot Level	Target Performance Level: 100%	NO	
				KPI Service Threshold: 99%		
SPI 3	•	See Paragraph 12 of Part B of this Annex	Monthly Lot Level	Target Performance Level: 100%	NO	
				KPI Service Threshold: 99%		

PART B

1 AVAILABLE

- 1.1 The IT Environment and/or the Services shall be Available when:
 - a) End Users are able to access and utilise all the functions of the Supplier System and/or the Services; and
 - b) the Supplier System is able to process the Authority Data and to provide any required reports within the timescales set out in the Services Description (as measured on a 24 x 7 basis).

2 KPI 1 – FREE APPOINTMENT AVAILABILITY

- 2.1 The Supplier shall ensure that one (1) Passport Appointment or Visa Appointment is available for Customers to book at the Location within Core Service Hours, within five (5) Working Days from the time of seeking that appointment at each Location.
- 2.2 The availability of these Free Appointments shall be measured as a percentage in each Service Period, in accordance with the following formula:

FANA: Total number of Customer attempts that failed to provide access to a Free Appointment within Core Service Hours within five (5) Working Days of being sought

FAA: Total number of Customer attempts to access a Free Appointment within Core Service Hours within five (5) Working Days of being sought.

(FAA-FANA)/ FAA*100

The measurement of Free Appointment availability shall be taken at the point each Customer engages with the Appointment booking system and the simultaneous availability they are presented with over the subsequent five (5) Working Days.

2.3 When calculating Free Appointment availability, for those Locations that operate less frequently than once per week a Free Appointment should be available on the next operating cycle from the time of seeking that appointment.

3 KPI 2 - INTEGRITY BREACHES

- 3.1 The Supplier shall ensure there are no instances of integrity breaches in relation to:
 - a) Loss of a Vignette, passport or other Travel Document;
 - b) Loss of a blank Vignette;

- c) Loss of Supplier Equipment;
- d) Selling an unobtainable PV or SPV to a Customer; and
- e) Fraudulent activity by a Supplier Personnel.
- 3.2 Integrity breaches shall be measured as a count of the total number of individual incidents in each Service Period.

4 KPI 3 – APPLICATION REGISTRATION EFFICIENCY

- 4.1 The Supplier shall provide the Authority with Applications, to the quality standard and timelines defined by the Authority with successful transfer of Biometric Data confirmed by an HTML 200 Response.
- 4.3 The Supplier's overall Application registration efficiency shall be measured as a percentage in each Service Period, in accordance with the following formula:

Application Registration Efficiency % =
$$\frac{(TTTTTT-FFTTTTT) \times 100}{TTTTTTT}$$

where:

TPL = total number of Applications provided to the Authority by the Supplier in the relevant Service Period; and

FPL = total number of Applications in the relevant Service Period that was not declared to be on time and/or be of the requite standard by the Authority.

Note: Application timescales shall be agreed with the Authority, by VCAS Center, during Implementation before the completion of Milestone 7.

5 KPI 4 – APPLICATION FULFILMENT EFFICIENCY

- 5.1 The Supplier shall make passports available to Customers with their passport and, if applicable, the Vignette correctly affixed first time, in the timelines defined by the Authority.
- 5.2 The Supplier's overall application fulfilment efficiency shall be measured as a percentage in each Service Period, in accordance with the following formula:

Application Fulfilment Efficiency % =
$$\frac{(TTFFTT-FFFFTT) \times 100}{TTFFTT}$$

where:

TFS = total number of passports returned to the Customer by the Supplier, with the Vignettes correctly attached if applicable, in the relevant Service Period; and

FFS = total number of passports in the relevant Service Period that were not returned to the Customer in line with the timelines set

out by the Authority or did not have the Vignette correctly affixed first time.

6 KPI 5a – APPLICATION SERVICES JOURNEY LENGTH

- 6.1 The Application services journey is where the Supplier shall conduct the following elements of the service in relation to each customer:
 - a) correctly identify the Customer presenting themselves to the Supplier against the name in which the Biometric Capture appointment was made;
 - b) provide full CCTV coverage of the Biometric Capture event;
- 6.2 The Supplier shall measure the average length of time it takes to complete the Application services journey for Customers using the following formula:

Average Journey Length % =
$$\frac{TTTTT}{TTTT}$$

where:

- TC = total number of Customers completing the Application services journey in the relevant Service Period; and
- TJL = total sum of time taken to complete all Application services journeys in minutes (measured to include time taken to complete any Supplier-provided security), in the relevant Service Period.

7 KPI 5b - PASSPORT COLLECTION JOURNEY LENGTH

- 7.1 The passport collection journey is where the Supplier shall correctly identify the Customer presenting themselves to the Supplier in order to return that Customer's passport in a Location.
 - a) provide full CCTV coverage of the Biometric Capture event;
 - b) transfer the data obtained from the Biometric Capture event to the Authority.
- 7.2 the Supplier shall measure the average length of time it takes to complete the passport collection journey length for Customers using the following formula:

Average Collection Time % =
$$\frac{TTTTTT}{NNTT}$$

where:

- PCT = total sum of time taken to provide Customers with their passports after having arrived at the Location in minutes; and
- NC = Number of Customers attending the Location to collect their Passport

8 KPI 6 – COMPLAINTS RESOLUTION

- 8.1 Complaints resolution is where the Suppler shall manage Customer complaints relating to the Service without escalation to the Authority by the Customer.
- 8.2 The quality of complaints resolution by the Supplier shall be measured as a percentage in each Service Period, in accordance with the following formula:

Complaints Resolution Quality % =
$$\frac{(TTCCTT-TTTTCC) \times 100}{TTCCTT}$$

where:

CRS = total number of complaints made by Customers in the relevant Service Period; and

CCR = total number complaints escalated to the Authority by the Customer in the relevant Service Period.

9 KPI 7 – SUPPLIER SYSTEM AVAILABILITY

- 9.1 The Supplier shall ensure the Supplier website is available to customers at all times including appointment systems and self-upload.
- 9.2 Supplier System Availability shall be measures as a percentage of the total time in the Service Period, in accordance with the following formula:

Supplier System Availability % =
$$\frac{(MMTT-TTSS) \times 100}{MMTT}$$

where:

- i. MP = total number of minutes, excluding Permitted Maintenance, within the relevant Service Period; and
- ii. SD = total number of minutes of Supplier System Downtime, excluding Permitted Maintenance, in the relevant Service Period.
- 9.3 When calculating Supplier System availability in accordance with this Supplier System Downtime arising due to Permitted Maintenance that is carried out by the Supplier in accordance with Clause 9.4 (*Maintenance*) shall be subtracted from the total number of hours in the relevant Service Period; and

Service Points shall accrue if:

- a) any Supplier System downtime occurs as a result of Emergency Maintenance undertaken by the Supplier; or
- b) where maintenance undertaken by the Supplier exceeds 2 hours in any Service Period.

10 SPI 1 - MI & REPORTING

- 10.1 The Supplier shall provide the Authority with accurate management Information required under Schedule 8.4 (Records and Reporting) in the timelines defined by the Authority.
- 10.2 The accuracy and timeliness of MI and Reporting by the Supplier shall be measured as a percentage in each Service Period, in accordance with the following formula:

MI and Reporting Accuracy and Timeliness % =
$$\frac{(TTCCCC-CCCC) \times 100}{TTCCCC}$$

where:

TRR = total number of records and reports required by the Authority in the relevant Service Period; and

RR = total number records and reports provided that were not on time or to the degree of accuracy set out by the Authority

11 SPI 2 – HMPO SUBMISSION EFFICIENCY

- 11.1 The Supplier shall provide the Authority with the listed expected supporting documents or explanation of acceptance without full documentation to the quality standard and timelines defined by the Authority.
- 11.2 The Supplier's overall HMPO Submission Efficiency shall be measured as a percentage in each Service Period, in accordance with the following formula:

HMPO Submission Efficiency % =
$$\frac{(TTTTMM-TTMMTT) \times 100}{TTTTMM}$$

where:

THM = total number of HMPO submissions provided to the Authority by the Supplier in the relevant Service Period; and

FHMP = total number of HMPO submissions in the relevant Service Period that was not declared to be on time and/or be of the requite standard by the Authority.

12 SPI 3 - CONTACT CENTER RESPONSE

12.1 The mechanism for measurement of the Contact Center Response SPI shall be agreed by the Parties through the Change Control Procedure during Implementation.

SCHEDULE 2.3

STANDARDS

1. DEFINITIONS

1.1 In this Schedule, the definitions set out in Schedule 1 (Definitions) shall apply.

2. GENERAL

- 2.1 Throughout the term of this Agreement, the Parties shall monitor and notify each other of any new or emergent standards which could affect the Supplier's provision, or the Authority's receipt, of the Services. Any changes to the Standards, including the adoption of any such new or emergent standard, shall be agreed in accordance with the Change Control Procedure.
- 2.2Where a new or emergent standard is to be developed or introduced by the Authority, the Supplier shall be responsible for ensuring that the potential impact on the Supplier's provision, or the Authority's receipt, of the Services is explained to the Authority (in a reasonable timeframe), prior to the implementation of the new or emergent standard.
- 2.3Where Standards referenced conflict with each other or with Good Industry Practice, then the later Standard or best practice shall be adopted by the Supplier. Any such alteration to any Standard(s) shall require the prior written agreement of the Authority and shall be implemented within an agreed timescale.
- 2.4 The Supplier shall adopt, implement, and maintain, in accordance with Good Industry Practice, quality assurance standards and processes in the provision of the Services that by the Effective Date conform to ISO 9001: 2000 standard or national equivalent and ISO27001 standard or national equivalent.
- 2.5The Supplier will comply with the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard (PCI DSS) compliance regulations, including ensuring they hold an 'Attestation of Compliance' (AoC) document.
- 2.6 The Supplier shall comply with <u>Government Functional Standard GovS 007:</u> <u>Security (publishing.service.gov.uk)</u>
- 2.7The Supplier will deliver services in compliance with prevailing equalities legislation, this will need to factor, where relevant, the UK Equality Act 2010 and any local equalities and cultural requirements.
- 2.8 The Supplier shall ensure that the Services are provided and operated in a manner which supports Authority compliance with the Her Majesty's Government (HMG) Security Policy Framework (SPF) in current and future versions.
- 2.9NCSC The Supplier shall be certified as compliant with: ISO/IEC 27001:2013 by a United Kingdom Accreditation Service-approved certification body or is included within the scope of an existing certification of compliance with ISO/IEC 27001:2013;
- 2.10 The Supplier shall achieve ISO27001 accreditation within 12 months of the Effective Date, to cover all Services provided to the Authority and shall retain such accreditation for the duration of the Agreement.

2.11 The Supplier shall be, and remain at all times, registered with the Office of the Immigration Services Commissioner for the provision of immigration services or immigration advice (if required to do so by virtue of section 84(1) of the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999) and comply with the relevant terms of such registration.

3. TECHNOLOGY AND DIGITAL SERVICES PRACTICE

3.1The Supplier shall (when designing, implementing and delivering the Services) adopt the applicable elements of HM Government's Technology Code of Practice as documented at https://www.gov.uk/service-manual/technology/code-of-practice.html.

4. OPEN DATA STANDARDS & STANDARDS HUB

- 4.1 The Supplier shall comply to the extent within its control with UK Government's Open Standards Principles as documented at Open standards for government GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/open-standards-for-government) as they relate to the specification of standards for software interoperability, data and document formats in the IT Environment.
- 4.2 Without prejudice to the generality of Paragraph 2.2, the Supplier shall, when implementing or updating a technical component or part of the Software or Supplier Solution where there is a requirement under this Agreement or opportunity to use a new or emergent standard, submit a Suggested Challenge compliant with the UK Government's Open Standards Principles (using the process detailed on Standards Hub and documented at Open standards for government GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)). Each Suggested Challenge submitted by the Supplier shall detail, subject to the security and confidentiality provisions in this Agreement, an illustration of such requirement or opportunity within the IT Environment, Supplier Solution and Government's IT infrastructure and the suggested open standard.
- 4.3The Supplier shall ensure that all documentation published on behalf of the Authority pursuant to this Agreement is provided in a non-proprietary format (such as PDF or Open Document Format (ISO 26300 or equivalent)) as well as any native file format documentation in accordance with the obligation under Paragraph 4.1 to comply with the UK Government's Open Standards Principles, unless the Authority otherwise agrees in writing.

5. TECHNOLOGY ARCHITECTURE STANDARDS

- 5.1 The Supplier shall produce full and detailed technical architecture documentation for the Supplier Solution in accordance with Good Industry Practice. If documentation exists that complies with the Open Group Architecture Framework 9.2 or its equivalent, then this shall be deemed acceptable.
- 5.2The Supplier's System shall adhere to the NCSC "Security Design Principles for Digital Services",

6. ACCESSIBLE DIGITAL STANDARDS

- 6.1 The Supplier shall comply with (or with equivalents to):
 - (a) the World Wide Web Consortium (W3C) Web Accessibility Initiative (WAI) Web Content Accessibility Guidelines (WCAG) 2.1 Conformance Level AA:
 - (b) ISO/IEC 13066-1: 2011 Information Technology Interoperability with assistive technology (AT) Part 1: Requirements and recommendations for interoperability; and
 - (c) Public Sector Bodies Accessibility Regulations 2018.

7. SERVICE MANAGEMENT SOFTWARE & STANDARDS

- 7.1 Subject to Paragraphs 2 to 4 (inclusive), the Supplier shall reference relevant industry and HM Government standards and best practice guidelines in the management of the Services, including the following and/or their equivalents:
 - (a) ITIL v4;
 - (b) ISO/IEC 20000-1 2018 "Information technology Service management Part 1";
 - (c) ISO/IEC 20000-2 2019 "Information technology Service management Part 2";
 - (d) ISO 10007: 2017 "Quality management systems Guidelines for configuration management"; and
 - (e) ISO 22313:2020 "Security and resilience. Business continuity management systems. Guidance on the use of ISO 22301" and, ISO/IEC 27031:2011 and ISO 22301:2019.
- 7.2For the purposes of management of the Services and delivery performance the Supplier shall make use of Software that complies with Good Industry Practice including availability, change, incident, knowledge, problem, release & deployment, request fulfilment, service asset and configuration, service catalogue, service level and service portfolio management. If such Software has been assessed under the ITIL Software Scheme as being compliant to "Bronze Level", then this shall be deemed acceptable.

8. ENVIRONMENTAL REQUIREMENTS

8.1 The Supplier shall comply with the environmental requirements set out in the Annex to this Schedule.

9. HARDWARE SAFETY STANDARDS

9.1 The Supplier shall comply with those BS or other standards relevant to the provision of the Services, including the following or their equivalents:

- 9.1.1.1 any new hardware required for the delivery of the Services (including printers), shall conform to BS EN IEC 62368-1 2020 or subsequent replacements. In considering where to place any such hardware, the Supplier shall consider the future working user environment and shall position the hardware sympathetically;
- 9.1.1.2 any new audio, video and similar electronic apparatus required for the delivery of the Services, shall conform to the following standard: BS EN IEC 62368-1 2020 or any subsequent replacements;
- 9.1.1.3 any new laser printers or scanners using lasers, required for the delivery of the Services, shall conform to either of the following safety Standards: BS EN 60825-1 2014 or any subsequent replacements; and
- 9.1.1.4 any new apparatus for connection to any telecommunication network, and required for the delivery of the Services, shall conform to the following safety Standard: BS EN 62949 2017 or any subsequent replacements.
- 9.2Where required to do so as part of the Services, the Supplier shall perform electrical safety checks in relation to all equipment supplied under this Agreement in accordance with the relevant health and safety regulations.
- 9.3 The Supplier shall provide all biometric equipment, including hardware and software to be used for the capture of biometrics in accordance with the HOB-S001 Biometric conformance for Service Consumers v3.04 June21

10. STAFFING AND CONTRACTORS

10.1 The Authority aims to reduce Modern Slavery risk by building resilience and raising awareness. The Supplier shall comply with the Modern Slavery Act 2015. Where a Suppliers turnover is £36m per annum or more, the Supplier shall publish an annual slavery and human trafficking statement setting out what actions have been taken to tackle modern slavery in their business and/or supply chains. Modern Slavery Act 2015 (legislation.gov.uk)

ANNEX 1: ENVIRONMENTAL REQUIREMENTS

1 DEFINITIONS

1.1 In this Annex, the following definitions shall apply:

"Permitted Item" means those items which are permissible under

this Agreement to the extent set out in Table B of

this Annex

"Prohibited Items" means those items which are not permissible

under this Agreement as set out at Table A of this

Annex

"Sustainability Reports"

written reports to be completed by the Supplier containing the information outlined in Table C of

this Annex

"Waste Hierarchy"

means prioritisation of waste management in the following order of preference:

- (a) Prevention by using less material in design and manufacture. Keeping products for longer;
- (b) Preparing for re-use by checking, cleaning, repairing, refurbishing, whole items or spare parts;
- (c) Recycling by turning waste into a new substance or produce, including composting if it meets quality protocols;
- (d) Other Recovery through anaerobic digestion, incineration with energy recovery, gasification and pyrolysis which produce energy (fuels, heat and power) and materials from waste; some backfilling; and
- (e) Disposal Landfill and incineration without energy recovery.

2 ENVIRONMENTAL REQUIREMENTS

- 2.1 The Supplier shall comply in all material respects with all applicable environmental laws and regulations in force in relation to the Agreement.
- 2.2 The Supplier warrants that it has obtained ISO 14001 certification from an accredited body and shall comply with and maintain certification requirements throughout the Term.

- 2.3 In performing its obligations under the Agreement the Supplier shall to the reasonable satisfaction of the Authority:
 - (a) demonstrate low carbon resource efficiency, including minimising the use of resources and responding promptly to the Authority's reasonable questions;
 - (b) prioritise waste management in accordance with the Waste Hierarchy;
 - (c) be responsible for ensuring that any waste generated by the Supplier and sent for recycling, disposal or other recovery as a consequence of this Agreement is taken to an authorised site for treatment or disposal and that the disposal or treatment of waste complies with the law;
 - (d) ensure that it and any third parties used to undertake recycling disposal or other recovery as a consequence of this Agreement do so in a legally compliant way, undertake reasonable checks on a regular basis to ensure this;
 - (e) inform the Environmental Agency within one Working Day in the event that a permit or exemption to carry or send waste generated under this Agreement is revoked and in circumstances where a permit or exemption to carry or send waste generated under this Agreement is revoked the Supplier shall cease to carry or send waste or allow waste to be carried by any Sub-contractor until authorisation is obtained from the Environmental Agency;
 - (f) minimise the release of greenhouse gases (including carbon dioxide emissions), air pollutants, volatile organic compounds and other substances damaging to health and the environment; and
 - (g) reduce and minimise carbon emissions by taking into account factors including, but not limited to, the locations from which materials are sourced, the transport of materials, the locations from which the work force are recruited and emissions from offices and on-site equipment.
- 2.4 The Supplier shall use reasonable endeavours to avoid the use of paper and card in carrying out its obligations under this Agreement. Where unavoidable under reasonable endeavours, the Supplier shall ensure that any paper or card deployed in the performance of the Services consists of one hundred percent (100%) recycled content and used on both sides where feasible to do so.
- 2.5 The Supplier shall not provide to the Authority Goods or Deliverables which comprise wholly or partly of Prohibited Items unless such item is a Permitted Item.
- 2.6 The Supplier shall not use anything which comprises wholly or partly of the Prohibited Items to provide the Services under this Agreement unless:

- (a) it is a Permitted Item; or
- (b) the use is primarily related to the management of the Supplier's own facilities or internal operations as opposed to the provision of Services.
- 2.7 The Supplier shall complete the Sustainability Report in relation its provision of the Services under this Agreement and provide the Sustainability Report to the Authority on the date and frequency outlined in Table C of this Annex.
- 2.8 The Supplier shall comply with reasonable requests by the Authority for information evidencing compliance with the provisions of this Annex within fourteen (14) days of such request, provided that such requests are limited to two per Contract Year.

TABLE A - Prohibited Items

The following	Catering		
consumer single use plastics are Prohibited Items:	a.	Single use sachets e.g. coffee pods, sauce sachets, milk sachets	
	b.	Take away cutlery	
	c.	Take away boxes and plates	
	d.	Cups made wholly or partially of plastic	
	e.	Straws	
	f.	Stirrers	
	g.	Water bottles	
	Facilities		
	a.	Single use containers e.g. hand soap, cleaning products	
	b.	Wipes containing plastic	
	Office Supplies		
	a.	Plastic envelopes	
	b.	Plastic wrapping for brochures	
	C.	Paper or card which is bleached with chlorine	
	Packaging		
	a.	Single use plastic packaging from deliveries where avoidable e.g. shrink wrapped packaging from office supplier or facilities products.	
	b.	Single use carrier bags	
Authority specific Prohibitions	N/A		
Project Specific Prohibitions	N/A		

Schedule 2.3 - Standards

TABLE B – Permitted Items

Authority Permitted Items	N/A
Project Specific Permitted Items	Any Prohibited Item for which the Supplier is unable, having used best endeavours, to procure an appropriate alternative due to the market conditions in the location of the relevant Location.

TABLE C – Sustainability Reports

Report Name	Content of Report	Frequency of Report
Sustainability Impact	a. the key sustainability impacts identified;	On the anniversary of the
	b. sustainability improvements made;	Effective Date
	c. actions underway or planned to reduce sustainability impacts;	
	d. contributions made to the Authority's sustainability policies and objectives;	
	e. sustainability policies, standards, targets and practices that have been adopted to reduce the environmental impact of the Supplier's operations and evidence of these being actively pursued, indicating arrangements for engagement and achievements. This can also include where positive sustainability impacts have been delivered; and	
	f. risks to the Service and Subcontractors of climate change and severe weather events such as flooding and extreme temperatures including mitigation, adaptation and continuity plans employed by the Supplier in response to those risks.	
Waste created	By type of material the weight of waste categories by each means of disposal in the Waste Hierarchy with separate figures for disposal by incineration and landfill.	Before contract award and on the anniversary of the Effective Date.
Waste permits	Copies of relevant permits and exemptions for waste, handling, storage and disposal.	Before the Effective Date, on the anniversary of the Effective Date and within ten (10) Working Days of there is any change or renewal to license or exemption to

		carry, store or dispose waste
Greenhouse Gas Emissions	Indicate greenhouse gas emissions making use of the use of the most recent conversion guidance set out in 'Greenhouse gas reporting – Conversion factors' available online at https://www.gov.uk/guidance/measuring-and-reporting-environmental-impacts-guidance-for-businesses	On the anniversary of the Effective Date
Water Use	Volume in metres cubed.	On the anniversary of the Effective Date
Energy Use	 Separate energy consumption figures for: a. assets deployed on the Supplier's site; b. assets deployed on the Authority's site; c. assets deployed off-site; and d. energy consumed by IT Assets and by any cooling devices deployed. Power Usage Effectiveness (PUE) rating for each data center/server room in accordance with ISO/IEC 31034-2/EN 50600-4-2. 	On the anniversary of the Effective Date
Transport Use	 a. miles travelled by transport and fuel type, for goods delivered to the Authority's Sites; b. miles travelled by staff when visiting the Authority's Sites from the Supplier's Sites or home; c. resulting Green House Gas (GHG) emissions using agreed Conversion Factors; and d. the number of multi-lateral emeetings i.e. with more than two attendees, held by type (audio, webinar, v/conferencing) their length and number of attendees 	on the anniversary of the Effective Date

Materials	Materials usage, including:		
	a. type of material used;		
	b. quantity or volume of material used;		
	and		
	c. amount of recycled/recovered material used		

SCHEDULE 2.4

SECURITY MANAGEMENT

ANNEX 1: SECURITY REQUIREMENTS

ANNEX 2

ANNEX 3

ANNEX 4: INFORMATION MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

Annex 5 Not Used

Annex 6

ANNEX 7

Annex 7 Part A – All Locations other than Serviced Locations

Annex 7 Part B - Serviced Locations

Annex 8 ENHANCED CONTROLS TO SUPPORT BIOMETRIC CAPABILITIES

SCHEDULE 2.5

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

ANNEX 1: REQUIRED INSURANCES

PART A: INSURANCE CLAIM NOTIFICATION

PART C: PROFESSIONAL INDEMNITY INSURANCE

PART D: COMPULSORY INSURANCES

Schedule 2.6

Social Value

1. **DEFINITIONS**

In this Schedule, the definitions set out in Schedule 1 (Definitions) shall apply.

2. INTRODUCTION

- 2.1 This Schedule sets out the Social Value standards and principles that will apply to the Agreement.
- 2.2 In this Schedule, unless the contrary intention appears, each capitalised term shall have the meaning set out in Schedule 1 (Definitions).
- 2.3 The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 ("**the Social Value Act**") requires the Authority to have regard to economic, social and environmental well-being in connection with public services contracts; and for connected purposes. Where services are contracted out the Authority will place similar obligations on its Suppliers.
- 2.4 The Authority is required to explicitly evaluate and embed Social Value throughout the commissioning lifecycle by adhering to the Social Value Model. The Authority must also ensure that value for money is delivered for the taxpayer whilst contributing to the Government's Plan for Growth.
- 2.5 This Schedule 2.6 (Social Value) sets out the key Social Value themes being targeted through this Agreement. Where the Supplier identifies other themes included in the Social Value Model, are impacted by the Supplier Solution, the Supplier shall report them through the processes set out in this Schedule 2.6 (Social Value).

3. SUPPLIER OBLIGATIONS FOR DELIVERING SOCIAL VALUE

- 3.1 The Supplier shall deliver the Services to the Authority in accordance with the Social Value Act 2012 and in accordance with its Social Value commitments set out within Schedule 4.1 (Suppliers Solution). The Supplier shall take account of, and comply with, the Authority's Social Value requirements and the Authority's aims, objectives and targets in relation to the Authority's Social Value strategy set out in this Schedule 2.6 (Social Value) and within Annexes 1, 2 and 3 including the framework for the Greening Government Commitments 2016 2020 to (available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/greening-government-commitments-2016-to-2020) policy and any successor arrangements.
- 3.2 The Supplier shall take account of and comply with any future Social Value legislation, policies, strategies and codes of practice put in place by the Authority and any relevant Government body (in particular Cabinet Office, Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, Department of Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy, Government Property Unit and the Environment Agency).
- 3.3 The Supplier shall advise the Authority on new technologies and approaches which may be beneficial to the Authority in the delivery of Social Value.
- 3.4 Changes to the Supplier's Solution and the Service Requirements which are necessary to meet changes occurring after the Effective Date to the Authority's Sustainability

Requirements and Social Value Aims, Strategy and Model shall be agreed in accordance with Schedule 8.2 (Change Control Procedure).

4. PRINCIPLES OF ENVIRONMENTAL SOCIAL VALUE TO FIGHT CLIMATE CHANGE

- 4.1 In delivering the Services the Supplier shall support the Authority to deliver the Social Value Model Policy Outcome of Effective Stewardship of the Environment.
- 4.2 The Supplier shall seek to avoid any adverse impact upon the environment by setting targets to support the Authority to fulfil its Greening Government Commitments 2016-2020 ((available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/greening-governmentcommitments-2016-to-2020)) or any successor arrangements and demonstrate contribution towards the 25 Year Environment Plan (available https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/25-year-environment-plan), Sustainable Development Goals (UN) (available at https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/?menu=1300), Government Buying Standards (available at https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/sustainable-procurement-thegovernment-buying-standards-gbs), Greening government: ICT and digital services strategy 2020-2025 (available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/greening-government-ict-and-digitalservices-strategy-2020-2025) and 10 Point Plan for a Green Industrial Revolution (available https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachm ent data/file/936567/10 POINT PLAN BOOKLET.pdf) and by:
 - (a) recycling waste and reducing the amount of waste generated and going to landfill;
 - (b) reducing the consumption of water and energy and enhancing energy and water efficiency;
 - (c) reducing the use of single use plastics and increasing the use of durable and recyclable materials;
 - (d) taking measures to restore, maintain or enhance biodiversity through increasing the number of green spaces and increasing the number of people-hours spent protecting and improving the environment;
 - (e) reducing carbon and other emissions including to achieve zero greenhouse gas emissions by 2050; and
 - (f) reducing or removing the use of hazardous materials.

5. PRINCIPLES OF ECONOMIC SOCIAL VALUE TO TACKLE ECONOMIC INEQUALITY

5.1 In support of the Policy Outcome "Tackling Economic Inequality" the Authority aims to create new businesses, new jobs and new skills and increase supply chain resilience and capacity. To support this Policy Outcome the Supplier shall:

- 5.1.1 ensure their supply chain is accessible for all including, where appropriate, SMEs and VCSEs and those owned or led by protected characteristics (as described in the Equality Act 2010);
- 5.1.2 where applicable to the contract increase the number of sub-contract opportunities for start-ups, SMEs, VCSEs and mutuals;
- 5.1.3 where applicable, have initiatives in place to improve the gender pay balance;
- 5.1.4 embedded prompt payment reporting and practices by complying with all applicable legislation, regulations and other government requirements including the Prompt Payment Code (available at https://www.gov.uk/quidance/prompt-payment-policy); and
- 5.1.5 where appropriate to the delivery of these Services, have initiatives in place to improve skills development by increasing the quantity and quality of apprenticeship and full-time equivalent opportunities.

6. SOCIAL SUPPLY CHAIN PRINCIPLES TO SUPPORT EQUAL OPPORTUNITY AND WELLBEING

- 6.1 In support of the following Policy Outcomes:
 - a. reduce the disability employment gap;
 - b. tackle workforce inequality;
 - c. improve health and wellbeing; and
 - d. improve community integration,

and to deliver the Authority's aim to improve employability and skills including staff mental health and wellbeing through the delivery of its contracts the Supplier shall:

- 6.1.1 ensure equality and accessibility, without discrimination, to employment and other opportunities and promote them to be fully accessible;
- 6.1.2 where appropriate to the delivery of these Services, have initiatives in place which aim to increase full-time employment for people with disabilities, Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) and Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual & Transgender (LGBTQi+) people;
- 6.1.3 where appropriate to the delivery of these Services, increase the percentage of disabled, Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) and Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual & Transgender (LGBTQi+) people on apprenticeship schemes and other training opportunities.
- 6.1.4 have initiatives in place which aim to support local community integration including volunteering opportunities and other community led schemes; and

6.1.5 commit to the Good Work Plan (available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/good-work-plan/good-workplan), (available Standards of Mental Health at https://www.mentalhealthatwork.org.uk/commitment/) and Thriving at Work (available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/thriving-at-work-areview-of-mental-health-and-employers) including the supply chain where applicable.

8. SAFE & SECURE SUPPLY CHAIN PRINCIPLES

- 8.1 In delivering the Services the Supplier shall ensure it is compliant with the Modern Slavery Act 2015.
- 8.2 Where the Suppliers turnover is £36m per annum or more, the Supplier shall publish an annual slavery and human trafficking statement setting out what actions have been taken to tackle modern slavery in their business and/or supply chains.
- 8.3 To mitigate the risk of Modern Slavery the Supplier shall:
 - 8.3.1 if requested by the Authority, provide information to demonstrate its approach to modern slavery and human trafficking. This could include completion of the Modern Slavery Assessment Tool (MSAT); if requested by the Authority;
 - 8.3.2 allow unannounced inspections of their premises by the Authority or a 3rd party auditor with the right to speak directly to the Supplier's employees, in accordance with Schedule 7.5 (Finance Reports and Audit Rights), Part C, 1.1 (U);
 - 8.3.3 allow themselves to be called upon by the Authority to collaborate on assessing risks and designing due diligence processes including regular reporting.
 - 8.3.4 conduct supply chain mapping to the appropriate tier or to source in order to reduce the risks of modern slavery; and
 - 8.3.5 increase the number of people-hours devoted to supporting victims of modern slavery.

9. SUPPLIER'S SOCIAL VALUE POLICY AND SOCIAL VALUE PLAN

9.1 The Supplier shall provide to the Authority a copy of its Social Value policy or equivalent and shall develop, maintain and implement a Social Value Plan in line with the Authority's Social Value model at Annex 3, the Authority's Wider Social Value Policy Aims in Annex 1, the requirements set out in paragraph 8.1 of Schedule 2.3 (Standards) and the requirements of this Schedule 2.6 (Social Value). The Supplier shall ensure that any Key Sub-contractors comply with the Social Value Plan.

- 9.2 The Supplier shall submit its Social Value plan for the Authority's approval within 90 calendar Days of the Effective Date. The Social Value Plan shall ensure that all objectives, targets and aims contained therein are ambitious but achievable.
- 9.3 The Supplier shall ensure that the Social Value Plan complies with the Government Buying Standards (available at https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/sustainable-procurement-the-government-buying-standards-gbs) and with the requirements set out in paragraph 8.1 of Schedule 2.3 (Standards).
- 9.4 The Supplier's Social Value Plan shall include the Supplier's approach to delivering the Services which shall incorporate Social Value and the government's Plan for Growth as set out in paragraph 3.1 and shall set out how it will meet, monitor and measure its Social Value targets set out in Annex 3.
- 9.5 The Social Value Plan should also include the following principles:
 - a. value for money;
 - b. environmental and social benefits;
 - c. more efficient use of resources;
 - d. greater social inclusion;
 - e. support for innovation;
 - f. better risk management; and
 - g. improved supplier relationships.
- 9.6 In addition to the provision of the Social Value Plan, the Supplier shall set out within its Social Value Plan:
 - a. whether the Supplier intends to contract with any Start-ups, Small to Mediumsized Enterprises (SMEs) and/or Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprises (VSCEs) to provide any supplies or services required to deliver the Services;
 - b. the Supplier's projected level of spend in detail relating to the delivery of the Services with Start-ups, SMEs and/or VCSEs;
 - c. any plans the Supplier may have to increase the level of spend relating to the delivery of the Services with Start-ups, SMEs and/or VCSEs;
 - d. confirmation that the Supplier has systems in place to include (as a minimum) 30-day payment terms in all of its supply chain contracts and require that such terms are passed down through its supply chain in accordance with Clause 15.15(a) of the Agreement; and
 - e. confirmation that the Supplier has procedures for resolving disputed invoices with those in its supply chain promptly and effectively.
- 9.7 Carbon Reduction Plan (CRP)

- 9.7.1 The Supplier shall provide the Authority with a Carbon Reduction Plan which shall confirm the Supplier's commitment to achieving Net Zero in the UK by 2050.
- 9.7.2 The Carbon Reduction Plan shall set out the environmental management measures that the Supplier has implemented, and which shall be in effect and utilised during the delivery of the Agreement. These environmental management measures should include but are not limited to the following:
 - a. confirming the Supplier's commitment to achieving Net Zero by 2050 for its UK operations;
 - b. providing the Supplier's current emissions for the sources included in Scope
 1 and Scope 2 of the Green House Gases Protocol, and a defined subset of Scope 3 emissions;
 - c. providing emissions reporting in CO2e (Carbon Dioxide Equivalent) for the six greenhouse gases covered by the Kyoto Protocol;
 - d. setting out the environmental management measures in effect, including certification schemes or specific carbon reduction measures adopted and applied that support achieving Net Zero by 2050; and
 - e. publicising the CRP on the supplier's website.
- 9.7.3 The Carbon Reduction Plan shall be completed in accordance with the UK Government's Carbon Reduction Plan Guidance (available at https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/a ttachment_data/file/991622/PPN_0621_Taking_account_of_Carbon_Reductio n_Plans_2_.pdf).
- 9.7.4 The Carbon Reduction Plan shall be delivered to the Authority within 20 working days of the Effective Date.
- 9.7.5 The Supplier's Carbon Reduction Plan shall be reviewed and updated a minimum of annually to reflect changes in organisational structure and the completion of activity taken to reduce emissions over time.
- 9.7.6 During the life of the Agreement the Supplier shall provide the Authority with an updated Carbon Reduction Plan within 60 working days of the Supplier's financial year end. The Supplier shall detail the rationale and nature of any changes made to the Carbon Reduction Plan to the Authority for the Authority's information.
- 9.7.7 The Supplier shall provide the Authority with quarterly updates regarding its progress against the Carbon Reduction Plan as part of the Social Value Report. These updates must include an update of progress against carbon reduction targets using the table within PPN 0621 (available at https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/a ttachment_data/file/991622/PPN_0621_Taking_account_of_Carbon_Reduction_Plans_2_.pdf).
- 9.7.8 The Supplier shall publish the Carbon Reduction Plan on its organisation's Website. The Carbon Reduction Plan published on the Supplier's website shall be the most up to date version of the Plan and shall be re-uploaded in the event of any changes to the Plan.

10 MANAGEMENT INFORMATION

- 10.1 In addition to any other management information requirements set out in this Agreement, the Supplier agrees and acknowledges that it shall, provide a quarterly report (the "Social Value Report"). The Social Value Report shall include:
 - a. a record of the Supplier's progress against its Social Value Plan including any targets set;
 - b. details of the actions taken in the previous reporting period and actions planned for the next reporting period;
 - c. the total contract revenue received directly from this Agreement;
 - d. the total value of sub-contracted revenues from this Agreement (including revenues for non-SMEs and/or non-VCSEs);
 - e. the number, type and value of sub-contracted revenues to start-ups, SMEs and VCSEs; and
 - f. an update on the Supplier's progress against its Carbon Reduction Plan.
- 10.2 The SME Management Information Reports shall be provided in the format required as set out in guidance issued by the Authority from time to time, in accordance with Annex 4 of Schedule 8.4 (Reports & Records Provisions).

11 MONITORING AND REVIEW

- 11.1 The Supplier will demonstrate its commitment to Social Value through annual review of its Social Value policy.
- 11.2 The Supplier and Authority will discuss the Supplier's Social Value Plan and progress against it during meetings of the Quarterly Contract Review Meetings (QCRM).
- 11.3 The Authority may annually request the Supplier to complete a Social Value assessment (a "SV Assessment"), which will set out an action plan to improve performance against an agreed baseline. The parties shall review the progress of this action plan at during meetings of the Quarterly Contract Review Meetings (QCRM).
- 11.4 Following the completion of the Social Value Assessment, the Supplier will report on any agreed actions, in a format to be agreed between the Parties.
- 11.5 In addition, the Authority shall periodically request the Supplier to complete its Carbon Emissions (CE) Assessment, currently undertaken by CARBON Smart data gathering exercise in an agreed format. This will measure against the previous years' score and the Supplier will be required to set out an action plan to improve performance for the following year. The parties shall review the progress of this action plan during meetings of the Quarterly Contract Review Meetings (QCRM).

- 11.6 Following the completion of the CE Assessment, the Supplier will report on any agreed actions, in a format to be agreed between the Parties.
- 11.7 Where the risk of modern slavery is high (as reflected within the Modern Slavery Guidance (available at https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachm ent_data/file/830150/September_2019_Modern_Slavery_Guidance.pdf)), the Supplier will provide to the Authority assurance on the processes in place to identify and address modern slavery risks in their supply chains including, where relevant, assurance of legal compliance with the Modern Slavery. An action plan would need to be put in place where there were suspected and confirmed instances of modern slavery to detail how these are to be addressed. Additionally, any recommendations generated by MSAT would need to be included within the Action Plan.

Annex 1

The following sets out the Authority (acting through the Home Office) strategy in relation to Social value which the Supplier must comply with.

Home Office Social Value Strategy - June 2021

Our Goal

1. Our Goal

The HO strategy is supported by a number of government policies outlined below. This enables us to understand our legal obligations and policy requirements in order to achieve positive, sustainable outcomes, in line with best practice and with the highest overall value from our contracts. This includes:

- Adhering to the Social Value Act 2012;
- Adhering to the Modern Slavery Act 2015;
- Compliance with the Civil Society Strategy (available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/civil-society-strategy-building-a-future-that-works-for-everyone);
- Compliance with the Public Sector Equality Duty (available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/public-sector-equality-duty);
- Reducing the environmental impact of our contracts through compliance with Greening Government Commitments 2016-2020 (available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/greening-government-commitments-2016-to-2020), 25 Year Environment Plan (available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/25-year-environment-plan), Sustainable Development Goals (UN) (available at https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/?menu=1300), and Government Buying Standards (available at https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/sustainable-procurement-the-government-buying-standards-gbs);
- Compliance with the Greening government: ICT and digital services strategy 2020-2025 (available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/greening-government-ict-and-digital-services-strategy-2020-2025);
- Supporting the Plan for Growth (available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/plan-for-growth--5);
- Supporting the UK ambition to be net zero by 2050.
- Compliance with the Home Office Health and Wellbeing Strategy Apr 2018 to Mar 2021;
- Supporting the 10 Point Plan for a Green Industrial Revolution (available at https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/936567/10_POINT_PLAN_BOOKLET.pdf);
- Adherence to the law generally, all relevant Government Guidance and Procurement Policy Notes.

We provide reports to Ministry of Justice (MOJ) (Sustainable Cluster Lead for the Home Office), Cabinet Office and Stonewall.

The Social Value Act

The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 came into force on 31st January 2013. It requires the Home Office "to have regard to economic, social and environmental well-being in connection with public services contracts; and for connected purposes", see Procurement policy note 10/12: The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 (available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-10-12-the-public-services-social-value-act-2012). This means that we must consider where added benefit, in relation to social value aspects, can be delivered to the department, where relevant and proportionate, above those already delivered as part of the requirements of the specification. To learn how to apply the principles of this Act through a new delivery model please read: PPN 0620 Taking Account of Social Value in the Award of Central Government Contracts (available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0620-taking-account-of-social-value-in-the-award-of-central-government-contracts).

The Modern Slavery Act

The Modern Slavery Act 2015 ("The Act") categorises offences of Slavery, Servitude and Forced or Compulsory Labour and Human Trafficking. These are all included in the term 'modern slavery'. The Act requires businesses with a total turnover of £36m or above who carry out all or some of their business in the UK to publish an annual slavery and human trafficking statement. Businesses should set out what action they have taken to tackle modern slavery in their business or supply chains. This will allow consumers, investors and campaigners to hold them to account and call for them to do more.

Civil Society Strategy

This strategy has committed the Government to use its buying power to drive social change. Central Government will take account of social benefits in the award of its contracts. This will have the effect of levelling the playing field for all types of businesses including small businesses, voluntary and community sector organisations and social enterprises, encouraging employment opportunities, developing skills and improving environmental sustainability.

Public Sector Equality Duty

This duty came in to force in April 2011. It requires the HO to have due regard to the need to achieve the objectives set out under s149 of the Equality Act 2010 to:

- (a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by or under the Equality Act 2010.
- (b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it.
- (c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it.

The PSED should help to ensure that public goods and services are accessible to and meet the diverse needs of all users to ensure that no one group is disadvantaged in accessing public goods and services. Further information can be found within PPN 01/13 (available at

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/80185/PPN_Procurement_Equality_Jan-13_0.pdf) and on the PSED page on Horizon (available at https://horizon.homeoffice.gov.uk/news/what-public-sector-equality-duty-and-how-does-it-affect-you).

Greening Government Commitments (GGC)

The GGC (available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/greening-government-commitments-2016-to-2020) set out the actions UK government departments and their agencies will take to reduce their impacts on the environment in the period 2016 to 2020. They set out targets to reduce their greenhouse gas emissions, send less waste to landfill and reduce the overall amount of waste they produce and reduce water consumption. They also set out commitments for departments to improve sustainable procurement and report transparently on key sustainability issues. The Home Office is reporting a 42% reduction in carbon emissions, based on 2009-10 levels. Full details of our plans to further reduce emissions will follow.

25 Year Environment Plan

The environment plan (available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/25-year-environment-plan) sets out our goals for improving the environment, within a generation, and leaving it in a better state than we found it. It details how we in government will work with communities and businesses to do this and sets out what we will be doing over the next 25 years. Single-Use Plastics: Chapter 4 of the 25 Year Environment Plan discusses "Increasing resource efficiency and reducing pollution and waste". Reduction in the use of Single-Use Plastics in the department's activities and services it provides is an important part of this. There are an increasing number of multi-use plastics or plastic-free alternatives that we can use and encourage our suppliers to use in their supply chains. By reducing our use of Single-Use Plastics and asking our suppliers to reduce or eliminate their use of these in our supply chains, we can help to achieve the goals of the 25 Year Plan.

Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs)

SDGs were adopted by all United Nations Member States in 2015 providing a shared blueprint for peace and prosperity for people and the planet, now and into the future. At its heart are 17 SDGs, which are an urgent call for action by all countries - developed and developing - in a global partnership. They recognise that ending poverty and other deprivations must go hand-in-hand with strategies that improve health and education, reduce inequality, and spur economic growth – all while tackling climate change and working to preserve our oceans and forests.

Government Buying Standards (GBS)

All government departments and their related organisations must make sure that they meet the minimum mandatory GBS standards when buying goods and services and to specify the minimum mandatory standards within tenders. This forms part of sustainable procurement - the process whereby organisations meet their needs for goods, services, works and utilities in a way that benefits not only the organisation, but also society and the economy, while minimising damage to the environment.

Greening government: ICT and digital services strategy 2020-2025

This strategy sets out how the government will work in partnership with industry and other sectors to provide ICT and digital services to help achieve the United Nation's Sustainable Development Goals, implement Defra's 25 Year Environment Plan and meet the government's net zero commitments. The objectives of this strategy is to deliver the following outcomes:

- Reduced carbon and cost
- Increased resilience
- Increased responsibility (doing the right thing).
- Increased transparency and collaboration.
- Increased accountability.

Plan for Growth

Government announced a programme of structural reforms to remove barriers to growth for businesses and equip the UK to compete in the global race. These reforms span a range of policies including improving UK infrastructure, cutting red tape, root and branch reform of the planning system and boosting trade and inward investment, to achieve the government's 4 ambitions for growth:

- creating the most competitive tax system in the G20.
- encouraging investment and exports as a route to a more balanced economy.
- making the UK the best place in Europe to start, finance and grow a business.
- creating a more educated workforce that is the most flexible in Europe.

Net Zero by 2050

As part of assessing a supplier's technical and professional ability, from 30th September 2021, there will be a requirement for bidding suppliers to provide a Carbon Reduction Plan confirming their commitment to achieving Net Zero by 2050 in the UK, and setting out the environmental management measures that they have in place and which will be in effect and utilised during the performance of the contract. This will apply to contracts valued above £5m per annum. Please refer to PPN 06/21 (available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0621-taking-account-of-carbon-reduction-plans-in-the-procurement-of-major-government-contracts) for further information.

Health and Wellbeing Strategy Apr 2018 to Mar 2021

The Home Office aspires to be a great place to work where staff will benefit from a positive environment, and physical and emotional health and wellbeing. The Health and Wellbeing Strategy (available at https://horizon.homeoffice.gov.uk/page/wellbeing-strategy-and-staff-support) aligns with the 5 Civil Service strategic priorities. It aims to improve:

• leadership capability by providing leaders with advice and training.

- the tools, policies, guidance and processes you and your leaders use.
- work culture, practices, environment and staff behaviours.

10 Point Plan for a Green Industrial Revolution

The Ten Point Plan sets firm foundations to potentially deliver up to an estimated £42 billon of private investment by 2030 across energy, buildings, transport, innovation and the natural environment. The Plan will start by supporting 90,000 jobs across the UK within this Parliament, and up to 250,000 by 2030 and will seek to put the UK at the forefront of global markets for clean technology. It will generate new clean power with offshore wind farms, nuclear plants and will invest up to half a billion pounds in new hydrogen technologies. Finally, it will harness nature's ability to absorb carbon by establishing new National Parks and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, making them havens of biodiversity, with the aim of protecting 30% of England's countryside by 2030. The cumulative effect of this plan will be to reduce UK emissions by 180 million tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (Mt CO2 e) between 2023 and 2032, equal to taking all of today's cars off the road for around two years, all will help to meet our net zero by 2050 target.

The SME Agenda

In 2015 Government achieved the 25% aspiration for spend with Small and Medium-sized Enterprises (SMEs). The Government's previous ambition was to spend 33% by March 2022 with SMEs. However, since the last manifesto this target has been relaxed and the HO approach now is to proactively engage with our SMEs to support the Industrial Strategy aim 'to improve living standards and economic growth by increasing productivity and driving growth across the UK'.

Diversity and Inclusion including LGBTQi+ Equality

The Civil Service Diversity and Inclusion Strategy 2017-2020 (available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/a-brilliant-civil-service-becoming-the-uks-most-inclusive-employer) <u>launched</u> in September 2018, prioritises greater representation and inclusion, which are essential to achieving our ambition to become the most inclusive employer in the UK by 2020.

Annex 2 - Home Office Social Value Objectives

The Social Value Model (available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/procurement-policy-note-0620-taking-account-of-social-value-in-the-award-of-central-government-contracts) details the Authority's objectives for Social Value, articulating it in terms of high-level themes and strategic policy priorities.

The Supplier shall incorporate the Social Value Model as described within this Schedule 2.6, where relevant and proportionate to the Services and its Social Value solution as described within Schedule 4.1 (Suppliers Solution), within the Suppliers Social Value Plan and Social Value Report.

The Supplier shall set their own benchmarks and targets within their Social Value Plan, for improvements or activities that support the delivery of the Authority's aims as set out within this Schedule.

Annex 3: Carbon Reduction Targets reporting

In accordance with paragraph 9.7.7 of this Schedule 2.6 (Social Value) the Supplier shall deliver to the Authority an update regarding the Supplier's progress against its carbon reduction targets as part of the quarterly Social Value Report.

In the Social Value Report the Supplier shall use Carbon Reduction Plan Template (available at https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/991622/PPN_0621_Taking_account_of_Carbon_Reduction Plans__2 .pdf) to provide the update regarding the Supplier's progress against its carbon reduction targets.

Annex 4: Supplier Solution Extract

SCHEDULE 3

AUTHORITY RESPONSIBILITIES

OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE

SCHEDULE 4.1

SUPPLIER SOLUTION

OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE

ANNEX 1: BAFO DRAFT TEST STRATEGY & PLAN

SCHEDULE 4.2

COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE INFORMATION

SCHEDULE 4.3

NOTIFIED KEY SUB-CONTRACTORS Notified Key Sub-Contractors

SCHEDULE 4.4

THIRD PARTY CONTRACTS

Third Party Contracts

- The contracts listed in the table below constitute Third Party Contracts entered into exclusively for the purposes of delivering the Services.
- The Supplier shall be entitled to update this Schedule 4.4 (Third Party Contracts) in accordance with Clause 15.5 (*Appointment of Sub-contractors*).

Third party supplier name and address (if not the same as the registered office)	Registered office and company number	Related product/service description
Not applicable	Not applicable	Not applicable

SCHEDULE

5

SOFTWARE

ANNEX 1: FORM OF LETTER RE SUB-LICENSING OF SUPPLIER COTS SOFTWARE AND SUPPLIER COTS BACKGROUND IPRS

ANNEX 2: FORM OF CONFIDENTIALITY UNDERTAKING

SCHEDULE 6.1

IMPLEMENTATION

PLAN

Implementation Plan

ANNEX 1: OUTLINE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN

Annex 2 – Supplier Solution Implementation Narrative Extract Redacted' Under FOIA Section 40, Personal Information for the Authority

Annex 3 – Deliverable Descriptions

SCHEDULE 6.2

TESTING PROCEDURES

ANNEX 1: TEST ISSUES - SEVERITY LEVELS

ANNEX 2: TEST CERTIFICATE

ANNEX 3: MILESTONE ACHIEVEMENT CERTIFICATE

OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE ANNEX 4: TEST SUCCESS CRITERIA Redacted' Under FOIA Section 40, Personal Information for the Supplier Redacted' Under FOIA Section 40, Personal Information for the Supplier

OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE			
ANNEX 5: SUPPLIER SOLUTION TESTING EXTRACT			
Redacted' Under FOIA Section 40, Personal Information for the Supplier			

SCHEDULE 7.1 CHARGES AND INVOICING

PART A: PRICING

1 MILESTONE PAYMENTS

PART B: Charging Mechanisms

1 RELEASE OF IMPLEMENTATION MILESTONE RETENTIONS

2 OPTIONAL SERVICES Redacted' Under FOIA Section 40, Personal Information for the Supplier

PART C: ADJUSTMENTS TO THE CHARGES AND RISK REGISTER

PART D: EXCESSIVE SUPPLIER PROFIT MARGIN

PART E: INVOICING AND PAYMENT TERMS

1 PAYMENT TERMS

ANNEX 1: PRICING MECHANISM

TABLE 1: UNINDEXED CAPPED TIME & MATERIAL MILESTONE PAYMENTS

TABLE 2: UNINDEXED BANDED FIXED SERVICE CHARGES

Redacted' Under FOIA Section 40, Personal Information for the Supplier

TABLE 3: UNINDEXED BANDED VOLUMETRIC SERVICE CHARGES

Redacted' Under FOIA Section 40, Personal Information for the Supplier

TABLE 4: ADDED VALUE SERVICES

TABLE 5: MARK-UPS

Redacted' Under FOIA Section 40, Personal Information for the Supplier	

TABLE 6: UNINDEXED CORE BANDED FIXED SERVICE CHARGE ATTRIBUTABLE TO MANDATORY PACS (In respect of Schedule 7.1 Part A Paragraph 8.3)

Redacted' Under FOIA Section 40, Personal Information for the Supplier

Redacted' Under FOIA Section 40, Personal Information for the Supplier

TABLE 7

Redacted' Under FOIA Section 40,	
Personal Information for the Supplier	
Dedected Haden FOIA Coetion 40	
Redacted' Under FOIA Section 40,	
Personal Information for the Supplier	

ANNEX 2: FINANCIAL MODELS AND ASSOCIATED DOCUMENTS

[Provided separately to this document] Redacted' Under FOIA Section 40, Personal Information for the Supplier

ANNEX 3: PRO-FORMA CERTIFICATE OF COSTS

SCHEDULE 7.2 PAYMENTS ON TERMINATION

1 DEFINITIONS

1.1 In this Schedule, the definitions set out in Schedule 1 (Definitions) shall apply:

2 TERMINATION PAYMENT

- (a) The Termination Payment payable pursuant to Clause 35.3(a) (*Payments by the Authority*) shall be an amount equal to the aggregate of the Breakage Costs Payment and the Unrecovered Payment;
- (b) The Baseline Financial Model or latest Updated Baseline Financial Model shall be utilised to inform the calculation of all Breakage Costs Payments and Unrecovered Payments arising from any Partial Termination Event or Termination Event

3 BREAKAGE COSTS PAYMENT

- 3.1 The Supplier may recover through the Breakage Costs Payment only those costs incurred by the Supplier directly as a result of the termination (in whole or part) of this Agreement which:
 - (a) would not have been incurred had this Agreement (or part) continued until expiry of the Initial Term, or in the event that the Term has been extended, the expiry of the Extension Period;
 - (b) are unavoidable, proven, reasonable, and not capable of recovery;
 - (c) are incurred under arrangements or agreements that are directly associated with this Agreement;
 - (d) are not Contract Breakage Costs relating to contracts or Sub-contracts with Affiliates of the Supplier; and
 - (e) relate directly to the termination of the Services (or part of them).

Limitation on Breakage Costs Payment

- 3.2 The Breakage Costs Payment shall not exceed the lower of:
 - (a) the relevant limit set out in Annex 1; and
 - (b) 120% of the estimate for the Breakage Costs Payment set out in any relevant Termination Estimate.

Redundancy Costs

- 3.3 The Authority shall not be liable under this Schedule for any costs associated with Supplier Personnel (whether relating to redundancy, redeployment or otherwise) other than the Redundancy Costs.
- 3.4 Where the Supplier can demonstrate that a member of Supplier Personnel will be made redundant following termination of this Agreement, but redeployment of such person is

possible and would offer value for money to the Authority when compared with redundancy, then the Authority shall pay the Supplier the actual direct costs incurred by the Supplier or its Sub-contractor arising out of the redeployment of such person (including retraining and relocation costs) subject to a maximum amount of £30,000 per relevant member of the Supplier Personnel.

Contract Breakage Costs

- 3.5 The Supplier shall be entitled to Contract Breakage Costs only in respect of Third-Party Contracts or Sub-contracts which:
 - (a) are not assigned or novated to a Replacement Supplier at the request of the Authority in accordance with Schedule 8.5 (*Exit Management*); and
 - (b) the Supplier can demonstrate:
 - (i) are surplus to the Supplier's requirements after the Termination Date, whether in relation to use internally within its business or in providing services to any of its other customers;
 - (ii) have been entered into by it in the ordinary course of business; and
 - (iii) are listed as Key Sub-contractors listed in Schedule 4.3 (*Notified Key Sub-Contractors*).
- 3.6 The Supplier shall seek to negotiate termination of any Third-Party Contracts or Subcontracts with the relevant third party or Sub-contractor (as the case may be) using all reasonable endeavours to minimise the cancellation or termination charges.
- 3.7 Except with the prior written agreement of the Authority, the Authority shall not be liable for any costs (including cancellation or termination charges) that the Supplier is obliged to pay in respect of:
 - (a) the termination of any contractual arrangements for occupation of, support of and/or services provided for Supplier premises which may arise as a consequence of the termination of this Agreement; and/or
 - (b) Assets not yet installed at the Termination Date.

4 UNRECOVERED PAYMENT

The Unrecovered Payment shall not exceed the lowest of:

- (a) the relevant limit set out in Annex 1;
- (b) 120% of the estimate for the Unrecovered Payment set out in any relevant Termination Estimate; and
- (c) the Charges that but for the termination of this Agreement would have been payable by the Authority after the Termination Date in accordance with Schedule 7.1 (*Charges and Invoicing*) as forecast in the Financial Model.

5 MITIGATION OF CONTRACT BREAKAGE COSTS, REDUNDANCY COSTS AND UNRECOVERED COSTS

- 5.1 The Supplier agrees to use all reasonable endeavours to minimise and mitigate Contract Breakage Costs, Redundancy Costs and Unrecovered Costs by:
 - (a) the appropriation of Assets (where it is reasonable to do so), employees and resources for other purposes;
 - (b) at the Authority's request, assigning, novating or otherwise transferring any Third-Party Contracts and Sub-contracts to the Authority or a third party acting on behalf of the Authority; and
 - (c) in relation Third Party Contracts and Sub-contract that are not to be assigned to the Authority or to another third party, terminating those contracts at the earliest possible date without breach or where contractually permitted.
- 5.2 If Assets, employees and resources can be used by the Supplier for other purposes, then there shall be an equitable reduction in the Contract Breakage Costs, Redundancy Costs and Unrecovered Costs payable by the Authority or a third party to the Supplier. In the event of any Dispute arising over whether the Supplier can use any Assets, employees and/or resources for other purposes and/or over the amount of the relevant equitable reduction, the Dispute shall be referred to an Expert for determination in accordance with the procedure detailed in Schedule 8.3 (*Dispute Resolution Procedure*).

6 COMPENSATION PAYMENT

- 6.1 The Compensation Payment payable pursuant to Clause 34.3(b) (*Payments by the Authority*) shall be an amount equal to the total forecast Charges over the Shortfall Period (as stated in an updated and Authority agreed Financial Model) multiplied by the Anticipated Contract Life Profit Margin.
- 6.2 For the purposes of Paragraph 6.1, the "**Shortfall Period**" means:
 - (a) where the Authority partially terminates or terminates this Agreement pursuant to Clause 34.1(a) (*Termination by the Authority*), a number of days equal to the number of days by which the notice given (or deemed given pursuant to Part D of Schedule 7.1 (*Charges and Invoicing*)) falls short of 90 days; or
 - (b) where the Supplier partially terminates or terminates this Agreement pursuant to Clause 34.3(a) (*Termination by the Supplier*), a number of days equal to the number of days by which the period from (and including) the date of the non-payment by the Authority to (and including) the Termination Date falls short of 90 days, but in each case subject to the limit set out in Paragraph 6.3.
- 6.3 The Compensation Payment shall be no greater than the lower of:
 - (a) the relevant limit set out in Annex 1; and
 - (b) 120% of the estimate for the Compensation Payment set out in the relevant Termination Estimate.

7 FULL AND FINAL SETTLEMENT

Any Termination Payment and/or Compensation Payment paid under this Schedule shall be in full and final settlement of any claim, demand and/or proceedings of the Supplier in relation to any termination by the Authority pursuant to Clause 34.1(a) (*Termination by the Authority*) or termination by the Supplier pursuant to Clause 34.3(a) (*Termination by the Supplier*) (as applicable), and the Supplier shall be excluded from all other rights and remedies it would otherwise have been entitled to in respect of any such termination.

8 INVOICING FOR THE PAYMENTS ON TERMINATION

All sums due under this Schedule shall be payable by the Authority to the Supplier in accordance with the payment terms set out in Schedule 7.1 (*Charges and Invoicing*).

9 SET OFF

The Authority shall be entitled to set off any outstanding liabilities of the Supplier against any amounts that are payable by it pursuant to this Schedule.

10 NO DOUBLE RECOVERY

- 10.1 If any amount payable under this Schedule (in whole or in part) relates to or arises from any Transferring Assets then, to the extent that the Authority makes any payments pursuant to Schedule 8.5 (*Exit Management*) in respect of such Transferring Assets, such payments shall be deducted from the amount payable pursuant to this Schedule.
- 10.2 The value of the Termination Payment and/or the Compensation Payment shall be reduced or extinguished to the extent that the Supplier has already received the Charges or the financial benefit of any other rights or remedy given under this Agreement so that there is no double counting in calculating the relevant payment.
- 10.3 Any payments that are due in respect of the Transferring Assets shall be calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Exit Plan.

11 ESTIMATE OF TERMINATION PAYMENT AND COMPENSATION PAYMENT

- 11.1 The Authority may issue a Request for Estimate at any time during the Term, as follows:
 - (a) in the case of partial termination, on an unlimited basis; and
 - (b) in the case of termination in whole, no more than 2 Requests for Estimate may be issued in any 6-month period.
- 11.2 The Supplier shall within 20 Working Days of receiving the Request for Estimate (or such other timescale agreed between the Parties), provide an accurate written estimate of the Termination Payment and the Compensation Payment that would be payable by the Authority based on a postulated Termination Date specified in the Request for Estimate (such estimate being the "**Termination Estimate**"). The Termination Estimate shall:
 - (a) be based on the relevant amounts set out in the Financial Model;

- (b) include:
 - (i) details of the mechanism by which the Termination Payment is calculated;
 - (ii) full particulars of the estimated Contract Breakage Costs in respect of each Sub-contract or Third Party Contract and appropriate supporting documentation; and
 - (iii) such information as the Authority may reasonably require; and
- (c) state the period for which that Termination Estimate remains valid, which shall be not less than 20 Working Days.
- 11.3 The Supplier acknowledges that issue of a Request for Estimate shall not be construed in any way as to represent an intention by the Authority to partially terminate or terminate this Agreement.
- 11.4 If the Authority issues a Termination Notice to the Supplier within the stated period for which a Termination Estimate remains valid, the Supplier shall use the same mechanism to calculate the Termination Payment as was detailed in the Termination Estimate unless otherwise agreed in writing between the Supplier and the Authority.

ANNEX 1: MAXIMUM PAYMENTS ON TERMINATION

The table below sets out, the maximum amount of the Unrecovered Payment, Breakage Costs Payment and Compensation Payment that the Authority shall be liable to pay to the Supplier pursuant to this Agreement:

Service Area	Maximum	Maximum	Maximum
	Unrecovered	Breakage Costs	Compensation
	Payment	Payment	Payment
All Services described in Schedule 2.1 (Services Description)	Three (3) x monthly Banded Fixed Service Charges calculated on the basis of the greater of Actual Volumes of the last completed Reporting Period and Authority Volume Estimates of the next Reporting Period plus Three (3) monthly Banded Volumetric Service Charge, which shall be calculated on the basis of the greater of Actual Volumes of the last completed Reporting Period and Authority Volume Estimates of the next Reporting Period's Banded Volumetric Service Charge. with the Banded Fixed Service Charge payment pro-rated for the relevant Service or Location(s) terminated as applicable	One (1) x monthly Banded Fixed Service Charge calculated on the basis of the greater of Actual Volumes of the last completed Reporting Period and Authority Volume Estimates of the next Reporting Period plus One (1) monthly Banded Volumetric Service Charge, which shall be calculated on the basis of the greater of Actual Volumes of the last completed Reporting Period and Authority Volume Estimates of the next Reporting Period's Banded Volumetric Service Charge. with the Banded Fixed Service Charge payment pro-rated for the relevant Service or Location(s) terminated as applicable)	In accordance with Paragraph 6.3 and the following formula. Three (3) x the monthly Banded Fixed Service Charge based on the greater of Actual Volumes of the last completed Reporting period and average monthly Authority Volume Estimates of the Shortfall Period / 30 days x (90 days – notice period shortfall in days) x profit margin %. Plus Three(3) x monthly Banded Volumetric Service Charge based on the greater of the Actual Volumes of the last completed Reporting Period and average monthly Authority Volume Estimates of the Shortfall Period / 30 days x (90 days – notice period shortfall in days) x Anticipated Contract Life Profit Margin %, with the Banded Fixed Service Charge payment pro-rated for the relevant Service or Location(s) terminated as applicable

SCHEDULE 7.3 BENCHMARKING

1 DEFINITIONS

In this Schedule, the definitions set out in Schedule 1 (Definitions) shall apply.

2 FREQUENCY, PURPOSE AND SCOPE OF BENCHMARK REVIEW

- 2.1 The Authority may, by written notice to the Supplier, require a Benchmark Review of any or all of the Services in order to establish whether a Benchmarked Service is, and/or the Benchmarked Services as a whole are, Good Value.
- 2.2 The Authority shall not be entitled to carry out a Benchmark Review of any Services during the 12 month period from the Operational Service Commencement Date for those Services, nor at intervals of less than 12 months after any previous Benchmark Review relating to the same Services.
- 2.3 The Services that are to be the Benchmarked Services shall be identified by the Authority in the notice given under Paragraph 2.1.

3 APPOINTMENT OF BENCHMARKER

- 3.1 The Authority shall appoint as the Benchmarker to carry out the Benchmark Review either an organisation on the list of organisations set out in Annex 1 or such other organisation as may agreed in writing between the Parties.
- 3.2 The Authority shall, at the written request of the Supplier, require the Benchmarker to enter into a confidentiality agreement with the Supplier in, or substantially in, the form set out in Annex 2.
- 3.3 The costs and expenses of the Benchmarker and the Benchmark Review shall be shared equally between both Parties provided that each Party shall bear its own internal costs of the Benchmark Review. The Benchmarker shall not be compensated on a contingency fee or incentive basis.
- 3.4 The Authority shall be entitled to pay the Benchmarker's costs and expenses in full and to recover the Supplier's share from the Supplier.

4 BENCHMARK REVIEW

- 4.1 The Authority shall require the Benchmarker to produce, and to send to each Party for approval, a draft plan for the Benchmark Review within 10 Working Days after the date of the appointment of the Benchmarker, or such longer period as the Benchmarker shall reasonably request in all the circumstances. The plan must include:
 - (a) a proposed timetable for the Benchmark Review;
 - (b) a description of the information that the Benchmarker requires each Party to provide;
 - (c) a description of the benchmarking methodology to be used;

- (d) a description that clearly illustrates that the benchmarking methodology to be used is capable of fulfilling the benchmarking objectives under Paragraph 2.1;
- (e) an estimate of the resources required from each Party to underpin the delivery of the plan;
- (f) a description of how the Benchmarker will scope and identify the Comparison Group;
- (g) details of any entities which the Benchmarker proposes to include within the Comparison Group; and
- (h) if in the Benchmarker's professional opinion there are no Comparable Services or the number of entities carrying out Comparable Services is insufficient to create a Comparison Group, a detailed approach for meeting the relevant benchmarking objective(s) under Paragraph 2.1 using a proxy for the Comparison Services and/or Comparison Group as applicable.
- 4.2 The Parties acknowledge that the selection and or use of proxies for the Comparison Group (both in terms of number and identity of entities) and Comparable Services shall be a matter for the Benchmarker's professional judgment.
- 4.3 Each Party shall give notice in writing to the Benchmarker and to the other Party within 10 Working Days after receiving the draft plan either approving the draft plan or suggesting amendments to that plan which must be reasonable Where a Party suggests amendments to the draft plan pursuant to this Paragraph 4.3, the Benchmarker shall, if it believes the amendments are reasonable, produce an amended draft plan. Paragraph 4.1 and this Paragraph 4.3 shall apply to any amended draft plan.
- 4.4 Failure by a Party to give notice under Paragraph 4.3 shall be treated as approval of the draft plan by that Party. If the Parties fail to approve the draft plan within 30 Working Days of its first being sent to them pursuant to Paragraph 4.1 then the Benchmarker shall prescribe the plan.
- 4.5 Once the plan is approved by both Parties or prescribed by the Benchmarker, the Benchmarker shall carry out the Benchmark Review in accordance with the plan. Each Party shall procure that all the information described in the plan, together with any additional information reasonably required by the Benchmarker is provided to the Benchmarker without undue delay. If the Supplier fails to provide any information requested from it by the Benchmarker and described in the plan, such failure shall constitute a material Default for the purposes of Clause 27.1(c) (Rectification Plan Process).
- 4.6 Each Party shall co-operate fully with the Benchmarker, including by providing access to records, technical documentation, premises, equipment, systems and personnel at times reasonably requested by the Benchmarker, provided that the Benchmarker shall be instructed to minimise any disruption to the Services.

- 4.7 Either Party may provide additional material to the Benchmarker to assist the Benchmarker in conducting the Benchmark Review.
- 4.8 Once it has received the information it requires, the Benchmarker shall:
 - (a) finalise the sample of entities constituting the Comparison Group and collect data relating to Comparable Services. The final selection of the Comparison Group (both in terms of number and identity of entities) and of the Comparable Services shall be a matter for the Benchmarker's professional judgment;
 - (b) derive the Equivalent Services Data by applying the adjustment factors listed in Paragraph 4.9 and from an analysis of the Comparable Services;
 - (c) derive the relative value for money of the charges payable for the Comparable Services using the Equivalent Services Data and from that derive the Upper Quartile;
 - (d) derive the median service levels relating to the Comparable Services using the Equivalent Services Data;
 - (e) compare the value for money of the Charges attributable to the Benchmarked Services (having regard in particular to the applicable Performance Indicators and Target Service Levels) to the value for money of the Upper Quartile;
 - (f) compare the Performance Indicators and Target Service Levels attributable to the Benchmarked Services (having regard to the Charges and Service Credits) with the median service levels using the Equivalent Services Data; and
 - (g) determine whether or not each Benchmarked Service is and/or the Benchmarked Services as a whole are, Good Value.
- 4.9 The Benchmarker shall have regard to the following matters when performing a comparative assessment of a Benchmarked Service and a Comparable Service in order to derive Equivalent Services Data:
 - (a) the contractual and business environment under which the Services are being provided (including the scope, scale, complexity and geographical spread of the Services);
 - (b) any front-end investment and development costs of the Supplier;
 - (c) the Supplier's risk profile including the financial, performance or liability risks associated with the provision of the Services as a whole;
 - (d) the extent of the Supplier's management and contract governance responsibilities;
 - (e) any other reasonable factors demonstrated by the Supplier, which, if not taken into consideration, could unfairly cause the Supplier's pricing to appear non-competitive (such as erroneous costing, non-sustainable

behaviour including excessive consumption of energy or over-aggressive pricing).

5 BENCHMARK REPORT

- 5.1 The Benchmarker shall be required to prepare a Benchmark Report and deliver it simultaneously to both Parties, at the time specified in the plan approved under Paragraph 4, setting out its findings. The Benchmark Report shall:
 - (a) include a finding as to whether or not each Benchmarked Service is and/or whether the Benchmarked Services as a whole are, Good Value;
 - (b) include other findings (if any) regarding the quality and competitiveness or otherwise of those Services;
 - (c) if any Benchmarked Service is not Good Value, or the Benchmarked Services as a whole are not Good Value, specify the changes that would be required to the Charges, Performance Indicators and/or Target Performance Levels, that would be required to make that Benchmarked Service or those Benchmarked Services as a whole Good Value; and
 - (d) illustrate the method used for any normalisation of the Equivalent Services

 Data
- 5.2 The Benchmarker shall act as an expert and not as an arbitrator.
- 5.3 If the Benchmark Report states that any Benchmarked Service is not Good Value or that the Benchmarked Services as a whole are not Good Value, then the Supplier shall (subject to Paragraphs 5.5 and 5.6) implement the changes set out in the Benchmark Report as soon as reasonably practicable within timescales agreed with the Authority but in any event within no more than 3 months. Any associated changes to the Charges shall take effect only from the same date and shall not be retrospective.
- 5.4 The Supplier acknowledges and agrees that Benchmark Reviews shall not result in any increase to the Charges, disapplication of the Performance Indicators or any reduction in the Target Performance Levels.
- 5.5 The Supplier shall be entitled to reject any Benchmark Report if the Supplier reasonably considers that the Benchmarker has not followed the procedure for the related Benchmark Review as set out in this Schedule in any material respect.
- 5.6 The Supplier shall not be obliged to implement any Benchmark Report to the extent this would cause the Supplier to provide the Services at a loss (as determined, by reference to the Financial Model), or to the extent the Supplier cannot technically implement the recommended changes.
- 5.7 In the event of any Dispute arising over whether the Benchmarker has followed the procedure for the related Benchmark Review under Paragraph 5.5 and/or any matter referred to in Paragraph 5.6, the Dispute shall be referred to Expert Determination. For the avoidance of doubt in the event of a Dispute between the Parties, the Authority shall continue to pay the Charges to the Supplier in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the Performance Indicators and

Target Performance Levels shall remain unchanged pending the conclusion of the Expert Determination.

- 5.8 On conclusion of the Expert Determination:
 - (a) if the Expert determines that all or any part of the Benchmark Report recommendations regarding any reduction in the Charges shall be implemented by the Supplier, the Supplier shall immediately repay to the Authority the difference between the Charges paid by the Authority up to and including the date of the Expert's determination and the date upon which the recommended reduction in Charges should have originally taken effect pursuant to Paragraph 5.3 together with interest thereon at the applicable rate under the Late Payment Of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998; and
 - (b) if the Expert determines that all or any part of the Benchmark Report recommendations regarding any changes to the Performance Indicators and/or Target Performance Levels shall be implemented by the Supplier:
 (i) the Supplier shall immediately implement the relevant changes;
 - (ii) the Supplier shall immediately pay an amount equal to any Service Credits which would have accrued up to and including the date of the Expert's determination if the relevant changes had taken effect on the date determined pursuant to Paragraph 5.3 together with interest thereon at the applicable rate under the Late Payment Of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998; and
 - (iii) the relevant changes shall thereafter be subject to the Change Control Procedure for the purposes of formalising and documenting the relevant change or amendment for the purposes of this Agreement.
- Any failure by the Supplier to implement the changes as set out in the Benchmark Report in accordance with the relevant timescales determined in accordance with Paragraph 5.3 (unless the provisions of Paragraph 5.6 and/or Paragraph 5.7 apply) or in accordance with Paragraph 5.8 shall, without prejudice to any other rights or remedies of the Authority, constitute a Supplier Termination Event.

ANNEX 1: APPROVED BENCHMARKERS

To be agreed between the Parties

ANNEX 2: CONFIDENTIALITY AGREEMENT

CONFIDENTIALITY AGREEMENT

BETWEEN:

- (1) [insert name] of [insert address] (the "Supplier"); and
- (2) [insert name] of [insert address] (the "Benchmarker" and together with the Supplier, the "Parties").

WHEREAS:

- (A) [insert name of Authority] (the "Authority") and the Supplier are party to a contract dated [insert date] (the "Contract") for the provision by the Supplier of [insert brief description of services] to the Authority.
- (B) The Benchmarker is to receive Confidential Information from the Supplier for the purpose of carrying out a benchmarking review for the Authority of one or more of such services pursuant to the terms of the Contract (the "Permitted Purpose").

IT IS AGREED as follows:

"Confidential Information"

- 1 Interpretation
- 1.1 In this Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires:

means:"	()	the meaning of the Data Protection Act 2016 and however it is conveyed, provided by the Supplier to the Benchmarker pursuant to the Agreement that relates to:	
		(i)	the Supplier; or
		(ii)	the operations, business, affairs, developments, intellectual property rights, trade secrets, know-how and/or personnel of the Supplier;
	b)	pursua Bench being or reason confide the Be Bench	information provided by the Supplier and to this Agreement to the marker that is clearly designated as confidential or equivalent or that ought hably to be considered to be ential which comes (or has come) to inchmarker's attention or into the marker's possession in connection with rmitted Purpose;

a) Information, including all personal data within

	c) discussions, negotiations, and correspondence between the Supplier or any of its directors, officers, employees, consultants or professional advisers and the Benchmarker or any of its directors, officers, employees, consultants and professional advisers in connection with the Permitted Purpose and all matters arising therefrom; and
	d) Information derived from any of the above,
	but not including any Information that:
	e) was in the possession of the Benchmarker without obligation of confidentiality prior to its disclosure by the Supplier;
	f) the Benchmarker obtained on a non- confidential basis from a third party who is not, to the Benchmarker's knowledge or belief, bound by a confidentiality agreement with the Supplier or otherwise prohibited from disclosing the information to the Benchmarker;
	g) was already generally available and in the public domain at the time of disclosure otherwise than by a breach of this Agreement or breach of a duty of confidentiality; or was independently developed without access to the Confidential Information;
"Information"	means all information of whatever nature, however conveyed and in whatever form, including in writing, orally, by demonstration, electronically and in a tangible, visual or machine-readable medium (including CD-ROM, magnetic and digital form); and
"Permitted Purpose"	has the meaning given to that expression in recital (B) to this Agreement.

1.2 In this Agreement:

- (a) a reference to any gender includes a reference to other genders;
- (b) the singular includes the plural and vice versa;
- (c) the words "include" and cognate expressions shall be construed as if they were immediately followed by the words "without limitation";

Official - Sensitive

- (d) references to any statutory provision include a reference to that provision as modified, replaced, amended and/or re-enacted from time to time (before or after the date of signature of this Agreement) and any prior or subsequent subordinate legislation made under it;
- (e) headings are included for ease of reference only and shall not affect the interpretation or construction of this Agreement; and
- (f) references to Clauses are to clauses of this Agreement.

2 Confidentiality Obligations

- 2.1 In consideration of the Supplier providing Confidential Information to the Benchmarker, the Benchmarker shall:
 - (a) treat all Confidential Information as secret and confidential;
 - (b) have in place and maintain proper security measures and procedures to protect the confidentiality of the Confidential Information (having regard to its form and nature);
 - (c) not disclose or permit the disclosure of any of the Confidential Information to any other person without obtaining the prior written consent of the Supplier or, if relevant, other owner or except as expressly set out in this Agreement;
 - (d) not transfer any of the Confidential Information outside the United Kingdom other than as necessary for the Permitted Purpose, and where necessary in accordance with the same requirements as the Supplier is bound by pursuant to Clauses 22 (Confidentiality) and 24 (Protection of Personal Data) of the contract referred to in Recital A;
 - (e) not use or exploit any of the Confidential Information for any purpose whatsoever other than the Permitted Purpose;
 - (f) immediately notify the Supplier in writing if it suspects or becomes aware of any unauthorised access, copying, use or disclosure in any form of any of the Confidential Information; and
 - (g) once the Permitted Purpose has been fulfilled:
 - (i) destroy or return to the Supplier all documents and other tangible materials that contain any of the Confidential Information;
 - (ii) ensure, so far as reasonably practicable, that all Confidential Information held in electronic, digital or other machine-readable form ceases to be readily accessible (other than by the information technology staff of the Benchmarker) from any computer, word processor, voicemail system or any other device; and
 - (iii) make no further use of any Confidential Information.

3 Permitted Disclosures

- 3.1 The Benchmarker may disclose Confidential Information to those of its directors, officers, employees, consultants and professional advisers who:
 - (a) reasonably need to receive the Confidential Information in connection with the Permitted Purpose; and
 - (b) have been informed by the Benchmarker of the confidential nature of the Confidential Information; and
 - (c) have agreed to terms similar to those in this Agreement.
- 3.2 The Benchmarker shall be entitled to disclose Confidential Information to the Authority for the Permitted Purpose and to any Expert appointed in relation to a Dispute as referred to in paragraph 5.7 of schedule 7.3 (Benchmarking) to the Contract.
- 3.3 The Benchmarker shall be entitled to disclose Confidential Information to the extent that it is required to do so by applicable law or by order of a court or other public body that has jurisdiction over the Benchmarker.
- 3.4 Before making a disclosure pursuant to Clause 3.3, the Benchmarker shall, if the circumstances permit:
 - (a) notify the Supplier in writing of the proposed disclosure as soon as possible (and if possible before the court or other public body orders the disclosure of the Confidential Information); and
 - (b) ask the court or other public body to treat the Confidential Information as confidential.

4 General

- 4.1 The Benchmarker acknowledges and agrees that all property, including intellectual property rights, in Confidential Information disclosed to it by the Supplier shall remain with and be vested in the Supplier.
- 4.2 This Agreement does not include, expressly or by implication, any representations, warranties or other obligations:
 - (a) to grant the Benchmarker any licence or rights other than as may be expressly stated in this Agreement;
 - (b) to require the Supplier to disclose, continue disclosing or update any Confidential Information; or
 - (c) as to the accuracy, efficacy, completeness, capabilities, safety or any other qualities whatsoever of any Information or materials provided pursuant to or in anticipation of this Agreement.
- 4.3 The rights, powers and remedies provided in this Agreement are cumulative and not exclusive of any rights, powers or remedies provided by law. No failure

or delay by either Party to exercise any right, power or remedy will operate as a waiver of it nor will any partial exercise preclude any further exercise of the same, or of some other right, power or remedy.

- 4.4 Without prejudice to any other rights or remedies that the Supplier may have, the Benchmarker acknowledges and agrees that damages alone may not be an adequate remedy for any breach by the Benchmarker of any of the provisions of this Agreement. Accordingly, the Benchmarker acknowledges that the Supplier shall be entitled to the remedies of interdict and implement for any threatened or actual breach of this Agreement and/or breach of confidence and that no proof of special damages shall be necessary for the enforcement of such remedies.
- 4.5 The maximum liability of the Benchmarker to the Supplier for any breach of this Agreement shall be limited to ten million pounds (£10,000,000).
- 4.6 For the purposes of the CTPRSA no one other than the Parties has the right to enforce the terms of this Agreement.
- 4.7 Each Party shall be responsible for all costs incurred by it or on its behalf in connection with this Agreement.
- 4.8 This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by the Parties on separate counterparts, but shall not be effective until each Party has executed at least one counterpart. Each counterpart shall constitute an original of this Agreement, but all the counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same instrument.

5 Notices

5.1 Any notice to be given under this Agreement (each a "Notice") shall be given in writing and shall be delivered by hand and shall be deemed to have been duly given at the time of delivery provided that such Notice is sent to the relevant physical address, and expressly marked for the attention of the relevant individual, set out in Clause 5.2.

5.2 An	y Notice:
--------	-----------

(a)	if to be given to the Supplier shall be sent to:
	[Address]
	Attention: [Contact name and/or position, e.g. "The Finance Director"]

(b) if to be given to the Benchmarker shall be sent to:

[Name of Organ	isation]
[Address]	
Attention: [1

6 Governing law

- 6.1 This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, English law and any matter claim or dispute arising out of or in connection with this Agreement whether contractual or non-contractual, shall be governed by and determined in accordance with English law.
- 6.2 Each Party hereby irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the English courts in respect of any claim or dispute arising out of or in connection with this Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF these presents consisting of this page and the [] preceding pages are executed in duplicate as follows:

For and on behalf of [name of Supplier]

Signature:	Date:
Name:	Position:
Place of signing:	
Witness signature:	
Witness name:	
Witness address:	
For and on behalf of [name of Benchmarker]	
Signature:	_ Date:
Signature:	_ Date: Position:
	_
Name:	_
Name: Place of signing:	_

SCHEDULE 7.4 FINANCIAL DISTRESS

1 DEFINITIONS

In this Schedule, the definitions set out in Schedule 1 (Definitions) shall apply

2 WARRANTIES AND DUTY TO NOTIFY

- 2.1 The Supplier warrants and represents to the Authority for the benefit of the Authority that as at the Effective Date:
 - (a) the long-term Primary Credit Ratings issued for each entity in the FDE Group by each of the Rating Agencies are as set out in Annex 3 of this Schedule; and
 - (b) either:
 - (i) the financial position or, as appropriate, the financial performance of each of the Supplier, Guarantor, Supplier's ultimate parent undertaking, Key Sub-contractors, and Key Subcontractors' ultimate parent undertakings satisfies the Financial Target Thresholds, or
 - (ii) the relevant Appropriate Accepted Mitigations are in place.
- 2.2 The Supplier shall promptly notify (or shall procure that its auditors promptly notify) the Authority in writing if there is any downgrade in the credit rating issued by the Primary Credit Ratings Agency for any entity in the FDE Group, which results in the level of risk being assessed as high or greater than average (and in any event within 5 Working Days of the occurrence of the downgrade). The categorisation of credit ratings by risk level is defined in Annex 1.

2.3 The Supplier shall:

- (a) regularly monitor the credit ratings of each entity in the FDE Group with the Primary Credit Ratings Agency;
- (b) monitor and report on the Financial Indicators for each entity in the FDE Group against the Financial Target Thresholds at least quarterly, and update the Financial Indicators when public information becomes available, and in any event, no less than once a year within 285 days after the Accounting Reference Date;
- (c) provide regular updates to the Authority on, as a minimum, the Primary Credit Ratings for each entity in the FDE Group;
- (d) promptly notify (or shall procure that its auditors promptly notify) the Authority in writing following the occurrence of a Financial Distress Event or any fact, circumstance or matter which could cause a Financial Distress Event (and in any event, ensure that such notification is made within 10 Working Days of the date on which the Supplier first becomes aware of the Financial Distress Event or the fact, circumstance or matter which could cause a Financial Distress Event).; and

- (e) ensure when complying with this Paragraph 2.3 that it complies with the law of England and Wales, including all market regulations and local law that applies to England and Wales.
- 2.4 For the purposes of determining whether a Financial Distress Event has occurred pursuant to the provisions of Paragraphs 3.1(a), the credit rating of an FDE Group entity shall be deemed to have dropped below the applicable Credit Rating Threshold if:
 - (a) any of the Rating Agencies have given a Credit Rating Level for that entity which is below the applicable Credit Rating Threshold; or
 - (b) a Rating Agency that is specified as holding a Credit Rating for an entity as set out at Annex 3 of this Schedule ceases to hold or is unable to provide a Credit Rating for that entity, and the Supplier fails to provide an acceptable explanation to the Authority.
- 2.5 Each report submitted by the Supplier pursuant to Paragraph 2.3(b) shall:
 - (a) be a single report with separate sections for each of the FDE Group entities;
 - (b) contain a sufficient level of information to reasonably enable the Authority to verify the calculations that have been made in respect of the Financial Indicators;
 - (c) include key financial, explanatory narrative, and other supporting information (including any accounts data that has been relied on) as separate annexes;
 - (d) be based on the audited accounts or any other publicised financial information for the date or period on which the Financial Indicator is based or, where the Financial Indicator is not linked to an accounting period or an accounting reference date, on unaudited management accounts prepared in accordance with their normal timetable: and
 - (e) include a history of the Financial Indicators reported by the Supplier in graph form to enable the Authority to easily analyse and assess the trends in financial performance

3 FINANCIAL DISTRESS EVENTS AND APPROPRIATE ACCEPTED MITIGATIONS

- 3.1 The following shall be Financial Distress Events, unless an Appropriate Accepted Mitigation is in place:
 - (a) the credit rating of an FDE Group entity dropping below the applicable Credit Rating Threshold;
 - (b) an FDE Group entity issuing a profits warning to a stock exchange or making any other public announcement, in each case about a material deterioration in its financial position or prospects;
 - (c) there being a public investigation into improper financial accounting and reporting, suspected fraud or any other impropriety of an FDE Group entity;

- (d) an FDE Group entity committing a material breach of covenant to its lenders;
- (e) a Key Sub-contractor notifying the Authority that the Supplier has not satisfied any material sums properly due under a specified invoice and not subject to a genuine dispute;
- (f) any of the following:
 - (i) commencement of any litigation against an FDE Group entity with respect to financial indebtedness greater than £5m or obligations under a service contract with a total contract value greater than £5m;
 - (ii) non-payment by an FDE Group entity of any financial indebtedness;
 - (iii) any financial indebtedness of an FDE Group entity becoming due as a result of an event of default;
 - (iv) the cancellation or suspension of any financial indebtedness in respect of an FDE Group entity; or
 - (v) the external auditor of an FDE Group entity expressing a qualified opinion on, or including an emphasis of matter in, its opinion on the statutory accounts of that FDE entity,

in each case which the Authority reasonably believes (or would be likely reasonably to believe) could directly impact on the continued performance and delivery of the Services in accordance with this Agreement;

- (g) any one of the Financial Indicators set out at Paragraph 5 for any of the FDE Group entities failing to meet the required Financial Target Threshold; or
- (h) if a previously Appropriate Accepted Mitigation is no longer available for a particular FDE or is no longer sufficient to constitute an Appropriate Accepted Mitigation.
- 3.2 On the occurrence of an FDE pursuant to Paragraph 3.1(g) to (h):
 - (a) the Supplier shall:
 - (i) notify the Authority in accordance with Paragraph 22.3(d) above; and
 - (ii) provide to the Authority in writing within 10 Working Days or as otherwise agreed between the Parties of the date on which the Supplier first becomes aware of the FDE or of the date on which the Authority has brought the FDE to the Supplier's attention, its proposed mitigation; and
 - (b) the Parties shall then discuss the proposed mitigation in good faith and the Authority shall, as soon as practicable, either:
 - (i) agree that the proposed mitigation constitutes an Appropriate Accepted Mitigation; or
 - (ii) exercise its rights under Paragraph 4 of this Schedule.

- 3.3 Failure by the Authority to exercise its rights under Paragraph 4 of this Schedule shall constitute acceptance of the Appropriate Accepted Mitigation, unless such failure was due to an act or omission of the Supplier.
- 3.4 For the purposes of this Paragraph 3 Appropriate Accepted Mitigations include:
 - (a) For the Supplier:
 - (i) the existence of a valid Guarantee provided by VFS Global AG or such other entity as agreed by the Parties from time to time as Guarantor: and
 - (ii) the Guarantor is not subject to an FDE for which there is no Appropriate Accepted Mitigation; and
 - (iii) the Supplier's ultimate parent undertaking is not subject to an FDE for which there is no Appropriate Accepted Mitigation.
 - (b) For Sub-contractors:
 - (i) The existence of a valid Guarantee provided by a Parent Undertaking as Guarantor; and
 - (ii) the Guarantor is not subject to an FDE for which there is no Appropriate Accepted Mitigation; and
 - (iii) the Sub-contractor's ultimate parent undertaking is not subject to an FDE for which there is no Appropriate Accepted Mitigation; and
 - (c) For all entities within the FDE Group:
 - (i) a mitigation that reduces the level of risk of the FDE to a level acceptable to the Authority. This may include access to sufficient unused credit facilities or other risk mitigations, as listed in the Outsourcing Playbook 'Assessing and Monitoring the Economic and Financial Standing of Suppliers' Guidance note available at:

 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/816634/20190710-Assessing_and_monitoring_the_economic_and_financial_standing_of_suppliers.pdf.
- 3.5 All Appropriate Accepted Mitigations including any new or amended Appropriate Accepted Mitigations will be documented and recorded in a format and location agreed between the Parties (for example in a dedicated and access-controlled area of the Virtual Library).

4 CONSEQUENCES OF FINANCIAL DISTRESS EVENTS

4.1 Immediately upon notification by the Supplier of a Financial Distress Event in accordance with Paragraph 2.3(d) (or if the Authority becomes aware of a Financial Distress Event without notification and brings the event to the attention of the Supplier) and subject to Paragraph 3, the Supplier shall have the obligations and the Authority shall have the rights and remedies as set out in Paragraphs 4.3 to 4.6.

- 4.2 In the event of the first instance within a rolling 3-month period, of a late or non-payment of a Key Sub-contractor pursuant to Paragraph 3.1, the Authority shall not exercise any of its rights or remedies under Paragraph 4.3 without first giving the Supplier 10 Working Days to:
 - (a) rectify such late or non-payment; or
 - (b) demonstrate to the Authority's reasonable satisfaction that there is a valid reason for late or non-payment.
- 4.3 The Supplier shall (and shall procure that any Guarantor, Key Sub-contractor, Monitored Supplier, and any relevant Parent Undertaking (for the Supplier or a Key Sub-contractor) shall):
 - (a) at the reasonable request of the Authority, meet the Authority as soon as reasonably practicable (and in any event within 3 Working Days of the initial notification (or awareness) of the Financial Distress Event or such other period as the Authority may permit and notify to the Supplier in writing) to review the effect of the Financial Distress Event on the continued performance and delivery of the Services in accordance with this Agreement; and
 - (b) where the Authority reasonably believes (taking into account the discussions and any representations made under Paragraph 4.3(a)) that the Financial Distress Event could impact on the continued performance and delivery of the Services in accordance with this Agreement:
 - (i) submit to the Authority for its approval, a draft Financial Distress Remediation Plan as soon as reasonably practicable (and in any event, within 10 Working Days of the initial notification (or awareness) of the Financial Distress Event or such other period as the Authority may permit and notify to the Supplier in writing). This draft should be consistent with the Service Continuity Plan required under Schedule 8.6 (Service Continuity Plan and Corporate Resolution Planning; and
 - (ii) to the extent that it is legally permitted to do so and subject to Paragraph 4.8, provide such information relating to the Supplier, Guarantor, Key Sub-contractor, Monitored Supplier, and any relevant Parent Undertaking (for the Supplier or a Key Sub-contractor), as the Authority may reasonably require in order to understand the risk to the Services, which may include without limitation forecasts in relation to cash flow, orders and profits and details of financial measures being considered to mitigate the impact of the Financial Distress Event and other information that might be price sensitive.
- 4.4 The Authority shall not withhold its approval of a draft Financial Distress Remediation Plan unreasonably. If the Authority does not approve the draft Financial Distress Remediation Plan, it shall inform the Supplier of its reasons and the Supplier shall take those reasons into account in the preparation of a further draft Financial Distress Remediation Plan, which shall be resubmitted to the Authority within 5 Working Days of the rejection of the first draft. This process shall be repeated until the Financial Distress Remediation Plan is approved by the Authority or referred to the Dispute Resolution Procedure under Paragraph 4.5.

- 4.5 If the Authority considers that the draft Financial Distress Remediation Plan is insufficiently detailed to be properly evaluated, will take too long to complete or will not ensure the continued performance of the Supplier's obligations in accordance with the Agreement, then it may either agree a further time period for the development and agreement of the Financial Distress Remediation Plan or escalate any issues with the draft Financial Distress Remediation Plan using the Dispute Resolution Procedure.
- 4.6 Following approval of the Financial Distress Remediation Plan by the Authority, the Supplier shall:
 - (a) on a regular basis (which shall not be less than fortnightly):
 - (i) review and make any updates to the Financial Distress Remediation Plan as the Supplier may deem reasonably necessary and/or as may be reasonably requested by the Authority, so that the plan remains adequate, up to date and ensures the continued performance and delivery of the Services in accordance with this Agreement; and
 - (ii) provide a written report to the Authority setting out its progress against the Financial Distress Remediation Plan, the reasons for any changes made to the Financial Distress Remediation Plan by the Supplier and/or the reasons why the Supplier may have decided not to make any changes;
 - (b) where updates are made to the Financial Distress Remediation Plan in accordance with Paragraph 4.6(a), submit an updated Financial Distress Remediation Plan to the Authority for its approval, and the provisions of Paragraphs 4.4 and 4.5 shall apply to the review and approval process for the updated Financial Distress Remediation Plan; and
 - (c) comply with the Financial Distress Remediation Plan (including any updated Financial Distress Remediation Plan).
- 4.7 Where the Supplier reasonably believes that the relevant Financial Distress Event under Paragraph 4.1 (or the circumstance or matter which has caused or otherwise led to it) no longer exists, it shall notify the Authority and the Parties may agree that the Supplier shall be relieved of its obligations under Paragraph 4.6.
- 4.8 The Supplier shall use reasonable endeavours to put in place the necessary measures to ensure that the information specified at Paragraph 4.3(b)(ii) is available when required and on request from the Authority and within reasonable timescales. Such measures may include:
 - (a) obtaining in advance written authority from Key Sub-contractors, the Guarantor, Monitored Suppliers, and any relevant Parent Undertaking (for the Supplier or a Key Sub-contractor) authorising the disclosure of the information to the Authority and/or entering into confidentiality agreements which permit disclosure;
 - (b) agreeing in advance with the Authority, Key Sub-contractors, the Guarantor Monitored Suppliers, and any relevant Parent Undertaking (for the Supplier or a Key Sub-contractor) a form of confidentiality agreement to be entered by the relevant parties to enable the disclosure of the information to the Authority;

- (c) putting in place any other reasonable arrangements to enable the information to be lawfully disclosed to the Authority (which may include (without limitation) making information available to nominated Authority personnel through confidential arrangements, subject to their consent); and
- (d) disclosing the information to the fullest extent that it is lawfully entitled to do so, including through the use of redaction, anonymization and any other techniques to permit disclosure of the information without breaching a duty of confidentiality.

5 FINANCIAL INDICATORS

5.1 Subject to the calculation methodology set out at Annex 4 of this Schedule, the Financial Indicators and the corresponding calculations and thresholds used to determine whether a Financial Distress Event has occurred in respect of those Financial Indicators, shall be as follows:

Financial Indicator	Calculation 1	Financial Target Threshold:	Monitoring and Reporting Frequency (if different from the default position set out in Paragraph 2.3(b))
1 The higher of (a) the Operating Margin for the most recent 12-month period and (b) the average Operating Margin for the last two 12-month periods	Operating Margin = Operating Profit / Revenue	> 5%	Tested and reported at least quarterly in arrears based on the latest publicly available information. Calculation as a minimum should be updated within 285 days of each Accounting Reference Date based upon figures for the 12 months ending on the relevant accounting reference date.
2 Net Debt to EBITDA Ratio	Net Debt to EBITDA ratio = Net Debt / EBITDA	< 3.5 times	Tested and reported at least quarterly in arrears based on latest publicly available information. Calculation as a minimum should be updated within 285 days of each accounting reference date based upon EBITDA for the 12 months ending on, and Net Debt at, the relevant accounting reference date
3 Net Debt + Net Pension Deficit to EBITDA ratio	Net Debt + Net Pension Deficit to EBITDA Ratio = (Net Debt + Net Pension Deficit) / EBITDA	< 5 times	Tested and reported quarterly in arrears based on latest publicly available information. Calculation as a minimum should be updated within 285 days of each accounting reference date based upon EBITDA for the 12 months ending on, and the Net Debt and Net Pension Deficit at, the relevant accounting reference date.
4 Net Interest Cover	Net Interest Payable Cover = Earnings Before Interest and Tax / Net Interest Payable	> 3 times	Tested and reported at least quarterly in arrears based on latest publicly available information. Calculation as a minimum should be updated within 285 days of each accounting reference date based upon figures for the 12 months ending on the relevant accounting reference date.

5 Current Ratio	Current Ratio = Current Assets / Current Liabilities	> 1 times	Tested and reported quarterly in arrears based on latest publicly available information. Calculation as a minimum should be updated within 285 days of each accounting reference date based upon figures at the relevant accounting reference date.
6 Net Asset value	Net Asset Value = Net Assets	> £0	Tested and reported quarterly in arrears based on latest publicly available information. Calculation as a minimum should be updated within 285 days of each accounting reference date based upon figures at the relevant accounting reference date.
7 Group Exposure Ratio	Group Exposure Ratio = Current Assets – Group Assets – Current Liabilities	> £0 If lower a PCG may be required	Tested and reported quarterly in arrears based on the latest publicly available information. Calculation as a minimum should be updated within 285 days of each accounting reference date based upon figures at the relevant accounting reference date.

Key: ¹ – See Annex 4 of this Schedule which sets out the calculation methodology to be used in the calculation of each Financial Indicator.

6 MONITORED SUPPLIERS

- 6.1 Monitored Suppliers shall be designated at contract signature.
- 6.2 A Monitored Supplier could include any Key Supplier, or any Sub-contractor that is not a Key Sub-contractor, which in the opinion of the Authority, performs (or would perform if appointed) a role:
 - (a) in the provision of all or any part of the Services that is such that the discontinued provision of that role would be detrimental to the ability of the Supplier to deliver the Services to its established performance standards; and/or

- (b) in the provision of all or any part of the Services that is such that the discontinued provision of that role may affect the Supplier's financial stability; and/or
- (c) for which it would be difficult for the Supplier to find a replacement supplier or Sub-contractor within a reasonable time.

Monitored Supplier	Applicable Financial Indicators	
	(these are the Financial Indicators from the table in Paragraph 5.1 which are to apply to the Monitored Suppliers)	
Redacted' Under FOIA Section 40, Personal Information for the Authority	Redacted' Under FOIA Section 40, Personal Information for the Authority	
Redacted' Under FOIA Section 40, Personal Information for the Authority	Redacted' Under FOIA Section 40, Personal Information for the Authority	

7 TERMINATION RIGHTS

- 7.1 The Authority shall be entitled to terminate this Contract under Clause 33.1(b) (*Termination by the Authority*) if:
 - (a) the Supplier fails to notify the Authority of a Financial Distress Event in accordance with Paragraph 2.3(c);
 - (b) the Parties fail to agree a Financial Distress Remediation Plan (or any updated Financial Distress Remediation Plan) in accordance with Paragraphs 4.3 to 4.5; and/or
 - (c) the Supplier fails to comply with the terms of the Financial Distress Remediation Plan (or any updated Financial Distress Remediation Plan) in accordance with Paragraph 4.6(c).

8 BOARD CONFIRMATION

- 8.1 If this Contract has been specified as a Critical Service Contract then, subject to Paragraph 8.4 of this Schedule, the Supplier shall within 120 days after each Accounting Reference Date or within 15 months of the previous Board Confirmation (whichever is the earlier) provide a Board Confirmation to the Authority in the form set out at Annex 5 of this Schedule, confirming that to the best of the Supplier's Board's knowledge and belief, it is not aware of and has no knowledge:
 - (a) that a Financial Distress Event has occurred since the later of the Effective Date or the previous Board Confirmation or is subsisting; or

- (b) of any matters which have occurred or are subsisting that could reasonably be expected to cause a Financial Distress Event.
- 8.2 The Supplier shall ensure that in its preparation of the Board Confirmation it exercises due care and diligence and has made reasonable enquiry of all relevant Supplier Personnel and other persons as is reasonably necessary to understand and confirm the position.
- 8.3 In respect of the first Board Confirmation to be provided under this Agreement, the Supplier shall provide the Board Confirmation within 15 months of the Effective Date if earlier than the timescale for submission set out in Paragraph 8.1 of this Schedule.
- 8.4 Where the Supplier is unable to provide a Board Confirmation in accordance with Paragraphs 8.1 to 8.3 of this Schedule due to the occurrence of a Financial Distress Event or knowledge of subsisting matters which could reasonably be expected to cause a Financial Distress Event, it will be sufficient for the Supplier to submit in place of the Board Confirmation, a statement from the Supplier's Board to the Authority (and where the Supplier is a Strategic Supplier, the Supplier shall send a copy of the statement to the Cabinet Office Markets and Suppliers Team) setting out full details of any Financial Distress Events that have occurred and/or the matters which could reasonably be expected to cause a Financial Distress Event.

ANNEX 1: RATING AGENCIES AND THEIR STANDAR RATING SYSYTEM

This Annex sets out the standard rating scales for each of the Rating Agencies selected. The Authority reserves the right to use other rating scales from other Rating Agencies that are not listed in this Annex.

Redacted' Under FOIA Section 40, Personal Information for the Authority

Rating Agency	Credit Rating Level	Risk level

ANNEX 2: APPROPRIATE ACCEPTED MITIGATIONS

Redacted' Under FOIA Section 40, Personal Information for the Authority

ANNEX 3: Credit Ratings And Credit Rating Thresholds

Redacted' Under FOIA Section 40, Personal Information for the Authority

Entity	Credit Rating (long term) (insert the actual credit rating issued for the entity at the Effective Date)	Credit Rating Threshold (insert the minimum actual rating (e.g. AA-) or the minimum Credit Rating Level (e.g. Credit Rating Level 3)

ANNEX 4: Calculation Methodology for Financial Indicators

The Supplier shall ensure that it uses the following general and specific methodologies for calculating the Financial Indicators against the Financial Target Thresholds:

General methodology

- Terminology: The terms referred to in this Annex are those used by UK companies in their financial statements. Where the entity is not a UK company, the corresponding items should be used even if the terminology is slightly different (for example a charity would refer to a surplus or deficit rather than a profit or loss).
- 2. **Groups**: Where the entity is the holding company of a group and prepares consolidated financial statements, the consolidated figures should be used.
- 3. **Foreign currency conversion**: Figures denominated in foreign currencies should be converted at the exchange rate in force at the relevant date for which the Financial Indicator is being calculated.
- 4. **Treatment of non-underlying items**: Financial Indicators should be based on the figures in the financial statements before adjusting for non-underlying items.

Specific Methodology

Financial Indicator	Specific Methodology	
1	The elements used to calculate the Operating Margin should be shown on the face of the Income Statement (or Statement of Financial Activities) in a standard set of financial statements.	
	Operating Profit is to exclude exceptional items, such as restructuring costs or impairments, and to include any share of Subsidiaries' Operating Profit.	
Operating Margin	Where an entity has an operating loss (i.e. where the operating profit is negative), Operating Profit should be taken to be zero.	
	For Charities Operating Profit would be Net Income or Expenditure after Charitable Activities / Income	

Financial Indicator	Specific Methodology	
2 Net Debt to EBITDA Ratio	"Net Debt" = Bank overdrafts + Loans and borrowings + Finance leases + Deferred consideration payable – Cash and cash equivalents	
	"EBITDA" = Operating profit + Depreciation charge + Amortisation charge. EBITDA is to exclude exceptional items, such as restructuring costs or impairments, and to include any share of Subsidiaries' EBITDA.	
	The majority of the elements used to calculate the Net Debt to EBITDA Ratio should be shown on the face of the Balance sheet, Income statement (or Statement of Financial Activities) and Statement of Cash Flows in a standard set of financial statements but will otherwise be found in the notes to the financial statements.	
	 Net Debt: The elements of Net Debt may be described slightly differently and should be found either on the face of the Balance Sheet or in the relevant note to the financial statements. All interest-bearing liabilities (other than retirement benefit obligations) should be included as borrowings as should, where disclosed, any liabilities (less any assets) in respect of any hedges designated as linked to borrowings (but not non-designated hedges). Borrowings should also include balances owed to other group members. 	
	Deferred consideration payable should be included in Net Debt despite typically being non-interest bearing.	
	Cash and cash equivalents should include short-term financial investments shown in current assets.	
	Where Net debt is negative (i.e. an entity has net cash), the relevant Financial Target Threshold should be treated as having been met.	

Financial Indicator	Specific Methodology	
	EBITDA: Operating profit should be shown on the face of the Income Statement (or Statement of Financial Activities) and, for the purposes of calculating this Financial Indicator. The depreciation and amortisation charges for the period may be found on the face of the Statement of Cash Flows or in a Note to the Accounts. Where EBITDA is negative, the relevant Financial Target Threshold should be treated as not having been met (unless Net Debt is also negative, in which case the relevant Financial Target Threshold should be treated as having been met). For Charities Operating Profit would be Net Income or Expenditure after Charitable Activities / Income	
3	"Net Debt" = Bank overdrafts + Loans and borrowings + Finance leases + Deferred consideration payable - Cash and cash equivalents "Net Pension Deficit" = Retirement Benefit Obligations - Retirement Benefit Assets "EBITDA" = Operating profit + Depreciation charge + Amortisation charge. EBITDA is to exclude exceptional items, such as restructuring costs or impairments, and to include any share of Subsidiaries' EBITDA.	
[Net Debt + Net Pension Deficit to EBITDA ratio]	The majority of the elements used to calculate the Net Debt + Net Pension Deficit to EBITDA Ratio should be shown on the face of the Balance sheet, Income statement (or Statement of Financial Activities) and Statement of Cash Flows in a standard set of financial statements but will otherwise be found in the notes to the financial statements. • Net Debt: The elements of Net Debt may be described slightly differently and should be found either on the face of the Balance Sheet or in the relevant note to the financial statements. All interest-bearing liabilities	

Financial Indicator	Specific Methodology	
	(other than retirement benefit obligations) should be included as borrowings as should, where disclosed, any liabilities (less any assets) in respect of any hedges designated as linked to borrowings (but <i>not</i> non-designated hedges). Borrowings should also include balances owed to other group members.	
	Deferred consideration payable should be included in Net Debt despite typically being non-interest bearing.	
	Cash and cash equivalents should include short-term financial investments shown in current assets.	
	 Net Pension Deficit: Retirement Benefit Obligations and Retirement Benefit Assets may be shown on the face of the Balance Sheet or in the notes to the financial statements. They may also be described as pension benefits / obligations, post- employment obligations or other similar terms. 	
	Where 'Net Debt + Net Pension Deficit' is negative, the relevant Financial Target Threshold should be treated as having been met.	
	 <u>EBITDA</u>: Operating profit should be shown on the face of the Income Statement (or Statement of Financial Activities) and, for the purposes of calculating this Financial Indicator. 	
	The depreciation and amortisation charges for the period may be found on the face of the Statement of Cash Flows or in a Note to the Accounts.	
	Where EBITDA is negative, the relevant Financial Target Threshold should be treated as not having been met (unless 'Net Debt + Net Pension Deficit' is also negative, in which case the relevant Financial Target Threshold should be regarded as having been met).	

Financial Indicator	Specific Methodology	
	For Charities Operating Profit would be Net Income or Expenditure after Charitable Activities / Income	
	"Earnings Before Interest and Tax" = Operating profit	
	"Net Interest Payable" = Interest payable – Interest receivable	
4	Operating profit should be shown on the face of the Income Statement (or Statement of Financial Activities) in a standard set of financial statements. Operating Profit is to exclude exceptional items, such as restructuring costs or impairments, and to include any share of Subsidiaries' Operating Profit	
Net Interest Payable Cover	Interest receivable and interest payable should be shown on the face of the Cash Flow statement.	
	Where Net interest payable is negative (i.e. the entity has net interest receivable), the relevant Financial Target Threshold should be treated as having been met.	
	For Charities Operating Profit would be Net Income or Expenditure after Charitable Activities / Income	
5 Current Ratio	All elements that are used to calculate the Current Ratio are available on the face of the Balance Sheet in a standard set of financial statements.	
6 Net Asset value	Net Assets are shown (but sometimes not labelled) on the face of the Balance Sheet of a standard set of financial statements. Net Assets are sometimes called net worth or 'Shareholders' Funds'. They represent the net assets available to the shareholders. Where an entity has a majority interest in another entity in which there are also minority or non-controlling interests (i.e. where it has a subsidiary partially owned by outside investors), Net Assets should be taken inclusive of	

Financial Indicator	Specific Methodology	
	minority or non-controlling interests (as if the entity owned 100% of such entity).	
	For Charities Net Assets would be Total Charity Funds	
	"Group Assets" = Current and Non-Current Balances owed by Group Undertakings	
7 Group Exposure Ratio	Group Exposure: Balances owed by (i.e. receivable from) Group Undertakings are shown within Non-Current assets or Current assets either on the face of the Balance Sheet or in the relevant notes to the financial statements. In many cases there may be no such balances, in	
	particular where an entity is not a member of a group or is itself the ultimate holding company of the group.	
	<u>Current Assets & Current Liabilities</u> : Both Current assets and Current Liabilities are shown on the face of the Balance Sheet	

ANNEX 5: BOARD CONFIRMATION

Supplier Name: VF Worldwide Holdings Limited

Contract Reference Number:

The Board of Directors acknowledge the requirements set out at Paragraph 8 of Schedule 7.4 (Financial Distress) and confirm that the Supplier has exercised due care and diligence and made reasonable enquiry of all relevant Supplier Personnel and other persons as is reasonably necessary to enable the Board to prepare this statement.

The Board of Directors confirms, to the best of its knowledge and belief, that as at the date of this Board Confirmation it is not aware of and has no knowledge:

- that a Financial Distress Event has occurred since the later of the previous Board Confirmation and the Effective Date or is subsisting; or
- 2. of any matters which have occurred or are subsisting that could reasonably be expected to cause a Financial Distress Event

On behalf of the Board of Directors:

Chair	
Signed	
Date	
Director	
Signed	
Date	

SCHEDULE 7.5 FINANCIAL REPORTS AND AUDIT RIGHTS

DEFINITIONS

In this Schedule, the definitions set out in Schedule 1 (Definitions) shall apply.

PART A: FINANCIAL TRANSPARENCY OBJECTIVES AND OPEN BOOK DATA

1 FINANCIAL TRANSPARENCY OBJECTIVES

The Supplier acknowledges that the provisions of this Schedule are designed (inter alia) to facilitate, and the Supplier shall co-operate with the Authority in order to achieve, the following objectives:

(a) Understanding the Charges and supporting contract management

- (i) for the Supplier to provide the Authority with a breakdown of any payment sought from the Authority including an analysis of the Costs, Overhead recoveries (where relevant), time spent by Supplier Personnel in providing the Services, Pass Through Costs, Supplier Profit Margin, revenues from Added Value Services, Actual Volumes, and Profit Share amounts, thereby supporting the derivation of any actual or forecast Charges;
- (ii) for the Supplier to provide the Authority with analyses to demonstrate the relationship between the Services performed, the Charges and costs incurred by the Supplier;
- (iii) for both Parties to be able to understand the Financial Models, and Cost forecasts and to have confidence that these are based on justifiable numbers and appropriate forecasting assumptions, sensitivities and other techniques;
- (i) providing an evidential platform for contract performance management (including root cause analysis of variances against planned operational and financial performance) and decision-making, clearly linking actual and forecast operational and financial information to overall operational financial performance;
- (iv) to support the use of Service Credits, Gainshare, Revenue Share from Added Value Services, Profit Share, and any other applicable pricing, performance and value for money mechanisms.

(b) Demonstrating the Supplier Solution is sufficiently resourced and sustainable

- (i) demonstrating to the satisfaction of the Authority that the Supplier has planned for and has access to enough resources (its own and through its supply chain) including headroom to deliver the Services at the required Target Performance Levels.
- (ii) demonstrating sustainable value for money both for Services delivered and future Services to be delivered, facilitated by the provision of a transparent, comprehensive and detailed understanding of how the Supplier has 'sized' its resource capacity (including, but not limited to labour, premises and technology) to meet the demand for Services set out by the Authority in a way that is efficient and in accordance with the required service levels and associated Key Performance Indicators.

(c) Agreeing the impact of Change

- for both Parties to agree the quantitative impact of any Changes that affect ongoing costs and to identify how these could be mitigated and/or reflected in the Supplier's Charges; and
- (ii) for both Parties to be able to review, address issues and re-forecast progress in relation to the provision of the Services.

(d) Continuous improvement

- (i) for the Parties to challenge each other with ideas for efficiency and improvements; and
- (ii) for the Supplier to demonstrate to the Authority that it is achieving value for money for the taxpayer relative to current market prices, and the realisation of operational and financial benefits.

(e) Other transparency, reporting and modelling

(i) to support any other objectives as set-out in Part D: Detailed Transparency, reporting and modelling requirements.

(together the "Financial Transparency Objectives").

2 OPEN BOOK DATA

- 2.1 The Supplier acknowledges the importance to the Authority of the Financial Transparency Objectives and the Authority's need for complete transparency in the way in which the Charges are calculated.
- 2.2 During the Term, and for a period of 7 years following the end of the Term, the Supplier shall:
 - (a) maintain and retain the Open Book Data covering the length of contract term (and any extensions), including sufficient evidence to support any charges and underlying costs such as, but, not restricted to trial balances, general ledgers, third party invoices, payroll records, allocation calculations, asset registers, journals and other supporting files (that would meet the requirements of Auditing Standards); and
 - (b) disclose and allow the Authority and/or the Audit Agents access to the Open Book Data in a timely manner.

3 ONEROUS CONTRACTS

- 3.1 If the Supplier publicly designates the Agreement as an Onerous Contract (including where the Supplier has identified the Agreement as such in any published accounts or public reports and announcements), the Supplier shall promptly notify the Authority of the designation and shall prepare and deliver to the Authority within the timescales agreed by the Parties (an in any event, no later than 1 month following the publication of the designation) a draft Onerous Contract Report which includes the following:
 - (a) An initial root cause analysis of the issues and circumstances which may have contributed to the Agreement being designated as an Onerous Contract;
 - (b) In the case of an Onerous Contract breaching the negative Anticipated Profit Margin threshold, in addition to the normal requirements of Part B Paragraph 1.8, provide full details of the key assumptions and scenarios underpinning the forecast.
 - (c) An initial risk analysis and impact assessment on the provision of the Services as a result of the Supplier's designation of the Agreement as an Onerous Contract;
 - (d) the measures, required resources and timeframe which the Supplier intends to put in place to minimise and mitigate any adverse impact on the provision on the Services:
 - (e) details of any other mitigating actions by the Supplier which could be put in place to remove the designation of the Agreement as an Onerous Contract and/or which could minimise and mitigate any adverse impact on the provision of the Services.
- 3.2 Following receipt of the Onerous Contract Report, the Authority shall review and comment on the report as soon as reasonably practicable, having due consideration to the Supplier mitigation plan the Parties shall cooperate in good faith to agree the final form of the report, which shall be submitted to the Authority's Commercial Assurance Board (or designated proxy), such final form report to be agreed no later than 1 month following the Authority's receipt of the draft Onerous Contract Report.
- 3.3 The Commercial Assurance Board shall meet within 10 Working Days of the final Onerous Contract Report being agreed by the Parties to discuss the contents of the report; and the Parties shall procure the attendance at the meeting of any key participants where reasonably required (including the Cabinet Office Markets and Suppliers team where the Supplier is a Relevant Supplier; representatives from any Monitored Suppliers; and the project's senior responsible officers (or equivalent) for each Party).
- 3.4 The Supplier acknowledges and agrees that the report is submitted to the Authority's Commercial Assurance Board on an information only basis and the Authority's Commercial Assurance Board's receipt of and comments in relation to the report shall not be deemed to be an acceptance or rejection of the report nor shall it relieve the Supplier of any liability under this Agreement. Any Changes to be agreed by the Parties pursuant to the report shall be subject to the Change Control Procedure.

PART B: FINANCIAL REPORTS

1 PROVISION OF THE FINANCIAL REPORTS

- 1.1 The Supplier shall provide
 - (a) the Baseline Financial Model on or before the Effective Date; and
 - (b) during the Term the following financial reports to the Authority, in the frequency specified below.

Financial Report	When to be provided	Purpose
Baseline Financial Model	On or before the Effective Date	This will show how the Charges are built up from the Costs and mark-ups. This includes the provision of the Baseline Financial Pricing Model, supporting Baseline Resource Model, narrative and Model Documentation). The format of this report shall be based on the final Bid Financial Pricing Model and accompanying final Bid Resource Model and include any volumetric, productivity and other assumptions underpinning both the Core Services and Added Value Services.
Updated Baseline Financial Model	Within 10 Working Days of a Material Change being agreed between the Supplier and the Authority	This shall be an iteration of the Baseline Financial Model and will show how the Charges are built up from the Costs and mark-ups, including the variation to the Charges of any Change Authorisation Note agreed. The format and content of this report shall be based on an updated Baseline Financial Pricing Model and accompanying updated Baseline Resource Model and include updated Authority Volumes, and updated details of key assumptions (including productivity assumptions) underpinning the Change set out in the Model Documentation.
Monthly Outturn Financial Model	Within 10 Working Days of the end of each Month	This will be used for the derivation of actual and forecast charges, payments and invoices (in accordance with Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing)) and as a performance management tool during

		the Term. This includes the latest monthly Outturn Financial Pricing Model, Outturn Financial Resource Model, and accompanying Model Documentation. The format of this report shall be agreed between the Authority and the Supplier in accordance with paragraph 1.2 below. The report shall set out details of key cost drivers to financial performance, including Authority Volumes and Actual Volumes, revenues from Added Value Services, appropriate variance analyses (including variances against the latest Baseline Financial Models) and forecast contact costs for the current Contract Year and fiscal year and to the end of the Term.
Annual Outturn Financial Model	Within 10 Working Days of the end of the Contract Year to which that report relates	This will be an iteration of the 12 th Monthly Outturn Financial Model in each Contract Year. This will be used as a performance management tool and will support any annual mechanisms during the life of this Agreement. The format of this report shall be agreed between the Authority and the Supplier in accordance with paragraph 1.2 below.
Final Outturn Financial Model	Within 60 Working Days after the end of the Term	This will be an iteration of the final Monthly Outturn Financial Model. This will as a minimum include the final Outturn Financial Pricing Model, Outturn Financial Resource Model, and accompanying Model Documentation. The format of this report shall be agreed between the Authority and the Supplier in accordance with paragraph 1.2 below. This report will show actual Costs and Charges (split by Core Services and Added Values Services) for the Term.

- 1.2 The content of each Financial Report shall include the relevant version of the Resource Model and Financial Pricing Model in a format agreed between the Authority and Suppliers for the derivation of actual and forecast charges, payment and invoices, financial reporting and comparison purposes. The Supplier shall be responsible for maintaining the Financial Reports, however, any changes or modifications to the Financial Reports shall be agreed between the Supplier and the Authority and only implemented by the Supplier following written notice by the Authority to the Supplier.
- 1.3 A copy of each Financial Report shall be held by both the Authority and the Supplier. If there is a Dispute regarding a Financial Report, the Authority's copy of the relevant Financial Report shall be authoritative.
- 1.4 Each Financial Report shall:
 - (a) be completed by the Supplier using reasonable skill and care;
 - (b) incorporate and use the same defined terms as are used in this Agreement;
 - (c) quote all monetary values in in the Local Currency of each Country, and translated at the UK Sterling Contract Year Rate;
 - (d) quote all Costs as exclusive of any VAT (or local country equivalent);
 - (e) quote all Costs and Charges based on current prices; and
 - (f) quote the total revenue from Added Value Services.
- 1.5 Each Financial Report shall be certified by the Supplier's Chief Financial Officer or Director of Finance (or equivalent as agreed in writing by the Authority in advance of issue of the relevant Financial Report), acting with express authority, as:
 - (a) being accurate and not misleading;
 - (b) having been prepared on an accruals basis in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles within the United Kingdom;
 - (c) being a true and fair reflection of the information included within the Supplier's management information systems, management, and statutory accounts; and
 - (d) compliant with the requirements of Paragraph 1.6.

1.6 The Supplier shall:

- (a) prepare each Financial Report using the same methodology as that used for the Baseline Financial Model;
- (b) ensure that each Monthly Outturn Financial Model, Annual Outturn Financial Model and each Updated Baseline Financial Model (if any) is a true and fair reflection of the Costs and Supplier Profit Margin forecast by the Supplier;
- (c) the Final Baseline Financial Model is a true and fair reflection of the Costs; and
- (d) not have any other internal financial model in relation to the Services inconsistent with the Financial Model.

- 1.7 During the Term, and for a period of 18 months following the end of the Term, the Supplier shall make available the Financial Representative at reasonable times and on reasonable notice to answer any queries that the Authority may have on any of the Financial Reports and/or Open Book Data.
- 1.8 If the Supplier becomes aware of the occurrence, or the likelihood of the future occurrence, of an event which will or may have a material effect on the following:
 - (a) the Costs incurred (or those forecast to be incurred) by the Supplier; and/or
 - (b) the forecast Charges or Authority Volume Estimates for the remainder of the Term.

the Supplier shall, as soon as practicable, notify the Authority in writing of the event in question detailing the actual or anticipated effect. Notifications provided in accordance with this Paragraph 1.8 shall not have the effect of amending any provisions of this Agreement.

2 FINANCIAL MODEL

- 2.1 Following the delivery by the Supplier of any Baseline Financial Model, each Monthly Outturn Financial Model, and Annual Outturn Financial Model or other Financial Models required by this Agreement:
 - (a) the Parties shall meet to discuss its contents within 15 Working Days of receipt (or such other period as the Parties shall agree). The Financial Representative shall attend the meeting;
 - (b) within 10 Working Days of receipt (or such other period as the Parties shall agree), the Authority shall advise the Supplier of any particular aspects or issues it would wish explained at the meeting;
 - (c) the Supplier shall make appropriate Supplier Personnel and advisers available to discuss any variations between the relevant Financial Report and the Baseline Financial Model or immediately preceding Annual Outturn Financial Model or Updated Baseline Financial Model (as the case may be) and to explain such variations (with reference to supporting evidence) to the satisfaction of the Authority; and
 - (d) the Authority shall either within 20 Working Days of the meeting referred to in Paragraph 2.1(a) notify the Supplier that:
 - (i) the relevant Financial Report contains errors or omissions or that further explanations or supporting information is required, in which event the Supplier shall make any necessary modifications to the Financial Report and/or supply the Authority with such supporting evidence as is required to address the Authority's concerns within 10 Working Days of such notification and the Authority shall following receipt of such amended Financial Report and/or supporting information, approve or reject such Financial Report; or
 - (ii) the Authority has approved the relevant Financial Report.

- 2.2 Following approval by the Authority of the relevant Financial Report in accordance with Paragraph 2.1(d), that version shall become, with effect from the date of such approval, the current approved version of the Financial Model for the purposes of this Agreement, a version of which shall be held by both the Authority and the Supplier. If there is a Dispute regarding a Financial Report, the Authority's copy of the relevant Financial Report shall be authoritative.
- 2.3 The approved version of the latest Annual Outturn Financial Model shall then be subject to the provisions of Part D (Excessive Supplier Profit Margin) of Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing).
- 2.4 If the Parties are unable to reach agreement on any Financial Report within 45 Working Days of its receipt by the Authority, or unless otherwise agreed, the matter shall be referred for determination in accordance with Schedule 8.3 (*Dispute Resolution Procedure*).
- 2.5 If at a later date evidence becomes available that any Financial Report contains errors or omissions that have not been previously raised and resolved, the Authority reserves the right to seek and the Supplier shall promptly provide further information setting out the cause and financial impacts of such errors or omissions as is necessary.

3 Discussion of the Final Outturn Financial Model

- 3.1 Following the delivery by the Supplier of the Final Reconciliation Report, the Parties shall meet to discuss its contents within 20 Working Days of receipt (or such other period as the Parties shall agree). The Financial Representative shall attend the meeting:
 - (a) within 10 Working Days of receipt (or such other period as the Parties shall agree), the Authority shall advise the Supplier of any particular aspects or issues it would wish explained at the meeting;
 - (b) the Supplier shall make appropriate Supplier Personnel and advisers available to discuss any variations between the Final Outturn Financial Model and the Baseline Financial Model or the immediately preceding Annual Outturn Financial Model and to explain such variations (with reference to supporting evidence) to the satisfaction of the Authority; and
 - (c) the Authority shall either within 20 Working Days of the meeting referred to in Paragraph 2.1(a) (or such other period as the Parties shall agree) notify the Supplier that:
 - (i) the relevant Financial Report contains errors or omissions or that further explanations or supporting information is required, in which event the Supplier shall make any necessary modifications to the Financial Report and/or supply the Authority with such supporting evidence as is required to address the Authority's concerns within 20 Working Days of such notification (or such other period as the Parties shall agree) and the Authority shall following receipt of such amended Financial Report and/or supporting information, approve or reject such Financial Report; or
 - (ii) the Authority has approved the Final Reconciliation Report.

- 3.2 Following approval by the Authority of the relevant Financial Report in accordance with Paragraph 3.1(c), that version shall become, with effect from the date of such approval, the approved version of the Final Reconciliation Report for the purposes of this Agreement, a version of which shall be held by both the Authority and the Supplier. If there is a Dispute regarding a Financial Report, the Authority's copy of the relevant Financial Report shall be authoritative.
- 3.3 The approved version of the Final Reconciliation Report shall then be subject to the provisions of Part D (*Excessive Supplier Profit Margin*) of Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing).
- 3.4 If the Parties are unable to reach agreement on any Financial Report within 60 Working Days of its receipt by the Authority, the matter shall be referred for determination in accordance with Schedule 8.3 (*Dispute Resolution Procedure*).

4 Key Sub-contractors

- 4.1 The Supplier shall, if requested by the Authority, provide (or procure the provision of) a report or reports including the level of information set out in the Financial Reports in relation to the costs and expenses to be incurred by any of its Key Sub-contractors or Key Suppliers.
- 4.2 Without prejudice to Paragraph 1.1 of Part C, the Supplier shall:
 - (a) be responsible for auditing the financial models/reports of its Key Subcontractors and for any associated costs and expenses incurred or forecast to be incurred; and
 - (b) on written request by the Authority, provide the Authority or procure that the Authority is provided with:
 - (i) full copies of audit reports for the Key Sub-contractors. The Authority shall be entitled to rely on such audit reports; and
 - (ii) further explanation of, and supporting information in relation to, any audit reports provided.

PART C: AUDIT RIGHTS

1 AUDIT RIGHTS

- 1.1 The Authority, acting by itself or through its Audit Agents, shall have the right during the Term and for a period of 18 months thereafter, to assess compliance by the Supplier and/or its Key Sub-contractors of the Supplier's obligations under this Agreement, including for the following purposes:
 - (a) to verify the integrity and content of any Financial Report;
 - (b) to verify the assumptions (including productivity assumptions) underpinning any Financial Models, and any outturn equivalent (that forms part of any Financial Report);
 - (c) to verify the accuracy of the Charges and any other amounts payable by the Authority or Supplier under this Contract (and proposed or actual variations to such Charges and payments);
 - (d) to validate Supplier Volume forecasts;
 - (e) to validate contract change assessments;
 - (f) to verify the Costs (including the amounts paid to all Sub-contractors and any third party suppliers) and Revenues;
 - (g) to verify the Certificate of Costs and/or the Open Book Data including Actual Volumes;
 - (h) to verify the Supplier's and each Key Sub-contractor's compliance with this Contract and applicable Law;
 - to identify or investigate actual or suspected fraud, impropriety or accounting mistakes or any breach or threatened breach of security and in these circumstances the Authority shall have no obligation to inform the Supplier of the purpose or objective of its investigations;
 - (j) to identify or investigate any circumstances which may impact upon the financial stability of the Supplier, the Guarantor and/or any Key Sub-contractors or their ability to perform the Services;
 - (k) to obtain such information as is necessary to fulfil the Authority's obligations to supply information for parliamentary, ministerial, judicial or administrative purposes including the supply of information to the Comptroller and Auditor General;
 - (I) to review any books of account and the internal contract management accounts kept by the Supplier in connection with this Agreement;
 - (m) to carry out the Authority's internal and statutory audits and to prepare, examine and/or certify the Authority's annual and interim reports and accounts;
 - (n) to enable the National Audit Office to carry out an examination pursuant to Section 6(1) of the National Audit Act 1983 of the economy, efficiency and effectiveness with which the Authority has used its resources;
 - (o) to verify the accuracy and completeness of any Management Information delivered or required by this Agreement;

- (p) to review any Performance Monitoring Reports and/or other records relating to the Supplier's performance of the Services and to verify that these reflect the Supplier's own internal reports and records;
- (q) to inspect the IT Environment (or any part of it) and the wider service delivery environment (or any part of it);
- (r) to review the accuracy and completeness of the Registers;
- (s) to review any records created during the design and development of the Supplier System and pre-operational environment such as information relating to Testing;
- (t) to review the Supplier's quality management systems (including all relevant Quality Plans and any quality manuals and procedures);
- (u) to review the Supplier's compliance with the Standards;
- (v) to inspect the Authority Assets, including the Authority's IPRs, equipment and facilities, for the purposes of ensuring that the Authority Assets are secure and that any register of assets is up to date; and/or
- (w) to review the integrity, confidentiality and security of the Authority Data.
- 1.2 Except where an audit is imposed on the Authority by a regulatory body or where the Authority has reasonable grounds for believing that the Supplier has not complied with its obligations under this Agreement, the Authority may not conduct an audit of the Supplier or of the same Key Sub-contractor more than twice in any Contract Year.
- 1.3 Nothing in this Contract shall prevent or restrict the rights of the Comptroller and/or Auditor General and/or their representatives from carrying out an audit, examination or investigation of the Supplier and/or any of the Key Sub-contractors for the purposes of and pursuant to applicable Law.

2 CONDUCT OF AUDITS

- 2.1 The Authority shall during each audit comply with those security, sites, systems and facilities operating procedures of the Supplier that the Authority deems reasonable and use its reasonable endeavours to ensure that the conduct of each audit does not unreasonably disrupt the Supplier or delay the provision of the Services.
- 2.2 Subject to the Authority's obligations of confidentiality, the Supplier shall on demand provide the Authority and the Audit Agents with all reasonable co-operation and assistance (and shall procure such co-operation and assistance from its Subcontractors) in relation to each audit, including:
 - (a) all information requested by the Authority within the permitted scope of the audit;
 - (b) reasonable access to any Sites and to any equipment used (whether exclusively or non-exclusively) in the performance of the Services;
 - (c) access to the Supplier System; and
 - (d) access to Supplier Personnel.

- 2.3 The Supplier shall implement all measurement and monitoring tools and procedures necessary to measure and report on the Supplier's performance of the Services against the applicable Performance Indicators at a level of detail sufficient to verify compliance with the Performance Indicators.
- 2.4 The Authority shall endeavour to (but is not obliged to) provide at least 15 Working Days' notice of its intention to conduct an audit.
- 2.5 The Parties agree that they shall bear their own respective costs and expenses incurred in respect of compliance with their obligations under this Paragraph 2, unless the audit identifies a material Default by the Supplier in which case the Supplier shall reimburse the Authority for all the Authority's reasonable costs incurred in connection with the audit.

3 USE OF SUPPLIER'S INTERNAL AUDIT TEAM

- 3.1 As an alternative to the Authority's right pursuant to Paragraph 1.1 to exercise an audit either itself or through its Audit Agents, the Authority may require in writing that an audit is undertaken by the Supplier's own internal audit function for any of the purposes set out in Paragraph 1.1.
- 3.2 Following the receipt of a request from the Authority under Paragraph 3.1 above, the Supplier shall procure that the relevant audit is undertaken as soon as reasonably practicable and that the Authority has unfettered access to:
 - (a) the resultant audit reports; and
 - (b) all relevant members of the Supplier's internal audit team for the purpose of understanding such audit reports.

4 RESPONSE TO AUDITS

- 4.1 If an audit undertaken pursuant to Paragraphs 1 or 3 identifies that:
 - (a) the Supplier has committed a Default, the Authority may (without prejudice to any rights and remedies the Authority may have) require the Supplier to correct such Default as soon as reasonably practicable and, if such Default constitutes a Notifiable Default, to comply with the Rectification Plan Process;
 - (b) there is an error in a Financial Report, the Supplier shall promptly rectify the error;
 - (c) the Authority has overpaid any Charges, the Supplier shall pay to the Authority:
 - (i) the amount overpaid;
 - (ii) interest on the amount overpaid at the applicable rate under the Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998, accruing on a daily basis from the date of overpayment by the Authority up to the date of repayment by the Supplier; and
 - (iii) the reasonable costs incurred by the Authority in undertaking the audit,

the Authority may exercise its right to deduct such amount from the Charges if it prefers; and

the Authority has underpaid any Charges, the Supplier shall not be entitled to increase the Charges paid or payable by the Authority.

PART D: DETAILED TRANSPARENCY, REPORTING, AND MODELLING REQUIREMENTS

1 REPORTING, TRANSPARENCY, AND MODELLING

- 1.1 Reporting and Transparency ("R&T") is a critical enabler for the successful award and ongoing management of the Agreement.
- 1.2 The purposes of R & T (the "R & T Purposes") are to support the Authority through the Term in:
 - (a) demonstrating to the satisfaction of the Authority that the Supplier has planned for and has access to enough resources (its own and through its supply chain) including headroom to deliver the Services at the Target Performance Levels for the Term.
 - (b) demonstrating sustainable value for money both for Services delivered and future Services to be delivered, facilitated by the provision of a transparent, comprehensive, and detailed understanding of:
 - (i) how the Supplier has 'sized' their resource capacity (including labour, premises and technology) to meet the demand for Services set out by the Authority in a way that is efficient and in accordance with the Target Performance Levels and associated KPIs.
 - (ii) the costs of the resources used in delivering the Services;
 - (iii) the total price of the Services, built up from the resource costs, overhead, profit margin and risk;
 - (c) providing an evidential platform for contract performance management (including root cause analysis of variances against planned operational and financial performance) and decision-making, clearly linking actual and forecast operational and financial information to overall operational financial performance;
 - (d) understanding the basis of and underpinning the evaluation of change requests such as would result in a potential change to the Baseline Financial Model or latest Updated Baseline Financial Model, subsequently contracted Financial Models or changes to Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing)
 - (e) demonstrating the realisation of actual and forecast operational and financial benefits; and

- (f) providing an end-to-end derivation of the actual and forecast charges in accordance with Schedule 7.1 (*Charges and Invoicing*) to enable the Authority to pay the Supplier.
- 1.3 The principles behind R & T (the "R & T Principles") are that:
 - (a) the Supplier will bring to the Authority leading practice to support, deliver and sustain the R & T Purposes, including:
 - (i) consistently, openly, willingly, and proactively sharing with the Authority the same operational and financial information that it collects and uses internally to deliver and manage the Agreement.
 - (ii) providing information in a transparent way such that the Authority is not reliant on the precision of its enquiries to the Supplier to establish the availability, accuracy and meaning of information that would generally be considered relevant to the effective operation of the Agreement.
 - (iii) guiding the Authority on leading practice around the information the Authority needs to collect in relation to the activities the Authority will be managing under the Agreement.
 - (iv) challenging the Authority where activities or deliverables requested by the Authority do not support leading practice or are not practically capable of being delivered by the Supplier to the Authority and proposing appropriate alternative solutions.
 - (b) the Authority should have clear visibility of materially all the resources and associated costs used directly to deliver the Services, regardless of whether the Services are delivered by:
 - (i) the Supplier or other companies in the same group as the Supplier, including the Supplier's parent, affiliate or sister companies; and/or
 - (ii) consortium or joint venture partners of the Supplier; and/or
 - (iii) Key Sub-contractors, Key Suppliers, and contractors to the Supplier;
 - (c) there will be adequate resource to deliver R & T throughout the Term, including continuity in R & T in the event of potential changes of personnel at either the Authority or the Supplier, especially at the Effective Date;
 - (d) information provided to the Authority in whatever form should be consistent with the R & T Purposes, whilst also being:
 - (i) Redacted' Under FOIA Section 40, Personal Information for the Authority
 - (ii) aligned to Key Performance Indicators wherever possible;

- (iii) transparent the purpose and derivation of the information should be clear to the recipient and this transparency must be maintained in the event of Change;
- (iv) relevant and presented at an appropriate level of detail such that it highlights to the Authority key insights and issues requiring management attention, with the ability to drill-down on request, rather than leaving the Authority to draw conclusions from voluminous, disparate and unconnected data;
- (v) consistent with both the Supplier Solution, the latest Baseline and Outturn Resource and Financial Pricing Models and their supporting inputs / assumptions as at the Effective Date, as amended from time to time pursuant to i) actuals updating / reforecasting and/or ii) in the event of change, providing a clear reconciliation of assumptions, inputs and outputs between these models; and
- (vi) timely;
- (e) the information needed to support the R & T requirements must be capable of being captured, extracted and managed. The Authority is looking to the Supplier to bring to the Authority a practical and realistic information management solution that clearly describes:
 - (i) the specific information to be captured by the Supplier and the Authority, from where and how it is intended to be used:
 - (ii) the interfaces, tools and system capabilities needed by the Supplier and the Authority to deliver this information;
 - (iii) how the information captured by the Authority and the Supplier will be maintained;
 - (iv) any dependencies that exist between the Authority and the Supplier in executing the proposed information management strategy; and
 - (v) the R & T requirements applied to the Supplier will also apply to all other entities connected with the Supplier pursuant to its delivery of the Services, including:
 - other companies in the same group as the Supplier, including the Supplier's parent, affiliate or sister companies; and/or
 - consortium or joint venture partners of the Supplier; and/or
 - Key Sub-contractors to the Supplier.

- (a) the Resource Model shall be built in Microsoft Excel or alternative platform that delivers an equivalent capability to the sole satisfaction of the Authority and the Financial Pricing Model shall be built in Microsoft Excel 2016 or later;
- (b) the Financial Models shall include all of the functionality required by the Authority in the Bid Resource Model and Bid Financial Pricing Model as submitted by the Supplier in its BAFO;
- (c) the Financial Models shall be available to the Authority throughout the Term to support contract management, review, testing, reporting and running scenarios either by the Authority or through independent advisors contracted by Authority;
- (d) the Financial Models shall be fully calculating and show all working logical links between the Supplier's operational assumptions for delivering the Services through to the Charges, in order to demonstrate on an ongoing basis how it has derived the resource capacity ("Resource Capacity") needed to deliver the Services and the associated difference between the available Resource Capacity and the used Resource Capacity ("Headroom"), consistent with delivering the Activities efficiently, effectively and providing value for money;
- (e) the Monthly Outturn Financial Models shall further include:
 - (i) Actual Volumes, resources, Costs and Charges to date and forecast service demand, resources, Costs and Charges to the end of the Term by reference to the Supplier's planning inputs and assumptions (including productivity assumptions);
 - (ii) the full derivation of all actual Charges and forecast Charges in accordance with the latest Baseline Financial Model and Schedule 7.1 (*Charges and Invoicing*), as adjusted for Actual Volumes, Authority Volumes, reforecasting, gainshare, foreign exchange and Service Credit adjustment mechanisms and any other adjustments pursuant to Schedule 7.1 (*Charges and Invoicing*);
 - (iii) the operational and financial impact of change requests;
 - (iv) the operational and financial planning baselines, as per the latest Baseline Financial Model, amended to reflect Actual Volumes, Authority Volumes, and reforecasting and changes as agreed between the Authority and the Supplier;
 - (v) variance analysis between the latest Outturn Financial Models and i) the Baseline Financial Model and ii) the Updated Baseline Financial Model as amended by any Changes, such that the Authority has available to it a clear audit trail from the original bid models to the latest Outturn Financial Models reflecting the individual and cumulative agreed updates and Changes;
 - (vi) an output dashboard, including all KPIs that are directly derived from the information held in the Resource Model and / or the Financial Pricing Model and supported by a management commentary on performance and material single / cumulative variances.

- (f) The Financial Models shall align to the Supplier's Work Breakdown Structure ("**WBS**") and financial reporting structure and show the operational and financial impacts of Change Requests on a likewise basis. The WBS and financial reporting structure shall:
 - (i) be materially the same structure used by the Supplier to manage its delivery of the Services to the Authority;
 - (ii) be supported by an up-to-date dictionary setting out the definition of the WBS and financial reporting structures;
 - (iii) facilitate operational and financial drill-down to any level of the Supplier WBS and financial reporting structure, on request by the Authority.
- (g) The Supplier shall ensure disclosure to the same level of transparency as is required of the Supplier the resources and associated costs of all other entities connected with the Supplier pursuant to its delivery of the Services, including:
 - (i) other companies in the same group as the Supplier, including the Supplier's parent, affiliate or sister companies; and/or
 - (ii) consortium or joint venture partners of the Supplier; and/or
 - (iii) Key Sub-contractors, Key Suppliers, and contractors to the Supplier.
- (h) The Financial Models shall be accompanied by a User Guide and Data Book ("Model Documentation") that sets out in editable electronic form written at a level suitable for a reasonably skilled and experienced user (but who may not be a professional modeller) of Microsoft Excel or such other software as is proposed by the supplier and agreed with the Authority pursuant to Schedule 7.5 Part D para 1.4 (a), the following:
 - (i) the scope of the Financial Models;
 - (ii) the version of the Financial Models to which the Model Documentation refers:
 - (iii) the Financial Models logical schema (if developed in Microsoft Excel, this means the worksheet structure), together with an explanation of the intended purpose of each part of the schema (worksheets), further clearly identifying any parts of the Schema (worksheets) in the Financial Models that have been included for supplementary analysis and are not a part of the derivation of Authority mandated outputs;
 - (iv) the approach to the visual separation and identification of inputs, assumptions, calculations and outputs;
 - (v) the estimating methodology ("Methodology") upon which the Financial Models are based, including:
 - how the Supplier's solution has been sized so as efficiently to align resource capacity during the Contract term to Appointment Volume demand (and all associated activities set out in Schedule 2.1 of the Contract).

- how the Supplier plans to adjust resources during the contract term to reflect changing volumes - both planned and unplanned - and the timescales and any associated limitations over which resources can be changed.
- the planning assumptions the Bidder is making about the availability and productivity of resources – both people and non-people based
- how the Supplier has determined the amount of headroom the planned excess of resource capacity over Authority demand – required to be in place during the Contract term
- (vi) the inputs and assumptions in the Financial Models, including:
 - the values used for and clear descriptive narrative explaining the basis of each assumption;
 - a description of the supporting data for each assumption (with the associated underlying data available to the Authority in an electronically readable form); and
- (vii) a detailed explanation of:
 - the basis upon which costs indirectly incurred by Locations have been allocated to Locations for the purposes of recovering those costs and associated mark-up through the application of the pricing mechanism set out in Schedule 7.1 including but not limited to the Banded Fixed Service Charges and Banded Volumetric Service Charges;
 - Fixed, Semi-Fixed and Variable Costs: a detailed explanation of the Supplier's assessment of the extent to which resource costs are fixed, semi fixed or variable in relation to changing Appointment Volumes
 - Volumetric and Fixed Cost bands: how the proposed volumetric and fixed costs bands and associated costs relate to the forecast Appointment Volumes over the contract term, including the rationale for costs being recovered through the Banded Fixed Service Charge vs the Banded Volumetric Service Charge
 - Headroom: any capacity headroom the Supplier plans to maintain over the Term.
- (viii) the basis upon which the Financial Models have been logically and statistically validated;
- (ix) the logic, process flows and calculations used to implement the Methodology in the Financial Models;
- (x) the outputs of the Financial Models;
- (xi) how the Baseline and Updated Baseline RM has been independently assured that it is fit-for-purpose and the detailed test procedures that have been carried out:

- (xii) how the RM is intended to be used, including in base case and scenario conditions and the detailed steps for updating the Financial Models;
- (xiii) any other relevant instructions as needed for the Authority to run the Financial Models on its own systems; and
- (i) The Financial Models shall be certified by Supplier management each time they are delivered to the Authority as being [true and correct and in accordance with UK GAAP / IFRS as applicable].
- (j) As applicable, the Financial Models shall show the delivery of benefits against the original plan, as updated for approved change requests, in a consistent manner with the Supplier WBS.
- (k) All Change Requests should:
 - (i) be based on the most up-to date and agreed operational and financial baseline as per the most recently agreed updated Baseline Financial Model and latest Outturn Financial Model; and
 - (ii) clearly explain the operating and financial assumptions underpinning any analysis that indicates a change to the Supplier resource or cost base or proposed charges to be paid by the Authority.
- (I) The Supplier will provide an organisation structure chart updated on at least a calendar quarterly basis, directly aligned to its WBS (and therefore the Financial Models), showing the roles and headcount (FTE) that materially directly deliver the Services, covering the Supplier, its parent, affiliate and sister companies, any joint venture or consortium partners of the Supplier and the Supplier's Key Sub-contractors and Key Suppliers (to the extent such Key Suppliers are providing identified labour resources to the Supplier) and contractors.
- (m) Where the supplier provides R & T by way of Microsoft Excel, all such R & T deliverables will be built to best practice standards, as set out at Appendix A.
- (n) The Supplier will maintain suitably qualified and experienced operational and financial modelling capability for the term of the Contract at a capacity consistent with delivering the requirements of this Agreement and any other adhoc requests the Authority may reasonably make of the Supplier in connection with the Financial Models;
- (o) The Financial Models shall be in a form that meets the Authority cyber security requirements such that it can run on the Authority's systems without needing any additional software licences to be purchased by the Authority.
- (p) The Authority reserves the right to require the Supplier to have their Financial Models externally assured at the Supplier's expense with terms of reference at the sole discretion of the Authority including:
 - (i) the appropriateness of the methodology to deliver the purpose of the Financial Models;
 - (ii) the logical integrity of the Financial Models and whether they have been built materially in accordance with their purposes; and

- (iii) the appropriateness of the inputs and assumptions used in the Financial Models.
- (q) Where a review or other external assurance identifies logical error or unjustified inputs and assumptions ("**Errors**"), the Supplier shall resolve such Errors to the satisfaction of the Authority at its own cost with no additional charges to the Authority.
- (r) All Intellectual Property Rights in the Financial Pricing Models shall be owned by the Authority, and will be operated and maintained by the Supplier. All Intellectual Property Rights in the Resource Model shall be owned, operated and maintained by the Supplier, but the Authority will have the worldwide, irrevocable right of use in perpetuity for any purposes in connection with the delivery of visa and citizenship services.

2 Model Build Standards

- 2.1 The Supplier may submit information to the Authority by way of spreadsheets prepared in Microsoft Excel 2016 or later.
- 2.2 To the extent they are prepared using Microsoft Excel 2016 or later, the Resource and the Financial Pricing Models (the "Models") shall be built to the standards set out in this Schedule 7.5 (*Financial Reports and Audit Rights*).
- 2.3 The Resource Models may be built using alternative software to Microsoft Excel 2016 providing it delivers an equivalent capability to the sole satisfaction of the Authority.
- 2.4 Standards for submitting information to the Authority using spreadsheets:
 - (a) Models shall be laid out in a clear and logical manner that is readily understandable by a reasonably skilled and experienced user of Microsoft Excel (but who may not be full time professional modeller);
 - (b) the overall flow of data in the Models shall flow from inputs to calculations to outputs;
 - (c) separate worksheets shall be used for inputs, calculations and outputs;
 - (d) input sections shall be clearly defined and formatted to highlight that they are inputs;
 - (e) calculations shall be written in a transparent manner and shall be documented in the Models. Formulae shall not contain any hard-coded input data; these shall instead be entered initially on an input sheet and linked into the formulae either directly or through a call-up. Notwithstanding this, items that comply with the following criteria shall not be considered to be in breach of this obligation:
 - (i) arguments in formulae may require a -1, 0 or 1 in order to specify the argument type (e.g. as required in the MATCH function);
 - (ii) timing flag calculations may include a 0 or 1;
 - (iii) sequential period or item counters used for dynamic labelling may be in the format of "previous" + 1;

- (iv) Max and Min calculations may require the use of 0 in order to limit a figure to positive or negative numbers only; and
- (v) where using indices or percentages, formulae may require the use of "+1" in order to calculate the increase from a specific value or "1-" where an inverse of a percentage is required.
- (f) The calculations sheets shall follow the rule that any particular row shall only contain a single formula copied across the cells in that row, save that a permitted exception to this shall be where annual summaries are provided adjacent to the monthly calculations (although annual summaries may not be interspaced within a monthly timeline).
- (g) Output sheets shall not contain any calculations apart from sums and check totals.
- (h) Models shall have a consistent timeline across worksheets starting in the same column, with line items going down the worksheet.
- (i) Models shall not contain any hidden cells or sheets.
- (j) Models shall not have any password protect sections that cannot be readily accessed by the Authority.
- (k) The calculations in any of the Models shall be designed to allow the use of the Microsoft Excel formula editing tools, and the use of functions that do not permit this (for example, Array, OFFSET, INDIRECT, HLOOKUP, VLOOKUP and LOOKUP functions) shall not be used.
- (I) The number of worksheets contained in the Models shall generally be minimised.
- (m) Sections with clearly labelled headings shall be used.
- (n) Use of range names shall be kept to a minimum, although any cells referred to in Visual Basic for Applications (VBA) must be defined by a range name.
- (o) Models shall not contain any external links. If input data is sourced from supporting Supplier models or systems, a separate input sheet shall be created, and the output from the supporting models shall be copied and pasted as hardcoded values into this separate input sheet. Such input ranges shall be clearly labelled with the filename of the underlying model, range references, version number and date of import.
- (p) Any macros used shall be transparent and clearly documented both in the VBA itself and in the Record of Assumptions and Data Book.
- (q) Models shall not contain any circularities and iteration shall be switched off in the calculation setting.
- (r) In automatic calculation mode Models shall calculate fully from inputs, through calculations to outputs.

- (s) Inputs and subsequent logic that do not directly feed through to Model outputs shall generally be minimised and, where present, shall be clearly labelled as supplementary calculations.
- (t) Each row/column with input data, calculations or outputs must be labelled with the appropriate units.
- (u) Models must contain a version number and date.
- (v) The use of VBA is permitted in the Resource and the Financial Planning Models, subject to transparency and traceability being maintained. For example:
 - (i) VBA may be used where the Supplier wishes to minimise replicating identical calculations and speed up the time taken for the Model to calculate. In this case, the Supplier shall clearly show the inputs to and the spreadsheet formulae used in the calculations. Cells that are populated by such VBA routines shall be transparently identifiable, e.g., via colour coding, as being distinct from the input or calculation cells. Checks shall be in place to ensure reconciliation between inputs and VBA-driven outputs;
 - (ii) VBA may be used for the purposes of model control, including navigation and print macros;
 - (iii) "Option Explicit" shall be switched on;
 - (iv) VBA code shall contain adequate non-technical narrative and be fully documented in the Model operating manual;
 - (v) VBA shall not be used when the calculation itself is being performed within VBA in virtual memory such that only the inputs and outputs are visible to the Model user;
 - (vi) VBA shall not be used to create custom functions; and
 - (vii) VBA shall not be used where the output of the VBA macro could as easily be obtained by using Excel formulae.
- (w) All pages in Models shall be set up to print single-sided with header and / or footer labels that include:
 - (i) The title of the print-out;
 - (ii) The date and time of the print-out;
 - (iii) The page number of the print-out and the total number of pages in the print-out:
 - (iv) The protective marking applicable to the print-out; and
 - (v) The name of the worksheet and the name of the workbook from which the print-out has been prepared.

ANNEX 1: FINANCIAL MODELS HIERARCHY

S2.1 Service Requirements S2.2 Performance Levels Authority Volume Estimates (Services, Locations) (KPIs. SPIs) (incl. Evaluation Volumes) (Service Points, Service Relief) Bid Financial Model 1) Bid Model Documentation 2) Bid Resource Model 3) Bid Financial Pricing Model Objectives: (Expected Costs)
(Capped Milestones) (Assumptions & Model Approach) (Solution & Resources) To calculate the estimated Total Contract Value (TCV) for scoring purposes (Expected Service Charges) (Price Bands) To provide a detailed RM for (Margins) evaluation purposes Frequency: ITT & BAFO only VCAS is an evolving service to meet changing requirements: Updated volumes between ITT & contract award Updated locations between ITT & contract awar Baseline Financial Model 1) Model Documentation 2) Baseline Resource Model 3) Baseline Financial Pricing Model (Assumptions & Model Approach) (Solution & Resources) (Expected Costs) (Capped Milestones) (Expected Service Charges) (Price Bands) (Margins) Frequency: as at contract award only Agreed contract change per S8.4 Change Control Updated volumes and revised volume estimates Updated Baseline Financial Model Objectives: 2) Updated To manage contract change Baseline Resource Model (Solution & Resources) 1) Model Documentation 3) Baseline Financial Pricing Model (Assumptions & Model Approach) (Expected Costs) Budgeting purposes (Capped Milestones) Provide Baseline charges (Expected Service Charges)

Frequency: from time to time

Agreed contract change per S8.4 Change Control Updated volumes and revised volume estimates

Actual costs and performance Relief and other events

Outturn Financial Model

1) Model Documentation (Assumptions & Model Approach)

Frequency: Monthly (including Annual) and Final

Outline Resource Model (Solution & Resources)

3) Baseline Financial Pricing Model (Actual Costs) (Capped Milestones) (Expected Service Charges) (Price Bands) (Margins)

(Price Bands) (Margins)

Objectives:

Contract Financial Management Calculate actual charges & invoices Calculation of service credits Reporting actual costs To monitor contract profitability To monitor contract profitability The comparison of the Baseline Financial Model to the Outturn Financial Model provides the basis for variance analysis between expected costs and actual costs. This then informs commercial and operational decision taking and supports the assessment of, inter alia, VfM (including any gainshare) and exchange rate gains and losses.

SCHEDULE 8.1

GOVERNANCE

Governance

1 MANAGEMENT OF THE SERVICES

- 1.1 The Supplier and the Authority shall each appoint a contract manager and appropriate organisational structure for the purposes of this Agreement through whom the Services shall be managed day-to-day.
- 1.2 Both Parties shall ensure that appropriate resource is made available so that the objectives, requirements and specific provisions of this Agreement can be fully realised.
- 1.3 The Supplier and the Authority anticipate that the meetings referred to in this Schedule 8.1 (Governance) will ordinarily be conducted virtually, using suitable video call software. If either party wishes a physical meeting to take place rather than a virtual meeting it shall give the other party as much notice as reasonably possible and the other party shall endeavour to accommodate that request.

2 BOARDS

Establishment and structure of the Boards

- 2.1 The Boards shall be established by the Authority for the purposes of this Agreement on which both the Supplier and the Authority shall be represented.
- 2.2 In relation to each Board, the:
 - a) Authority Board Members;
 - b) Supplier Board Members;
 - c) frequency that the Board shall meet (unless otherwise agreed between the Parties);
 - d) location of the Board's meetings; and
 - e) planned start date by which the Board shall be established
 - shall be as set out in Annex 1.
- 2.3 In the event that either Party wishes to replace any of its appointed Board Members, that Party shall notify the other in writing of the proposed Change for agreement by the other Party (such agreement not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed). Notwithstanding the foregoing it is intended that each Authority Board Member has at all times a counterpart Supplier Board Member of equivalent seniority and expertise.

Board meetings

2.4 Each Party shall ensure that its Board Members shall make all reasonable efforts to attend Board meetings at which that Board Member's attendance is

required. If any Board Member is not able to attend a Board meeting, that person shall use all reasonable endeavours to ensure that:

- a) a delegate attends the relevant Board meeting in his/her place who (wherever possible) is properly briefed and prepared; and
- b) that he/she is debriefed by such delegate after the Board Meeting.
- 2.5 A chairperson shall be appointed by the Authority for each Board as identified in Annex 1. The chairperson shall be responsible for:
 - a) scheduling Board meetings;
 - b) setting the agenda for Board meetings and circulating to all attendees in advance of such meeting;
 - c) chairing the Board meetings;
 - d) monitoring the progress of any follow up tasks and activities agreed to be carried out following Board meetings;
 - e) ensuring that minutes for Board meetings are recorded and disseminated electronically to the appropriate persons and to all Board meeting participants within seven Working Days after the Board meeting;
 - f) facilitating the Process or procedure by which any decision agreed at any forum; and
 - g) agreeing a timetable for preparation and distribution of agenda papers.
- 2.6 Board meetings shall be quorate if at least two representatives from each Party are present.
- 2.7 The Parties shall ensure, as far as reasonably practicable, that all Boards shall as soon as reasonably practicable resolve the issues and achieve the objectives placed before them. Each Party shall endeavour to ensure that Board Members are empowered to make relevant decisions or have access to empowered individuals for decisions to be made to achieve this.

2.8 ROLE OF THE SENIOR MANAGEMENT TEAM

- 2.9 The Senior Management Team shall be responsible for the management of the Services and shall:
 - a) be accountable to the Senior Management Board for comprehensive oversight of the Services and for the senior management of the operational relationship between the Parties;
 - b) report to the Senior Management Board on significant issues requiring decision and resolution by the Senior Management Board on progress against the high-level Implementation Plan;

- c) receive reports from the Project Managers on matters such as issues relating to delivery of existing Services and performance against Performance Indicators, progress against the Implementation Plan and possible future developments;
- d) review and report to the Senior Management Board on Service Management, co-ordination of individual projects and any integration issues:
- e) deal with the prioritisation of resources and the appointment of Project Managers on behalf of the Parties;
- f) consider and resolve Disputes (including Disputes as to the cause of a Delay or the performance of the Services) in the first instance and if necessary, escalate the Dispute to the Executive Oversight Board; and
- g) develop operational/Supplier relationship and develop and propose the relationship development strategy and ensure the implementation of the same.

3 ROLE OF THE EXECUTIVE OVERSIGHT BOARD

- 3.1 The Executive Oversight Board shall:
 - a) provide senior level guidance, leadership and strategy for the overall delivery of the Services;
 - b) be the point of escalation from the Senior Management Team; and
 - c) carry out the specific obligations attributed to it in Paragraph 3.2.
- 3.2 The Executive Oversight Board shall:
 - a) ensure that this Agreement is operated throughout the Term in a manner which optimises the value for money and operational benefit derived by the Authority and the commercial benefit derived by the Supplier;
 - b) receive and review reports from the Senior Management Team meeting and review reports on technology, service and other developments that offer potential for improving the benefit that either Party is receiving, in particular, value for money;
 - determine business strategy and provide guidance on policy matters which may impact on the implementation of the Services or on any Optional Services;
 - d) authorise the commissioning and initiation of, and assess opportunities for, Optional Services;
 - e) discuss any areas of the relationship which are not aligned, and ensure that the objectives of both Parties are considered; and

f) discuss and conclude any issues raised by either Party.

4 ACCOUNT MANAGEMENT TEAM

- 4.1 The objective of the Account Management Team meeting is to provide central coordination of any commercial or contract issues.
- 4.2 The Account Management Team will meet on a monthly basis to discuss and resolve performance matters, Contract Changes, and service delivery issues.
- 4.3 The responsibilities of the Account Management Team shall include:
 - a) considering and resolving contractual performance issues identified as part of a Performance Level failure, as well as dispute resolution where required;
 - b) considering outline Contract Change proposals and agreeing which proposals shall be taken forward in accordance with the Change Control Procedure in Schedule 8.2, with particular regard to whether the proposed Change:
 - has an impact on other areas or aspects of this Agreement and/or other Documentation relating to the Services;
 - ii. has an impact on the ability of the Authority to meet its agreed business needs within agreed timescales;
 - iii. will raise any risks or issues relating to the proposed Change; and
 - iv. will provide value for money in consideration of any changes to the Financial Model, future Charges and/or Performance Indicators and Target Performance Levels;
 - v. providing recommendations, and seeking guidance and authorisation from the Senior Management Team as required.

5 ROLE OF THE TRANSITION BOARD

- 5.1 The Transition Board shall be accountable to the Senior Management Team for oversight of the implementation and mobilisation of the Services, as agreed in Schedule 6.1 (Implementation Plan).
- 5.2 The Transition Board shall monitor delivery of the Implementation Plan, including the application of relevant Testing measures as set out in Schedule 6.2. (Testing).

6 OPERATIONAL MANAGEMENT

6.1 The Authority and Supplier operational leads, as well as other personnel as required, shall meet fortnightly in order to manage the operational delivery of the Services.

- 6.2 The objectives of the meeting are to enable effective management of the Services and to resolve any issues as close to the actual provision of the Services as possible. The responsibilities of this meeting will include:
 - a) managing the day-to-day delivery of the Services;
 - b) monitoring the Performance Levels;
 - c) managing operational issues and risks in accordance with escalation procedures;
 - d) escalating any contractual issues or issues concerning the relationship between the Parties to the Account Management Team; and
 - e) monitoring adherence to quality management processes and procedures.
- Risks relating to the performance of the Services shall be identified, monitored and managed through this meeting in the first instance, in order to:
 - a) provide assurance to the Senior Management Team that risks are being effectively managed across the Services, including reporting the 'top 5' risks to the Senior Management Team on a monthly basis;
 - b) identify the risks to be reported to the Senior Management Team via the regular risk reports;
 - c) accept or reject new risks proposed for inclusion in the Risk Register;
 - d) ratify or refuse requests to close risks on the Risk Register; and
 - e) identify risks relating to or arising out of the performance of the Services and provisional owners of these risks.

7 MONTHLY PERFORMANCE CALL

7.1 A Monthly Performance Call will be led by the central Supplier relationship lead, to review and monitor the Supplier performance, including monitoring performance against the Performance Levels and agreeing any applicable Service Credits, as set out in Schedule 2.2 (Performance Levels).

8 SECURITY INCIDENT PANEL

- 8.1 The Supplier shall put in place relevant security management meetings consisting of the Authority and Supplier security leads and any other relevant parties/representatives. The Security Incident Panel will convene on a monthly basis or as otherwise agreed by the Parties:
 - 8.1.1 to discuss Security Incidents and/or security concerns;
 - 8.1.2 to identify lessons learnt and to agree resolutions including changes to Processes; and
 - 8.1.3 to identify security improvements.

9 CONTRACT MANAGEMENT MECHANISMS

- 9.1 Both Parties shall pro-actively manage risks attributed to them under the terms of this Agreement.
- 9.2 The Supplier shall develop, operate, maintain and amend, as agreed with the Authority, Processes for:
 - a) the identification and management of risks;
 - b) the identification and management of issues; and
 - c) monitoring and controlling project plans.
- 9.3 The Risk Register shall be updated by the Supplier and submitted for review as outlined in paragraph 6 (Operational Management).

10 ANNUAL REVIEW

- 10.1 An annual review meeting shall be held throughout the Term on a date to be agreed between the Parties.
- 10.2 The annual review meeting shall be attended by the Supplier Contract Manager of the Supplier and the Authority senior responsible representative, Authority operational lead, Authority contract manager and any other persons considered by the Authority necessary for the review.

11 INNOVATION OVERSIGHT GROUP

- 11.1 An 'Innovation Oversight Group' will be established to provide a forum and mechanism for both Parties to identify and apply tactical opportunities for innovation to the way in which the Services are delivered. Meetings will take place quarterly and be held in London, or otherwise as agreed by the Parties.
- 11.2 The terms of reference, aims and objectives for the Innovation Oversight Group will be finalised and agreed between the Parties as soon as reasonably practicable. The aims and objectives of the group will be focused on identifying Innovation opportunities and agreeing actions to explore and deliver such opportunities where appropriate.
- 11.3 The Innovation Oversight Group will be chaired by the Authority and shall comprise of suitable representatives from both Parties, including thematic and operational leads.

12 ADDITIONAL MEETINGS

Both Parties agree that the "Additional Meetings" set out in Annex 2 will be arranged at the appropriate time and terms of reference and agendas will be agreed between the Parties.

ANNEX 1: REPRESENTATION AND STRUCTURE OF BOARDS

Senior Management Team

Authority Members of the Senior Management Team	Authority senior responsible representative (Chairperson) Authority operational lead Authority Contract Manager Authority Commercial Manager
	Senior regional representatives Other personnel as required
Supplier Members of Senior Management Team	Account Manager Performance Manager Other to be agreed
Start Date for Senior Management Team meetings	3 months from Effective Date
Frequency of Senior Management Team meetings	Quarterly
Location of Senior Management Team meetings	To be held virtually unless otherwise agreed between the Parties

Executive Oversight Board

Authority members of Executive Oversight Board	Authority senior responsible representative (Chairperson)		
	Authority operational lead		
	Authority Contract Manager		
	Authority Commercial Manager		
	other personnel as required		
	Director General		
Supplier members of Executive Oversight Board	CEO or equivalent		
	Account Manager		
	Other to be agreed		

Official - Sensitive

Start date for Executive Oversight Board meetings	6 months from Effective Date		
Frequency of Executive Oversight Board meetings	Twice yearly		
Location of Executive Oversight Board meetings	To be held virtually unless otherwise agreed between the Parties		

Account Management Team

Authority Members of the Account Management Meeting	Authority Commercial Manager [Chairperson]			
	Authority Contract Manager			
	Authority senior responsible representative if required			
	Authority operational lead			
	Other personnel as required			
Supplier Members of the Account Management Meeting	Head of Account Management Team			
	Contract Manager			
	Other personnel as required			
Start Date for the Account Management Meetings	1 month from Effective Date			
Frequency of the Account Management Meetings	Monthly			
Location of the Account Management Meetings	To be held virtually unless otherwise agreed between the Parties			

Transition Board

Authority Members of Transition Board	Central Supplier relationship Lot lead, Operational representative Transition Manager Authority Contract Manager Authority Commercial Manager Others as required
Supplier Members of Transition Board	Head of Account Management Team

	Global Transition Lead	
	Deputy Global Transition Lead	
	Transition lead – IT	
	Transition lead – Finance	
	Contract Manager	
	PMO representative	
	Other personnel as required	
Start Date for Transition Board meetings	Effective Date	
Frequency of Transition Board meetings	Weekly	
Location of Transition Board meetings	To be held virtually unless otherwise agreed between the Parties	

Security Incident Panel

Authority Members for Security Incident Panel	Central Supplier relationship lead (chair) Integrity Team
Supplier Members for Security Incident Panel	Contract Manager
	Security lead
	Other personnel as required
Start Date for Security Incident Panel	To be agreed between the Parties as soon as reasonably practicable after the Effective Date
Frequency of Security Incident Panels	Monthly
Location of Security Incident Panel	To be held virtually unless otherwise agreed between the Parties

Innovation Oversight Group

Authority Members for Innovation Oversight Group	Suitable representatives from both Parties, including thematic and operational leads
Supplier Members for Innovation Oversight Group	Contract Manager Innovation lead Other personnel as required
Start Date for Sec Innovation Oversight Group	To be agreed between the Parties as soon as reasonably practicable after the Effective Date
Frequency of Innovation Oversight Group	Quarterly
Location of Innovation Oversight Group	To be held virtually unless otherwise agreed between the Parties

Operational Management

Authority Members for Operational Management meetings	Authority Contract Manager Authority and Supplier operational leads Suitable representatives from both Parties, including thematic and operational leads Other personnel as required
Supplier Members for Operational Management meetings	Contract Manager Relevant Regional Operational leads Other personnel as required
Start Date for Operational Management meetings	Service Commencement Date (Milestone 7)
Frequency of Operational Management meetings	Fortnightly
Location of Operational Management meetings	To be held virtually unless otherwise agreed between the Parties

ANNEX 2: ADDITONAL MEETINGS

The following meetings are anticipated to be required from Service Commencement. The Parties will agree the agendas and attendees prior to Service Commencement.

IT Service Management Meetings	Monthly call to discuss IT related projects/issues between supplier and UKVI	Monthly	Authority IT Leads Central Supplier relationship lead (chair)	ED + 10 Months UK ED + 15 months OS From the point of Achievement of Milestone 7
Pre-Monthly Performance Calls	Meeting ahead of monthly performance calls with commercial colleagues, supplier account management team and SRS to discuss/agree service credits and waivers in detail.	Monthly	Operations Manager Authority Contract Manager (if required) Central Supplier relationship lead (chair) Authority Commercial Lead	ED + 10 Months UK ED + 15 months OS From the point of Achievement of Milestone 7
Senior Leadership Call	Weekly meeting between senior leaders UKVI and suppliers.	[Weekly/Fortnightly depending on need]	Authority senior responsible representative, Authority operational lead,	ED + 10 Months UK ED + 15 months OS From the point of Achievement of Milestone 7
Complaints, Correspondence, and Insight Meeting	To discuss insight from Suppliers/Customers to feed into other regular meetings.	Monthly	Authority operational lead, Authority Contract Manager (if required)	ED + 10 Months UK ED + 15 months OS

			Central Supplier relationship lead (chair) Authority Correspondence Leads	From the point of Achievement of Milestone 7
Communications Meetings	to discuss comms related topics, ensuring information on supplier websites is relevant and any strategic or tactical comms topics.	Monthly	Authority operational lead, Authority Contract Manager (if required) Central Supplier relationship lead (chair) Authority Correspondence Leads	[Informal to be agreed with Supplier]
Data Review Meeting	Monthly review of performance in region, ahead of performance reporting feeding into the wider monthly performance call.	Monthly	Authority Regional Leads [[To be agreed with Supplier(s) if required]

SCHEDULE 8.2

CHANGE CONTROL PROCEDURE

Change Control Procedure

1 DEFINITIONS

1.1 In this Schedule, the definitions set out in Schedule 1 (Definitions) shall apply:

2 GENERAL PRINCIPLES OF CHANGE CONTROL PROCEDURE

- 2.1 This Schedule sets out the procedure for dealing with Changes.
- 2.2 Operational Changes shall be processed in accordance with Paragraph 9. If either Party is in doubt about whether a Change falls within the definition of an Operational Change, then it must be processed as a Contract Change.
- 2.3 The Parties shall deal with Contract Change as follows:
 - (a) either Party may request a Contract Change which they shall initiate by issuing a Change Request in accordance with Paragraph 4;
 - (b) unless this Agreement otherwise requires, the Supplier shall assess and document the potential impact of a proposed Contract Change in accordance with Paragraph 5 before the Contract Change can be either approved or implemented;
 - (c) the Authority shall have the right to request amendments to a Change Request, approve it or reject it in the manner set out in Paragraph 6;
 - the Supplier shall have the right to reject a Change Request solely in the manner set out in Paragraph 7;
 - (e) save as otherwise provided in this Agreement, no proposed Contract Change shall be implemented by the Supplier until a Change Authorisation Note has been signed and issued by the Authority in accordance with Paragraph 6.2; and
 - (f) if a proposed Contract Change is a Fast-track Change, it shall be processed in accordance with Paragraph 8.
- 2.4 To the extent that any Contract Change requires testing and/or a programme for implementation, then the Parties shall follow the procedures set out in Schedule 6.2 (*Testing Procedures*), and, where appropriate, the Change Authorisation Note relating to such a Contract Change shall specify Milestones and/or a Key Milestone and Milestone Date(s) in respect of such Contract Change for the purposes of such procedures.
- 2.5 Until a Change Authorisation Note has been signed and issued by the Authority in accordance with Paragraph 6.2, then:
 - (a) unless the Authority expressly agrees (or requires) otherwise in writing, the Supplier shall continue to supply the Services in accordance with the existing terms of this Agreement as if the proposed Contract Change did not apply; and

(b) any discussions, negotiations or other communications which may take place between the Authority and the Supplier in connection with any proposed Contract Change, including the submission of any Change Communications, shall be without prejudice to each Party's other rights under this Agreement.

2.6 The Supplier shall:

- (a) within 10 Working Days of the Authority's signature and issue of a Change Authorisation Note, deliver to the Authority a copy of this Agreement updated to reflect all Contract Changes agreed in the relevant Change Authorisation Note and annotated with a reference to the Change Authorisation Note pursuant to which the relevant Contract Changes were agreed; and
- (b) thereafter provide to the Authority such further copies of the updated Agreement as the Authority may from time to time request.

3 COSTS

- 3.1 Subject to Paragraph 3.2:
 - (a) the costs of preparing each Change Request shall be borne by the Party making the Change Request; and
 - (b) the costs incurred by the Supplier in undertaking an Impact
 Assessment shall be borne by the Party making the Change
 Request provided that the Authority shall not be required to pay any such costs if:
 - (i) such costs are below £5,000 (five thousand pounds) or the Supplier is able to undertake the Impact Assessment by using resources already deployed in the provision of the Services. If the cost incurred by the Supplier in undertaking an Impact Assessment exceed £5,000 (five thousand pounds), the Authority shall only be required to pay the amount that exceeds £5,000 (five thousand pounds) incurred by the Supplier; or
 - (ii) such costs exceed those in the accepted Impact Assessment
- 3.2 Where the Authority submits a Change Request, the reasonable direct and evidenced costs incurred by the Supplier above the agreed threshold in preparing an Impact Assessment in respect of the relevant Change Request may be borne by the Authority on a Time and Materials Charge basis subject to the Authority's prior written approval before such costs are incurred. Both Parties' costs incurred in respect of any use of this Change Control Procedure as a result of any error or Default by the Supplier shall be paid for by the Supplier.

4 CHANGE REQUEST

- 4.1 Either Party may issue a Change Request to the other Party at any time during the Term. A Change Request shall be substantially in the form of Annex 1 and state whether the Party issuing the Change Request considers the proposed Contract Change to be a Fast-track Change.
- 4.2 If the Supplier issues the Change Request, then it shall also provide an Impact Assessment to the Authority as soon as is reasonably practicable but in any event within 10 Working Days of the date of issuing the Change Request.
- 4.3 If the Authority issues the Change Request, then the Supplier shall provide as soon as reasonably practical and in any event within ten (10) Working Days (of the date of receiving the Change Request an estimate ("Impact Assessment Estimate") of the cost of preparing an Impact Assessment and the timetable for preparing it. The timetable shall provide for the completed Impact Assessment to be received by the Authority within ten (10) Working Days of acceptance of the Impact Assessment Estimate or within any longer time period agreed by the Authority.
- 4.4 If the Authority accepts an Impact Assessment Estimate then following receipt of notice of such acceptance the Supplier shall provide the completed Impact Assessment to the Authority as soon as is reasonably practicable and in any event within the period agreed in the Impact Assessment Estimate. If the Supplier requires any clarification in relation to the Change Request before it can deliver the Impact Assessment, then it shall promptly make a request for clarification to the Authority and provided that sufficient information is received by the Authority to fully understand:
 - (a) The nature of the request for clarification; and
 - (b) The reasonable justification for the request;

the time period to complete the Impact Assessment shall be extended by the time taken by the Authority to provide that clarification. The Authority shall respond to the request for clarification as soon as is reasonably practicable.

5 IMPACT ASSESSMENT

- 5.1 Each Impact Assessment shall be completed in good faith and shall include:
 - (a) details of the proposed Contract Change including the reason for the Contract Change; and
 - (b) details of the impact of the proposed Contract Change on the Services, the Optional Services (if any) and the Supplier's ability to meet its other obligations under this Agreement;
 - (c) any variation to the terms of this Agreement that will be required as a result of that impact, including changes to:

- (i) the Services Description, the Performance Indicators and/or the Target Performance Levels;
- (ii) the format of Authority Data, as set out in the Services Description;
- (iii) the Milestones, Implementation Plan and any other timetable previously agreed by the Parties;
- (iv) other services provided by third party contractors to the Authority, including any changes required by the proposed Contract Change to the Authority's IT infrastructure;
- (d) details of the cost of implementing the proposed Contract Change;
- (e) details of the ongoing costs required by the proposed Contract Change when implemented, including any increase or decrease in the Charges, any alteration in the resources and/or expenditure required by either Party and any alteration to the working practices of either Party;
- (f) a timetable for the implementation, together with any proposals for the testing of the Contract Change;
- (g) details of how the proposed Contract Change will ensure compliance with any applicable Change in Law; and
- (h) such other information as the Authority may reasonably request in (or in response to) the Change Request.
- 5.2 If the Contract Change involves the processing or transfer of any Personal Data outside the European Economic Area, the preparation of the Impact Assessment shall also be subject to Clause 23 (*Protection of Personal Data*).
- 5.3 Subject to the provisions of Paragraph 5.4, the Authority shall review the Impact Assessment and respond to the Supplier in accordance with Paragraph 6 within 15 Working Days of receiving the Impact Assessment.
- 5.4 If the Authority is the Receiving Party and the Authority reasonably considers that it requires further information regarding the proposed Contract Change so that it may properly evaluate the Change Request and the Impact Assessment, then within 5 Working Days of receiving the Impact Assessment, it shall notify the Supplier of this fact and detail the further information that it requires. The Supplier shall then re-issue the relevant Impact Assessment to the Authority within 10 Working Days of receiving such notification. At the Authority's discretion, the Parties may repeat the process described in this Paragraph 5.4 until the Authority is satisfied that it has sufficient information to properly evaluate the Change Request and Impact Assessment.
- 5.5 The calculation of costs for the purposes of Paragraphs 5.1(d) and (e) shall:
 - (a) be based on the Financial Model;
 - (b) facilitate the Financial Transparency Objectives;

- (c) include estimated volumes of each type of resource to be employed and the applicable rate card;
- (d) include full disclosure of any assumptions underlying such Impact Assessment;
- (e) include evidence of the cost of any assets required for the Change;
- (f) include details of any new Sub-contracts necessary to accomplish the Change.

6 AUTHORITY'S RIGHT OF APPROVAL

- 6.1 Within 15 Working Days of receiving the Impact Assessment from the Supplier or within 10 Working Days of receiving the further information that it may request pursuant to Paragraph 5.4, the Authority shall evaluate the Change Request and the Impact Assessment and shall do one of the following:
 - (a) approve the proposed Contract Change, in which case the Parties shall follow the procedure set out in Paragraph 6.2;
 - (b) in its absolute discretion reject the Contract Change, in which case it shall notify the Supplier of the rejection. The Authority shall not reject any proposed Contract Change to the extent that the Contract Change is necessary for the Supplier or the Services to comply with any Changes in Law. If the Authority does reject a Contract Change, then it shall explain its reasons in writing to the Supplier as soon as is reasonably practicable following such rejection; or
 - in the event that it reasonably believes that a Change Request or Impact Assessment contains errors or omissions, require the Supplier to modify the relevant document accordingly, in which event the Supplier shall make such modifications within 5 Working Days of such request. Subject to Paragraph 5.4, on receiving the modified Change Request and/or Impact Assessment, the Authority shall approve or reject the proposed Contract Change within 10 Working Days.
- 6.2 If the Authority approves the proposed Contract Change pursuant to Paragraph 6.1 and it has not been rejected by the Supplier in accordance with Paragraph 7, then it shall inform the Supplier and the Supplier shall prepare two copies of a Change Authorisation Note which it shall sign and deliver to the Authority for its signature. Following receipt by the Authority of the Change Authorisation Note, it shall sign both copies and return one copy to the Supplier. On the Authority's signature the Change Authorisation Note shall constitute (or, where the Authority has agreed to or required the implementation of a Change prior to signature of a Change Authorisation Note, shall constitute confirmation of) a binding variation to this Agreement.
- 6.3 If the Authority does not sign the Change Authorisation Note within 10 Working Days, then the Supplier shall have the right to notify the Authority and if the

Authority does not sign the Change Authorisation Note within 5 Working Days of such notification, then the Supplier may refer the matter to the Expedited Dispute Timetable pursuant to the Dispute Resolution Procedure.

7 SUPPLIER'S RIGHT OF APPROVAL

- 7.1 Following an Impact Assessment, if:
 - (a) the Supplier reasonably believes that any proposed Contract Change which is requested by the Authority would:
 - (i) materially and adversely affect the risks to the health and safety of any person; and/or
 - (ii) require the Services to be performed in a way that infringes any Law; and/or
 - (b) the Supplier demonstrates to the Authority's reasonable satisfaction that the proposed Contract Change is technically impossible to implement and neither the Supplier Solution nor the Services Description state that the Supplier does have the technical capacity and flexibility required to implement the proposed Contract Change,

then the Supplier shall be entitled to reject the proposed Contract Change and shall notify the Authority of its reasons for doing so within 5 Working Days after the date on which it is obliged to deliver the Impact Assessment pursuant to Paragraph 4.3.

8 FAST-TRACK CHANGES

- 8.1 The Parties acknowledge that to ensure operational efficiency there may be circumstances where it is desirable to expedite the processes set out above.
- 8.2 If, the total number of Contract Changes in relation to which this Fast-track Change procedure has been applied does not exceed 4 (unless mutually agreed) in any 12 month period;
 - then the Parties shall confirm to each other in writing that they shall use the process set out in Paragraphs 4, 5, 6 and 7 but with reduced timescales, such that any period of 15 Working Days is reduced to 5 Working Days, any period of 10 Working Days is reduced to 2 Working Days and any period of 5 Working Days is reduced to 1 Working Day.
- 8.3 The Parties may agree in writing to revise the parameters set out in Paragraph 8.2 from time to time or that the Fast-track Change procedure shall be used in relation to a particular Contract Change notwithstanding that the total number of Contract Changes to which such procedure is applied will then exceed 4 in a 12 month period.

9 OPERATIONAL CHANGE PROCEDURE

9.1 Any Operational Changes identified by the Supplier to improve operational efficiency of the Services may be implemented by the Supplier without

following the Change Control Procedure for proposed Contract Changes provided they do not:

- (a) have an impact on the business of the Authority;
- (b) require a change to this Agreement;
- (c) have a direct impact on use of the Services; or
- (d) involve the Authority in paying any additional Charges or other costs.
- 9.2 Either Party may request an Operational Change by submitting a written request for Operational Change ("**RFOC**") to the other Party's Authorised Representative.
- 9.3 The RFOC shall include the following details:
 - (a) the proposed Operational Change; and
 - (b) the time-scale for completion of the Operational Change.
- 9.4 The Supplier shall inform the Authority of any impact on the Services that may arise from the proposed Operational Change.
- 9.5 The Supplier shall complete the Operational Change by the timescale specified for completion of the Operational Change in the RFOC, and shall promptly notify the Authority when the Operational Change is completed.

10 COMMUNICATIONS

10.1 For any Change Communication to be valid under this Schedule, it must be sent to either the Authority Change Manager or the Supplier Change Manager, as applicable. The provisions of Clause 44 (*Notices*) shall apply to a Change Communication as if it were a notice.

11 SPECIFIC CHANGE OPTION

- 11.1 The Authority anticipates that it may require one or more of the following Changes, and has identified them (non-exhaustively) as permitted variations pursuant to Regulation 72(1)(a) of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015:
 - 11.1.1 to increase the provision of Services within a Country, either through resource increases or the provision of additional Locations, to meet increased demand with an additional spend of up to 50% of the annual Charges attributable to that Country;
 - to enable a Location to be closed or relocated where it is not meeting the needs of the Authority or service users;
 - 11.1.3 where the supplier in one or more other Lots suffers a Financial Distress Event or a Performance Failure, including in the event of an associated full or partial termination of the supplier's services in that Lot, to ensure continuity of service delivery including by:

- seeking support from the Supplier to provide guidance and/or other practical support to facilitate the Rectification Plan Process; or
- b) engaging the Supplier to perform some or all of the services covered by the relevant contract through a Change to this Agreement; or
- c) novating the relevant contract in full or in part to the Supplier.
- 11.2 The selection of an alternative or additional supplier in the circumstances set out in Paragraph 11.1 will be based on the following:
 - 11.2.1 whether a supplier on a Lot finished second in the procurement process for the award of the relevant contract for the Lot affected by the circumstances set out in Paragraph 11.1; if not
 - 11.2.2 whether a supplier on a Lot expressly confirmed during the procurement process for the award of the relevant contract for the Lot affected by the circumstances set out in Paragraph 11.1 that they would provide the relevant service, for the relevant Lot, should the requirement arise; if not
 - 11.2.3 whether a supplier is best suited technically and geographically to the relevant contract for the Lot affected by the circumstances set out in Paragraph 11.1, and where this does not clearly identify a particular supplier, the relative performance of the supplier on the contract for its own Lot; and
 - in any case, the Supplier agreeing through the Change Control Procedure to provide the relevant service, for the relevant Lot.
- 11.3 If the Authority requests the agreement of the Supplier to a Change in the circumstances identified in Paragraph 11.1 the Authority will work with the Supplier to agree the Change as follows:
 - 11.3.1 identify the relevant rates within this Agreement that will be used as the basis of charging;
 - 11.3.2 agree the timescales for the additional services;
 - identify any resource or equipment to be transferred to ensure a swift and efficient transition from the relevant other supplier.

12 Location changes subject to Change Control Procedure

- 12.1 The Parties acknowledge that a request by either Party to:
 - 12.1.1 add a Location (including a temporary Location or a Tethered Location) to the list of Locations set out in Annex A of Schedule 2.1 (Services Description);
 - 12.1.2 activate a Location set out in Annex A of Schedule 2.1 (Services Description) that is not live; and/or

Official - Sensitive

- 12.1.3 change a Zone or 'Service Model' described in the Service Model column of Annex A of Schedule 2.1 (Services Description),
- shall be managed in accordance with the arrangements set out in this Schedule 8.2 (Change Control Procedure).
- 12.2 An Authority request described in paragraph 12.1 shall use the Change Control Procedure. A Supplier request described in paragraph 12.1 shall use the Operational Change Procedure provided it meets the criteria set out in paragraph 9.1, and must also include in any proposal reasonable time (as determined by the Authority) for the Authority to assess whether to approve the request, which shall include:
 - 12.2.1 at least 20 Working Days' notice to the Authority;
 - 12.2.2 Milestones that include the equivalent of Milestones 5, 6, 7 and 8 that are set out in Schedule 6.1 (Implementation Plan) and these Milestones shall include all relevant Deliverables under those Milestones unless otherwise agreed by the Authority; and.
 - 12.2.3 a description of any impact on Milestone Payments on a Fixed/Capped T&M basis for the implementation of the request;
 - 12.2.4 a description of any impact on Volumetric Service Charges.

ANNEX 1: CHANGE REQUEST FORM

CR NO.:	TITLE	::		TYPE OF CHANGE:		
CONTRACT:		REQUIRED BY DATE:				
ACTION:		NAME	:		DATE:	
RAISED BY:						
AREA(S) IMPACTE	D (OPT	IONAL	FIELD):			
ASSIGNED FOR IM	PACT A	ASSES	SMENT BY:			
ASSIGNED FOR IM	PACT A	ASSES	SMENT TO:			
SUPPLIER REFERENCE NO.:						
FULL DESCRIPTION OF REQUESTED CONTRACT CHANGE (INCLUDING PROPOSED CHANGES TO THE WORDING OF THE CONTRACT):						
DETAILS OF ANY PROPOSED ALTERNATIVE SCENARIOS:						
REASONS FOR AND BENEFITS AND DISADVANTAGES OF REQUESTED CONTRACT CHANGE:				REQUESTED		
SIGNATURE OF REQUESTING CHANGE OWNER:						
DATE OF REQUEST:						

ANNEX 2: CHANGE AUTHORISATION NOTE

CR NO.:	TITLE:		DATE RAISED:
CONTRACT:	TYPE OF CHANGE:		REQUIRED BY DATE:
[KEY MILESTONE DATE: [if any]]			
DETAILED DESCRIPTION OF CONTRACT CHANGE FOR WHICH IMPACT ASSESSMENT IS BEING PREPARED AND WORDING OF RELATED CHANGES TO THE CONTRACT:			
PROPOSED ADJUSTMENT TO THE CHARGES RESULTING FROM THE CONTRACT CHANGE:			
DETAILS OF PROPOSED ONE-OFF ADDITIONAL CHARGES AND MEANS FOR DETERMINING THESE (E.G. FIXED PRICE BASIS):			
SIGNED ON BEHALF OF THE AUTHORITY:		SIGNED ON BEHALF OF THE SUPPLIER:	
Signature:		Signature:	
Name:		Name:	
Position:		Position:	
Date:		Date:	

SCHEDULE 8.3 DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCEDURE

Dispute Resolution Procedure

1 DEFINITIONS

1.1 In this Schedule, the definitions set out in Schedule 1 (Definitions) shall apply:

2 DISPUTE NOTICES

- 2.1 If a Dispute arises then:
 - (a) the Authority Representative and the Supplier Representative shall attempt in good faith to resolve the Dispute; and
 - (b) if such attempts are not successful within a reasonable period, not being longer than 20 Working Days, either Party may issue to the other a Dispute Notice.

2.2 A Dispute Notice:

- (a) shall set out:
 - (i) the material particulars of the Dispute;
 - (ii) the reasons why the Party serving the Dispute Notice believes that the Dispute has arisen; and
 - (iii) if the Party serving the Dispute Notice believes that the Dispute should be dealt with under the Expedited Dispute Timetable, the reason why; and
- (b) may specify in accordance with the requirements of Paragraphs 9.2 and 9.3 that the Party issuing the Dispute Notice has determined (in the case of the Authority) or considers (in the case of the Supplier) that the Dispute is a Multi-Party Dispute, in which case Paragraph 2.3 shall apply.
- 2.3 If a Dispute Notice specifies that the Dispute has been determined or is considered to be a Multi-Party Dispute pursuant to Paragraph 2.2(b), then:
 - (a) if it is served by the Authority it shall be treated as a Multi-Party Procedure Initiation Notice: and
 - (b) if it is served by the Supplier it shall be treated as a Supplier Request,

and in each case the provisions of Paragraph 9 shall apply.

- 2.4 Subject to Paragraphs 2.5 and 3.2 and so long as the Authority has not served a Multi-Party Procedure Initiation Notice in respect of the relevant Dispute, following the issue of a Dispute Notice the Parties shall seek to resolve the Dispute:
 - (a) first by commercial negotiation (as prescribed in Paragraph 4);

- (b) then, if either Party serves a Mediation Notice, by mediation (as prescribed in Paragraph 5); and
- (c) lastly by recourse to arbitration (as prescribed in Paragraph 7) or litigation (in accordance with Clause 46 (*Governing Law and Jurisdiction*)).
- 2.5 Specific issues shall be referred to Expert Determination (as prescribed in Paragraph 6) where specified under the provisions of this Agreement and may also be referred to Expert Determination where otherwise appropriate as specified in Paragraph 6.1.
- 2.6 Unless agreed otherwise in writing, the Parties shall continue to comply with their respective obligations under this Agreement regardless of the nature of the Dispute and notwithstanding any issue of a Dispute Notice or a Multi-Party Procedure Initiation Notice or proceedings under Paragraph 8 (*Urgent Relief*).

3 EXPEDITED DISPUTE TIMETABLE

- 3.1 In exceptional circumstances where the use of the times in this Schedule would be unreasonable, including (by way of example) where one Party would be materially disadvantaged by a delay in resolving the Dispute, the Parties may agree to use the Expedited Dispute Timetable. If the Parties are unable to reach agreement on whether to use the Expedited Dispute Timetable within 5 Working Days of the issue of a Dispute Notice, the use of the Expedited Dispute Timetable shall be at the sole discretion of the Authority.
- 3.2 If the Expedited Dispute Timetable is to be used pursuant to the provisions of Paragraph 3.1 or is otherwise specified under the provisions of this Agreement, then the following periods of time shall apply in lieu of the time periods specified in the applicable Paragraphs:
 - (a) in Paragraph 4.2(c), 10 Working Days;
 - (b) in Paragraph 5.2, 10 Working Days;
 - (c) in Paragraph 6.2, 5 Working Days; and
 - (d) in Paragraph 7.2, 10 Working Days.
- 3.3 If at any point it becomes clear that an applicable deadline cannot be met or has passed, the Parties may (but shall be under no obligation to) agree in writing to extend the deadline. If the Parties fail to agree within 2 Working Days after the deadline has passed, the Authority may set a revised deadline provided that it is no less than 5 Working Days before the end of the period of time specified in the applicable paragraphs (or 2 Working Days in the case of Paragraph 6.2). Any agreed extension shall have the effect of delaying the start of the subsequent stages by the period agreed in the extension. If the Authority fails to set such a revised deadline then the use of the Expedited Dispute Timetable shall cease, and the normal time periods shall apply from that point onwards.

4 COMMERCIAL NEGOTIATION

4.1 Following the service of a Dispute Notice, then, so long as the Authority has not served a Multi-Party Procedure Initiation Notice in respect of the relevant Dispute, the Authority and the Supplier shall make reasonable endeavours to resolve the Dispute as soon as possible by commercial negotiation between the Authority's **Contract Manager** and the Supplier's Contract Manager/Commercial Contract Manager

4.2 If:

- (a) either Party is of the reasonable opinion that the resolution of a Dispute by commercial negotiation, or the continuance of commercial negotiation, will not result in an appropriate solution;
- (b) the Parties have already held discussions of a nature and intent (or otherwise were conducted in the spirit) that would equate to the conduct of commercial negotiation in accordance with this Paragraph 4; or
- (c) the Parties have not settled the Dispute in accordance with Paragraph 4.1 within 30 Working Days of service of the Dispute Notice,

either Party may serve a written notice to proceed to mediation in accordance with Paragraph 5 (a "**Mediation Notice**").

5 MEDIATION

- 5.1 If a Mediation Notice is served, the Parties shall attempt to resolve the dispute in accordance with the version of CEDR's Model Mediation Procedure which is current at the time the Mediation Notice is served (or such other version as the Parties may agree).
- 5.2 If the Parties are unable to agree on the joint appointment of an independent person to mediate the Dispute within 20 Working Days from (and including) the service of a Mediation Notice then either Party may apply to CEDR to nominate such a person.
- 5.3 If the Parties are unable to reach a settlement in the negotiations at the mediation, and only if both Parties so request and the Mediator agrees, the Mediator shall produce for the Parties a non-binding recommendation on terms of settlement. This shall not attempt to anticipate what a court might order but shall set out what the Mediator suggests are appropriate settlement terms in all of the circumstances.
- 5.4 Any settlement reached in the mediation shall not be legally binding until it has been reduced to writing and signed by, or on behalf of, the Parties (in accordance with the Change Control Procedure where appropriate). The Mediator shall assist the Parties in recording the outcome of the mediation.

6 EXPERT DETERMINATION

- 6.1 If a Dispute relates to any aspect of the technology underlying the provision of the Services or otherwise relates to a technical matter of an IT, accounting or financing nature and the Dispute has not been resolved by commercial negotiation in accordance with Paragraph 4 or, if applicable, mediation in accordance with Paragraph 5, then either Party may by written notice to the other request (agreement to which request shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed) that the Dispute be referred to an expert for determination.
- The expert shall be appointed by agreement in writing between the Parties, but in the event of a failure to agree within 10 Working Days of the relevant request made pursuant to Paragraph 6.1, or if the person appointed is unable or unwilling to act, the expert shall be appointed:
 - (a) if the Dispute relates to any aspect of the technology underlying the provision of the Services or a matter of an IT technical nature, on the instructions of the President of the British Computer Society (or any other association that has replaced the British Computer Society);
 - (b) if the Dispute relates to a matter of a financial technical nature, on the instructions of the President of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of England and Wales; or
 - (c) if the Dispute relates to a matter of a technical nature not falling within Paragraphs 6.2(a) or (b), on the instructions of the president (or equivalent) of:
 - (i) an appropriate body agreed between the Parties; or
 - (ii) if the Parties do not reach agreement on the relevant body within 15 Working Days of the relevant request made pursuant to Paragraph 6.1, such body as may be specified by the President of the Law Society on application by either Party.
- 6.3 The Expert shall act on the following basis:
 - (a) he/she shall act as an expert and not as an arbitrator and shall act fairly and impartially;
 - (b) the Expert's determination shall (in the absence of a material failure to follow the agreed procedures) be final and binding on the Parties;
 - (c) the Expert shall decide the procedure to be followed in the determination and shall be requested to make his/her determination within 30 Working Days of his appointment or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter and the Parties shall assist and provide the documentation that the Expert requires for the purpose of the determination:

- (d) any amount payable by one Party to another as a result of the Expert's determination shall be due and payable within 20 Working Days of the Expert's determination being notified to the Parties;
- (e) the process shall be conducted in private and shall be confidential; and
- (f) the Expert shall determine how and by whom the costs of the determination, including his/her fees and expenses, are to be paid.

7 ARBITRATION

- 7.1 Subject to compliance with its obligations under Paragraph 4.1 and to the provisions of Paragraph 6, the Authority may at any time before court proceedings are commenced refer the Dispute to arbitration in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 7.5.
- 7.2 Before the Supplier commences court proceedings or arbitration, it shall serve written notice on the Authority of its intentions and the Authority shall have 15 Working Days following receipt of such notice to serve a reply (a "Counter Notice") on the Supplier requiring the Dispute to be referred to and resolved by arbitration in accordance with Paragraph 7.5 or be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of England and Wales. The Supplier shall not commence any court proceedings or arbitration until the expiry of such 15 Working Day period.
- 7.3 If the Authority serves a Counter Notice, then:
 - (a) if the Counter Notice requires the Dispute to be referred to arbitration, the provisions of Paragraph 7.5 shall apply; or
 - (b) if the Counter Notice requires the Dispute to be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of England and Wales, the Dispute shall be so referred to those courts and the Supplier shall not commence arbitration proceedings.
- 7.4 If the Authority does not serve a Counter Notice within the 15 Working Day period referred to in Paragraph 7.2, the Supplier may either commence arbitration proceedings in accordance with Paragraph 7.5 or commence court proceedings in the Courts of England and Wales which shall (in those circumstances) have exclusive jurisdiction.
- 7.5 The Parties hereby confirm that if any arbitration proceedings are commenced pursuant to Paragraphs 7.1 to 7.4:
 - the Dispute shall be referred to and finally resolved by arbitration under the Rules of the London Court of International Arbitration ("LCIA") (subject to Paragraphs 7.5(e), (f) and (g));
 - (b) the arbitration shall be administered by the LCIA;

- (c) the LCIA procedural rules in force at the date that the Dispute was referred to arbitration shall be applied and are deemed to be incorporated by reference into this Agreement and the decision of the arbitrator shall be binding on the Parties in the absence of any material failure to comply with such rules;
- (d) if the Parties fail to agree the appointment of the arbitrator within 10 Working Days from the date on which arbitration proceedings are commenced or if the person appointed is unable or unwilling to act, the arbitrator shall be appointed by the LCIA;
- (e) the chair of the arbitral tribunal shall be British;
- (f) the arbitration proceedings shall take place in London and in the English language; and
- (g) the seat of the arbitration shall be London.

8 URGENT RELIEF

- 8.1 Either Party may at any time take proceedings or seek remedies before any court or tribunal of competent jurisdiction:
 - (a) for interim or interlocutory remedies in relation to this Agreement or infringement by the other Party of that Party's Intellectual Property Rights; and/or
 - (b) where compliance with Paragraph 2.1 and/or referring the Dispute to mediation may leave insufficient time for that Party to commence proceedings before the expiry of the limitation period.

9 MULTI-PARTY DISPUTES

- 9.1 All Multi-Party Disputes shall be resolved in accordance with the procedure set out in this Paragraph 9 (the "Multi-Party Dispute Resolution Procedure").
- 9.2 If at any time following the issue of a Dispute Notice, the Authority reasonably considers that the matters giving rise to the Dispute involve one or more Related Third Parties, then the Authority shall be entitled to determine that the Dispute is a Multi-Party Dispute and to serve a notice on the Supplier which sets out the Authority's determination that the Dispute is a Multi-Party Dispute and specifies the Related Third Parties which are to be involved in the Multi-Party Dispute Resolution Procedure, such notice a "Multi-Party Procedure Initiation Notice".
- 9.3 If following the issue of a Dispute Notice but before the Dispute has been referred to Expert Determination or to arbitration in accordance with Paragraph 7, the Supplier has reasonable grounds to believe that the matters giving rise to the Dispute have been contributed to by one or more Related Third Parties, the Supplier may serve a Supplier Request on the Authority.

- 9.4 The Authority shall (acting reasonably) consider each Supplier Request and shall determine within 5 Working Days whether the Dispute is:
 - (a) a Multi-Party Dispute, in which case the Authority shall serve a Multi-Party Procedure Initiation Notice on the Supplier; or
 - (b) not a Multi-Party Dispute, in which case the Authority shall serve written notice of such determination upon the Supplier and the Dispute shall be treated in accordance with Paragraphs 3 to 8.
- 9.5 If the Authority has determined, following a Supplier Request, that a Dispute is not a Multi-Party Dispute, the Supplier may not serve another Supplier Request with reference to the same Dispute.
- 9.6 Following service of a Multi-Party Procedure Initiation Notice a Multi-Party Dispute shall be dealt with by a board (in relation to such Multi-Party Dispute, the "Multi-Party Dispute Resolution Board") comprising representatives from the following parties to the Multi-Party Dispute, each of whom shall be of a suitable level of seniority to finalise any agreement with the other parties to settle the Multi-Party Dispute:
 - (a) the Authority;
 - (b) the Supplier;
 - (c) each Related Third Party involved in the Multi-Party Dispute; and
 - (d) any other representatives of any of the Parties and/or any Related Third Parties whom the Authority considers necessary,

(together "Multi-Party Dispute Representatives").

- 9.7 The Parties agree that the Multi-Party Dispute Resolution Board shall seek to resolve the relevant Multi-Party Dispute in accordance with the following principles and procedures:
 - (a) the Parties shall procure that their Multi-Party Dispute
 Representatives attend, and shall use their best endeavours to
 procure that the Multi-Party Dispute Representatives of each
 Related Third Party attend, all meetings of the Multi-Party Dispute
 Resolution Board in respect of the Multi-Party Dispute;
 - (b) the Multi-Party Dispute Resolution Board shall first meet within 10 Working Days of service of the relevant Multi-Party Procedure Initiation Notice at such time and place as the Parties may agree or, if the Parties do not reach agreement on the time and place within 5 Working Days of service of the relevant Multi-Party Procedure Initiation Notice, at the time and place specified by the Authority, provided such place is at a neutral location within England and that the meeting is to take place between 9.00am and 5.00pm on a Working Day; and

- (c) in seeking to resolve or settle any Multi-Party Dispute, the members of the Multi-Party Dispute Resolution Board shall have regard to the principle that a Multi-Party Dispute should be determined based on the contractual rights and obligations between the Parties and the Related Third Parties and that any apportionment of costs should reflect the separate components of the Multi-Party Dispute.
- 9.8 If a Multi-Party Dispute is not resolved between the Parties and all Related Third Parties within 25 Working Days of the issue of the Multi-Party Procedure Initiation Notice (or such longer period as the Parties may agree in writing), then:
 - either Party may serve a Mediation Notice in respect of the Multi-Party Dispute in which case Paragraph 5 shall apply;
 - (b) either Party may request that the Multi-Party Dispute is referred to an expert in which case Paragraph 6 shall apply; and/or
 - (c) subject to Paragraph 9.9, Paragraph 7 shall apply to the Multi-Party Dispute,
 - and in each case references to the "Supplier" or the "Parties" in such provisions shall include a reference to all Related Third Parties.
- 9.9 If a Multi-Party Dispute is referred to arbitration in accordance with Paragraph 7 or a Dispute becomes a Multi-Party Dispute during the course of arbitration proceedings and either Party is unable to compel a Related Third Party to submit to such arbitration proceedings, the Authority or the Supplier may discontinue such arbitration proceedings and instead initiate court proceedings. The costs of any such discontinued arbitration proceedings shall be borne by the Party which is in a direct contractual relationship with the Related Third Party or, where the Related Third Party is a Sub Contractor, by the Supplier.

SCHEDULE 8.4 REPORTS AND RECORDS PROVISIONS

Reports and Records Provisions

1 TRANSPARENCY REPORTS

- 1.1 Within three (3) Months of the Effective Date the Supplier shall provide to the Authority for its approval (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) draft reports in accordance with Annex 1 (once approved, the "Transparency Reports").
- 1.2 If the Authority rejects any draft Transparency Report, the Supplier shall submit a revised version of the relevant report for further approval by the Authority within five (5) days of receipt of any notice of rejection, taking account of any recommendations for revision and improvement to the report provided by the Authority. If the Parties fail to agree on a draft Transparency Report the Authority shall determine what should be included.
- 1.3 The Supplier shall provide accurate and up-to-date versions of each Transparency Report to the Authority at the frequency referred to in Annex 1.
- 1.4 Any disagreement in connection with the preparation and/or approval of Transparency Reports, other than under paragraph 1.2 above in relation to the contents of a Transparency Report, shall be treated as a Dispute.
- 1.5 The requirements for Transparency Reports are in addition to any other reporting requirements in this Agreement.

2 OTHER REPORTS

- 2.1 The Authority may require any or all the following reports:
 - a) reports relating to Delays;
 - b) reports relating to Testing and tests carried out under Schedule 2.4 (Security Management) and Schedule 8.6 (Service Continuity Plan and Corporate Resolution Planning);
 - c) reports which the Supplier is required to supply as part of Management Information (see paragraph 5 and Annex 5);
 - d) annual reports on the Insurances; and
 - e) Force Majeure Event reports.

3 RECORDS

- 3.1 The Supplier shall retain and maintain all the Records (including superseded Records) referred to in Paragraph 1 and Annex 1 (together "**Records**"):
 - (a) in accordance with the requirements of The National Archives and Good Industry Practice;
 - (b) in chronological order;
 - (c) in a form that is capable of Audit; and

- (d) at its own expense.
- 3.2 The Supplier shall make the Records Available for inspection to the Authority on request, subject to the Authority giving reasonable notice.
- 3.3 Where Records are retained in electronic form, the original metadata shall be preserved together with all subsequent metadata in a format reasonably accessible to the Authority.
- 3.4 The Supplier shall, during the Term and a period of at least 7 years following the expiry or termination of this Agreement, maintain or cause to be maintained complete and accurate documents and Records in relation to the provision of the Services including but not limited to all Records.
- 3.5 Records that contain financial Information shall be retained and maintained in safe storage by the Supplier for a period of at least 7 years after the expiry or termination of this Agreement.
- 3.6 Without prejudice to the foregoing, the Supplier shall provide the Authority:
 - (a) as soon as they are Available, and in any event within 60 Working Days after the end of the first 6 Months of each financial year of the Supplier during the Term, a copy, certified as a true copy by an authorised representative of the Supplier, of its un-audited interim accounts and, if applicable, of consolidated un-audited interim accounts of the Supplier and its Affiliates which would (if the Supplier were listed on the London Stock Exchange (whether or not it is)) be required to be sent to shareholders as at the end of and for each such 6 Month period; and
 - (b) as soon as they shall have been sent to its shareholders in order to be laid before an annual general meeting of the Supplier, but not later than 130 Working Days after the end of each accounting reference period of the Supplier part or all of which falls during the Term, the Supplier's audited accounts and if applicable, of the consolidated audited accounts of the Supplier and its Affiliates in respect of that period together with copies of all related directors' and auditors' reports and all other notices/circulars to shareholders.

4 Virtual Library

- 4.1 The Supplier shall, no later than eight (8) weeks prior to the Operational Services Commencement Date and without charge to the Authority, create a Virtual Library on which the Supplier shall (subject to any applicable legislation governing the use or processing of personal data) make Information about this Agreement Available in accordance with the requirements outlined in this Schedule.
- 4.2 The Supplier shall ensure that the Virtual Library is:
 - (a) capable of holding and allowing access to the Information described in Annex 3 and Annex 5 of this Schedule and includes full and

- accurate file details of all uploaded items including date and time of upload, version number and the name of the uploader;
- (b) structured so that each document uploaded has a unique identifier which is automatically assigned;
- (c) readily accessible by the Authority at all times in full via a userfriendly, password protected interface to such nominated users as are notified to the Supplier by the Authority from time to time,
- (d) structured to allow nominated users to download either specific documents or the complete Virtual Library (to the extent it has Access Permission) in bulk and store and view the content offline (on a regular and automated basis);
- (e) structured and maintained in accordance with the security requirements as set out in this Agreement including those set out in Schedule 2.4 (Security Management);
- (f) created and based on open Standards in Schedule 2.3 (*Standards*); and
- (g) backed up on a secure off-site system.
- 4.3 For the avoidance of doubt, the Virtual Library (excluding any Software used to host it) shall form a database which constitute Project Specific IPR which shall be assigned to the Authority pursuant to Clause 17.1 (*Project Specific IPR*) of this Agreement.
- 4.4 The Supplier shall upload complete and accurate Information specified in Annex 3 by the Initial Upload Date (except where prior to the launch of the Virtual Library in which case the date at which the Virtual Library is made Available in accordance with Paragraph 4.1) onto Virtual Library in the format specified.
- 4.5 Upon any document being uploaded to the Virtual Library, and where the Authority has been granted Access Permission to that document, the Supplier shall automatically notify on the same date as the upload, the upload of the document to the nominated Authority email address at:

SRSFESInt@homeoffice.gov.uk

- 4.6 Except for notices under Clause 44.4 or items covered by Clause 44.6, where the Supplier is under an obligation to provide Information to the Authority in a provision under this Agreement, then the Supplier's upload of that Information onto the Virtual Library shall satisfy the Supplier's obligation to provide the Authority with that Information provided that the Authority has access in accordance with this paragraph 4 and the uploaded Information meets the requirements more particularly specified in the relevant provision.
- 4.7 Except to the extent that the requirements provide for earlier and more regular Authority access to up-to-date Information, Annex 3 shall not take precedence over any other obligation to provide Information in this Agreement and the

- Supplier shall refer to the applicable clause for further details as to the requirement.
- 4.8 The Suppler shall provide each specified person (as set out in column 6 of the table at Annex 3) access to view and download the specified Information in the Virtual Library in Annex 3 subject upon the occurrence of the event specified in the column marked Access Permission in Annex 3 to this Schedule.
- 4.9 Where Access Permission is not listed (in column 6 of the table at Annex 3) as being subject to the occurrence of a certain event the Supplier shall grant access to the person and Information specified (in column 6 of the table at Annex 3) from the Initial Upload Date.
- 4.10 Where Access Permission is specified as being granted to the Authority's Third Party Auditor (prior to the Authority being granted access) it shall:
 - (a) be entitled to access, view and download Information specified in Annex 3 subject to it entering into a confidentiality agreement with the Supplier to keep the contents confidential (except to the extent disclosure of the confidential Information is required under paragraph 4.10(b) of this Schedule); and
 - (b) report to the Authority (at its request) as to the completeness and accuracy of the Information but not the substance of the Information.
- 4.11 The Supplier shall ensure that the Virtual Library retains in an accessible form all historic or superseded Records of the Information specified Annex 3. In order to maintain the integrity of the historic archive of the Information and Documentation and for the purposes of maintaining a clear Audit trail, the Supplier shall not delete or overwrite any Information that has been stored in the Virtual Library, except for the purposes of maintenance (provided no Information is lost during maintenance) or to enable the Supplier to comply with Data Protection Legislation.
- 4.12 The Supplier warrants that the Information uploaded to the Virtual Library is accurate, complete, up-to-date and in accordance with this Agreement at the date of upload.
- 4.13 Where the Supplier becomes aware that any of the Information provided on the Virtual Library is materially inaccurate, incomplete or out of date (other than in respect of historic versions of documents) the Supplier shall provide an update to the Information within fourteen (14) days unless already due to be updated beforehand due to an Update Requirement specified in Annex 3.
- 4.14 In the event of a conflict between any requirement in this Agreement (excluding Annex 3) for the Supplier to provide Information to the Authority and the requirements set out in Annex 3 of this Schedule, the requirement elsewhere in this Agreement shall prevail.
- 4.15 The Supplier shall ensure that all approved users of the Virtual Library are alerted by email each time that Information in the Virtual Library is uploaded or updated as it occurs.

- 4.16 No later than one (1) Month prior to the Operational Services Commencement Date, the Supplier shall provide training manuals to the Authority relating to the use of the Virtual Library.
- 4.17 On request by the Authority the Supplier shall provide the Authority's nominated users with a reasonable level of training and ongoing support to enable them to make use of the Virtual Library.
- 4.18 For the avoidance of doubt, the cost of any redactions, access restrictions or compliance with the Data Protection Legislation in respect of the Information hosted on the Virtual Library shall be at the Supplier's own cost and expense.

5 Management Information

- **5.1** Annex 5 contains a list of the baseline Reports
- **5.2** Management Information shall be supplied to the Authority via electronic media or as required by the Authority using a format to be agreed with the Authority that is fully readable and can be edited by the Authority's chosen Software.
- **5.3** Minor changes to the content and format of Reports requested by the Authority shall be carried out by the Supplier at no cost to the Authority. New reporting requirements or substantial changes to existing Management Information Requirements and/or Reports shall be agreed pursuant to the Change Control Procedure

ANNEX 1: TRANSPARENCY REPORTS

- 1. The title, content, format and frequency of Transparency Reports will be discussed and agreed in good faith between the Parties as soon as reasonably practical after the Effective Date and the table below shall be completed in accordance with the Change Control Procedure.
- 2. If a Dispute arises with regard to the Transparency Reports then either Party may refer the Dispute to the Dispute Resolution Procedure.
- 3. The Supplier's obligation to provide Transparency Reports as set out in paragraph 1.1 of this Schedule shall not apply until the title, content, format and frequency of the Transparency Reports have been agreed by the Parties in accordance with paragraph 1 of Annex 1 of this Schedule.

TITLE	CONTENT	FORMAT	FREQUENCY	
[Performance]	To be agreed by the Parties	To be agreed by the Parties	To be agreed by the Parties	
[Charges]	To be agreed by the Parties	To be agreed by the Parties	To be agreed by the Parties	
[Major Sub- Contractors]	To be agreed by the Parties	To be agreed by the Parties	To be agreed by the Parties	
[Technical]	To be agreed by the Parties	To be agreed by the Parties	To be agreed by the Parties	
[Performance Management]	To be agreed by the Parties	To be agreed by the Parties	To be agreed by the Parties	

ANNEX 2: RECORDS TO BE KEPT BY THE SUPPLIER

The Records to be kept by the Supplier are:

- 1 This Agreement, its Schedules and all amendments to such documents.
- 2 All other documents which this Agreement expressly requires to be prepared.
- Records relating to the appointment and succession of the Supplier Representative and each member of the Key Personnel.
- 4 Notices, reports and other Documentation submitted by any Expert.
- All operation and maintenance manuals prepared by the Supplier for the purpose of maintaining the provision of the Services and the underlying IT Environment and Supplier Equipment.
- Documents prepared by the Supplier or received by the Supplier from a Third Party relating to a Force Majeure Event.
- All formal notices, reports or submissions made by the Supplier to the Authority Representative in connection with the provision of the Services.
- All certificates, licences, registrations or warranties in each case obtained by the Supplier in relation to the provision of the Services.
- 9 Documents prepared by the Supplier in support of claims for the Charges.
- 10 Documents submitted by the Supplier pursuant to the Change Control Procedure.
- Documents submitted by the Supplier pursuant to invocation by it or the Authority of the Dispute Resolution Procedure.
- Documents evidencing any change in ownership or any interest in any or all of the shares in the Supplier and/or the Guarantor, where such change may cause a change of Control; and including documents detailing the identity of the persons changing such ownership or interest.
- 13 Invoices and Records related to VAT or any other sales tax, sought to be recovered by the Supplier.
- 14 Financial Records, including audited and un-audited accounts of the Guarantor and the Supplier.
- Records required to be retained by the Supplier by Law, including in relation to health and safety matters and health and safety files and all consents.
- All documents relating to the insurances to be maintained under this Agreement and any claims made in respect of them.
- 17 All journals and audit trail data referred to in Schedule 2.4 (*Security Management*).

18	All other Records, notices or certificates required to be produced and/or maintained by the Supplier pursuant to this Agreement.

ANNEX 3: RECORDS TO UPLOAD TO VIRTUAL LIBRARY

Redacted' Under FOIA Section 40, Personal Information for the Supplies

ANNEX 4: SUPPLY CHAIN TRANSPARENCY INFORMATION TEMPLATE

	Financial Year 20[]			
	Under this Agreement		Supplier as a whole	
	£	%	£	%
Estimated total contract revenue (£) to be received in this Financial Year	£[]	100%	£[]	100%
Total value of Sub-Contracted revenues (£) in this Financial Year	£[]	[]	£[]	[]
Total value of Sub-Contracted revenues to SMEs (£) in this Financial Year	£[]	[]	£[]	[]
Total value of Sub-Contracted revenues to VCSEs (£) in this Financial Year	£[]	[]	£[]	[]

Annex 5: Management Information

Report	Frequency	Description/Content	
Executive Report for Senior Management Team	Quarterly - to coincide with Senior Management Team meetings (as per Schedule 8.1 Governance)	The report will give high-level management Information to senior management, focussing on issues and risks against Service Packages, Supplier Subcontractors, including future opportunities for partnership working etc.	
Management Report to the Executive Oversight Board	Twice yearly - to coincide with Executive Oversight Board meetings (as per Schedule 8.1 Governance)	Gives highlights and lowlights in respect of the delivery of the Supplier's Solution; "RAG" (Red, Amber, Green) markings against Service Packages	
Contract Management Issues	As required/necessary	Both Parties to maintain logs and report to the other on new and continuing issues from inception to resolution, showing escalation as appropriate.	
Service Point Availability	As directed by the Authority	 Overall capacity of each Service Point and the Monthly demand as a percentage of Available capacity. Anticipate the demand of the next Month as a percentage against capacity Date Booking Entered into System (Booking Date) Date Application submitted Number of appointments booked but not attended and UAN for each Numbers of appointments cancelled and the reasons for cancellation Further MI data may be required by the Authority on request. 	

Performance Monitoring Report	Monthly - within 10 Working Days of the end of each Service Period as part of a Monthly performance pack	Report to the Authority Representative which summarises the performance by the Supplier against each of the Performance Indicators as described in Schedule 2.2 (Performance Levels)
Service Volume Report	Monthly - within 10 Working days of the end of each service period as part of a Monthly performance pack	 The report shall include: The number of Applications applied for; processed; incomplete, etc. – by Service Point. Overall total number of Core Service transactions across Service Points, per category Overall total number of Customers handled across Service Points, per category.
Biometric Capture Process	Monthly – within 10 working days of the end of each service period as part of a Monthly performance pack	 Number of Biometrics captured – this period / prior period Number of Biometric overrides – this period / prior period Overrides as a % of total Biometrics – this period / prior period Number of exceptions– this period / prior period Exceptions as a % of total Biometrics – this period / prior period
Customer Photograph Quality Standard	Monthly – within 10 working days of each service period as part of a Monthly performance pack	 The report shall include: Total number of Photographic Likeness images submitted Total number of Photographic Likeness images that were not of the requisite standard (to be supplied by the Authority)
Customer Fingerprint Quality Standard	Monthly – within 10 working days of each	The report shall include;

	service period as part of a Monthly performance pack	 Total number of Fingerprint Sets submitted Total number of Fingerprint Sets that were not of the requisite standard (to be supplied by the Authority)
Digitisation Process	Monthly – within 10 working days of the end of each service period as part of a Monthly performance pack	 The report shall include; total number of digitisation actions undertaken by the Supplier in the relevant Service Period; and total number of digitisation actions undertaken by the Supplier in the relevant Service Period that did not successfully include ALL of the elements set out in the KPIs Total number of Applications where all presented Customer data was not digitised The Authority will provide details on; Total number of Applications where one or more of the evidence required for the purpose of making a decision on the Application were not of legible quality Total number of Applications where the Authority approved checklist was not present in the provided evidence
		 Total number of digitisation events where the products of which were not received by the Authority within the detailed timescales Total number of digitised evidence transferred
Service Management Reporting	Monthly – within 10 working days of the end of each service	Reports against fault fixes, incorrect closures, major incidents, etc in accordance with Schedule 2.2 (Performance Levels)

	period as part of a Monthly performance pack	
Complaints handling	Monthly – within 10 working days of the end of each service period as part of a Monthly performance pack	The report shall include: Total number of all Complaints made by customers Total number of all Substantiated Complaints made by customers Date each Complaint was received from the Customer Date each Complaint was successfully resolved Total number of complaints escalated to the Authority The Supplier shall hold on record, and provide on request in an accessible and reportable format, a breakdown of grounds for Complaints as follows: Delay Admin/Process error Quality (failure to meet published service) Quality (of customer service/experience) Safeguarding Imposters Fraudulent documents
Customer satisfaction	Quarterly	The Report will detail the total number of Customers who took part in the Customer satisfaction process in each quarter period. The Supplier shall identify Continuous Improvement measures it intends to implement to improve service, the customer journey and opportunities for Innovation
Priority Visa and Super Priority Visa Services	Monthly	The Supplier shall provide Information on the Priority Visa and Super Priority Visa Services using a document and format to be agreed with the Authority that

must be readable by Microsoft Excel 2007. Such Information will include, but is not limited to the following:

- 1) the total number of Priority Visa and Super Priority Visa Service Applications per Location, per Visa category for this period;
- 2) the total value of Priority Visa and Super Priority Visa Fees per Location, per Visa category for this period;
- 3) the total number of all Visa Applications and Fee values received for Priority and Super Priority Visa Services in this period split by Region;
- 4) the total Priority Visa and Super Priority Visa Income for this period;
- 5) the proportion of Priority Visa and Super Priority Visa Applications returned to each Location within the target turnaround time as specified by the relevant Post. This is to be expressed as a percentage of the total Priority Visa and Super Priority Visa Services applied for in this period:
- 6) the proportion of Priority Visa and Super Priority Visa Applications returned to each Location within the target turnaround time as specified by the relevant Post. This is to be expressed as a percentage of the total Priority Visa and Super Priority Visa Services applied for in this period;
- 7) the proportion of decisions delivered in person or despatched by courier to the Visa Applicants within the target turnaround time. This is to be expressed as a percentage of the total Priority Visa and Super Priority Visa Services applied for in this period; and
- 8) Processing Times
- 9) The Authority's approval reference for each Location where applicable
- 10) Priority Visas processing times. This shall exclude the settlement category of Visa Applications which shall be recorded separately and to a RAG status to be provided by the Authority.

11) Super Priority Visas

• End to end processing time for Super Priority Visas split into less than 24 hours, less than 48 hours, more than 48 hours—for this period.

Added Value Services	Monthly	The Supplier shall provide reports to the Authority which shall include Information about types of services offered. The report shall include the Authority's approval reference for each service: • Monthly volume of sales for each service • Locations where service is offered • refunds payments • Suppliers costs • net profit realised
Charging Schedule Report	Monthly	 The report shall include; all the necessary data for the Authority to prepare the Charging Schedule, as per Schedule 7.1 (Charges and Invoicing) for the previous calendar Month. Customer volume figures for all Service Points to which the Supplier provides a Core Service event, Total number and value of Priority Applications received split by Service Point.
Security Incidents	Monthly	The report shall include details of the Incident and corrective actions (to minimise the impact and the possibility of reoccurrence, where applicable); • Staff breaches • Security Incidents (excluding Staff) • Non-Security Incidents • Times Business Continuity Plan invoked • Hours of Security Equipment Downtime • Audit breaches

		 New Staff screening failed Safeguarding Imposters Fraudulent documents
Security Overview including Business Continuity Management, HMG Security Policy Compliance, Physical Security, Personnel clearance	Monthly	 Provide assurance that the Supplier (and any Supplier Sub-contractors) is implementing the Security Policy in accordance with Schedule 2.4 (Security Management). Indicate how effective the Supplier is in implementing the Security Policy in accordance with Schedule 2.4 (Security Management). list all business continuity plans and evidence of the business impact review and business recovery strategy for each plan. The Supplier shall conduct an annual self-assessment of its compliance with the UK Governments Security Policy and with the Authority's Security Policy and Security Standards and shall report its findings from the annual self-assessment to the Authority in accordance with the Authority's Security Policy and Standards as set out in Annex 4-1 to Schedule 2.4 (Security Management). In line with Physical Security requirements a report will: confirm all agreed physical security measures are in place and functioning normally in accordance with Schedule 2.4 (Security Management). address any issues open at the time of the previous Report and any new requirements or deficiencies identified since that Report was written.

The Supplier shall report immediately if there are, or have been, any problems related to the physical security measures at any Service Point.

The Report will confirm that:

• all successful candidates offered employment with the Supplier undertaking the Authority work have met all the security criteria before taking up duty, in accordance with Schedule 2.4 (Security Management);

all employees have signed the appropriate statutory undertaking not to disclose Customer Information with reminders of their obligations every six (6) Months. Any breaches of the undertakings and the disciplinary action taken should be included; and he implementation of any departmental requests not to use specified individuals on the Authority business

reporting on compliance with all the security policies

SCHEDULE 8.5

EXIT MANAGEMENT

Exit Management

1 DEFINITIONS

1.1 In this Schedule, the definitions set out in Schedule 1 (Definitions) shall apply:

2 OBLIGATIONS DURING THE TERM TO FACILITATE EXIT

- 2.1 During the Term, the Supplier shall:
- (a) create and maintain a register ("Asset Register") of all:
 - (i) Assets, detailing their:
 - (A) make, model and asset number;
 - (B) ownership and status as either Exclusive Assets or Non-Exclusive Assets;
 - (C) Net Book Value;
 - (D) condition and physical location; and
 - (E) use (including technical specifications); and
 - (ii) Sub-contracts and other relevant agreements (including relevant software licences, maintenance and support agreements and equipment rental and lease agreements) required for the performance of the Services;
- (b) create and maintain a configuration database detailing the technical infrastructure and operating procedures through which the Supplier provides the Services, which shall contain sufficient detail to permit the Authority and/or Replacement Supplier to understand how the Supplier provides the Services and to enable the smooth transition of the Services with the minimum of disruption;
- (c) agree the format of the Registers with the Authority as part of the process of agreeing the Exit Plan: and
- (d) at all times keep the Registers up to date, in particular in the event that Assets, Sub-contracts or other relevant agreements are added to or removed from the Services.
- 2.2 The Supplier shall procure that all Exclusive Assets listed in the Registers are clearly marked to identify that they are exclusively used for the provision of the Services under this Agreement.
- 2.3 Each Party shall appoint a person for the purposes of managing the Parties' respective obligations under this Schedule and provide written notification of such appointment to the other Party within 3 months of the Effective Date.
- 2.4 The Supplier shall ensure that its Exit Manager has the requisite authority to arrange and procure any resources of the Supplier as are reasonably necessary to enable the Supplier to comply with the requirements set out in this Schedule.
- 2.5 The Parties' Exit Managers will liaise with one another in relation to all issues relevant to the

termination of this Agreement and all matters connected with this Schedule and each Party's compliance with it

3 OBLIGATIONS TO ASSIST ON RE-TENDERING OF SERVICES

- 3.1 On reasonable notice at any point during the Term, the Supplier shall provide to the Authority and/or its potential Replacement Suppliers (subject to the potential Replacement Suppliers entering into reasonable written confidentiality undertakings), the following material and information in order to facilitate the preparation by the Authority of any invitation to tender and/or to facilitate any potential Replacement Suppliers undertaking due diligence:
 - (a) details of the Service(s);
 - (b) a copy of the Registers, updated by the Supplier up to the date of delivery of such Registers;
 - (c) an inventory of Authority Data in the Supplier's possession or control;
 - (d) details of any key terms of any third party contracts and licences, particularly as regards charges, termination, assignment and novation;
 - (e) a list of on-going and/or threatened disputes in relation to the provision of the Services;
 - (f) to the extent permitted by applicable Law, all information relating to Transferring Supplier Employees required to be provided by the Supplier under this Agreement; and
 - (g) such other material and information as the Authority shall reasonably require,

(together, the "Exit Information").

3.2 The Supplier acknowledges that the Authority may disclose the Supplier's Confidential Information to an actual or prospective Replacement Supplier or any third party whom the Authority is considering engaging to the extent that such disclosure is necessary in connection with such engagement (except that the Authority may not under this Paragraph 3.2 disclose any Supplier's Confidential Information which is information relating to the Supplier's or its Sub-contractors' prices or costs).

3.3 The Supplier shall:

- (a) notify the Authority within 5 Working Days of any material change to the Exit Information which may adversely impact upon the potential transfer and/or continuance of any Services and shall consult with the Authority regarding such proposed material changes; and
- (b) provide complete updates of the Exit Information on an as- requested basis as soon as reasonably practicable and in any event within 10 Working Days of a request in writing from the Authority.
- The Supplier may charge the Authority for its reasonable additional costs to the extent the Authority requests more than 4 updates in any 6 month period.
- 3.5 The Exit Information shall be accurate and complete in all material respects and the level of detail to be provided by the Supplier shall be such as would be reasonably necessary to

enable a third party to:

- (a) prepare an informed offer for those Services; and
- (b) not be disadvantaged in any subsequent procurement process compared to the Supplier (if the Supplier is invited to participate).

4 OBLIGATION TO ENTER INTO AN ETHICAL WALL AGREEMENT ON RETENDERING OF SERVICES

- 4.1 The Authority may require the Supplier to enter into the Ethical Wall Agreement at any point during a re-tendering or contemplated re-tendering of the Services or any part of the Services.
- 4.2 If required to enter into the Ethical Wall Agreement, the Supplier will return a signed copy of the Ethical Wall Agreement within 10 Working Days of receipt. The Supplier's costs of entering into the Ethical Wall Agreement will be borne solely by the Supplier.

5 EXIT PLAN

- 5.1 The Supplier shall, within 3 months after the Effective Date, deliver to the Authority an Exit Plan (including the Asset Register) which:
 - (a) sets out the Supplier's proposed methodology for achieving an orderly transition of the relevant Services from the Supplier to the Authority and/or its Replacement Supplier on the Partial Termination, expiry or termination of this Agreement;
 - (b) complies with the requirements set out in Paragraph 5.2; and
 - (c) is otherwise reasonably satisfactory to the Authority.
- 5.2 The Parties shall use reasonable endeavours to agree the contents of the Exit Plan. If the Parties are unable to agree the contents of the Exit Plan within 20 Working Days of its submission, then such Dispute shall be resolved in accordance with the Dispute Resolution Procedure.
- 5.3 The Exit Plan shall set out, as a minimum:
 - (a) how the Exit Information is obtained;
 - (b) separate mechanisms for dealing with Ordinary Exit and Emergency Exit, the provisions relating to Emergency Exit being prepared on the assumption that the Supplier may be unable to provide the full level of assistance which is required by the provisions relating to Ordinary Exit, and in the case of Emergency Exit, provision for the supply by the Supplier of all such reasonable assistance as the Authority shall require to enable the Authority or its sub-contractors to provide the Services;
 - (c) a mechanism for dealing with Partial Termination on the assumption that the Supplier will continue to provide the remaining Services under this Agreement;
 - (d) the management structure to be employed during both transfer and cessation of the Services in an Ordinary Exit and an Emergency Exit;
 - (e) the management structure to be employed during the Termination Assistance

Period:

- (f) a detailed description of both the transfer and cessation processes, including a timetable, applicable in the case of an Ordinary Exit and an Emergency Exit;
- (g) how the Services will transfer to the Replacement Supplier and/or the Authority, including details of the processes, documentation, data transfer, systems migration, security and the segregation of the Authority's technology components from any technology components operated by the Supplier or its Sub-contractors (where applicable);
- (h) the scope of the Termination Services that may be required for the benefit of the Authority (including such of the services set out in Annex 1 as are applicable);
- (i) a timetable and critical issues for providing the Termination Services;
- (j) any charges that would be payable for the provision of the Termination Services (calculated in accordance with the methodology that would apply if such Services were being treated as a Contract Change), together with a capped estimate of such charges;
- (k) how the Termination Services would be provided (if required) during the Termination Assistance Period;
- (I) procedures to deal with requests made by the Authority and/or a Replacement Supplier for Staffing Information pursuant to Schedule 9 (Staff Transfer)] and
- (m) how each of the issues set out in this Schedule will be addressed to facilitate the transition of the Services from the Supplier to the Replacement Supplier and/or the Authority with the aim of ensuring that there is no disruption to or degradation of the Services during the Termination Assistance Period, and so that no additional costs will become payable pursuant to Paragraph 6.4;
- (n) where applicable and possible, the arrangements it has giving flexibility in the termination of building leases (ideally on 3 months' notice) in the final year of the Term, to allow for the phased transition to the Authority and/or a Replacement Supplier;
- (o) an indication of whether or not it wishes to acquire title in any or all Authorityowned assets situated at the Supplier's premises during the final year of the Term for a nominal payment of £1.
- 5.4 The Parties acknowledge that the migration of the Services from the Supplier to the Authority and/or its Replacement Supplier may be phased, such that certain of the Services are handed over before others, certain of the Services are disaggregated from the remainder, and/or the Services are handed over on a geographical basis rather than by reference to particular Services.
- 5.5 The Supplier shall review and (if appropriate) update the Exit Plan on a basis consistent with the principles set out in this Schedule in the first month of each Contract Year (commencing with the second Contract Year) and if requested by the Authority following the occurrence of a Financial Distress Event, within 14 days of such request, to reflect any changes in the Services that have occurred since the Exit Plan was last agreed. Following such update the

Supplier shall submit the revised Exit Plan to the Authority for review. Within 20 Working Days following submission of the revised Exit Plan, the Parties shall meet and use reasonable endeavours to agree the contents of the revised Exit Plan. If the Parties are unable to agree the contents of the revised Exit Plan within that 20 Working Day period, such dispute shall be resolved in accordance with the Dispute Resolution Procedure.

Finalisation of the Exit Plan

- 5.6 Within 20 Working Days after service of a Termination Notice by either Party or 18 months prior to the expiry of this Agreement, the Supplier will submit for the Authority's approval the Exit Plan in a final form that could be implemented immediately. The final form of the Exit Plan shall be prepared on a basis consistent with the principles set out in this Schedule and shall reflect any changes in the Services that have occurred since the Exit Plan was last agreed.
- 5.7 The Parties will meet and use their respective reasonable endeavours to agree the contents of the final form of the Exit Plan. If the Parties are unable to agree the contents of the Exit Plan within 20 Working Days following its delivery to the Authority then such Dispute shall be resolved in accordance with the Dispute Resolution Procedure. Until the agreement of the final form of the Exit Plan, the Supplier shall provide the Termination Services in accordance with the principles set out in this Schedule and the last approved version of the Exit Plan (insofar as relevant).

6 TERMINATION SERVICES

Notification of Requirements for Termination Services

- 6.1 The Authority shall be entitled to require the provision of Termination Services at any time during the Term by giving written notice to the Supplier (a "Termination Assistance Notice") at least 4 months prior to the date of termination or expiry of this Agreement or as soon as reasonably practicable (but in any event, not later than 1 month) following the service by either Party of a Termination Notice. The Termination Assistance Notice shall specify:
 - (a) the date from which Termination Services are required;
 - (b) the nature of the Termination Services required; and
 - (c) the period during which it is anticipated that Termination Services will be required, which shall continue no longer than 24 months after the date that the Supplier ceases to provide the terminated Services.

6.2 The Authority shall have:

- (a) an option to extend the period of assistance beyond the period specified in the Termination Assistance Notice provided that such extension shall not extend for more than 9 months after the date the Supplier ceases to provide the Services or, if applicable, beyond the end of the Termination Assistance Period and provided that it shall notify the Supplier to such effect no later than 20 Working Days prior to the date on which the provision of Termination Services is otherwise due to expire; and
- (b) the right to terminate its requirement for Termination Services by serving not less than 20 Working Days' written notice upon the Supplier to such effect.

Termination Assistance Period

- Throughout the Termination Assistance Period, or such shorter period as the Authority may require, the Supplier shall:
 - (a) continue to provide the Services (as applicable) and, if required by the Authority pursuant to Paragraph 6.1, provide the Termination Services;
 - (b) in addition to providing the Services and the Termination Services, provide to the Authority any reasonable assistance requested by the Authority to allow the Services to continue without interruption following the Partial Termination, termination or expiry of this Agreement and to facilitate the orderly transfer of responsibility for and conduct of the Services to the Authority and/or its Replacement Supplier;
 - (c) use all reasonable endeavours to reallocate resources to provide such assistance as is referred to in Paragraph 6.3(b) without additional costs to the Authority;
 - (d) provide the Services and the Termination Services at no detriment to the Target Performance Levels, save to the extent that the Parties agree otherwise in accordance with Paragraph 6.5; and
 - (e) at the Authority's request and on reasonable notice, deliver up-to- date Registers to the Authority.
- 6.4 Without prejudice to the Supplier's obligations under Paragraph 6.3(c), if it is not possible for the Supplier to reallocate resources to provide such assistance as is referred to in Paragraph 6.3(b) without additional costs to the Authority, any additional costs incurred by the Supplier in providing such reasonable assistance which is not already in the scope of the Termination Services or the Exit Plan shall be subject to the Change Control Procedure.
- 6.5 If the Supplier demonstrates to the Authority's reasonable satisfaction that transition of the Services and provision of the Termination Services during the Termination Assistance Period will have a material, unavoidable adverse effect on the Supplier's ability to meet one or more particular Target Performance Level(s), the Parties shall vary the relevant Target Performance Level(s) and/or the applicable Service Credits to take account of such adverse effect.

Termination Obligations

- 6.6 The Supplier shall comply with all of its obligations contained in the Exit Plan in respect of any Partial Termination or termination.
- 6.7 Upon termination or expiry (as the case may be) or at the end of the Termination Assistance Period (or earlier if this does not adversely affect the Supplier's performance of the Services and the Termination Services and its compliance with the other provisions of this Schedule) in respect of the Services that have been terminated, the Supplier shall:
 - (a) cease to use the Authority Data;
 - (b) provide the Authority and/or the Replacement Supplier with a complete and uncorrupted version of the Authority Data in electronic form (or such other format as reasonably required by the Authority);

- (c) erase (to achieve permanent deletion) from any computers, storage devices and storage media that are to be retained by the Supplier after the end of the Termination Assistance Period all Authority Data and promptly certify to the Authority that it has completed such erasure to achieve permanent deletion;
- (d) return to the Authority such of the following as is in the Supplier's possession or control:
 - (i) all copies of the Authority Software and any other software licensed by the Authority to the Supplier under this Agreement;
 - (ii) all materials created by the Supplier under this Agreement in which the IPRs are owned by the Authority;
 - (iii) any parts of the IT Environment and any other equipment which belongs to the Authority; and
 - (iv) any items that have been on-charged to the Authority, such as consumables;
- (e) vacate any Authority Premises unless access is required to continue to deliver the Services;
- (f) provide access during normal working hours to the Authority and/or the Replacement Supplier for up to 12 months after the Partial Termination, expiry or termination of this Agreement to:
 - (i) such information relating to the Services as remains in the possession or control of the Supplier; and
 - (ii) such members of the Supplier Personnel as have been involved in the design, development and provision of the Services and who are still employed by the Supplier, provided that the Authority and/or the Replacement Supplier shall pay the reasonable costs of the Supplier actually incurred in responding to requests for access under this Paragraph 6.7(f)(ii).
- Upon Partial Termination, termination or expiry (as the case may be) or at the end of the Termination Assistance Period (or earlier if this does not adversely affect the Supplier's performance of the Services and the Termination Services and its compliance with the other provisions of this Schedule), each Party shall return to the other Party (or if requested, destroy or delete) all Confidential Information of the other Party in respect of the terminated Services and shall certify that it does not retain the other Party's Confidential Information save to the extent (and for the limited period) that such information needs to be retained by the Party in question for the purposes of providing or receiving any Services or Termination Services or for statutory compliance purposes.
- 6.9 Except where this Agreement provides otherwise, all licences, leases and authorisations granted by the Authority to the Supplier in relation to the terminated Services shall be terminated with effect from the end of the Termination Assistance Period.

7 ASSETS, SUB-CONTRACTS AND SOFTWARE

7.1 Following notice of termination or Partial Termination of this Agreement and during the

Termination Assistance Period, the Supplier shall not, in respect of the terminated Services, without the Authority's prior written consent:

- (a) terminate, enter into or vary any Sub-contract except to the extent that such change does not or will not affect the provision of Services or the Charges;
- (b) (subject to normal maintenance requirements) make material modifications to, or dispose of, any existing Assets or acquire any new Assets; or
- (c) terminate, enter into or vary any licence for software in connection with the Services.
- 7.2 Within 20 Working Days of receipt of the up-to-date Registers provided by the Supplier pursuant to Paragraph 6.3(e), the Authority shall provide written notice to the Supplier setting out:
 - (a) which, if any, of the Transferable Assets the Authority requires to be transferred to the Authority and/or the Replacement Supplier in respect of the terminated Services ("Transferring Assets");
 - (i) which, if any, of:
 - (A) the Exclusive Assets that are not Transferable Assets; and
 - (B) the Non-Exclusive Assets,

the Authority and/or the Replacement Supplier requires the continued use of; and

(b) which, if any, of Transferable Contracts the Authority requires to be assigned or novated to the Authority and/or the Replacement Supplier (the "Transferring Contracts"),

in order for the Authority and/or its Replacement Supplier to provide the Services from the expiry of the Termination Assistance Period. Where requested by the Authority and/or its Replacement Supplier, the Supplier shall provide all reasonable assistance to the Authority and/or its Replacement Supplier to enable it to determine which Transferable Assets and Transferable Contracts the Authority and/or its Replacement Supplier requires to provide the Services or Replacement Services.

- 7.3 With effect from the expiry of the Termination Assistance Period, the Supplier shall sell the Transferring Assets to the Authority and/or its nominated Replacement Supplier for a consideration equal to their Net Book Value, except where:
 - (a) a Termination Payment is payable by the Authority to the Supplier, in which case, payment for such Assets shall be included within the Termination Payment; or
 - (b) the cost of the Transferring Asset has been partially or fully paid for through the Charges at the time of expiry or termination of this Agreement, in which case the Authority shall pay the Supplier the Net Book Value of the Transferring Asset less the amount already paid through the Charges.
- 7.4 Risk in the Transferring Assets shall pass to the Authority or the Replacement Supplier (as

appropriate) at the end of the Termination Assistance Period and title to the Transferring Assets shall pass to the Authority or the Replacement Supplier (as appropriate) on payment for the same.

- 7.5 Where the Supplier is notified in accordance with Paragraph 7.2(b) that the Authority and/or the Replacement Supplier requires continued use of any Exclusive Assets that are not Transferable Assets or any Non-Exclusive Assets, the Supplier shall as soon as reasonably practicable:
 - (a) procure a non-exclusive, perpetual, royalty-free licence (or licence on such other terms that have been agreed by the Authority) for the Authority and/or the Replacement Supplier to use such assets (with a right of sub-licence or assignment on the same terms); or failing which
 - (b) procure a suitable alternative to such assets and the Authority or the Replacement Supplier shall bear the reasonable proven costs of procuring the same.
- 7.6 The Supplier shall as soon as reasonably practicable assign or procure the novation to the Authority and/or the Replacement Supplier of the Transferring Contracts. The Supplier shall execute such documents and provide such other assistance as the Authority reasonably requires to effect this novation or assignment.
- 7.7 The Authority shall:
 - (a) accept assignments from the Supplier or join with the Supplier in procuring a novation of each Transferring Contract; and
 - (b) once a Transferring Contract is novated or assigned to the Authority and/or the Replacement Supplier, carry out, perform and discharge all the obligations and liabilities created by or arising under that Transferring Contract and exercise its rights arising under that Transferring Contract, or as applicable, procure that the Replacement Supplier does the same.
- 7.8 The Supplier shall hold any Transferring Contracts on trust for the Authority until such time as the transfer of the relevant Transferring Contract to the Authority and/or the Replacement Supplier has been effected.
- 7.9 The Supplier shall indemnify the Authority (and/or the Replacement Supplier, as applicable) against each loss, liability and cost arising out of any claims made by a counterparty to a Transferring Contract which is assigned or novated to the Authority (and/or Replacement Supplier) pursuant to Paragraph 7.6 both:
 - (a) in relation to any matters arising prior to the date of assignment or novation of such Subcontract; and
 - (b) in relation to any matters arising after the date of assignment or novation of such Subcontract where the loss, liability or cost arises as a result of the Supplier's failure to comply with Clauses 16 {Intellectual Property Rights) and/or Clause 17 {Transfer and Licences Granted by the Supplier).

8 SUPPLIER PERSONNEL

8.1 The Authority and Supplier agree and acknowledge that in the event of the Supplier ceasing to provide the Services or part of them for any reason, Schedule 9 *(Staff Transfer)* shall apply.

- 8.2 The Supplier shall not take any step (expressly or implicitly or directly or indirectly by itself or through any other person) to dissuade or discourage any employees engaged in the provision of the Services from transferring their employment to the Authority and/or the Replacement Supplier.
- 8.3 During the Termination Assistance Period, the Supplier shall give the Authority and/or the Replacement Supplier reasonable access to the Supplier's personnel to present the case for transferring their employment to the Authority and/or the Replacement Supplier.
- 8.4 The Supplier shall immediately notify the Authority or, at the direction of the Authority, the Replacement Supplier of any period of notice given by the Supplier or received from any person referred to in the Staffing Information, regardless of when such notice takes effect.
- 8.5 The Supplier shall not for a period of 12 months from the date of transfer re-employ or reengage or entice any employees, suppliers or Sub-contractors whose employment or engagement is transferred to the Authority and/or the Replacement Supplier, except that this paragraph shall not apply where the employee, supplier or Sub-contractor applies in response to a public advertisement of a vacancy.

9 CHARGES

- 9.1 During the Termination Assistance Period (or for such shorter period as the Authority may require the Supplier to provide the Termination Services), the Authority shall pay the Charges to the Supplier in respect of the Termination Services in accordance with the rates set out in the Exit Plan (but shall not be required to pay costs in excess of the estimate set out in the Exit Plan). If the scope or timing of the Termination Services is changed and this results in a change to the costs of such Termination Services, the estimate may be varied in accordance with the Change Control Procedure.
- 9.2 Where the Authority requests an extension to the Termination Services beyond the Termination Assistance Period in accordance with Paragraph 6.2:
 - (a) where more than 6 months' notice is provided, the same rate as set out in the Exit Plan (or the Charges when not stated in the Exit Plan) shall be payable; and
 - (b) where less than 6 months' notice is provided, no more than 1.2 times the rate as set out in the Exit Plan (or the Charges when not stated in the Exit Plan) shall be payable.
- 9.3 For the purpose of calculating the costs of providing the Termination Services for inclusion in the Exit Plan or, if no Exit Plan has been agreed, the costs of providing Termination Services shall be determined in accordance with the Change Control Procedure.
- 9.4 Except as otherwise expressly specified in this Agreement, the Supplier shall not make any charges for the services provided by the Supplier pursuant to, and the Authority shall not be obliged to pay for costs incurred by the Supplier in relation to its compliance with, this Schedule including the preparation and implementation of the Exit Plan and any activities mutually agreed between the Parties to carry on after the expiry of the Termination Assistance Period.

10 APPORTIONMENTS

10.1 All outgoings and expenses (including any remuneration due) and all rents, royalties and other

periodical payments receivable in respect of the Transferring Assets and Transferring Contracts shall be apportioned between the Authority and the Supplier and/or the Replacement Supplier and the Supplier (as applicable) as follows:

- (a) the amounts shall be annualised and divided by 365 to reach a daily rate;
- (b) the Authority shall be responsible for (or shall procure that the Replacement Supplier shall be responsible for) or entitled to (as the case may be) that part of the value of the invoice pro rata to the number of complete days following the transfer, multiplied by the daily rate; and
- (c) the Supplier shall be responsible for or entitled to (as the case may be) the rest of the invoice.
- 10.2 Each Party shall pay (and/or the Authority shall procure that the Replacement Supplier shall pay) any monies due under Paragraph 10.1 as soon as reasonably practicable.

ANNEX 1: SCOPE OF THE TERMINATION SERVICES

- 1.1 The Termination Services to be provided by the Supplier shall include such of the following services as the Authority may specify:
 - (a) ceasing all non-critical Software changes (except where agreed in writing with the Authority);
 - (b) notifying the Sub-contractors of procedures to be followed during the Termination Assistance Period and providing management to ensure these procedures are followed:
 - (c) providing assistance and expertise as necessary to examine all operational and business processes (including all supporting documentation) in place and rewriting and implementing processes and procedures such that they are appropriate for use by the Authority and/or the Replacement Supplier after the end of the Termination Assistance Period:
 - (d) delivering to the Authority the existing systems support profiles, monitoring or system logs, problem tracking/resolution documentation and status reports all relating to the 12 month period immediately prior to the commencement of the Termination Services;
 - (e) providing details of work volumes and staffing requirements over the 12 month period immediately prior to the commencement of the Termination Services;
 - (f) with respect to work in progress as at the end of the Termination Assistance Period, documenting the current status and stabilising for continuity during transition;
 - (g) providing the Authority with any problem logs which have not previously been provided to the Authority;
 - (h) providing assistance and expertise as necessary to examine all governance and reports in place for the provision of the Services and re-writing and implementing these during and for a period of 12 months after the Termination Assistance Period:

- (i) providing assistance and expertise as necessary to examine all relevant roles and responsibilities in place for the provision of the Services and re-writing and implementing these such that they are appropriate for the continuation of the Services after the Termination Assistance Period;
- (j) reviewing all Software libraries used in connection with the Services and providing details of these to the Authority and/or the Replacement Supplier;
- (k) providing assistance and expertise as necessary to support the Authority and/or the Replacement Supplier develop the migration plan for business operations and Authority Data to the Replacement Supplier, which may include migration approach, testing of plans, contingency options, and handling of historic or archived Authority Data:
- (I) provide all necessary support, equipment, tools, and Software such as data migration services and/or Automated Programming Interfaces, in order to enable and support the execution of the migration plan by the Authority and/or Replacement Supplier;
- (m) making available to the Authority and/or the Replacement Supplier expertise to analyse training requirements and provide all necessary training for the use of tools by such staff as are nominated by the Authority (acting reasonably) at the time of termination or expiry;
- (n) assisting in establishing naming conventions for any new production site;
- (o) analysing and providing information about capacity and performance requirements, processor requirements and bandwidth requirements, and known planned requirements for capacity growth across these areas;
- (p) generating a computer listing of the Source Code of [insert details of relevant Software] in a form and on media reasonably requested by the Authority;
- (q) agreeing with the Authority a handover plan for all of the Supplier's responsibilities as set out in the Security Management Plan;
- (r) delivering copies of the production databases (with content listings) to the Authority's and/or the Replacement Supplier's operations staff (on appropriate media) as reasonably requested by the Authority;
- (s) assisting with the loading, testing and implementation of the production databases;
- (t) assisting in the execution of a parallel operation until the effective date of expiry or termination of this Agreement;
- (u) in respect of the maintenance and support of the Supplier System, providing historical performance data
- (v) assisting in the execution of a parallel operation of the maintenance and support of the Supplier System until the end of the Termination Assistance Period or as otherwise specified by the Authority (provided that these Services shall end on a date no later than the end of the Termination Assistance Period);

- (w) providing an information pack listing and describing the Services for use by the Authority in the procurement of the Replacement Services;
- (x) answering all reasonable questions from the Authority and/or the Replacement Supplier regarding the Services;
- (y) agreeing with the Authority and/or the Replacement Supplier a plan for the migration of the Authority Data to the Authority and/or the Replacement Supplier;
- (z) providing access to the Authority and/or the Replacement Supplier during the Termination Assistance Period and for a period not exceeding 6 months afterwards for the purpose of the smooth transfer of the Services to the Authority and/or the Replacement Supplier:
 - (i) to information and documentation relating to the Transferring Services that is in the possession or control of the Supplier or its Sub-contractors (and the Supplier agrees and shall procure that its Sub-contractors do not destroy or dispose of that information within this period) including the right to take reasonable copies of that material; and
 - (ii) following reasonable notice and during the Supplier's normal business hours, to members of the Supplier Personnel who have been involved in the provision or management of the Services and who are still employed or engaged by the Supplier or its Sub-contractors; and

(aa) knowledge transfer services, including:

- transferring all training material and providing appropriate training to those Authority and/or Replacement Supplier staff responsible for internal training in connection with the provision of the Services;
- (ii) providing for transfer to the Authority and/or the Replacement Supplier of all knowledge reasonably required for the provision of the Services which may, as appropriate, include information, records and documents; and
- (iii) providing the Supplier and/or the Replacement Supplier with access to such members of the Supplier's or its Subcontractors' personnel as have been involved in the design, development, provision or management of the Services and who are still employed or engaged by the Supplier or its Sub-contractors.

1.2 The Supplier shall:

- (b) provide a documented plan relating to the training matters referred to in Paragraph 1.1 (k) for agreement by the Authority at the time of termination or expiry of this Agreement;
- (c) co-operate fully in the execution of the handover plan agreed pursuant to Paragraph 1.1 (o), providing skills and expertise of a suitable standard; and
- (d) fully co-operate in the execution of the Authority Database migration plan agreed pursuant to Paragraph 1.1(w), providing skills and expertise of a reasonably acceptable standard.
- 1.3 To facilitate the transfer of knowledge from the Supplier to the Authority and/or its

Replacement Supplier, the Supplier shall provide a detailed explanation of the procedures and operations used to provide the Services, the change management process and other standards and procedures to the operations personnel of the Authority and/or the Replacement Supplier.

- 1.4 The information which the Supplier shall provide to the Authority and/or the Replacement Supplier pursuant to Paragraph 1.1 (y) shall include:
 - (a) copies of up-to-date procedures and operations manuals;
 - (b) product information;
 - (c) agreements with third party suppliers of goods and services which are to be transferred to the Authority and/or the Replacement Supplier;
 - (d) key support contact details for third party supplier personnel under contracts which are to be assigned or novated to the Authority pursuant to this Schedule;
 - (e) information regarding any unresolved faults in progress at the commencement of the Termination Assistance Period as well as those expected to be in progress at the end of the Termination Assistance Period:
 - (f) details of physical and logical security processes and tools which will be available to the Authority; and
 - (g) any relevant interface information.
- 1.5 During the Termination Assistance Period the Supplier shall grant any agent or personnel (including employees, consultants and Suppliers) of the Replacement Supplier and/or the Authority access, during business hours and upon reasonable prior written notice, to any Sites for the purpose of effecting a prompt knowledge transfer provided that:
 - (a) any such agent or personnel (including employees, consultants and suppliers) having access to any Sites pursuant to this Paragraph .5 shall:
 - (i) sign a confidentiality undertaking in favour of the Supplier (in such form as the Supplier shall reasonably require); and
 - (ii) during each period of access comply with the security, systems and facilities operating procedures of the Supplier relevant to such Site and that the Authority deems reasonable; and
 - (b) the Authority and/or the Replacement Supplier shall pay the reasonable, proven and proper costs of the Supplier incurred in facilitating such access.

ANNEX 2: DRAFT ETHICAL WALL AGREEMENT

[THE AUTHORITY]

and

[THE COUNTERPARTY]

ETHICAL WALL AGREEMENT

Between

- (1) **[INSERT NAME OF AUTHORITY]** (the **Authority")** [acting on behalf of the Crown] of [insert Authority's address]; and
- (2) **[NAME OF COUNTERPARTY]** a [company]/[limited liability partnership] registered in England and Wales under registered number [insert registered number] whose registered office is at [insert Counterparty's registered address] (the "Counterparty").

BACKGROUND

- (A) The Authority is obliged to ensure transparency, fairness, non-discrimination and equal treatment in relation to its procurement process pursuant to the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (as amended) (the **PCR**). The purpose of this document ("Agreement") is to define the protocols to be followed to prevent, identify and remedy any conflict of interest (whether actual, potential or perceived) in the context of the Procurement.
- (B) The Authority is conducting a procurement exercise for the [supply/purchase] of [insert details of project/goods/services] (the "Purpose").
- (C) The Authority has an obligation to deal with conflicts of interest as set out in Regulation 24 (1) of the PCR. The concept of conflict of interest is wide. In the PCR it is described as covering at least "any situation where relevant staff members have, directly or indirectly, a financial, economic or other personal interest which might be perceived to compromise their impartiality and independence in the context of the procurement procedure" (Regulation 24(2)). "Staff members" refers to staff members of the Authority or of a procurement service provider acting on behalf of the Authority who are involved in the conduct of the procurement procedure or may influence the outcome of that procedure. "Procurement service provider" refers to a public or private body which offers ancillary purchasing activities on the market.
- (D) Pursuant to Regulation 41 of the PCR, the Authority is under an obligation to ensure that competition is not distorted by the participation of any bidder. Accordingly, the Authority has identified that a potential distortion of competition could arise as a consequence of a bidder wishing to submit a Tender for this procurement, where it has also performed services for the Authority under existing contractual arrangements or as a subcontractor under those same arrangements.
- (E) The parties wish to enter into this Agreement to ensure that a set of management processes, barriers and disciplines are put in place to ensure that conflicts of interest do not arise, and that the Counterparty does not obtain an unfair competitive advantage over Other Bidders.

IT IS AGREED:

1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

1.1 The following words and expressions shall have the following meanings in this agreement and

its recitals:

- "Affiliate" means in relation to a body corporate, any other entity which directly or indirectly Controls, is Controlled by, or is under direct or indirect common Control of that body corporate from time to time;
- "Agreement" means this ethical walls agreement duly executed by the Parties;
- "Bid Team" means any Counterparty, Affiliate, connected to the preparation of an ITT Response;
- "Central Government Body" means a body listed in one of the following subcategories of the Central Government classification of the Public Sector Classification Guide, as published and amended from time to time by the Office for National Statistics:
- (a) Government Department;
- (b) Non-Departmental Public Body or Assembly Sponsored Public Body(advisory, executive, or tribunal);
- (c) Non-Ministerial Department; or
- (d) Executive Agency;
- "Conflicted Personnel" means any Counterparty, Affiliate, staff or agents of the Counterparty or an Affiliate who, because of the Counterparty's relationship with the Authority under any Contract have or have had access to information which creates or may create a conflict of interest;
- "Contract" means the [contract for []] dated [] between the Authority and the Counterparty and/or an Affiliate;
- **"Control"** means the beneficial ownership of more than 50% of the issued share capital of a company or the legal power to direct or cause the direction of the management of the company and **"Controls"** and **"Controlled"** shall be interpreted accordingly;
- "Effective Date" means the date of this Agreement as set out above;
- "Invitation to Tender" or "ITT" means an invitation to submit tenders issued by the Authority as part of an ITT Process;
- "ITT Process" means, with regard to the Purpose, the relevant procedure provided for in the PCR which the Authority has elected to use to select a contractor, together with all relevant information, correspondence and/or documents issued by the Authority as part of that procurement exercise, all information, correspondence and/or documents issued by the bidders in response together with any resulting contract;
- "ITT Response" means the tender submitted or to be submitted by the Counterparty or an Affiliate [(or, where relevant, by an Other Bidder)] in response to an ITT;
- "Other Affiliate" any person who is a subsidiary, subsidiary undertaking or holding company

of any Other Bidder;

- "Other Bidder" means any other bidder or potential bidder that is not the Counterparty or any Affiliate that has or is taking part in the ITT Process;
- "Parties" means the Authority and the Counterparty;
- "Professional Advisor" means a supplier, subcontractor, advisor or consultant engaged by the Counterparty under the auspices of compiling its ITT Response;
- "Purpose" has the meaning given to it in recital (B) to this Agreement;
- "Representative" refers to a person's officers, directors, employees, advisers and agents and, where the context admits, providers or potential providers of finance to the Counterparty or any Affiliate in connection with the ITT Process and the representatives of such providers or potential providers of finance; and
- "Third Party" means any person who is not a Party and includes Other Affiliates and Other Bidders.
- 1.2 Reference to the disclosure of information includes any communication or making available information and includes both direct and indirect disclosure.
- 1.3 Reference to the disclosure of information, or provision of access, by or to the Authority or the Counterparty includes disclosure, or provision of access, by or to the representatives of the Authority or Representatives of the Counterparty (as the case may be).
- 1.4 Reference to persons includes legal and natural persons.
- 1.5 Reference to any enactment is to that enactment as amended, supplemented, re-enacted or replaced from time to time.
- 1.6 Reference to clauses and recitals is to clauses of and recitals to this Agreement.
- 1.7 Reference to any gender includes any other.
- 1.8 Reference to writing includes email.
- 1.9 The terms "associate", "holding company", "subsidiary", "subsidiary undertaking" and "wholly owned subsidiary" have the meanings attributed to them in the Companies Act 2006, except that for the purposes of section
 - 1159(1)(a) of that Act, the words 'holds a majority of the voting rights' shall be changed to 'holds 30% or more of the voting rights', and other expressions shall be construed accordingly.
- 1.10 The words "include" and "including" are to be construed without limitation.
- 1.11 The singular includes the plural and vice versa.
- 1.12 The headings contained in this Agreement shall not affect its construction or interpretation.

2 ETHICAL WALLS

- 2.1 In consideration of the sum of £1 payable by the Authority to the Counterparty, receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, the Counterparty:
 - (a) shall take all appropriate steps to ensure that neither the Counterparty nor its
 Affiliates and/or Representatives are in a position where, in the reasonable opinion
 of the Authority, there is or may be an actual conflict, or a potential conflict,
 between the pecuniary or personal interests of the Counterparty or its Affiliates or
 Representatives and the duties owed to the Authority under the Contract or
 pursuant to an open and transparent ITT Process;
 - (b) acknowledges and agrees that a conflict of interest may arise in situations where the Counterparty or an Affiliate intends to take part in the ITT Process and, because of the Counterparty's relationship with the Authority under any Contract, the Counterparty, its Affiliates and/or Representatives have or have had access to information which could provide the Counterparty and/or its Affiliates with an advantage and render unfair an otherwise genuine and open competitive ITT Process; and
 - (c) where there is or is likely to be a conflict of interest or the perception of a conflict of interest of any kind in relation to the ITT Process, shall comply with Clause .2.

2.2 The Counterparty shall:

- (a) Not assign any of the Conflicted Personnel to the Bid Team at any time;
- (b) Provide to the Authority a complete and up to date list of the Conflicted Personnel and the Bid Team and reissue such list upon any change to it;
- (c) Ensure that by no act or omission by itself, its staff, agents and/or Affiliates results in information of any kind or in any format and however so stored:
 - (i) about the Contract, its performance, operation and all matters connected or ancillary to it becoming available to the Bid Team; and/or
 - (ii) which would or could in the opinion of the Authority confer an unfair advantage on the Counterparty in relation to its participation in the ITT Process becoming available to the Bid Team;
- (d) Ensure that by no act or omission by itself, its staff, agents and/or Affiliates and in particular the Bid Team results in information of any kind or in any format and however so stored about the ITT Process, its operation and all matters connected or ancillary to it becoming available to the Conflicted Personnel;
- (e) Ensure that confidentiality agreements which flow down the Counterparty's obligations in this Agreement are entered into as necessary between the Authority and the Counterparty, its Affiliates, its staff, agents, any Conflicted Personnel, and between any other parties necessary in a form to be prescribed by the Authority;

- (f) physically separate the Conflicted Personnel and the Bid Team, either in separate buildings or in areas with restricted access;
- (g) provide regular training to its staff, agents and its Affiliates to ensure it is complying with this Agreement;
- (h) monitor Conflicted Personnel movements within restricted areas (both physical and electronic online areas) to ensure it is complying with this Agreement ensure adherence to the ethical wall arrangements;
- (i) ensure that the Conflicted Personnel and the Bid Team are line managed and report independently of each other; and
- (j) comply with any other action as the Authority, acting reasonably, may direct.
- 2.3 In addition to the obligations set out in Clause ..1(a) and ..1(c), the Counterparty shall:
 - (a) notify the Authority immediately of all perceived, potential and/or actual conflicts of interest that arise;
 - (b) submit in writing to the Authority full details of the nature of the conflict including (without limitation) full details of the risk assessments undertaken, the impact or potential impact of the conflict, the measures and arrangements that have been established and/or are due to be established to eliminate the conflict and the Counterparty's plans to prevent future conflicts of interests from arising; and
 - (c) seek the Authority's approval thereto,

which the Authority shall have the right to grant, grant conditionally or deny (if the Authority denies its approval the Counterparty shall repeat the process set out in clause .3 until such time as the Authority grants approval or the Counterparty withdraws from the ITT Process).

- 2.4 Any breach of Clause .1, Clause .2 or Clause .3 shall entitle the Authority to exclude the Counterparty or any Affiliate or Representative from the ITT Process, and the Authority may, in addition to the right to exclude, take such other steps as it deems necessary where, in the reasonable opinion of the Authority there has been a breach of Clause .1, Clause .2 or Clause .3.
- 2.5 The Counterparty will provide, on demand, any and all information in relation to its adherence with its obligations set out under Clauses .1 and .2 as reasonably requested by the Authority.
- 2.6 The Authority reserves the right to require the Counterparty to demonstrate the measures put in place by the Counterparty under Clauses ..1(c) and .2.
- 2.7 The Counterparty acknowledges that any provision of information or demonstration of measures, in accordance with Clauses .5 and .6, does not constitute acceptance by the Authority of the adequacy of such measures and does not discharge the Counterparty of its obligations or liability under this Agreement.
- 2.8 The actions of the Authority pursuant to Clause .4 shall not prejudice or affect any right of action or remedy which shall have accrued or shall thereafter accrue to the Authority.
- 2.9 In no event shall the Authority be liable for any bid costs incurred by:
 - (a) the Counterparty or any Affiliate or Representative; or
 - (b) any Other Bidder, Other Affiliate or Other Representative,

as a result of any breach by the Counterparty, Affiliate or Representative of this Agreement, including, without limitation, where the Counterparty or any Affiliate or Representative, or any Other Bidder, Other Affiliate or Other Representative are excluded from the ITT Process.

- 2.10 The Counterparty acknowledges and agrees that:
 - (a) neither damages nor specific performance are adequate remedies in the event of its breach of the obligations in clause 0; and
 - (b) in the event of such breach by the Counterparty of any of its obligations in clause
 0 which cannot be effectively remedied the Authority shall have the right to
 terminate this Agreement and the Counterparty's participation in the ITT Process.

3 SOLE RESPONSIBILITY

3.1 It is the sole responsibility of the Counterparty to comply with the terms of this Agreement. No approval by the Authority of any procedures, agreements or arrangements provided by the Counterparty or any Affiliate or Representative to the Authority shall discharge the Counterparty's obligations.

4 WAIVER AND INVALIDITY

- 4.1 No failure or delay by any Party in exercising any right, power or privilege under this Agreement or by law shall constitute a waiver of that or any other right, power or privilege, nor shall it restrict the further exercise of that or any other right, power or privilege. No single or partial exercise of such right, power or privilege shall prevent or restrict the further exercise of that or any other right, power or privilege.
- 4.2 If any provision of this Agreement is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction in relation to any Party, such prohibition or unenforceability will not invalidate the remaining provisions of this Agreement or affect the validity or enforceability of the provisions of this Agreement in relation to any other Party or any other jurisdiction.

5 ASSIGNMENT AND NOVATION

- 5.1 Subject to clause 1.2 the Parties shall not assign, novate or otherwise dispose of or create any trust in relation to any or all of its rights, obligations or liabilities under this Agreement without the prior written consent of the Authority.
- 5.2 The Authority may assign, novate or otherwise dispose of any or all of its rights, obligations and liabilities under this Agreement and/or any associated licences to:
 - (a) any Central Government Body; or
 - (b) to a body other than a Central Government Body (including any private sector body) which performs any of the functions that previously had been performed by the Authority; and
 - (c) the Counterparty shall, at the Authority's request, enter into a novation agreement in such form as the Authority may reasonably specify in order to enable the Authority to exercise its rights pursuant to this Clause 0.

5.3 A change in the legal status of the Authority such that it ceases to be a Central Government Body shall not affect the validity of this Agreement and this Agreement shall be binding on any successor body to the Authority.

6 CONTRACTS (RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES) ACT 1999

6.1 A person who is not a Party to this Agreement has no right under the Contract (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 (as amended, updated or replaced from time to time) to enforce any term of this Agreement but this does not affect any right remedy of any person which exists or is available otherwise than pursuant to that Act.

7 TRANSPARENCY

7.1 The parties acknowledge and agree that the Authority is under a legal duty pursuant to the PCR to run transparent and fair procurement processes. Accordingly, the Authority may disclose the contents of this Agreement to potential bidders in the ITT Process, for the purposes of transparency and in order to evidence that a fair procurement process has been followed.

8 NOTICES

- 8.1 Any notices sent under this Agreement must be in writing.
- 8.2 The following table sets out the method by which notices may be served under this Agreement and the respective deemed time and proof of service:

Manner of Delivery	Deemed time of service	Proof of service
Email	9.00am on the first Working Day after sending	Dispatched as a pdf attachment to an e-mail to the correct e-mail address without any error message.
Personal delivery	On delivery, provided delivery is between 9.00am and 5.00pm on a Working Day. Otherwise, delivery will occur at 9.00am on the next Working Day.	Properly addressed and delivered as evidenced by signature of a delivery receipt.
Prepaid, Royal Mail Signed For™ 1st Class or other prepaid, next working day service providing proof of delivery.	At the time recorded by the delivery service, provided that delivery is between 9.00am and 5.00pm on a Working Day. Otherwise, delivery will occur at 9.00am on the same Working Day (if delivery before 9.00am) or on the next Working Day (if after 5.00pm).	Properly addressed prepaid and delivered as evidenced by signature of a delivery receipt.

8.3 Notices shall be sent to the addresses set out below or at such other address as the relevant party may give notice to the other party for the purpose of service of notices under this Agreement:

	Counterparty	Authority
Contact		
Address		
Email		

8.4 This Clause 8 does not apply to the service of any proceedings or other documents in any legal action or other method of dispute resolution.

9 WAIVER AND CUMULATIVE REMEDIES

- 9.1 The rights and remedies under this Agreement may be waived only by notice and in a manner that expressly states that a waiver is intended. A failure or delay by a Party in ascertaining or exercising a right or remedy provided under this Agreement or by law shall not constitute a waiver of that right or remedy, nor shall it prevent or restrict the further exercise of that or any other right or remedy. No single or partial exercise of any right or remedy shall prevent or restrict the further exercise of that or any other right or remedy.
- 9.2 Unless otherwise provided in this Agreement, rights and remedies under this Agreement are cumulative and do not exclude any rights or remedies provided by law, in equity or otherwise.

10 TERM

10.1 Each party's obligations under this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect for period of [] years from the Effective Date.

11 GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION

- 11.1 This Agreement and any issues, disputes or claims (whether contractual or non-contractual) arising out of or in connection with it or its subject matter or formation shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of England and Wales.
- 11.2 The Parties agree that the courts of England and Wales shall have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute or claim (whether contractual or noncontractual) that arises out of or in connection with this Agreement or its subject matter or formation.

Signed by the Authority	Name:
	Signature:
	Position in Authority:

Counterparty Signed by the Name:	
	Signature:
	Position in Counterparty:

ANNEX 3: SUPPLIER SOLUTION EXIT MANAGEMENT EXTRACT

Redacted' Under FOIA Section 40, Personal Information for the Supplies

ANNEX 4: DRAFT EXIT MANAGEMENT PLAN

Official - Sensitive

SCHEDULE 8.6

SERVICE CONTINUITY PLAN AND CORPORATE RESOLUTION PLANNING

PART A: SERVICE CONTINUITY PLAN

1 DEFINITIONS

1.1 In this Schedule, the definitions set out in Schedule 1 (Definitions) shall apply:

2 SERVICE CONTINUITY PLAN

- 2.1 Within 40 Working Days from the Effective Date the Supplier shall prepare and deliver to the Authority for the Authority's written approval a plan, which shall detail the processes and arrangements that the Supplier shall follow to:
 - (a) ensure continuity of the business processes and operations supported by the Services following any failure or disruption of any element of the Services (including where caused by an Insolvency Event of the Supplier, any Key Sub-contractor and/or any Supplier Group member); and
 - (b) the recovery of the Services in the event of a Disaster.
- 2.2 The Service Continuity Plan shall:
 - (a) be divided into four parts:
 - (i) Part A which shall set out general principles applicable to the Service Continuity Plan;
 - (ii) Part B which shall relate to business continuity (the "Business Continuity Plan");
 - (iii) Part C which shall relate to disaster recovery (the "Disaster Recovery Plan");
 - (iv) Part D which shall relate to an Insolvency Event of the Supplier, any Key Sub-contractors and/or any Supplier Group member (the "Insolvency Continuity Plan"); and
 - (b) unless otherwise required by the Authority in writing, be based upon and be consistent with the provisions of Paragraphs 3, 4, 5 and 6.
- 2.3 Following receipt of the draft Service Continuity Plan from the Supplier, the Authority shall:
 - (a) review and comment on the draft Service Continuity Plan as soon as reasonably practicable; and
 - (b) notify the Supplier in writing that it approves or rejects the draft Service Continuity Plan no later than 20 Working Days after the date on which the draft Service Continuity Plan is first delivered to the Authority.
- 2.4 If the Authority rejects the draft Service Continuity Plan:
 - (a) the Authority shall inform the Supplier in writing of its reasons for its rejection; and
 - (b) the Supplier shall then revise the draft Service Continuity Plan (taking reasonable account of the Authority's comments) and shall re-submit a

revised draft Service Continuity Plan to the Authority for the Authority's approval within 20 Working Days of the date of the Authority's notice of rejection. The provisions of Paragraph 2.3 and this Paragraph 2.4 shall apply again to any resubmitted draft Service Continuity Plan, provided that either Party may refer any disputed matters for resolution by the Dispute Resolution Procedure at any time.

3 SERVICE CONTINUITY PLAN: PART A - GENERAL PRINCIPLES AND REQUIREMENTS

- 3.1 Part A of the Service Continuity Plan shall:
 - (a) set out how the business continuity, disaster recovery and insolvency continuity elements of the plan link to each other;
 - (b) provide details of how the invocation of any element of the Service Continuity Plan may impact upon the operation of the Services and any services provided to the Authority by a Related Service Provider;
 - (c) contain an obligation upon the Supplier to liaise with the Authority and (at the Authority's request) any Related Service Provider with respect to issues concerning business continuity, disaster recovery and insolvency continuity where applicable;
 - (d) detail how the Service Continuity Plan links and interoperates with any overarching and/or connected disaster recovery, business continuity and/or insolvency continuity plan of the Authority and any of its other Related Service Providers in each case as notified to the Supplier by the Authority from time to time;
 - (e) contain a communication strategy including details of an incident and problem management service and advice and help desk facility which can be accessed via multi-channels (including but without limitation a web-site (with FAQs), e-mail, phone and fax) for both portable and desk top configurations, where required by the Authority;
 - (f) contain a risk analysis, including:
 - (i) failure or disruption scenarios and assessments and estimates of frequency of occurrence;
 - (ii) identification of any single points of failure within the Services and processes for managing the risks arising therefrom;
 - (iii) identification of risks arising from the interaction of the Services with the services provided by a Related Service Provider;
 - (iv) identification of risks arising from an Insolvency Event of the Supplier, any Key Sub-contractors and/or Supplier Group member; and
 - a business impact analysis (detailing the impact on business processes and operations) of different anticipated failures or disruptions;
 - (g) provide for documentation of processes, including business processes,

and procedures;

- (h) set out key contact details (including roles and responsibilities) for the Supplier (and any Sub-contractors) and for the Authority;
- (i) identify the procedures for reverting to "normal service";
- (j) set out method(s) of recovering or updating data collected (or which ought to have been collected) during a failure or disruption to ensure that there is no more than the accepted amount of data loss and to preserve data integrity;
- (k) identify the responsibilities (if any) that the Authority has agreed it will assume in the event of the invocation of the Service Continuity Plan; and
- (I) provide for the provision of technical advice and assistance to key contacts at the Authority as notified by the Authority from time to time to inform decisions in support of the Authority's business continuity plans.
- 3.2 The Service Continuity Plan shall be designed so as to ensure that:
 - (a) the Services are provided in accordance with this Agreement at all times during and after the invocation of the Service Continuity Plan;
 - (b) the adverse impact of any Disaster; service failure; an Insolvency Event of the Supplier, any Key Sub-contractor and/or any Supplier Group member; or disruption on the operations of the Authority, is minimal as far as reasonably possible;
 - (c) it complies with the relevant provisions of ISO/IEC 22301 and all other industry standards from time to time in force; and
 - (d) there is a process for the management of disaster recovery testing detailed in the Service Continuity Plan.
- 3.3 The Service Continuity Plan shall be upgradeable and sufficiently flexible to support any changes to the Services, to the business processes facilitated by and the business operations supported by the Services, and/or changes to the Supplier Group structure.
- 3.4 The Supplier shall not be entitled to any relief from its obligations under the Performance Indicators or to any increase in the Charges to the extent that a Disaster occurs as a consequence of any breach by the Supplier of this Agreement.

4 SERVICE CONTINUITY PLAN: PART B - BUSINESS CONTINUITY PRINCIPLES AND CONTENTS

- 4.1 The Business Continuity Plan shall set out the arrangements that are to be invoked to ensure that the business processes and operations facilitated by the Services remain supported and to ensure continuity of the business operations supported by the Services including, unless the Authority expressly states otherwise in writing:
 - (a) the alternative processes (including business processes), options and responsibilities that may be adopted in the event of a failure in or disruption to the Services; and

- (b) the steps to be taken by the Supplier upon resumption of the Services in order to address any prevailing effect of the failure or disruption including a root cause analysis of the failure or disruption.
- 4.2 The Business Continuity Plan shall:
 - (a) address the various possible levels of failures of or disruptions to the Services;
 - (b) set out the services to be provided and the steps to be taken to remedy the different levels of failures of and disruption to the Services (such services and steps, the "Business Continuity Services");
 - (c) specify any applicable Performance Indicators with respect to the provision of the Business Continuity Services and details of any agreed relaxation to the Performance Indicators in respect of other Services during any period of invocation of the Business Continuity Plan; and
 - (d) clearly set out the conditions and/or circumstances under which the Business Continuity Plan is invoked.

5 SERVICE CONTINUITY PLAN: PART C - DISASTER RECOVERY PRINCIPLES AND CONTENTS

- 5.1 The Disaster Recovery Plan shall be designed so as to ensure that upon the occurrence of a Disaster the Supplier ensures continuity of the business operations of the Authority supported by the Services following any Disaster or during any period of service failure or disruption with, as far as reasonably possible, minimal adverse impact.
- 5.2 The Disaster Recovery Plan shall be invoked only upon the occurrence of a Disaster.
- 5.3 The Disaster Recovery Plan shall include the following:
 - (a) the technical design and build specification of the Disaster Recovery System;
 - (b) details of the procedures and processes to be put in place by the Supplier in relation to the Disaster Recovery System and the provision of the Disaster Recovery Services and any testing of the same including but not limited to the following:
 - (i) data center and disaster recovery site audits;
 - (ii) backup methodology and details of the Supplier's approach to data back-up and data verification;
 - (iii) identification of all potential disaster scenarios;
 - (iv) risk analysis;
 - (v) documentation of processes and procedures;
 - (vi) hardware configuration details;
 - (vii) network planning including details of all relevant data networks and

communication links;

- (viii) invocation rules;
- (ix) Service recovery procedures; and
- (x) steps to be taken upon resumption of the Services to address any prevailing effect of the failure or disruption of the Services;
- (c) any applicable Performance Indicators with respect to the provision of the Disaster Recovery Services and details of any agreed relaxation to the Performance Indicators in respect of other Services during any period of invocation of the Disaster Recovery Plan;
- (d) details of how the Supplier shall ensure compliance with security standards ensuring that compliance is maintained for any period during which the Disaster Recovery Plan is invoked;
- (e) access controls to any disaster recovery sites used by the Supplier in relation to its obligations pursuant to this Schedule; and
- (f) testing and management arrangements.

6 SERVICE CONTINUITY PLAN: PART D - INSOLVENCY CONTINUITY PLAN PRINCIPLES AND CONTENTS

- 6.1 The Insolvency Continuity Plan shall be designed by the Supplier to permit continuity of the business operations of the Authority supported by the Services through continued provision of the Services following an Insolvency Event of the Supplier, any Key Sub-contractor and/or any Supplier Group member with, as far as reasonably possible, minimal adverse impact.
- 6.2 The Insolvency Continuity Plan shall include the following:
 - (a) communication strategies which are designed to minimise the potential disruption to the provision of the Services, including key contact details in respect of the supply chain and key contact details for operational and contract Supplier Personnel, Key Sub-contractor personnel and Supplier Group member personnel;
 - (b) identification, explanation, assessment and an impact analysis of risks in respect of dependencies between the Supplier, Key Subcontractors and Supplier Group members where failure of those dependencies could reasonably have an adverse impact on the Services;
 - (c) plans to manage and mitigate identified risks;
 - (d) details of the roles and responsibilities of the Supplier, Key Subcontractors and/or Supplier Group members to minimise and mitigate the effects of an Insolvency Event of such persons on the Services;
 - details of the recovery team to be put in place by the Supplier (which may include representatives of the Supplier, Key Subcontractors and Supplier Group members); and
 - (f) sufficient detail to enable an appointed insolvency practitioner to invoke

the plan in the event of an Insolvency Event of the Supplier.

7 REVIEW AND AMENDMENT OF THE SERVICE CONTINUITY PLAN

- 7.1 The Supplier shall review and update the Service Continuity Plan (and the risk analysis on which it is based):
 - (a) on a regular basis and as a minimum once every 2 months;
 - (b) within three calendar months of the Service Continuity Plan (or any part) having been invoked pursuant to Paragraph 9;
 - (c) within 14 days of a Financial Distress Event;
 - (d) within 30 days of a Corporate Change Event; and
 - (e) where the Authority requests any additional reviews (over and above those provided for in Paragraphs 7.1(a) to 7.1(d)) by notifying the Supplier to such effect in writing, whereupon the Supplier shall conduct such reviews in accordance with the Authority's written requirements. Prior to starting its review, the Supplier shall provide an accurate written estimate of the total costs payable by the Authority for the Authority's approval. The costs of both Parties of any such additional reviews shall be met by the Authority except that the Supplier shall not be entitled to charge the Authority for any costs that it may incur above any estimate without the Authority's prior written approval.
- 7.2 Each review of the Service Continuity Plan pursuant to Paragraph 7.1 shall be a review of the procedures and methodologies set out in the Service Continuity Plan and shall assess their suitability having regard to any change to the Services or any underlying business processes and operations facilitated by or supported by the Services which have taken place since the later of the original approval of the Service Continuity Plan or the last review of the Service Continuity Plan and shall also have regard to any occurrence of any event since that date (or the likelihood of any such event taking place in the foreseeable future) which may increase the likelihood of the need to invoke the Service Continuity Plan. The review shall be completed by the Supplier within the period required by the Service Continuity Plan or, if no such period is required, within such period as the Authority shall reasonably require. The Supplier shall, within 20 Working Days of the conclusion of each such review of the Service Continuity Plan, provide to the Authority a report (a "Review Report") setting out:
 - (a) the findings of the review;
 - (b) any changes in the risk profile associated with the Services; and
 - the Supplier's proposals (the "Supplier's Proposals") for addressing any changes in the risk profile and its proposals for amendments to the Service Continuity Plan following the review detailing the impact (if any and to the extent that the Supplier can reasonably be expected to be aware of the same) that the implementation of such proposals may have on any services or systems provided by a third party.
- 7.3 Following receipt of the Review Report and the Supplier's Proposals, the Authority shall:

- (a) review and comment on the Review Report and the Supplier's Proposals as soon as reasonably practicable; and
- (b) notify the Supplier in writing that it approves or rejects the Review Report and the Supplier's Proposals no later than 20 Working Days after the date on which they are first delivered to the Authority.
- 7.4 If the Authority rejects the Review Report and/or the Supplier's Proposals:
 - (a) the Authority shall inform the Supplier in writing of its reasons for its rejection; and
 - (b) the Supplier shall then revise the Review Report and/or the Supplier's Proposals as the case may be (taking reasonable account of the Authority's comments and carrying out any necessary actions in connection with the revision) and shall re-submit a revised Review Report and/or revised Supplier's Proposals to the Authority for the Authority's approval within 20 Working Days of the date of the Authority's notice of rejection. The provisions of Paragraph 7.3 and this Paragraph 7.4 shall apply again to any resubmitted Review Report and Supplier's Proposals, provided that either Party may refer any disputed matters for resolution by the Dispute Resolution Procedure at any time.
- 7.5 The Supplier shall as soon as is reasonably practicable after receiving the Authority's approval of the Supplier's Proposals (having regard to the significance of any risks highlighted in the Review Report) effect any change in its practices or procedures necessary so as to give effect to the Supplier's Proposals. Any such change shall be at the Supplier's expense unless it can be reasonably shown that the changes are required because of a material change to the risk profile of the Services.

8 TESTING OF THE SERVICE CONTINUITY PLAN

- 8.1 The Supplier shall test the Service Continuity Plan on a regular basis (and in any event not less than once in every Contract Year). Subject to Paragraph 8.2, the Authority may require the Supplier to conduct additional tests of some or all aspects of the Service Continuity Plan at any time where the Authority considers it necessary, including where there has been any change to the Services or any underlying business processes, or on the occurrence of any event which may increase the likelihood of the need to implement the Service Continuity Plan.
- 8.2 If the Authority requires an additional test of the Service Continuity Plan, it shall give the Supplier written notice and the Supplier shall conduct the test in accordance with the Authority's requirements and the relevant provisions of the Service Continuity Plan. The Supplier's costs of the additional test shall be borne by the Authority unless the Service Continuity Plan fails the additional test in which case the Supplier's costs of that failed test shall be borne by the Supplier.
- 8.3 The Supplier shall undertake and manage testing of the Service Continuity Plan in full consultation with the Authority and shall liaise with the Authority in respect of the planning, performance, and review, of each test, and shall comply with the reasonable requirements of the Authority in this regard. Each test shall be carried out under the supervision of the Authority or its nominee.

- The Supplier shall ensure that any use by it or any Sub-contractor of "live" data in such testing is first approved with the Authority. Copies of live test data used in any such testing shall be (if so required by the Authority) destroyed or returned to the Authority on completion of the test.
- The Supplier shall, within 20 Working Days of the conclusion of each test, provide to the Authority a report setting out:
 - (a) the outcome of the test;
 - (b) any failures in the Service Continuity Plan (including the Service Continuity Plan's procedures) revealed by the test; and
 - (c) the Supplier's proposals for remedying any such failures.
- Following each test, the Supplier shall take all measures requested by the Authority, (including requests for the re-testing of the Service Continuity Plan) to remedy any failures in the Service Continuity Plan and such remedial activity and re-testing shall be completed by the Supplier, at no additional cost to the Authority, by the date reasonably required by the Authority and set out in such notice.
- 8.7 For the avoidance of doubt, the carrying out of a test of the Service Continuity Plan (including a test of the Service Continuity Plan's procedures) shall not relieve the Supplier of any of its obligations under this Agreement.
- 8.8 The Supplier shall also perform a test of the Service Continuity Plan in the event of any major reconfiguration of the Services or as otherwise reasonably requested by the Authority.

9 INVOCATION OF THE SERVICE CONTINUITY PLAN

- In the event of a loss of any critical part of the Service or a Disaster, the Supplier shall immediately invoke the business continuity and disaster recovery provisions in the Service Continuity Plan, including any linked elements in other parts of the Service Continuity Plan, and shall inform the Authority promptly of such invocation. In all other instances the Supplier shall invoke the business continuity and disaster recovery plan elements only with the prior consent of the Authority.
- 9.2 The Insolvency Continuity Plan element of the Service Continuity Plans, including any linked elements in other parts of the Service Continuity Plan, shall be invoked by the Supplier:
 - (a) where an Insolvency Event of a Key Sub-contractor and/or Supplier Group member (other than the Supplier) could reasonably be expected to adversely affect delivery of the Services; and/or
 - (b) where there is an Insolvency Event of the Supplier and the insolvency arrangements enable the Supplier to invoke the plan.

PART B: CORPORATE RESOLUTION PLANNING

10 Service Status and Supplier Status

- 10.1 This Agreement is a Critical Service Contract.
- 10.2 The Supplier shall notify the Authority in writing within 5 Working Days of the Effective Date and throughout the Term within 120 days after each Accounting Reference Date as to whether or not it is a Public Sector Dependent Supplier.

11 Provision of Corporate Resolution Planning Information

- 11.1 Paragraphs 11 to 13 of this Part B shall apply if this Agreement has been specified as a Critical Service Contract under Paragraph 10.1 of this Part B or the Supplier is or becomes a Public Sector Dependent Supplier.
- 11.2 Subject to Paragraphs 11.6, 11.10 and 11.11 of this Part B:
 - (a) where this Agreement is a Critical Service Contract, the Supplier shall provide the Relevant Authority or Relevant Authorities with the CRP Information within 60 days of the Effective Date; and
 - (b) except where it has already been provided in accordance with Paragraph 11.2(a) of this Part B, where the Supplier is a Public Sector Dependent Supplier, it shall provide the Relevant Authority or Relevant Authorities with the CRP Information within 60 days of the date of the Relevant Authority's or Relevant Authorities' request.
- 11.3 The Supplier shall ensure that the CRP Information provided pursuant to Paragraphs 11.2, 11.8 and 11.9 of this Part B:
 - (a) is full, comprehensive, accurate and up to date;
 - (b) is split into two parts:
 - (i) Group Structure Information and Resolution Commentary;
 - (ii) UK Public Service / CNI Contract Information and is structured and presented in accordance with the requirements and explanatory notes set out at Annex I of the latest published version of the Resolution Planning Guidance published by the Cabinet Office Government Commercial Function and available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-outsourcing- playbook and contains the level of detail required (adapted as necessary to the Supplier's circumstances);
 - (c) incorporates any additional commentary, supporting documents and evidence which would reasonably be required by the Relevant Authority or Relevant Authorities to understand and consider the information for approval;
 - (d) provides a clear description and explanation of the Supplier Group members that have agreements for goods, services or works provision in respect of UK Public Sector Business and/or Critical National Infrastructure and the nature of those agreements; and

- (e) complies with the requirements set out at Annex 1 (Group Structure Information and Resolution Commentary) and Annex 2 (UK Public Sector / CNI Contract Information) respectively.
- 11.4 Following receipt by the Relevant Authority or Relevant Authorities of the CRP Information pursuant to Paragraphs 11.2, 11.8 and 11.9 of this Part B, the Authority shall procure that the Relevant Authority or Relevant Authorities discuss in good faith the contents of the CRP Information with the Supplier and no later than 60 days after the date on which the CRP Information was delivered by the Supplier either provide an Assurance to the Supplier that Relevant Authority or Relevant Authorities approve the CRP Information or that Relevant Authority or Relevant Authorities reject the CRP Information.
- 11.5 If the Relevant Authority or Relevant Authorities reject the CRP Information:
 - (a) the Authority shall (and shall procure that the Cabinet Office Markets and Suppliers Team shall) inform the Supplier in writing of its reasons for its rejection; and
 - (b) the Supplier shall revise the CRP Information, taking reasonable account of the Relevant Authority's or Relevant Authorities' comments, and shall re-submit the CRP Information to the Relevant Authority or Relevant Authorities for approval within 30 days of the date of the Relevant Authority's or Relevant Authorities' rejection. The provisions of paragraph 11.3 to 11.5 of this Part B shall apply again to any resubmitted CRP Information provided that either Party may refer any disputed matters for resolution by the Dispute Resolution Procedure at any time.
- 11.6 Where the Supplier or a member of the Supplier Group has already provided CRP Information to a Department or the Cabinet Office Markets and Suppliers Team (or, in the case of a Strategic Supplier, solely to the Cabinet Office Markets and Suppliers Team) and has received an Assurance of its CRP Information from that Department and the Cabinet Office Markets and Suppliers Team (or, in the case of a Strategic Supplier, solely from the Cabinet Office Markets and Suppliers Team), then provided that the Assurance remains Valid on the date by which the CRP Information would otherwise be required, the Supplier shall not be required to provide the CRP Information under Paragraph 11.2 if it provides a copy of the Valid Assurance to the Relevant Authority or Relevant Authorities on or before the date on which the CRP Information would otherwise have been required.
- 11.7 An Assurance shall be deemed Valid for the purposes of Paragraph 11.6 of this Part B if:
 - (a) the Assurance is within the validity period stated in the Assurance (or, if no validity period is stated, no more than 12 months has elapsed since it was issued and no more than 18 months has elapsed since the Accounting Reference Date on which the CRP Information was based); and
 - (b) no Corporate Change Events or Financial Distress Events (or events which would be deemed to be Corporate Change Events or Financial Distress Events if this Agreement had then been in force) have occurred since the date of issue of the Assurance.

- 11.8 If this Agreement is a Critical Service Contract, the Supplier shall provide an updated version of the CRP Information (or, in the case of Paragraph 11.8(c) of this Part B its initial CRP Information) to the Relevant Authority or Relevant Authorities:
 - (a) within 14 days of the occurrence of a Financial Distress Event (along with any additional highly confidential information no longer exempted from disclosure under Paragraph 11.11 of this Part B) unless the Supplier is relieved of the consequences of the Financial Distress Event under Paragraph 7.1 of Schedule 7.4 (Financial Distress)
 - (b) within 30 days of a Corporate Change Event unless not required pursuant to Paragraph 11.10;
 - (c) within 30 days of the date that:
 - (i) the credit rating(s) of each of the Supplier and its Parent
 Undertakings fail to meet any of the criteria specified in Paragraph
 11.10; or
 - (ii) none of the credit rating agencies specified at Paragraph 11.10 hold a public credit rating for the Supplier or any of its Parent Undertakings; and
 - (d) in any event, within 6 months after each Accounting Reference Date or within 15 months of the date of the previous Assurance received from the Relevant Authority (whichever is the earlier), unless:
 - (i) updated CRP Information has been provided under any of Paragraphs 11.8(a) 11.8(b) or 11.8(c) since the most recent Accounting Reference Date (being no more than 12 months previously) within the timescales that would ordinarily be required for the provision of that information under this Paragraph 11.8(d); or
 - (ii) unless not required pursuant to Paragraph 11.10.
- 11.9 Where the Supplier is a Public Sector Dependent Supplier and this Agreement is not a Critical Service Contract, then on the occurrence of any of the events specified in Paragraphs 11.8(a) to (d) of this Part B, the Supplier shall provide at the request of the Relevant Authority or Relevant Authorities and within the applicable timescales for each event as set out in Paragraph 11.8 (or such longer timescales as may be notified to the Supplier by the Authority), the CRP Information to the Relevant Authority or Relevant Authorities.
- 11.10 Where the Supplier or a Parent Undertaking of the Supplier has a credit rating of either:
 - (a) Aa3 or better from Moody's;
 - (b) AA- or better from Standard and Poors;
 - (c) AA- or better from Fitch;

the Supplier will not be required to provide any CRP Information unless or until either

(i) a Financial Distress Event occurs (unless the Supplier is relieved of the

consequences of the Financial Distress Event under Paragraph 7.1 of Schedule 7.4 *{Financial Distress)}* or (ii) the Supplier and its Parent Undertakings cease to fulfil the criteria set out in this Paragraph 11.10, in which cases the Supplier shall provide the updated version of the CRP Information in accordance with paragraph 11.8.

11.11 Subject to Paragraph 13, where the Supplier demonstrates to the reasonable satisfaction of the Relevant Authority or Relevant Authorities that a particular item of CRP Information is highly confidential, the Supplier may, having orally disclosed and discussed that information with the Relevant Authority or Relevant Authorities, redact or omit that information from the CRP Information provided that if a Financial Distress Event occurs, this exemption shall no longer apply and the Supplier shall promptly provide the relevant information to the Relevant Authority or Relevant Authorities to the extent required under Paragraph 11.8.

12 Termination Rights

- 12.1 The Authority shall be entitled to terminate this Agreement under Clause 33.1(b) (*Termination by the Authority*) if the Supplier is required to provide CRP Information under Paragraph 11 of this Part B and either:
 - (a) the Supplier fails to provide the CRP Information within 4 months of the Effective Date if this is a Critical Service Contract or otherwise within 4 months of the Relevant Authority's or Relevant Authorities' request; or
 - (b) the Supplier fails to obtain an Assurance from the Relevant Authority or Relevant Authorities within 4 months of the date that it was first required to provide the CRP Information under this Agreement.

13 Confidentiality and usage of CRP Information

- 13.1 The Authority agrees to keep the CRP Information confidential and use it only to understand the implications of an Insolvency Event of the Supplier and/or Supplier Group members on its UK Public Sector Business and/or services in respect of CNI and to enable contingency planning to maintain service continuity for end users and protect CNI in such eventuality.
- 13.2 Where the Relevant Authority is the Cabinet Office Markets and Suppliers Team, at the Supplier's request, the Authority shall use reasonable endeavours to procure that the Cabinet Office enters into a confidentiality and usage agreement with the Supplier containing terms no less stringent than those placed on the Authority under paragraph 13.1 of this Part B and Clause 21.
- 13.3 The Supplier shall use reasonable endeavours to obtain consent from any third party which has restricted the disclosure of the CRP Information to enable disclosure of that information to the Relevant Authority or Relevant Authorities pursuant to Paragraph 11 of this Part B subject, where necessary, to the Relevant Authority or Relevant Authorities entering into an appropriate confidentiality agreement in the form required by the third party.
- 13.4 Where the Supplier is unable to procure consent pursuant to Paragraph 13.3 of this Part B, the Supplier shall use all reasonable endeavours to disclose the CRP Information to the fullest extent possible by limiting the amount of information it withholds including by:

- (a) redacting only those parts of the information which are subject to such obligations of confidentiality
- (b) providing the information in a form that does not breach its obligations of confidentiality including (where possible) by:
 - (i) summarising the information;
 - (ii) grouping the information;
 - (iii) anonymising the information; and
 - (iv) presenting the information in general terms
- 13.5 The Supplier shall provide the Relevant Authority or Relevant Authorities with contact details of any third party which has not provided consent to disclose CRP Information where that third party is also a public sector body and where the Supplier is legally permitted to do so.

ANNEX 1: GROUP STRUCTURE INFORMATION AND RESOLUTION COMMENTARY

1. The Supplier shall:

- 1.1 provide sufficient information to allow the Relevant Authority to understand the implications on the Supplier Group's UK Public Sector Business and CNI contracts listed pursuant to Annex 2 if the Supplier or another member of the Supplier Group is subject to an Insolvency Event.
- 1.2 ensure that the information is presented so as to provide a simple, effective and easily understood overview of the Supplier Group; and
- 1.3 provide full details of the importance of each member of the Supplier Group to the Supplier Group's UK Public Sector Business and CNI contracts listed pursuant to Annex 2 and the dependencies between each.

ANNEX 2: UK PUBLIC SECTOR / CNI CONTRACT INFORMATION

- 1. The Supplier shall:
- 1.1 provide details of all agreements held by members of the Supplier Group where those agreements are for goods, services or works provision and:
 - (a) are with any UK public sector bodies including: central Government departments and their arms-length bodies and agencies, non-departmental public bodies, NHS bodies, local authorities, health bodies, police fire and rescue, education bodies and the devolved administrations:
 - (b) are with any private sector entities where the end recipient of the service, goods or works provision is any of the bodies set out in paragraph 1.1.1(a) of this Annex 2 and where the member of the Supplier Group is acting as a key sub-contractor under the agreement with the end recipient; or
 - (c) involve or could reasonably be considered to involve CNI;
- 1.2 provide the Relevant Authority with a copy of the latest version of each underlying contract worth more than £5m per contract year and their related key sub-contracts, which shall be included as embedded documents within the CRP Information or via a directly accessible link.

SCHEDULE 8.7

CONDUCT OF CLAIMS

1 INDEMNITIES

- 1.1 This Schedule shall apply to the conduct, by a Party from whom an indemnity is sought under this Agreement (the "Indemnifier"), of claims made by a third person against a party having (or claiming to have) the benefit of the indemnity (the "Beneficiary").
- 1.2 If the Beneficiary receives any notice of any claim for which it appears that the Beneficiary is, or may become, entitled to indemnification under this Agreement (a "Claim"), the Beneficiary shall give notice in writing to the Indemnifier as soon as reasonably practicable and in any event within 10 Working Days of receipt of the same.
- 1.3 Subject to Paragraph 2, on the giving of a notice by the Beneficiary, where it appears that the Beneficiary is or may be entitled to indemnification from the Indemnifier in respect of all (but not part only) of the liability arising out of the Claim, the Indemnifier shall (subject to providing the Beneficiary with a secured indemnity to its reasonable satisfaction against all costs and expenses that it may incur by reason of such action) be entitled to dispute the Claim in the name of the Beneficiary at the Indemnifier's own expense and take conduct of any defence, dispute, compromise or appeal of the Claim and of any incidental negotiations relating to the Claim. If the Indemnifier does elect to conduct the Claim, the Beneficiary shall give the Indemnifier all reasonable cooperation, access and assistance for the purposes of such Claim and, subject to Paragraph 2.2, the Beneficiary shall not make any admission which could be prejudicial to the defence or settlement of the Claim without the prior written consent of the Indemnifier.
- 1.4 With respect to any Claim conducted by the Indemnifier pursuant to Paragraph 1.3:
 - the Indemnifier shall keep the Beneficiary fully informed and consult with it about material elements of the conduct of the Claim;
 - (b) the Indemnifier shall not bring the name of the Beneficiary into disrepute;
 - (c) the Indemnifier shall not pay or settle such Claim without the prior written consent of the Beneficiary, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed; and
 - (d) the Indemnifier shall conduct the Claim with all due diligence.
- 1.5 The Beneficiary shall be entitled to have conduct of the Claim and shall be free to pay or settle any Claim on such terms as it thinks fit and without prejudice to its rights and remedies under this Agreement if:
 - the Indemnifier is not entitled to take conduct of the Claim in accordance with Paragraph 1.3;
 - (b) the Indemnifier fails to notify the Beneficiary in writing of its intention to take conduct of the relevant Claim within 10 Working Days of the notice from the Beneficiary or if the Indemnifier notifies the Beneficiary in writing that it does not intend to take conduct of the Claim;

(c) the Indemnifier fails to comply in any material respect with the provisions of Paragraph 1.4.

2 SENSITIVE CLAIMS

- 2.1 With respect to any Claim which the Beneficiary, acting reasonably, considers is likely to have an adverse impact on the general public's perception of the Beneficiary (a "Sensitive Claim"), the Indemnifier shall be entitled to take conduct of any defence, dispute, compromise or appeal of the Sensitive Claim only with the Beneficiary's prior written consent. If the Beneficiary withholds such consent and elects to conduct the defence, dispute, compromise or appeal of the Sensitive Claim itself, it shall conduct the Sensitive Claim with all due diligence and if it fails to do so, the Indemnifier shall only be liable to indemnify the Beneficiary in respect of that amount which would have been recoverable by the Beneficiary had it conducted the Sensitive Claim with all due diligence.
- 2.2 The Beneficiary shall be free at any time to give written notice to the Indemnifier that it is retaining or taking over (as the case may be) the conduct of any Claim, to which Paragraph 1.3 applies if, in the reasonable opinion of the Beneficiary, the Claim is, or has become, a Sensitive Claim.

3 RECOVERY OF SUMS

- 3.1 If the Indemnifier pays to the Beneficiary an amount in respect of an indemnity and the Beneficiary subsequently recovers (whether by payment, discount, credit, saving, relief or other benefit or otherwise) a sum which is directly referable to the fact, matter, event or circumstances giving rise to the Claim, the Beneficiary shall forthwith repay to the Indemnifier whichever is the lesser of:
 - (a) an amount equal to the sum recovered (or the value of the discount, credit, saving, relief, other benefit or amount otherwise obtained) less any out-of-pocket costs and expenses properly incurred by the Beneficiary in recovering or obtaining the same; and
 - (b) the amount paid to the Beneficiary by the Indemnifier in respect of the Claim under the relevant indemnity.

4 MITIGATION

4.1 Each of the Authority and the Supplier shall at all times take all reasonable steps to minimise and mitigate any loss for which the relevant Party is entitled to bring a claim against the other Party pursuant to the indemnities in this Schedule.

SCHEDULE 9.1

STAFF TRANSFER

1 **DEFINITIONS**

1.1 In this Schedule, the definitions set out in Schedule 1 (Definitions) shall apply:

2 INTERPRETATION

2.1 Where a provision in this Schedule imposes an obligation on the Supplier to provide an indemnity, undertaking or warranty, the Supplier shall procure that each of its Subcontractors shall comply with such obligation and provide such indemnity, undertaking or warranty to the Authority, Former Supplier, Replacement Supplier or Replacement Sub-contractor, as the case may be.

PART B: TRANSFERRING FORMER SUPPLIER EMPLOYEES AT COMMENCEMENT OF SERVICES

1 TRANSFERRING FORMER SUPPLIER EMPLOYEES

- 1.1 This paragraph 1 shall apply only where the Acquired Rights Directive (or any equivalent or analogous Law) is applicable in the relevant Country or Region. The application of the Acquired Rights Directive (or any equivalent or analogous Law) on the commencement of the provision of the Services or any relevant part of the Services ("the Commencement Date") shall be determined in accordance with the applicable Law as at the Termination Date.
- 1.2 Upon the Commencement Date (such date being termed the "**Transferring Former Supplier Employee Date**"), the provisions of this paragraph 1 will apply:
 - (a) The Authority shall procure that each Former Supplier shall or shall procure that all wages, salaries and other benefits of and all tax deductions, social security payments and national insurance contributions relating thereto in respect of the Former Supplier Personnel up to the Transferring Former Supplier Employee Date are satisfied; and
 - (b) The Authority shall procure that each Former Supplier shall:
 - (i) remain responsible for all the Former Supplier Personnel (other than the Transferring Former Supplier Employees) on or after the Commencement Date and shall indemnify the Supplier against any Loss and/or Claim incurred by the Supplier resulting from any claim whatsoever whether arising before on or after the Transferring Former Supplier Employee Date by or on behalf of any of the Supplier Personnel who do not constitute the Former Transferring Supplier Employees;
 - (ii) in respect of those employees who constitute Transferring Former Supplier Employees, the Authority shall procure that each Former Supplier shall indemnify the Supplier against any Losses incurred by the Supplier resulting from any claim whatsoever by or on behalf of any of the Transferring Former Supplier Employees in respect of the period on or before the Transferring Former Supplier Employee Date (whether any such claim, attributable to the period up to and on the Transferring Former Supplier Employee Date, arises before, on or after the Transferring Former Supplier Employee Date) including, but not limited to, any failure by the Former Supplier to comply with its information and consultation obligations under the Acquired Rights Directive (or any equivalent or analogous Law), even if it does not in fact apply save to the extent that any such failure to comply arises as a result of an act or omission of the Supplier;
 - (iii) on the Transferring Former Supplier Employees Date provide the Authority and any Replacement Supplier with all records concerning the Transferring Former Supplier Employees; and
 - (iv) give to the Supplier all reasonable assistance to establish a mirror payroll system and any relevant tax, social security or national

insurance details in relation to the Transferring Former Supplier Employees.

- 1.3 The provisions in Paragraph 1.2 shall not apply to the extent that the Losses arise or are attributable to an act or omission of the Supplier whether occurring or having its origin before, on or after the Transferring Former Supplier Employee Date including, without limitation, any Losses:
 - (a) arising out of the resignation of any Transferring Former Supplier
 Employee before the Transferring Former Supplier Employee Date on
 account of substantial detrimental changes to his/her working conditions
 proposed by the Supplier or any Sub-contractor to occur in the period from
 (and including) the Transferring Former Supplier Employee Date; or
 - (b) arising from the failure by the Supplier and/or any Sub-contractor to comply with its obligations under the Acquired Rights Directive (or any equivalent or analogous local Law).

2 SUPPLIER INDEMNITIES AND OBLIGATIONS

- 2.1 Subject to Paragraph 2.2, the Supplier shall indemnify the Authority and/or the Former Supplier against any Employee Liabilities arising from or as a result of:
 - (a) any act or omission by the Supplier or any Sub-contractor in respect of any Transferring Former Supplier Employee or any appropriate employee representative of any Transferring Former Supplier Employee whether occurring before, on or after the Relevant Transfer Date;
 - (b) the breach or non-observance by the Supplier or any Sub-contractor on or after the Relevant Transfer Date of:
 - (i) any collective agreement applicable to the Transferring Former Supplier Employee; and/or
 - (ii) any custom or practice in respect of any Transferring Former Supplier Employees which the Supplier or any Sub-contractor is contractually bound to honour;
 - (c) any claim by any trade union or other body or person representing any Transferring Former Supplier Employees arising from or connected with any failure by the Supplier or a Sub-contractor to comply with any legal obligation to such trade union, body or person arising on or after the Relevant Transfer Date;
 - (d) any proposal by the Supplier or a Sub-contractor prior to the Relevant Transfer Date to make changes to the terms and conditions of employment or working conditions of any Transferring Former Supplier Employees to their material detriment on or after their transfer to the Supplier or a Sub-contractor (as the case may be) on the Relevant Transfer Date, or to change the terms and conditions of employment or working conditions of any person who would have been a Transferring Former Supplier Employee but for their resignation (or decision to treat their employment as terminated before the Relevant Transfer Date as a result of or for a reason connected to such proposed changes;

- (e) any statement communicated to or action undertaken by the Supplier or a Sub-contractor to, or in respect of, any Transferring Former Supplier Employee before the Relevant Transfer Date regarding the Relevant Transfer which has not been agreed in advance with the Authority and/or the Former Supplier in writing;
- (f) any proceeding, claim or demand by any statutory or other authority in respect of any financial obligation:
 - (i) in relation to any Transferring Former Supplier Employee, to the extent that the proceeding, claim or demand relates to financial obligations arising on or after the Relevant Transfer Date; and
 - (ii) in relation to any employee who is not a Transferring Former Supplier Employee, and in respect of whom it is later alleged or determined that the Acquired Rights Directive (or any equivalent or analogous Law) applied so as to transfer his/her employment from the Former Supplier to the Supplier or a Sub-contractor, to the extent that the proceeding, claim or demand relates to financial obligations arising on or after the Relevant Transfer Date;
- (g) a failure of the Supplier or any Sub-contractor to discharge or procure the discharge of all wages, salaries and all other benefits and all tax deductions and national insurance contributions (or any equivalent or analogous deductions under local Law) relating to the Transferring Former Supplier Employees in respect of the period from (and including) the Relevant Transfer Date;
- (h) any claim made by or in respect of a Transferring Former Supplier Employee or any appropriate employee representative of any Transferring Former Supplier Employee relating to any act or omission of the Supplier or any Sub-contractor to inform and consult with employees or employee representatives, except to the extent that the liability arises from the Former Supplier's failure to comply with its obligations under the Acquired Rights Directive (or any equivalent or analogous Law); and
- 2.2 The indemnities in Paragraph 2.1 shall not apply to the extent that the Employee Liabilities arise or are attributable to an act or omission of the Former Supplier whether occurring or having its origin before, on or after the Relevant Transfer Date including, without limitation, any Employee Liabilities arising from the Former Supplier's failure to comply with its obligations under the Acquired Rights Directive (or any equivalent or analogous local Law).
- 2.3 The Supplier shall comply, and shall procure that each Sub-contractor shall comply, with all its obligations under the Acquired Rights Directive (or any equivalent or analogous local Law) (including without limitation its obligation to inform and consult) and shall perform and discharge, and shall procure that each Sub-contractor shall perform and discharge, all its obligations in respect of all the Transferring Former Supplier Employees, on and from the Relevant Transfer Date (including the payment of all remuneration, benefits, entitlements and outgoings, all wages, accrued but untaken holiday pay, bonuses, commissions, payments of tax, national insurance contributions and pension contributions and any other sums due which in any case are attributable in whole or in part to the period from (and including) the Relevant Transfer Date) and any necessary apportionments in respect of any periodic payments shall be made between the Supplier and the Former Supplier.

3 INFORMATION

3.1 The Supplier shall, and shall procure that each Sub-contractor shall, promptly provide to the Authority and/or at the Authority's direction, the Former Supplier, in writing such information as is necessary to enable the Authority and/or the Former Supplier to carry out their respective duties under the Acquired Rights Directive (or any equivalent or analogous local Law). The Authority shall procure that the Former Supplier shall promptly provide to the Supplier and each Notified Sub-contractor in writing such information as is necessary to enable the Supplier and each Notified Sub-contractor to carry out their respective duties under the Acquired Rights Directive (or any equivalent or analogous local Law).

4 PROCUREMENT OBLIGATIONS

4.1 Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Part B, where the Authority accepts an obligation to procure that a Former Supplier does or does not do something, such obligation shall be limited so that it extends only to the extent that the Authority's contract with the Former Supplier contains a contractual right in that regard which the Authority may enforce, or otherwise so that it requires only that the Authority must use reasonable endeavours to procure that the Former Supplier does or does not act accordingly.

5 PENSIONS

- 5.1 The Supplier shall, and shall procure that each Sub-contractor shall, where applicable, comply with:
 - (a) the requirements of Part 1 of the Pensions Act 2008, section 258 of the Pensions Act 2004 and the Transfer of Employment (Pension Protection) Regulations 2005 for all transferring staff (or any equivalent or analogous Laws); and
 - (b) Part A (and its Annexes) to this Staff Transfer Schedule.

PART A: UNITED KINGDOM PENSIONS PROVISIONS

1 DEFINITIONS

- 1.1 This Part A has application only in respect of Transferring Former Supplier Employees who both (i) are ordinarily resident in the United Kingdom and (ii) meet the criteria to qualify as a Fair Deal Eligible Employee (as defined in paragraph 1.2 below).
- 1.2 In this Part A and Part B, the following words have the following meanings and they shall supplement Schedule 1: Definitions, and shall be deemed to include the definitions set out in the Annexes to this Part A:

"Actuary" a Fellow of the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries;

"Admission Agreement" either or both of the CSPS Admission Agreement (as defined in Annex A1: CSPS) or the LGPS Admission

Agreement) as defined in Annex A3: LGPS), as the

context requires;

"Best Value Direction" the Best Value Authorities Staff Transfers (Pensions)

Direction 2007 or the Welsh Authorities Staff Transfers (Pensions) Direction 2012 (as appropriate);

"Broadly Comparable"

- (a) in respect of a pension scheme, a status satisfying the condition that there are no identifiable employees who will suffer material detriment overall in terms of future accrual of pension benefits as assessed in accordance with Annex A of New Fair Deal and demonstrated by the issue by the Government Actuary's Department of a broad comparability certificate: and/or
- (b) in respect of benefits provided for or in respect of a member under a pension scheme, benefits that are consistent with that pension scheme's certificate of broad comparability issued by the Government Actuary's Department,

and "Broad Comparability" shall be construed accordingly;

"CSPS" the schemes as defined in Annex A1 to this Part A;

"Direction
Letter/Determination"

has the meaning in Annex A2 to this Part A;

"Fair Deal Eligible Employees"

means each of the CSPS Eligible Employees, the NHSPS Eligible Employees and/or the LGPS Eligible Employees (as applicable) (and shall include any such employee who has been admitted to and/or remains eligible to join a Broadly Comparable pension scheme

at the relevant time in accordance with paragraph 10 or 11 of this Part A);

"Fair Deal Employees" any of:

- (a) Transferring Authority Employees;
- (b) Transferring Former Supplier Employees; and/or
- (c) employees who are not Transferring Authority Employees or Transferring Former Supplier Employees but to whom the Acquired Rights Directive (or any equivalent or analogous local Law) apply on the Relevant Transfer Date to transfer their employment to the Supplier or a Sub-Contractor, and whose employment is not terminated in accordance with the provisions of this Schedule 9.1;
- (d) where the Supplier or a Sub-contractor was the Former Supplier, the employees of the Supplier (or Sub-contractor)
- (e) who at the Relevant Transfer Date are or become entitled to New Fair Deal or Best Value Direction protection in respect of any of the Statutory Schemes or a Broadly Comparable pension scheme provided in accordance with paragraph 10 of this Part A as notified by the Authority;

"Fund Actuary" a Fund Actuary as defined in Annex A3 to this Part A;

"LGPS" the scheme as defined in Annex A3 to this Part A; and

"NHSPS" the schemes as defined in Annex A2 to this Part A.

2 PARTICIPATION

- 2.1 In respect of all or any Fair Deal Employees each of Annex A1: CSPS, Annex A2: NHSPS and/or Annex A3: LGPS shall apply, as appropriate.
- 2.2 The Supplier undertakes to do all such things and execute any documents (including any relevant Admission Agreement and/or Direction Letter/Determination, if necessary) as may be required to enable the Supplier to participate in the appropriate Statutory Scheme in respect of the Fair Deal Employees and shall bear its own costs in such regard.

2.3 The Supplier undertakes:

(a) to pay to the Statutory Schemes all such amounts as are due under the relevant Admission Agreement and/or Direction Letter/Determination or otherwise and shall deduct and pay to the Statutory Schemes such employee contributions as are required; and

- (b) subject to paragraph 5 of Annex A3: LGPS to be fully responsible for all other costs, contributions, payments and other amounts relating to its participation in the Statutory Schemes, including for the avoidance of doubt any exit payments and the costs of providing any bond, indemnity or guarantee required in relation to such participation.
- 2.4 Where the Supplier is the Former Supplier (or a Sub-contractor is a sub-contractor of the Former Supplier) and there is no Relevant Transfer of the Fair Deal Employees because they remain continuously employed by the Supplier (or Sub-contractor) at the Operational Service Commencement Date, this Part A and its Annexes shall be modified accordingly so that the Supplier (or Sub-contractor) shall comply with its requirements from the Operational Service Commencement Date or, where it previously provided a Broadly Comparable pension scheme, from the date it is able to close accrual of its Broadly Comparable pension scheme (following appropriate consultation and contractual changes as appropriate) if later. The Supplier (or Sub-contractor) shall make arrangements for a bulk transfer from its Broadly Comparable pension scheme to the relevant Statutory Scheme in accordance with the requirements of the previous contract with the Authority.

3 PROVISION OF INFORMATION

- 3.1 The Supplier undertakes to the Authority:
 - (a) to provide all information which the Authority may reasonably request concerning matters referred to in this Part A as expeditiously as possible;
 - (b) not to issue any announcements to any Fair Deal Employee prior to the Relevant Transfer Date concerning the matters stated in this Part A without the consent in writing of the Authority (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed); and
 - (c) retain such records as would be necessary to manage the pension aspects in relation to any current or former Fair Deal Eligible Employees arising on expiry or termination of this Agreement.

4 INDEMNITIES

- 4.1 The Supplier shall indemnify and keep indemnified the Authority, any Replacement Supplier and/or any Replacement Sub-contractor on demand from and against all and any Losses whatsoever suffered or incurred by it or them which:
 - (a) arise out of or in connection with any liability towards all and any Fair Deal Employees in respect of service on or after the Relevant Transfer Date which arises from any breach by the Supplier of this Part A, and/or the CSPS Admission Agreement and/or the Direction Letter/Determination and/or the LGPS Admission Agreement;
 - (b) relate to the payment of benefits under and/or participation in a pension scheme (as defined in section 150(1) Finance Act 2004) provided by the Supplier or a Sub-contractor on and after the Relevant Transfer Date until the date of termination or expiry of this Agreement, including the Statutory Schemes or any Broadly Comparable pension scheme provided in accordance with paragraphs 10 or 11 of this Part A;
 - (c) relate to claims by Fair Deal Employees of the Supplier and/or of any Subcontractor or by any trade unions, elected employee representatives or

Official - Sensitive

staff associations in respect of all or any such Fair Deal Employees which Losses:

- (i) relate to any rights to benefits under a pension scheme (as defined in section 150(1) Finance Act 2004) in respect of periods of employment on and after the Relevant Transfer Date until the date of termination or expiry of this Agreement;
- (ii) arise out of the failure of the Supplier and/or any relevant Subcontractor to comply with the provisions of this Part A before the date of termination or expiry of this Agreement; and/or
- (d) arise out of or in connection with the Supplier (or its Sub-contractor) allowing anyone who is not an NHSPS Fair Deal Employee to join or claim membership of the NHSPS at any time during the Term.
- 4.2 The indemnities in this Part A and its Annexes:
 - (a) shall survive termination of this Agreement; and
 - (b) shall not be affected by the caps on liability contained in Clause 25 (*Limitation of Liability*).

5 DISPUTES

- 5.1 The Dispute Resolution Procedure will not apply to any dispute (i) between the Authority and/or the Supplier or (ii) between their respective actuaries and/or the Fund Actuary about any of the actuarial matters referred to in this Part A and its Annexes shall in the absence of agreement between the Authority and/or the Supplier be referred to an independent Actuary:
 - (a) who will act as an expert and not as an arbitrator;
 - (b) whose decision will be final and binding on the Authority and/or the Supplier; and
 - (c) whose expenses shall be borne equally by the Authority and/or the Supplier unless the independent Actuary shall otherwise direct.
- 5.2 The independent Actuary shall be agreed by the Parties or, failing such agreement the independent Actuary shall be appointed by the President for the time being of the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries on the application by the Parties.

6 THIRD PARTY RIGHTS

- 6.1 The Parties agree Clause 43 (*Third Party Rights*) does not apply and that the CRTPA applies to this Part A to the extent necessary to ensure that any Fair Deal Employee will have the right to enforce any obligation in respect of to him or her by the Supplier under this Part A, in his or her or its own right under section 1(1) of the CRTPA.
- 6.2 Further, the Supplier must ensure that the CRTPA will apply to any Sub-contract to the extent necessary to ensure that any Fair Deal Employee will have the right to enforce any obligation owed to them by the Sub-contractor in his or her own right under section 1(1) of the CRTPA.

7 BREACH

- 7.1 The Supplier agrees to notify the Authority should it breach any obligations it has under this Part A and agrees that the Authority shall be entitled to terminate its Agreement for material Default in the event that the Supplier:
 - (a) commits an irremediable breach of any provision or obligation it has under this Part A; or
 - (b) commits a breach of any provision or obligation it has under this Part A which, where capable of remedy, it fails to remedy within a reasonable time and in any event within 28 days of the date of a notice from the Authority giving particulars of the breach and requiring the Supplier to remedy it.

8 TRANSFER TO ANOTHER EMPLOYER/SUB-CONTRACTORS

- 8.1 Save on expiry or termination of this Agreement, if the employment of any Fair Deal Eligible Employee transfers to another employer (by way of a transfer under the Acquired Rights Directive or other form of compulsory transfer of employment), the Supplier shall or shall procure that any relevant Sub-contractor shall:
 - (a) notify the Authority as far as reasonably practicable in advance of the transfer to allow the Authority to make the necessary arrangements for participation with the relevant Statutory Scheme(s);
 - (b) consult with about, and inform those Fair Deal Eligible Employees of, the pension provisions relating to that transfer; and
 - (c) procure that the employer to which the Fair Deal Eligible Employees are transferred (the "New Employer") complies with the provisions of this Part A and its Annexes provided that references to the "Supplier" will become references to the New Employer, references to "Relevant Transfer Date" will become references to the date of the transfer to the New Employer and references to "Fair Deal Employees" will become references to the Fair Deal Eligible Employees so transferred to the New Employer.

9 PENSION ISSUES ON EXPIRY OR TERMINATION

- 9.1 The provisions of Part B: Staff Transfer On Exit (Mandatory) apply in relation to pension issues on expiry or termination of this Agreement.
- 9.2 The Supplier shall (and shall procure that any of its Sub-contractors shall) prior to the termination of this Agreement provide all such co-operation and assistance (including co-operation and assistance from the Broadly Comparable pension scheme's Actuary) as the Replacement Supplier and/or NHS Pension and/or CSPS and/or the relevant Administering Authority and/or the Authority may reasonably require, to enable the Replacement Supplier to participate in the appropriate Statutory Scheme in respect of any Fair Deal Eligible Employee that remains eligible for New Fair Deal protection following a Service Transfer.

10 BROADLY COMPARABLE PENSION SCHEME ON RELEVANT TRANSFER DATE

10.1 If the terms of any of paragraphs 4 of Annex A2: NHSPS or 3.1 of Annex A3: LGPS applies, the Supplier must (and must, where relevant, procure that each of its Subcontractors will) ensure that, with effect from the Relevant Transfer Date until the day before the Service Transfer Date, the relevant Fair Deal Employees will be eligible for membership of a pension scheme under which the benefits are Broadly Comparable

to those provided under the relevant Statutory Scheme, and then on such terms as may be decided by the Authority.

- 10.2 Such Broadly Comparable pension scheme must be:
 - (a) established by the Relevant Transfer Date;
 - (b) a registered pension scheme for the purposes of Part 4 of the Finance Act 2004;
 - capable of receiving a bulk transfer payment from the relevant Statutory Scheme or from a Former Supplier's Broadly Comparable pension scheme (unless otherwise instructed by the Authority);
 - (d) capable of paying a bulk transfer payment to the Replacement Supplier's Broadly Comparable pension scheme (or the relevant Statutory Scheme if applicable) (unless otherwise instructed by the Authority); and
 - (e) maintained until such bulk transfer payments have been received or paid (unless otherwise instructed by the Authority).
- 10.3 Where the Supplier has provided a Broadly Comparable pension scheme pursuant to the provisions of this paragraph 10, the Supplier shall (and shall procure that any of its Sub-contractors shall):
 - (a) supply to the Authority details of its (or its Sub-contractor's) Broadly Comparable pension scheme and provide a full copy of the valid certificate of broad comparability (which remains valid as at the Relevant Transfer Date) covering all relevant Fair Deal Employees, as soon as it is able to do so before the Relevant Transfer Date (where possible) and in any event no later than seven (7) days after receipt of the certificate;
 - (b) be fully responsible for all costs, contributions, payments and other amounts relating to the setting up, certification of, ongoing participation in and/or withdrawal and exit from the Broadly Comparable pension scheme, including for the avoidance of doubt any debts arising under section 75 or 75A of the Pensions Act 1995;
 - instruct any such Broadly Comparable pension scheme's Actuary to provide all such co-operation and assistance in agreeing bulk transfer process with the Actuary to the Former Supplier's Broadly Comparable pension scheme or the Actuary to the relevant Statutory Scheme (as appropriate) and to provide all such co-operation and assistance with any other Actuary appointed by the Authority (where applicable). This will be with a view to the bulk transfer terms providing day for day and/or pound for pound (as applicable) (or actuarially equivalent where there are benefit differences between the two schemes) credits in the Broadly Comparable pension scheme in respect of any Fair Deal Eligible Employee who consents to such a transfer; and
 - (d) provide a replacement Broadly Comparable pension scheme in accordance with this paragraph 10 with immediate effect for those Fair Deal Eligible Employees who are still employed by the Supplier and/or relevant Sub-contractor and are still eligible for New Fair Deal protection in the event that the Supplier and/or Sub-contractor's Broadly Comparable pension scheme is closed to future accrual and/or terminated. The

relevant Fair Deal Eligible Employees must be given the option to transfer their accrued benefits from the previous Broadly Comparable pension scheme to the new Broadly Comparable pension scheme on day for day and/or pound for pound terms (as applicable) (or actuarially equivalent where there are benefit differences between the two schemes).

- 10.4 Where the Supplier has provided a Broadly Comparable pension scheme pursuant to the provisions of this paragraph 10, the Supplier shall (and shall procure that any of its Sub-contractors shall) prior to the termination of this Agreement:
 - allow and make all necessary arrangements to effect, in respect of any (a) Fair Deal Eligible Employee that remains eligible for New Fair Deal protection, following a Service Transfer, the bulk transfer of past service from any such Broadly Comparable pension scheme into the Replacement Supplier's Broadly Comparable pension scheme (or the relevant Statutory Scheme if applicable). The bulk transfer terms provided shall be on a past service reserve basis which should be calculated allowing for projected final salary at the assumed date of retirement, leaving service or death (in the case of final salary benefits). The actuarial basis for this past service reserve basis should be aligned to the funding requirements of the Broadly Comparable pension scheme in place at the time the bulk transfer terms are offered. The bulk transfer terms shall be subject to an underpin in relation to any service credits awarded in the Broadly Comparable pension scheme in accordance with paragraph 10.3(c) such that the element of the past service reserve amount which relates to such service credits shall be no lower than that required by the bulk transfer terms that were agreed in accordance with paragraph 10.3(c) but using the last day of the Fair Deal Eligible Employees' employment with the Supplier or Sub-contractor (as appropriate) as the date used to determine the actuarial assumptions; and
 - (b) if the transfer payment paid by the trustees of the Broadly Comparable pension scheme is less (in the opinion of the Actuary to the Replacement Supplier's Broadly Comparable pension scheme (or to the relevant Statutory Scheme if applicable)) than the transfer payment which would have been paid had paragraph 10.4(a) been complied with, the Supplier shall (or shall procure that the Sub-contractor shall) pay the amount of the difference to the Replacement Supplier's Broadly Comparable pension scheme (or relevant Statutory Scheme if applicable) or as the Authority shall otherwise direct. The Supplier shall indemnify the Authority or the Replacement Supplier's Broadly Comparable pension scheme (or the relevant Statutory Scheme if applicable) (as the Authority directs) for any failure to pay the difference as required under this paragraph.

11 BROADLY COMPARABLE PENSION SCHEME IN OTHER CIRCUMSTANCES

11.1 If the terms of any of paragraphs 2.2 of Annex A1: CSPS, 5.2 of Annex A2: NHSPS and/or 3.2 of Annex A3: LGPS apply, the Supplier must (and must, where relevant, procure that each of its Sub-contractors will) ensure that, with effect from the cessation of participation in the Statutory Scheme, until the day before the Service Transfer Date, the relevant Fair Deal Eligible Employees will be eligible for membership of a pension scheme under which the benefits are Broadly Comparable to those provided under the relevant Statutory Scheme at the date of cessation of participation in the relevant Statutory Scheme, and then on such terms as may be decided by the Authority.

- 11.2 Such Broadly Comparable pension scheme must be:
 - (a) established by the date of cessation of participation in the Statutory Scheme;
 - (b) a registered pension scheme for the purposes of Part 4 of the Finance Act 2004;
 - (c) capable of receiving a bulk transfer payment from the relevant Statutory Scheme (where instructed to do so by the Authority);
 - (d) capable of paying a bulk transfer payment to the Replacement Supplier's Broadly Comparable pension scheme (or the relevant Statutory Scheme if applicable) (unless otherwise instructed by the Authority); and
 - (e) maintained until such bulk transfer payments have been received or paid (unless otherwise instructed by the Authority).
- 11.3 Where the Supplier has provided a Broadly Comparable pension scheme pursuant to the provisions of this paragraph 11, the Supplier shall (and shall procure that any of its Sub-contractors shall):
 - (a) supply to the Authority details of its (or its Sub-contractor's) Broadly Comparable pension scheme and provide a full copy of the valid certificate of broad comparability (which remains valid as at the date of cessation of participation in the Statutory Scheme) covering all relevant Fair Deal Eligible Employees, as soon as it is able to do so before the cessation of participation in the Statutory Scheme (where possible) and in any event no later than seven (7) days after receipt of the certificate;
 - (b) be fully responsible for all costs, contributions, payments and other amounts relating to the setting up, certification of, ongoing participation in and/or withdrawal and exit from the Broadly Comparable pension scheme, including for the avoidance of doubt any debts arising under section 75 or 75A of the Pensions Act 1995; and
 - (c) where required to do so by the Authority, instruct any such Broadly Comparable pension scheme's Actuary to provide all such co-operation and assistance in agreeing a bulk transfer process with the Actuary to the relevant Statutory Scheme and to provide all such co-operation and assistance with any other Actuary appointed by the Authority (where applicable). The Supplier must ensure that day for day and/or pound for pound (as applicable) (or actuarially equivalent where there are benefit differences between the two schemes) credits in the Broadly Comparable pension scheme are provided in respect of any Fair Deal Employee who consents to such a transfer from the Statutory Scheme and the Supplier shall be fully responsible for any costs of providing those credits in excess of the bulk transfer payment received by the Broadly Comparable pension scheme; and
 - (d) provide a replacement Broadly Comparable pension scheme in accordance with this paragraph 11 with immediate effect for those Fair Deal Eligible Employees who are still employed by the Supplier and/or relevant Sub-contractor and are still eligible for New Fair Deal protection in the event that the Supplier and/or Sub-contractor's Broadly Comparable pension scheme is closed to future accrual and/or terminated. The

relevant Fair Deal Eligible Employees must be given the option to transfer their accrued benefits from the previous Broadly Comparable pension scheme to the new Broadly Comparable pension scheme on day for day and/or pound for pound terms (as applicable) (or actuarially equivalent where there are benefit differences between the two schemes).

11.4 Where the Supplier has provided a Broadly Comparable pension scheme pursuant to the provisions of this paragraph 11, the Supplier shall (and shall procure that any of its Sub-contractors shall) prior to the termination of this Agreement allow and make all necessary arrangements to effect, in respect of any Fair Deal Eligible Employee that remains eligible for New Fair Deal protection, following a Service Transfer, the bulk transfer of past service from any such Broadly Comparable pension scheme into the Replacement Supplier's Broadly Comparable pension scheme (or relevant Statutory Scheme if applicable). The bulk transfer terms provided shall be sufficient to secure day for day and/or pound for pound credits (as applicable) (or actuarially equivalent where there are benefit differences between the two schemes) in the Replacement Supplier's Broadly Comparable pension scheme (or relevant Statutory Scheme if applicable). For the avoidance of doubt, should the amount offered by the Broadly Comparable pension scheme be less than the amount required by the Replacement Supplier's Broadly Comparable pension scheme (or the relevant Statutory Scheme if applicable) to fund the required credits ("the Shortfall"), the Supplier or the Subcontractor (as agreed between them) must pay the Replacement Supplier's Broadly Comparable pension scheme (or relevant Statutory Scheme if applicable) the Shortfall as required, provided that in the absence of any agreement between the Supplier and any Sub-contractor, the Shortfall shall be paid by the Supplier. The Supplier shall indemnify the Authority or the Replacement Supplier's Broadly Comparable pension scheme (or the relevant Statutory Scheme if applicable) (as the Authority directs) for any failure to pay the Shortfall under this paragraph.

12 RIGHT OF SET-OFF

- 12.1 The Authority shall have a right to set off against any payments due to the Supplier under this Agreement an amount equal to:
 - (a) any unpaid employer's contributions or employee's contributions or any other financial obligations under the CSPS or any CSPS Admission Agreement in respect of the CSPS Eligible Employees whether due from the Supplier or from any relevant Sub-contractor or due from any third party under any indemnity, bond or guarantee;
 - (b) any unpaid employer's contributions or employee's contributions or any other financial obligations under the NHSPS or any Direction

 Letter/Determination in respect of the NHSPS Eligible Employees whether due from the Supplier or from any relevant Sub-contractor or due from any third party under any indemnity, bond or guarantee; or
 - (c) any unpaid employer's contributions or employee's contributions or any other financial obligations under the LGPS or any LGPS Admission Agreement in respect of the LGPS Eligible Employees whether due from the Supplier or from any relevant Sub-contractor or due from any third party under any indemnity, bond or guarantee;

and shall pay such set off amount to the relevant Statutory Scheme.

12.2	The Authority shall also have a right to set off against any payments due to the Supplier under this Agreement all reasonable costs and expenses incurred by the Authority as result of Paragraphs 12.1 above.							

ANNEX A1: CSPS

1 DEFINITIONS

1.1 In this Annex A1: CSPS to Part A: Pensions, the following words have the following meanings:

"CSPS Admission Agreement"

an admission agreement in the form available on the Civil Service Pensions website immediately prior to the Relevant Transfer Date to be entered into for the CSPS in respect of the Services:

"CSPS Eligible Employee"

any CSPS Fair Deal Employee who at the relevant time is an active member or eligible to participate in the CSPS under a CSPS Admission Agreement;

"CSPS Fair Deal Employee"

a Fair Deal Employee who at the Relevant Transfer Date is or becomes entitled to protection in respect of the CSPS in accordance with the provisions of New Fair Deal:

"CSPS"

the Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme available to Civil Servants and employees of bodies under Schedule 1 of the Superannuation Act 1972 (and eligible employees of other bodies admitted to participate under a determination under section 25 of the Public Service Pensions Act 2013), as governed by rules adopted by Parliament; the Partnership Pension Account and its (i) III health Benefits Arrangements and (ii) Death Benefits Arrangements; the Civil Service Additional Voluntary Contribution Scheme; and "alpha" introduced under The Public Service (Civil Servants and Others) Pensions Regulations 2014.

2 FUTURE SERVICE BENEFITS

- 2.1 In accordance with New Fair Deal, the Supplier and/or any of its Sub-contractors to which the employment of any CSPS Fair Deal Employee compulsorily transfers as a result of either the award of this Agreement or a Relevant Transfer, if not an employer which participates automatically in the CSPS, shall each secure a CSPS Admission Agreement to ensure that CSPS Fair Deal Employees or CSPS Eligible Employees as appropriate shall be either admitted into, or offered continued membership of, the relevant section of the CSPS that they currently contribute to, or were eligible to join immediately prior to the Relevant Transfer Date or became eligible to join on the Relevant Transfer Date. The Supplier and/or any of its Sub-contractors shall procure that the CSPS Fair Deal Employees continue to accrue benefits in the CSPS in accordance with the provisions governing the relevant section of the CSPS for service from (and including) the Relevant Transfer Date.
- 2.2 If the Supplier and/or any of its Sub-contractors enters into a CSPS Admission Agreement in accordance with paragraph 2.1 but the CSPS Admission Agreement is terminated during the term of this Agreement for any reason at a time when the Supplier or Sub-contractor still employs any CSPS Eligible Employees, the Supplier

shall (and procure that its Sub-contractors shall) at no extra cost to the Authority, offer the remaining CSPS Eligible Employees membership of a pension scheme which is Broadly Comparable to the CSPS on the date those CSPS Eligible Employees ceased to participate in the CSPS in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 11 of Part A.

ANNEX A2: NHSPS

1 DEFINITIONS

1.1 In this Annex A2: NHSPS to Part A: Pensions, the following words have the following meanings:

"Direction Letter/Determination"

an NHS Pensions Direction or Determination (as appropriate) issued by the Secretary of State in exercise of the powers conferred by section 7 of the Superannuation (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1967 or by section 25 of the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 (as appropriate) and issued to the Supplier or a Subcontractor of the Supplier (as appropriate) relating to the terms of participation of the Supplier or Subcontractor in the NHSPS in respect of the NHSPS Fair Deal Employees;

"NHS Broadly Comparable Employees"

means each of the Fair Deal Employees who at a Relevant Transfer Date was a member of, or was entitled to become a member of, or but for their compulsory transfer of employment would have been entitled to be or become a member of, the NHSPS as a result of either:

- (a) their employment with the Authority, an NHS Body or other employer which participates automatically in the NHSPS; or
- (b) their employment with a Former Supplier who provides access to either the NHSPS pursuant to a Direction Letter/Determination or to a Broadly Comparable pension scheme in respect of their employment with that Former Supplier (on the basis that they are entitled to protection under New Fair Deal (or previous guidance), having been formerly in employment with the Authority, an NHS Body or other employer who participated automatically in the NHSPS in connection with the Services, prior to being employed by the Former Supplier),

but who is now ineligible to participate in the NHSPS under the rules of the NHSPS and in respect of whom the Authority has agreed are to be provided with a Broadly Comparable pension scheme to provide Pension Benefits that are Broadly Comparable to those provided under the NHSPS.

"NHSPS Eligible Employees"

any NHSPS Fair Deal Employee who at the relevant time is an active member or eligible to participate in the NHSPS under a Direction Letter/Determination Letter.

"NHSPS Fair Deal Employees"

means other than the NHS Broadly Comparable Employees, each of the Fair Deal Employees who at a Relevant Transfer Date was a member of, or was entitled to become a member of, or but for their compulsory transfer of employment would have been entitled to be or become a member of, the NHSPS as a result of either:

- (a) their employment with the Authority, an NHS Body or other employer which participates automatically in the NHSPS; or
- (b) their employment with a Former Supplier who provides access to either the NHSPS pursuant to a Direction Letter/Determination or to a Broadly Comparable pension scheme in respect of their employment with that Former Supplier (on the basis that they are entitled to protection under New Fair Deal (or previous guidance), having been formerly in employment with the Authority, an NHS Body or other employer who participated automatically in the NHSPS in connection with the Services, prior to being employed by the Former Supplier),

and, in each case, being continuously engaged for more than fifty per cent (50%) of their employed time in the delivery of services (the same as or similar to the Services).

For the avoidance of doubt, an individual who is in or entitled to become a member of the NHSPS as a result of being engaged in the Services and being covered by an "open" Direction Letter/Determination or other NHSPS "access" facility but who has never been employed directly by the Authority, an NHS Body or other body which participates automatically in the NHSPS is not an NHSPS Fair Deal Employee;

"NHS Body"

has the meaning given to it in section 275 of the National Health Service Act 2006 as amended by section 138(2)(c) of Schedule 4 to the Health and Social Care Act 2012;

"NHS Pensions"

NHS Pensions as the administrators of the NHSPS or such other body as may from time to time be responsible for relevant administrative functions of the NHSPS;

"NHSPS"

the National Health Service Pension Scheme for England and Wales, established pursuant to the Superannuation Act 1972 and the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 governed by subsequent regulations under those Acts including the NHS Pension Scheme Regulations;

"NHS Pension Scheme Regulations"

as appropriate, any or all of the National Health Service Pension Scheme Regulations 1995 (SI 1995/300), the National Health Service Pension Scheme Regulations 2008 (SI 2008/653), the National Health Service Pension Scheme Regulations 2015 (2015/94) and any subsequent regulations made in respect of the NHSPS, each as amended from time to time;

"NHS Premature Retirement Rights"

rights to which any NHSPS Fair Deal Employee (had they remained in the employment of the Authority, an NHS Body or other employer which participates automatically in the NHSPS) would have been or is entitled under the NHS Pension Scheme Regulations, the NHS Compensation for Premature Retirement Regulations 2002 (SI 2002/1311), the NHS (Injury Benefits) Regulations 1995 (SI 1995/866) and section 45 of the General Whitley Council conditions of service, or any other legislative or contractual provision which replaces, amends, extends or consolidates the same from time to time;

"Pension Benefits"

any benefits payable in respect of an individual (including but not limited to pensions related allowances and lump sums) relating to old age, invalidity or survivor's benefits provided under an occupational pension scheme; and

2 MEMBERSHIP OF THE NHSPS

- 2.1 In accordance with New Fair Deal, the Supplier and/or any of its Sub-contractors to which the employment of any NHSPS Fair Deal Employee compulsorily transfers as a result of either the award of this Agreement or a Relevant Transfer, if not an NHS Body or other employer which participates automatically in the NHSPS, shall each secure a Direction Letter/Determination to enable the NHSPS Fair Deal Employees to retain either continuous active membership of or eligibility for the NHSPS for so long as they remain employed in connection with the delivery of the Services under this Agreement.
- 2.2 Where it is not possible for the Supplier and/or any of its Sub-contractors to secure a Direction Letter/Determination on or before the Relevant Transfer Date, the Supplier must secure a Direction Letter/Determination as soon as possible after the Relevant Transfer Date, and in the period between the Relevant Transfer Date and the date the Direction Letter/Determination is secure, the Provider must ensure that:
 - (a) all employer's and NHSPS Fair Deal Employees' contributions intended to go to the NHSPS are kept in a separate bank account; and
 - (b) the Pension Benefits and Premature Retirement Rights of NHSPS Fair Deal Employees are not adversely affected.

- 2.3 The Supplier must supply to the Authority a complete copy of each Direction Letter/Determination within 5 Working Days of receipt of the Direction Letter/Determination.
- 2.4 The Supplier must ensure (and procure that each of its Sub-contractors (if any) ensures) that all of its NHSPS Fair Deal Employees have a contractual right to continuous active membership of or eligibility for the NHSPS for so long as they have a right to membership or eligibility of that scheme under the terms of the Direction Letter/Determination.
- 2.5 The Supplier will (and will procure that its Sub-contractors (if any) will) comply with the terms of the Direction Letter/Determination, the NHS Pension Scheme Regulations (including any terms which change as a result of changes in Law) and any relevant policy issued by the Department of Health and Social Care in respect of the NHSPS Fair Deal Employees for so long as it remains bound by the terms of any such Direction Letter/Determination.
- 2.6 Where any employee omitted from the Direction Letter/Determination supplied in accordance with paragraph 2 of this Annex are subsequently found to be an NHSPS Fair Deal Employee, the Supplier will (and will procure that its Sub-contractors (if any) will) treat that person as if they had been an NHSPS Fair Deal Employee from the Relevant Transfer Date so that their Pension Benefits and NHS Premature Retirement Rights are not adversely affected.
- 2.7 The Supplier will (and will procure that its Sub-contractors (if any) will) provide any indemnity, bond or guarantee required by NHS Pensions in relation to a Direction Letter/Determination.

3 NHS PREMATURE RETIREMENT RIGHTS

3.1 From the Relevant Transfer Date until the Service Transfer Date, the Supplier must provide (and/or must ensure that its Sub-contractors (if any) provide) NHS Premature Retirement Rights in respect of the NHSPS Fair Deal Employees that are identical to the benefits they would have received had they remained employees of the Authority, an NHS Body or other employer which participates automatically in the NHSPS.

4 NHS BROADLY COMPARABLE EMPLOYEES

4.1 The Supplier shall (and procure that its Sub-contractors shall), with effect from the Relevant Transfer Date, offer the NHSPS Broadly Comparable Employees membership of a pension scheme which is Broadly Comparable to NHSPS on the Relevant Transfer Date in accordance with paragraph 10 of Part A. For the avoidance of doubt, this requirement is separate from any requirement to offer a Broadly Comparable pension scheme in accordance with paragraph 5.2 below.

5 BREACH AND CANCELLATION OF ANY DIRECTION LETTER/DETERMINATION(S)

- 5.1 The Supplier agrees that the Authority is entitled to make arrangements with NHS Pensions for the Authority to be notified if the Supplier (or its Sub-contractors) breaches the terms of its Direction Letter/Determination. Notwithstanding the provisions of the foregoing, the Supplier shall notify the Authority in the event that it (or its Sub-contractor) breaches the terms of its Direction Letter/Determination.
- 5.2 If the Supplier (or its Sub-contractors, if relevant) ceases to participate in the NHSPS for whatever reason, the Supplier (or any such Sub-contractor, as appropriate) shall

offer the NHSPS Eligible Employees membership of a pension scheme which is Broadly Comparable to the NHSPS on the date the NHSPS Eligible Employees ceased to participate in the NHSPS in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 11 of Part A.

6 COMPENSATION

- 6.1 If the Supplier (or its Sub-contractor, if relevant) is unable to provide the NHSPS Fair Deal Employees with either membership of:
 - (a) the NHSPS (having used its best endeavours to secure a Direction Letter/Determination); or
 - (b) a Broadly Comparable pension scheme,

the Authority may in its sole discretion permit the Supplier (or any of its Subcontractors) to compensate the NHSPS Fair Deal Employees in a manner that is Broadly Comparable or equivalent in cash terms, the Supplier (or Sub-contractor as relevant) having consulted with a view to reaching agreement with any recognised trade union or, in the absence of such body, the NHSPS Fair Deal Employees. The Supplier must meet (or must procure that the relevant Sub-contractor meets) the costs of the Authority determining whether the level of compensation offered is reasonable in the circumstances.

6.2 This flexibility for the Authority to allow compensation in place of Pension Benefits is in addition to and not instead of the Authority's right to terminate the Agreement under paragraph 7 (*Breach*) of Part A of this Schedule.

7 SUPPLIER INDEMNITIES

7.1 The Supplier must indemnify and keep indemnified the Authority and any Replacement Supplier against all Losses arising out of any claim by any NHSPS Fair Deal Employee or any NHS Broadly Comparable Employees that the provision of (or failure to provide) Pension Benefits and NHS Premature Retirement Rights from the Relevant Transfer Date, or the level of such benefit provided, constitutes a breach of his or her employment rights.

ANNEX A3: LGPS

1 **DEFINITIONS**

1.1 In this Annex 3: LGPS to Part A: Pensions, the following words have the following meanings:

"2013 Regulations" the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations

2013 (SI 2013/2356) (as amended from time to time);

"Administering **Authority**"

in relation to the Fund, the relevant administering authority of that Fund for the purposes of the 2013

Regulations;

"Fund Actuary" the actuary to a Fund appointed by the Administering

Authority of the Fund;

the pension fund within the LGPS which a LGPS Fair "Fund"

Deal Employee and/or a LGPS Eligible Employee is

admitted to:

"Initial Contribution

Rate"

the percentage of pensionable pay (as defined in the 2013 Regulations) that must be paid to the Fund in respect of a LGPS Fair Deal Employee and/or a LGPS

Eligible;

"LGPS" the Local Government Pension Scheme as governed

> by the LGPS Regulations, and any other regulations (in each case as amended from time to time) which are from time to time applicable to the Local Government

Pension Scheme;

"LGPS Admission

Agreement"

an admission agreement within the meaning in

Schedule 1 of the 2013 Regulations:

"LGPS Admission

Body"

an admission body (within the meaning of Part 3 of

Schedule 2 of the 2013 Regulations);

"LGPS Eligible

Employees"

any LGPS Fair Deal Employee who at the relevant time is an active member or eligible to participate in the

LGPS under an LGPS Admission Agreement;

"LGPS Fair Deal

Employees"

any Fair Deal Employee who at the Relevant Transfer Date is or becomes entitled to protection in respect of

the LGPS or a pension scheme that is Broadly Comparable to the LGPS in accordance with the provisions in accordance with the provisions of New

Fair Deal and/or the Best Value Direction; and

"LGPS Regulations"

the 2013 Regulations and The Local Government

Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions, Savings and Amendment) Regulations 2014 (SI 2014/525), and any

other regulations (in each case as amended from time to time) which are from time to time applicable to the LGPS.

2 SUPPLIER TO BECOME AN LGPS ADMISSION BODY

2.1 In accordance with the principles of New Fair Deal and/or the Best Value Direction, the Supplier and/or any of its Sub-contractors to which the employment of any LGPS Fair Deal Employee compulsorily transfers as a result of either the award of this Agreement or a Relevant Transfer, if not a scheme employer which participates automatically in the LGPS, shall each become an LGPS Admission Body by entering into an LGPS Admission Agreement on or before the Relevant Transfer Date to enable the LGPS Fair Deal Employees to retain either continuous active membership of or eligibility for the LGPS on and from the Relevant Transfer Date for so long as they remain employed in connection with the delivery of the Services under this Agreement.

2.2 Any LGPS Fair Deal Employees who:

- (a) were active members of the LGPS (or a Broadly Comparable pension scheme) immediately before the Relevant Transfer Date shall be admitted to the LGPS with effect on and from the Relevant Transfer Date; and
- (b) were eligible to join the LGPS (or a Broadly Comparable pension scheme) but were not active members of the LGPS (or a Broadly Comparable pension scheme) immediately before the Relevant Transfer Date shall retain the ability to join the LGPS on or after the Relevant Transfer Date if they wish to do so.
- 2.3 The Supplier will (and will procure that its Sub-contractors (if any) will) provide at its own cost any indemnity, bond or guarantee required by an Administering Authority in relation to an LGPS Admission Agreement.

3 BROADLY COMPARABLE SCHEME

- 3.1 If the Supplier and/or any of its Sub-contractors is unable to obtain an LGPS Admission Agreement in accordance with paragraph 2.1 because the Administering Authority will not allow it to participate in the Fund, the Supplier shall (and procure that its Sub-contractors shall), with effect from the Relevant Transfer Date, offer the LGPS Fair Deal Employees membership of a pension scheme which is Broadly Comparable to LGPS on the Relevant Transfer Date in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 10 of Part A.
- 3.2 If the Supplier and/or any of its Sub-contractors becomes an LGPS Admission Body in accordance with paragraph 2.1 but the LGPS Admission Agreement is terminated during the term of this Agreement for any reason at a time when the Supplier or Sub-contractors still employs any LGPS Eligible Employees, the Supplier shall (and procure that its Sub-contractors shall) at no extra cost to the Authority, offer the remaining LGPS Eligible Employees membership of a pension scheme which is Broadly Comparable to the LGPS on the date the LGPS Eligible Employees ceased to participate in the LGPS in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 11 of Part A.

4 DISCRETIONARY BENEFITS

4.1 Where the Supplier and/or any of its Sub-contractors is an LGPS Admission Body, the Supplier shall (and procure that its Sub-contractors shall) comply with its obligations under regulation 60 of the 2013 Regulations in relation to the preparation of a discretionary policy statement.

5 LGPS RISK SHARING

- 5.1 Subject to paragraphs 5.4 to 5.10, if at any time during the term of this Agreement the Administering Authority, pursuant to the LGPS Admission Agreement or the LGPS Regulations, requires the Supplier or any Sub-contractor to pay employer contributions or other payments to the Fund in aggregate in excess of the Initial Contribution Rate, the excess of employer contributions above the Initial Contribution Rate for a Contract Year (the "Excess Amount") shall be paid by the Supplier or the Sub-contractor, as the case may be, and the Supplier shall be reimbursed by the Authority.
- 5.2 Subject to paragraphs 5.4 to 5.9 and 5.11, if at any time during the term of this Agreement, the Administering Authority, pursuant to the LGPS Admission Agreement or the LGPS Regulations, requires the Supplier or any Sub-contractor to pay employer contributions or payments to the Fund in aggregate below the Initial Contribution Rate for a Contract Year, the Supplier shall reimburse the Authority an amount equal to A–B (the "**Refund Amount**") where:
 - A = the amount which would have been paid if contributions and payments had been paid equal to the Initial Contribution Rate for that Contract Year; and
 - B = the amount of contributions or payments actually paid by the Supplier or Sub-contractor for that Contract Year, as the case may be, to the Fund.
- 5.3 Subject to paragraphs 5.4 to 5.10, where the Administering Authority obtains an actuarial valuation and a revised rates and adjustment certificate under the LGPS Regulations and/or the terms of the LGPS Admission Agreement when the LGPS Admission Agreement ceases to have effect and the Supplier or any Sub-contractor is required to pay any exit payment under Regulation 64(2) of the 2013 Regulations (the "Exit Payment"), such Exit Payment shall be paid by the Supplier or any Sub-contractor (as the case may be) and the Supplier shall be reimbursed by the Authority.
- 5.4 The Supplier and any Sub-contractors shall at all times be responsible for the following costs:
 - (a) any employer contributions relating to the costs of early retirement benefits arising on redundancy or as a result of business efficiency under Regulation 30(7) of the 2013 Regulations or otherwise;
 - (b) any payment of Fund benefits to active members on the grounds of ill health or infirmity of mind or body under Regulation 35 of the 2013 Regulations or otherwise;
 - (c) any payment of Fund benefits to deferred or deferred pensioner members on the grounds of ill health or infirmity of mind or body under Regulation 38 of the 2013 Regulations or otherwise:
 - (d) any employer contributions relating to the costs of early or flexible retirement where the actuarial reduction is waived in whole or in part or a

cost neutral reduction is not applied with the consent of the Supplier or any relevant Sub-contractor including without limitation any decision made under Regulation 30(8) of the 2013 Regulations or Schedule 2 of The Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions, Savings and Amendment) Regulations 2014;

- (e) any employer contributions relating to the costs of enhanced benefits made at the discretion of the Supplier or any relevant Sub-contractors including without limitation additional pension awarded under Regulation 31 of the 2013 Regulations or otherwise;
- (f) any increase to the employer contribution rate resulting from the award of pay increases by the Supplier or relevant Sub-contractors in respect of all or any of the LGPS Eligible Employees in excess of the pay increases assumed in the Fund's most recent actuarial valuation (unless the Supplier and/or any Sub-contractor is contractually bound to provide such increases on the Relevant Transfer Date);
- (g) to the extent not covered above, any other costs arising out of or in connection with the exercise of any discretion or the grant of any consent under the LGPS Regulations by the Supplier or any relevant Subcontractors where a member does not have an absolute entitlement to that benefit under the LGPS;
- (h) any cost of the administration of the Fund that are not met through the Supplier's or Sub-contractor's employer contribution rate, including without limitation an amount specified in a notice given by the Administering Authority under Regulation 70 of the 2013 Regulations;
- (i) the costs of any reports and advice requested by or arising from an instruction given by the Supplier or a Sub-contractor from the Fund Actuary; and/or
- (j) any interest payable under the 2013 Regulations or LGPS Administration Agreement.
- 5.5 For the purposes of calculating any Exit Payment, Excess Amount or Refund Amount, any part of such an amount which is attributable to any costs which the Supplier or Sub-contractors are responsible for in accordance with paragraph 5.4 above shall be disregarded and excluded from the calculation. In the event of any dispute as to level of any cost that should be excluded from the calculation, the opinion of the Fund Actuary shall be final and binding.
- Where the Administering Authority obtains an actuarial valuation and a revised rates and adjustment certificate under the LGPS Regulations and/or the terms of the LGPS Admission Agreement when the LGPS Admission Agreement ceases to have effect and the Supplier or any Sub-contractor receives payment of an exit credit payment under Regulation 64(2) of the 2013 Regulations (the "Exit Credit"), the Supplier shall (or procure that any Sub-contractor shall) reimburse the Authority an amount equal to the Exit Credit within twenty (20) Working Days of receipt of the Exit Credit.
- 5.7 The Supplier shall (or procure that the Sub-contractor shall) notify the Authority in writing within twenty (20) Working Days:
 - (a) of the end of each Contract Year of any Excess Amount or Refund Amount due in respect of the Contract Year that has just ended and

- provide a reasonable summary of how the Excess Amount or Refund Amount was calculated; and
- (b) of being informed by the Administering Authority of any Exit Payment or Exit Credit that is determined by as being due from or to the Supplier or a Sub-contractor and provide a copy of any revised rates and adjustments certificate detailing the Exit Payment or Exit Credit and its calculation.
- 5.8 Within twenty (20) Working Days of receiving the notification under paragraph 5.7 above, the Authority shall either:
 - (a) notify the Supplier in writing of its acceptance of the Excess Amount, Refund Amount or Exit Payment;
 - (b) request further information or evidence about the Excess Amount, Refund Amount or Exit Payment from the Supplier; and/or
 - (c) request a meeting with the Supplier to discuss or clarify the information or evidence provided.
- 5.9 Where the Excess Amount, Refund Amount or Exit Payment is agreed following the receipt of further information or evidence or following a meeting in accordance with paragraph 5.8 above, the Authority shall notify the Supplier in writing. In the event that the Supplier and the Authority are unable to agree the amount of the Excess Amount, Refund Amount or Exit Payment then they shall follow the Dispute Resolution Procedure.
- 5.10 Any Excess Amount or Exit Payment agreed by the Authority or in accordance with the Dispute Resolution Procedure shall be paid by the Authority within timescales as agreed between Authority and Supplier. The amount to be paid by the Authority shall be an amount equal to the Excess Amount or Exit Payment less an amount equal to any corporation tax relief which has been claimed in respect of the Excess Amount or Exit Payment by the Supplier or a Sub-contractor.
- 5.11 Any Refund Amount agreed by the Authority or in accordance with the Dispute Resolution Procedure as payable by the Supplier or any Sub-contractor to the Authority, shall be paid by the Supplier or any Sub-contractor forthwith as the liability has been agreed. In the event the Supplier or any Sub-contractor fails to pay any agreed Refund Amount, the Authority shall demand in writing the immediate payment of the agreed Refund Amount by the Supplier and the Supplier shall make payment within seven (7) Working Days of such demand.
- 5.12 This paragraph 5 shall survive termination of this Agreement.

PART B: EMPLOYMENT EXIT PROVISIONS

1 PRE-SERVICE TRANSFER OBLIGATIONS

- 1.1 The Supplier agrees that within 20 Working Days of the earliest of:
 - (a) receipt of a notification from the Authority of a Service Transfer or intended Service Transfer;
 - (b) receipt of the giving of notice of early termination or any Partial Termination of this Agreement;
 - (c) the date which is 12 months before the end of the Term; and
 - (d) receipt of a written request of the Authority at any time (provided that the Authority shall only be entitled to make one such request in any 6 month period),

it shall provide in a suitably anonymised format so as to comply with applicable data protection or privacy legislation, the Supplier's Provisional Supplier Personnel List, together with the Staffing Information and it shall provide an updated Supplier's Provisional Supplier Personnel List at such intervals as are reasonably requested by the Authority.

- 1.2 At least 20 Working Days prior to the Service Transfer Date, the Supplier shall provide to the Authority or at the direction of the Authority to any Replacement Supplier and/or any Replacement Sub-contractor:
 - (a) the Supplier's Final Supplier Personnel List, which shall identify which of the Supplier Personnel are Transferring Supplier Employees; and
 - (b) the Staffing Information in relation to the Supplier's Final Supplier Personnel List (insofar as such information has not previously been provided).
- 1.3 The Authority shall be permitted to use and disclose information provided by the Supplier under Paragraphs 1.1 and 1.2 for the purpose of informing any prospective Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement Sub-contractor.
- 1.4 The Supplier warrants, for the benefit of the Authority, any Replacement Supplier, and any Replacement Sub-contractor that all information provided pursuant to Paragraphs 1.1 and 1.2 shall be true and accurate in all material respects at the time of providing the information.
- 1.5 From the date of the earliest event referred to in Paragraph 1.1(a), 1.1(b) and 1.1(c), the Supplier agrees, that it shall not, and agrees to procure that each Sub-contractor shall not, assign any person to the provision of the Services who is not listed on the Supplier's Provisional Supplier Personnel List and shall not without the approval of the Authority (not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed):
 - (a) replace or re-deploy any Supplier Personnel listed on the Supplier Provisional Supplier Personnel List other than where any replacement is of equivalent grade, skills, experience and expertise and is employed on the same terms and conditions of employment as the person he/she replaces;

- (b) make, promise, propose, permit or implement any material changes to the terms and conditions of employment of the Supplier Personnel (including pensions and any payments connected with the termination of employment);
- (c) increase the proportion of working time spent on the Services (or the relevant part of the Services) by any of the Supplier Personnel save for fulfilling assignments and projects previously scheduled and agreed;
- (d) introduce any new contractual or customary practice concerning the making of any lump sum payment on the termination of employment of any employees listed on the Supplier's Provisional Supplier Personnel List;
- (e) increase or reduce the total number of employees so engaged, or deploy any other person to perform the Services (or the relevant part of the Services); or
- (f) terminate or give notice to terminate the employment or contracts of any persons on the Supplier's Provisional Supplier Personnel List save by due disciplinary process,

and shall promptly notify, and procure that each Sub-contractor shall promptly notify, the Authority or, at the direction of the Authority, any Replacement Supplier and any Replacement Sub-contractor of any notice to terminate employment given by the Supplier or relevant Sub-contractor or received from any persons listed on the Supplier's Provisional Supplier Personnel List regardless of when such notice takes effect.

- 1.6 During the Term, the Supplier shall provide, and shall procure that each Subcontractor shall provide, to the Authority any information the Authority may reasonably require relating to the manner in which the Services are organised, which shall include:
 - (a) the numbers of employees engaged in providing the Services;
 - (b) the percentage of time spent by each employee engaged in providing the Services:
 - (c) the extent to which each employee qualifies for membership of any of the Statutory Schemes or any Broadly Comparable scheme set up pursuant to the provisions of any of the Annexes to Part A (*Pensions*) of this Schedule 9 (*Staff Transfer*)(as appropriate); and
 - (d) a description of the nature of the work undertaken by each employee by location.
- 1.7 No later than twenty-one (21) days after receipt of a written request from the Authority, the Supplier shall provide the Authority, by Location and in each Country in which it operates, with full and accurate details regarding the identity, number, age, sex, length of service, job title, grade and terms and conditions of employment of and other matters affecting each of those Supplier's personnel which, as at that date, are assigned to the fulfilment of the Services, together with a summary of the total staffing costs (including, but not limited to, salary, benefits and any additional payments arising from an obligation on an employer such as social security or national insurance contributions) relating to each Location.

- 1.8 The Supplier shall provide, and shall procure that each Sub-contractor shall provide, all reasonable cooperation and assistance to the Authority, any Replacement Supplier and/or any Replacement Sub-contractor to ensure the smooth transfer of the Transferring Supplier Employees on the Service Transfer Date including providing sufficient information in advance of the Service Transfer Date to ensure that all necessary payroll arrangements can be made to enable the Transferring Supplier Employees to be paid as appropriate. Without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, within 5 Working Days following the Service Transfer Date, the Supplier shall provide, and shall procure that each Sub-contractor shall provide, to the Authority or, at the direction of the Authority, to any Replacement Supplier and/or any Replacement Sub-contractor (as appropriate), in respect of each person on the Supplier's Final Supplier Personnel List who is a Transferring Supplier Employee:
 - (a) the most recent month's copy pay slip data;
 - (b) details of cumulative pay for tax and pension purposes;
 - (c) details of cumulative tax paid;
 - (d) tax code;
 - (e) details of any voluntary deductions from pay; and
 - (f) bank/building society account details for payroll purposes.

2 EXIT PROVISIONS

- 2.1 The Authority and the Supplier acknowledge that subsequent to the commencement of the provision of the Services, the identity of the provider of the Services (or any part of the Services) may change (whether as a result of termination or Partial Termination of this Agreement or otherwise) resulting in the Services being undertaken by a Replacement Supplier and/or a Replacement Sub-contractor. Such change in the identity of the supplier of such services may result in the application of the Acquired Rights Directive (or any equivalent or analogous Law). The application of the Acquired Rights Directive (or any equivalent or analogous Law) shall be determined in accordance with the applicable Law on the termination or Partial Termination of this Agreement.
- 2.2 The Supplier shall, and shall procure that each Sub-contractor shall, comply with all its obligations in respect of the Transferring Supplier Employees in respect of the period up to (and including) the Service Transfer Date and shall perform and discharge, and procure that each Sub-contractor shall perform and discharge, all its obligations in respect of all the Transferring Supplier Employees arising in respect of the period up to (and including) the Service Transfer Date (including the payment of all remuneration, benefits, entitlements and outgoings, all wages, accrued but untaken holiday pay, bonuses, commissions, tax deductions, social security payments national insurance contributions and pension contributions and all such sums due as a result of any Fair Deal Employees' participation in the Schemes which in any case are attributable in whole or in part to the period ending on (and including) the Service Transfer Date) and any necessary apportionments in respect of any periodic payments shall be made between: (i) the Supplier and/or the Sub-contractor (as appropriate); and (ii) the Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement Subcontractor.

- 2.3 Subject to Paragraph 4, the Supplier shall indemnify the Authority and/or the Replacement Supplier and/or any Replacement Sub-contractor against any Employee Liabilities arising from or as a result of:
 - (a) any act or omission of the Supplier or any Sub-contractor in respect of any Transferring Supplier Employee or any appropriate employee representative of any Transferring Supplier Employee whether occurring before, on or after the Service Transfer Date;
 - (b) the breach or non-observance by the Supplier or any Sub-contractor occurring on or before the Service Transfer Date of:
 - (i) any collective agreement applicable to the Transferring Supplier Employees; and/or
 - (ii) any other custom or practice with a trade union or staff association in respect of any Transferring Supplier Employees which the Supplier or any Sub-contractor is contractually bound to honour;
 - (c) any claim by any trade union or other body or person representing any Transferring Supplier Employees arising from or connected with any failure by the Supplier or a Sub-contractor to comply with any legal obligation to such trade union, body or person arising on or before the Service Transfer Date;
 - (d) any proceeding, claim or demand by any statutory or other authority in respect of any financial obligation including, but not limited totax and national insurance contributions:
 - (i) in relation to any Transferring Supplier Employee, to the extent that the proceeding, claim or demand relates to financial obligations arising on and before the Service Transfer Date; and
 - (ii) in relation to any employee who is not identified in the Supplier's Final Supplier Personnel List, and in respect of whom it is later alleged or determined that the Acquired Rights Directive (or any equivalent or analogous Law) applied so as to transfer his/her employment from the Supplier to the Authority and/or Replacement Supplier and/or any Replacement Sub-contractor, to the extent that the proceeding, claim or demand relates to financial obligations arising on or before the Service Transfer Date;
 - (e) a failure of the Supplier or any Sub-contractor to discharge or procure the discharge of all wages, salaries and all other benefits and all tax deductions and national insurance contributions relating to the Transferring Supplier Employees in respect of the period up to (and including) the Service Transfer Date);
 - (f) any claim made by or in respect of any person employed or formerly employed by the Supplier or any Sub-contractor other than a Transferring Supplier Employee identified in the Supplier's Final Supplier Personnel List for whom it is alleged the Authority and/or the Replacement Supplier and/or any Replacement Sub-contractor may be liable by virtue of this Agreement and/or the Acquired Rights Directive (or any equivalent or analogous Law); and

- (g) any claim made by or in respect of a Transferring Supplier Employee or any appropriate employee representative of any Transferring Supplier Employee relating to any act or omission of the Supplier or any Subcontractor in relation to its obligations to inform and consult with employees and/or or employee representatives, except to the extent that the liability arises from the failure by the Authority and/or Replacement Supplier to comply with the Acquired Rights Directive (or any equivalent or analogous Law).
- 2.4 The indemnities in Paragraph 3 shall not apply to the extent that the Employee Liabilities arise or are attributable to an act or omission of the Replacement Supplier and/or any Replacement Sub-contractor whether occurring or having its origin before, on or after the Service Transfer Date, including any Employee Liabilities:
 - (a) arising out of the resignation of any Transferring Supplier Employee before the Service Transfer Date on account of substantial detrimental changes to his/her working conditions proposed by the Replacement Supplier and/or any Replacement Sub-contractor to occur in the period on or after the Service Transfer Date); or
 - (b) arising from the Replacement Supplier's failure, and/or Replacement Subcontractor's failure, to comply with its obligations under the Acquired Rights Directive (or any equivalent or analogous Law).
- 2.5 If any person who is not identified in the Supplier's Final Supplier Personnel list claims, or it is determined in relation to any person who is not identified in the Supplier's Final Supplier Personnel list, that his/her contract of employment has been transferred from the Supplier or any Sub-contractor to the Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement Sub-contractor pursuant to the the Acquired Rights Directive (or any equivalent or analogous Law), then:
 - (a) the Authority shall procure that the Replacement Supplier shall, or any Replacement Sub-contractor shall, within 5 Working Days of becoming aware of that fact, give notice in writing to the Supplier; and
 - (b) the Supplier may offer (or may procure that a Sub-contractor may offer) employment to such person within 15 Working Days of the notification by the Replacement Supplier and/or any and/or Replacement Sub-contractor or take such other reasonable steps as it considers appropriate to deal with the matter provided always that such steps are in compliance with Law.
- 2.6 If such offer is accepted, or if the situation has otherwise been resolved by the Supplier or a Sub-contractor, the Authority shall procure that the Replacement Supplier shall, or procure that the Replacement Sub-contractor shall, immediately release or procure the release of the person from his/her employment or alleged employment.
- 2.7 If after the 15 Working Day period specified in Paragraph 2.5(b) has elapsed:
 - (a) no such offer of employment has been made;
 - (b) such offer has been made but not accepted; or
 - (c) the situation has not otherwise been resolved

the Authority shall advise the Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement Subcontractor, as appropriate that it may within 5 Working Days give notice to terminate the employment or alleged employment of such person.

- 2.8 Subject to the Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement Sub-contractor acting in accordance with the provisions of Paragraphs 5 to 7, and in accordance with all applicable proper employment procedures set out in applicable Law, the Supplier shall indemnify the Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement Sub-contractor against all Employee Liabilities arising out of the termination of employment pursuant to the provisions of Paragraph 2.7 provided that the Replacement Supplier takes, or shall procure that the Replacement Sub-contractor takes, all reasonable steps to minimise any such Employee Liabilities.
- 2.9 The indemnity in Paragraph 2.8:
 - (a) shall not apply to:
 - (i) any claim for:
 - (A) discrimination, including on the grounds of sex, race, disability, age, gender reassignment, marriage or civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity or sexual orientation, religion or belief; or
 - (B) equal pay or compensation for less favourable treatment of part-time workers or fixed-term employees,

in any case in relation to any alleged act or omission of the Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement Sub-contractor; or

- (ii) any claim that the termination of employment was unfair because the Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement Sub-contractor neglected to follow a fair dismissal procedure; and
- (b) shall apply only where the notification referred to in Paragraph 2.5(a) is made by the Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement Sub-contractor to the Supplier within 6 months of the Service Transfer Date.
- 2.10 If any such person as is described in Paragraph 2.5 is neither re-employed by the Supplier or any Sub-contractor nor dismissed by the Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement Sub-contractor within the time scales set out in Paragraphs 2.5 to 2.7, such person shall be treated as a Transferring Supplier Employee.
- 2.11 The Supplier shall comply, and shall procure that each Sub-contractor shall comply, with all its obligations under the Acquired Rights Directive (or any equivalent or analogous Law) and shall perform and discharge, and shall procure that each Sub-contractor shall perform and discharge, all its obligations in respect of any person identified in the Supplier's Final Supplier Personnel list before and on the Service Transfer Date (including the payment of all remuneration, benefits, entitlements and outgoings, all wages, accrued but untaken holiday pay, bonuses, commissions, payments of tax, national insurance contributions and pension contributions and such sums due as a result of any Fair Deal Employees' participation in the Schemes and any requirement to set up a broadly comparable pension scheme which in any case are attributable in whole or in part in respect of the period up to (and including) the Service Transfer Date) and any necessary apportionments in respect of any periodic payments shall be made between:

- (a) the Supplier and/or any Sub-contractor; and
- (b) the Replacement Supplier and/or the Replacement Sub-contractor.
- 2.12 The Supplier shall, and shall procure that each Sub-contractor shall, promptly provide to the Authority and any Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement Sub-contractor, in writing such information as is necessary to enable the Authority, the Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement Sub-contractor to carry out their respective duties under the Acquired Rights Directive (or any equivalent or analogous Law). The Authority shall procure that the Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement Sub-contractor, shall promptly provide to the Supplier and each Sub-contractor in writing such information as is necessary to enable the Supplier and each Sub-contractor to carry out their respective duties under the Acquired Rights Directive(or any equivalent or analogous Law).
- 2.13 Subject to Paragraph2.14, the Authority shall procure that the Replacement Supplier indemnifies the Supplier on its own behalf and on behalf of any Replacement Subcontractor and its sub-contractors against any Employee Liabilities arising from or as a result of:
 - (a) any act or omission of the Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement Sub-contractor in respect of any Transferring Supplier Employee identified in the Supplier's Final Supplier Personnel List or any appropriate employee representative (as defined in the Employment Regulations) of any such Transferring Supplier Employee;
 - (b) the breach or non-observance by the Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement Sub-contractor on or after the Service Transfer Date of:
 - (i) any collective agreement applicable to the Transferring Supplier Employees identified in the Supplier's Final Supplier Personnel List; and/or
 - (ii) any custom or practice in respect of any Transferring Supplier Employees identified in the Supplier's Final Supplier Personnel List which the Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement Subcontractor is contractually bound to honour;
 - (c) any claim by any trade union or other body or person representing any Transferring Supplier Employees identified in the Supplier's Final Supplier Personnel List arising from or connected with any failure by the Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement Sub-contractor to comply with any legal obligation to such trade union, body or person arising on or after the Service Transfer Date;
 - (d) any proposal by the Replacement Supplier and/or Replacement Subcontractor to change the terms and conditions of employment or working
 conditions of any Transferring Supplier Employees identified in the
 Supplier's Final Supplier Personnel List on or after their transfer to the
 Replacement Supplier or Replacement Sub-contractor (as the case may
 be) on the Service Transfer Date, or to change the terms and conditions of
 employment or working conditions of any person identified in the
 Supplier's Final Supplier Personnel List who would have been a
 Transferring Supplier Employee but for their resignation (or decision to

- treat their employment as terminated) before the Service Transfer Date as a result of or for a reason connected to such proposed changes;
- (e) any statement communicated to or action undertaken by the Replacement Supplier or Replacement Sub-contractor to, or in respect of, any Transferring Supplier Employee identified in the Supplier's Final Supplier Personnel List on or before the Service Transfer Date regarding the Relevant Transfer which has not been agreed in advance with the Supplier in writing;
- (f) any proceeding, claim or demand in respect of any financial obligation including, but not limited to, tax and national insurance contributions:
 - (i) in relation to any Transferring Supplier Employee identified in the Supplier's Final Supplier Personnel List, to the extent that the proceeding, claim or demand relates to financial obligations arising after the Service Transfer Date; and
 - (ii) in relation to any employee who is not a Transferring Supplier Employee identified in the Supplier's Final Supplier Personnel List, and in respect of whom it is later alleged or determined that the Acquired Rights Directive(or any equivalent or analogous Law) applied so as to transfer his/her employment from the Supplier or Sub-contractor, to the Replacement Supplier or Replacement Sub-contractor to the extent that the proceeding, claim or demand relates to financial obligations arising after the Service Transfer Date:
- (g) a failure of the Replacement Supplier or Replacement Sub-contractor to discharge or procure the discharge of all wages, salaries and all other benefits and all tax deductions and national insurance contributions relating to the Transferring Supplier Employees identified in the Supplier's Final Supplier Personnel List in respect of the period from (and including) the Service Transfer Date; and
- (h) any claim made by or in respect of a Transferring Supplier Employee identified in the Supplier's Final Supplier Personnel List or any appropriate employee representative of any such Transferring Supplier Employee relating to any act or omission of the Replacement Supplier or Replacement Sub-contractor in relation to obligations under the Acquired Rights Directive (or any equivalent or analogous Law).
- 2.14 The indemnities in Paragraph 2.13 shall not apply to the extent that the Employee Liabilities arise or are attributable to an act or omission of the Supplier and/or any Sub-contractor (as applicable) whether occurring or having its origin before, on or after the Service Transfer Date, including any Employee Liabilities arising from the failure by the Supplier and/or any Sub-contractor (as applicable) to comply with its obligations under the Acquired Rights Directive (or any equivalent or analogous Law).

ANNEX B1: LIST OF NOTIFIED SUB-CONTRACTORS

ANNEX B2: STAFFING INFORMATION

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION (ANONYMISED)

Name of Transferor

Number of Employees in-scope to transfer:

Completion notes

- 1 If you have any Key Sub-contractors, please complete all the above information for any staff employed by such Key Sub-contractor(s) in a separate spreadsheet.
- This spreadsheet is used to collect information from the current employer (transferor) about employees performing the relevant services to help plan for a potential transfer under the Acquired Rights Directive or equivalent or analogous legilsation. Some or all of this information may be disclosed to bidders as part of a procurement process. The information should not reveal the employees' identities.
- If the information cannot be included on this form, attach the additional information, such as relevant policies, and cross reference to the item number and employee number where appropriate.

EMPLOYEE DETAILS & KEY TERMS									
Details	Job Title	Grade / band	Work Location	Age	Employment status (for example, employee, fixed-term employee, self-employed, agency worker)?	Continuous service date (dd/mm/yy)	Date employment started with existing employer		
Emp No 1									
Emp No 2									
Emp No									
Emp No									
Emp No									
Emp No									
Emp No									
Emp No									

EMPLOYEE DETAILS & KEY TERMS

Details	Contract end date (if fixed term contract or temporary contract)	Contractual notice period	Contractual weekly hours	Regular overtime hours per week	Mobility or flexibility clause in contract?	Previously TUPE transferred to organisation? If so, please specify (i) date of transfer, (ii) name of transferor, and (iii) whether ex public sector	Any collective agreements?
Emp No 1							
Emp No 2							
Emp No							
Emp No							
Emp No							
Emp No							
Emp No							

	ASSIGNMENT	CONTRAC	CONTRACTUAL PAY AND BENEFITS					
Details	% of working time dedicated to the provision of services under the contract	Salary (or hourly rate of pay)	Payment interval (weekly / fortnightly / monthly)	Bonus payment for previous 12 months (please specify whether contractual or discretionary entitlement)	Pay review method	Frequency of pay reviews	Agreed pay increases	Next pay review date
Emp No 1								
Emp No 2								
Emp No								
Emp No								
Emp No								
Emp No								
Emp No								

CONTRACTUAL PAY AND BENEFITS

Details	Any existing or future commitment to training that has a time-off or financial implication	Car allowance (£ per year)	Lease or company car details	Any other allowances paid (e.g. shift allowance, standby allowance, travel allowance)	Private medical insurance (please specify whether single or family cover)	Life assurance (xSalary)	Long Term Disability / PHI (% of Salary	Any other benefits in kind
Emp No 1								
Emp No 2								
Emp No								
Emp No								
Emp No								
Emp No								
Emp No								

CONTRACTUAL PAY AND BENEFITS

Details	Annual leave entitlement (excluding bank holidays)	Bank holiday entitlement	Method of calculating holiday pay (i.e. based on fixed salary only or incl. entitlements to variable remuneration such as bonuses, allowances, commission or overtime pay?)	Maternity or paternity or shared parental leave entitlement and pay	Sick leave entitlement and pay	Redundancy pay entitlement (statutory / enhanced / contractual / discretionary)
Emp No 1						
Emp No 2						
Emp No						
Emp No						
Emp No						
Emp No						
Emp No						

P	El	N	SI	0	N	S
---	----	---	----	---	---	---

Details	Employee pension contribution rate	Employer pension contribution rate	Please provide the name of the pension scheme and a link to the pension scheme website	Is the scheme an occupational pension scheme as defined in the Pension Schemes Act 1993?	If the scheme is not an occupational pension scheme, what type of scheme is it? E.g. personal pension scheme?	Type of pension provision e.g. defined benefit (CARE or final salary, and whether a public sector scheme e.g. CSPS, NHSPS, LGPS etc. or a broadly comparable scheme) or a defined contribution scheme or an auto enrolment master trust?
Emp No 1						
Emp No 2						
Emp No						
Emp No						
Emp No						
Emp No						
Emp No						

PENSIONS	5
-----------------	---

Details	If the Employee is in the Local Government Pension Scheme, please supply details of Fund and Administering Authority.	If the Employee is in the Civil Service Pension Scheme, please provide details of the Admission Agreement.	If the Employee is in the NHSPS, please provide details of the Direction Letter.	If the Employee is in a broadly comparable pension scheme, please supply a copy of the GAD certificate of Broad Comparability.	Did Fair Deal or any other similar pension protection for ex-public sector employees apply to the employee when they TUPE transferred into your employment? If so, what was the nature of that protection (e.g. right to participate in a public sector pension scheme, or a broadly comparable scheme, or to bulk transfer past pension service into their current scheme)?	If Fair Deal, Best Value or other pension protection applied, which public sector employer did they originally transfer out of and when?
Emp No 1						
Emp No 2						
Emp No						
Emp No						
Emp No						
Emp No						
Emp No						

_			
\mathbf{O}	ΤН	FR	
_			•

Details	Security Check Level	Security Clearance Expiry date	Additional info or comments
Emp No 1			
Emp No 2			
Emp No			

SCHEDULE 9.2 KEY PERSONNEL

1. INTRODUCTION

Redacted' Under FOIA Section 40, Personal Information for the Supplier

2. KEY PERSONNEL

Redacted' Under FOIA Section 40, Personal Information for the Supplier

3. KEY ROLES

Redacted' Under FOIA Section 40, Personal Information for the Authority

SCHEDULE 10

GUARANTEE

Redacted' Under FOIA Section 40, Personal Information for the Supplier

SCHEDULE 11

PROCESSING PERSONAL DATA

1. Processing Personal Data

- 1.1 This Schedule shall be completed by the Controller, who may take account of the view of the Processors, however the final decision as to the content of this Schedule shall be with the Authority at its absolute discretion.
- 1.2 The contact details of the Authority's Data Protection Officer are: dpo@homeoffice.gov.uk
- 1.3 The contact details of the Supplier's Data Protection Officer are: **Redacted' Under FOIA Section 40, Personal Information for the Authority**
- 1.4 The Processor shall comply with any further written instructions with respect to processing by the Controller.
- 1.5 Any such further instructions shall be incorporated into this Schedule.

Description	Details
Identity of Controller for each Category of Personal Data	The Authority is Controller and the Supplier is Processor
	The Parties acknowledge that in accordance with Clause 23.2 to 23.15 and for the purposes of the Data Protection Legislation, the Authority is the Controller and the Supplier is the Processor of the following Personal Data:
	The Type of Personal Data for the Data Subjects as set out in this Annex for the provision and use of the UK's global visa application service
	The Supplier is Controller and the Authority is Processor Not used
	The Parties are Joint Controllers
	Not used
	The Parties are Independent Controllers of Personal Data The Parties acknowledge that they are Independent Controllers for the purposes of the Data Protection Legislation in respect of:
	Business contact details of Supplier Personnel,
	Business contact details of any directors, officers, employees, agents,

Duration of the processing	consultants and contractors of the Authority (excluding the Supplier Personnel) engaged in the performance of the Authority's duties under this Agreement). For the Term of the Agreement unless terminated in accordance with Clause 34 and/or unless the Authority requests the Supplier to delete or return
Nature and purposes of the processing	Personal Data in accordance with Clause 25.5(f) The nature and purposes of the processing means the collection, recording, organisation, structuring, storage, adaptation or alteration, retrieval, consultation, use, disclosure by transmission, dissemination or otherwise making available, alignment or combination, restriction, erasure or destruction of data for the purposes of the provision and use of the UK's global visa application service through a global network of visa application centers, and the facilitation of HM Passport Office interviews and overseas passport applications, within the 'Future Supplier Services' programme
Type of Personal Data	 Biometric information (fingerprints, photographs) Audio and video recordings Full Name DoB Nationality Country of birth Country of residence Gender Address including temporary accommodation for Asylum Support (Residential and Correspondence) Immigration Advisor details Reference Numbers Contact Information Marital Status Details of Identity Documents Details of Family Relationships Declared immigration status Immigration Application Data (including employment details, financial details, educational details, travel history, criminal records, and claim status) and history (including appeals and any enforcement activity) Any other Personal Data submitted by a Customer of their own accord when using the Services which may be above

	and beyond or less than the Types of Personal Data set out above
Categories of Data Subject	Visa and passport applicants, and related persons (which may include but not be limited to family members, sponsors, next of kin)
Plan for return and destruction of the data once the processing is complete	In accordance with Clause 25.5(f)
UNLESS requirement under union or member state law to preserve that type of data	

ANNEX 1: JOINT CONTROLLER AGREEMENT

1. Joint Controller Status and Allocation of Responsibilities

- 1.1 With respect to Personal Data under Joint Control of the Parties, the Parties envisage that they shall each be a Data Controller in respect of that Personal Data in accordance with the terms of this 0 {Joint Controller Agreement}) in replacement of Clause 24.2-24.15 {Where one Party is Controller and the other Party is Processor) and 24.17-24.27 {Independent Controllers of Personal Data}. Accordingly, the Parties each undertake to comply with the applicable Data Protection Legislation in respect of their Processing of such Personal Data as Data Controllers.
- 1.2 The Parties agree that the [Supplier/Authority]:
 - (a) is the exclusive point of contact for Data Subjects and is responsible for all steps necessary to comply with the GDPR regarding the exercise by Data Subjects of their rights under the GDPR;
 - (b) shall direct Data Subjects to its Data Protection Officer or suitable alternative in connection with the exercise of their rights as Data Subjects and for any enquiries concerning their Personal Data or privacy;
 - (c) is solely responsible for the Parties' compliance with all duties to provide information to Data Subjects under Articles 13 and 14 of the GDPR;
 - (d) is responsible for obtaining the informed consent of Data Subjects, in accordance with the GDPR, for Processing in connection with the Services where consent is the relevant legal basis for that Processing; and
 - (e) shall make available to Data Subjects the essence of this Joint Controller Agreement (and notify them of any changes to it) concerning the allocation of responsibilities as Joint Controller and its role as exclusive point of contact, the Parties having used their best endeavours to agree the terms of that essence. This must be outlined in the [Supplier's/Authority's] privacy policy (which must be readily available by hyperlink or otherwise on all of its public facing services and marketing).
- 1.3 Notwithstanding the terms of paragraph .2, the Parties acknowledge that a Data Subject has the right to exercise their legal rights under the Data Protection Legislation as against the relevant Party as Data Controller.

2. Undertakings of both Parties

- 2.1 The Supplier and the Authority each undertake that they shall:
 - (a) report to the other Party every [x] months on:
 - the volume of Data Subject Access Requests (or purported Data Subject Access Requests) from Data Subjects (or third parties on their behalf);
 - (ii) the volume of requests from Data Subjects (or third parties on their behalf) to rectify, block or erase any Personal Data;
 - (iii) any other requests, complaints or communications from Data

- Subjects (or third parties on their behalf) relating to the other Party's obligations under applicable Data Protection Legislation;
- (iv) any communications from the Information Commissioner or any other regulatory authority in connection with Personal Data; and
- any requests from any third party for disclosure of Personal Data where compliance with such request is required or purported to be required by Law;

that it has received in relation to the subject matter of the Agreement during that period;

- (b) notify each other immediately if it receives any request, complaint or communication made as referred to in Paragraphs 1(a)(i) to (v); and
- (c) provide the other Party with full cooperation and assistance in relation to any request, complaint or communication made as referred to in Paragraphs 1(a)(iii) to (v) to enable the other Party to comply with the relevant timescales set out in the Data Protection Legislation.
- (d) not disclose or transfer the Personal Data to any third party unless necessary for the provision of the Services and, for any disclosure or transfer of Personal Data to any third party, save where such disclosure or transfer is specifically authorised under this Agreement or is required by Law). For the avoidance of doubt to which Personal Data is transferred must be subject to equivalent obligations which are no less onerous than those set out in this Annex.
- (e) request from the Data Subject only the minimum information necessary to provide the Services and treat such extracted information as Confidential Information.
- (f) ensure that at all times it has in place appropriate Protective Measures to guard against unauthorised or unlawful processing of the Personal Data and/or accidental loss, destruction or damage to the Personal Data and unauthorised or unlawful disclosure of or access to the Personal Data
- (g) take all reasonable steps to ensure the reliability and integrity of any of its Personnel who have access to the Personal Data and ensure that its Personnel:
 - (i) are aware of and comply with their duties under this 0 *{Joint Controller Agreement}*) and those in respect of Confidential Information
 - (ii) are informed of the confidential nature of the Personal Data, are subject to appropriate obligations of confidentiality and do not publish, disclose or divulge any of the Personal Data to any third party where the that Party would not be permitted to do so;
 - (iii) have undergone adequate training in the use, care, protection and handling of personal data as required by the applicable Data Protection Legislation;

- (h) ensure that it has in place Protective Measures as appropriate to protect against a Data Loss Event having taken account of the:
 - (i) nature of the data to be protected;
 - (ii) harm that might result from a Data Loss Event;
 - (iii) state of technological development; and
 - (iv) cost of implementing any measures.
- (i) ensure that it has the capability (whether technological or otherwise), to the extent required by Data Protection Legislation, to provide or correct or delete at the request of a Data Subject all the Personal Data relating to that Data Subject that the Supplier holds; and
- (j) ensure that it notifies the other Party as soon as it becomes aware of a Data Loss Event.
- 2.2 Each Joint Controller shall use its reasonable endeavours to assist the other Controller to comply with any obligations under applicable Data Protection Legislation and shall not perform its obligations under this Annex in such a way as to cause the other Joint Controller to breach any of its' obligations under applicable Data Protection Legislation to the extent it is aware, or ought reasonably to have been aware, that the same would be a breach of such obligations

3. Data Protection Breach

- 3.1 Without prejudice to Paragraph .2, each Party shall notify the other Party promptly and without undue delay, and in any event within 48 hours, upon becoming aware of any Personal Data Breach or circumstances that are likely to give rise to a Personal Data Breach, providing the other Party and its advisors with:
 - (a) sufficient information and in a timescale which allows the other Party to meet any obligations to report a Personal Data Breach under the Data Protection Legislation;
 - (b) all reasonable assistance, including:
 - (i) co-operation with the other Party and the Information Commissioner investigating the Personal Data Breach and its cause, containing and recovering the compromised Personal Data and compliance with the applicable guidance;
 - (ii) co-operation with the other Party including taking such reasonable steps as are directed by the Authority to assist in the investigation, mitigation and remediation of a Personal Data Breach;
 - (iii) co-ordination with the other Party regarding the management of public relations and public statements relating to the Personal Data Breach:
 - (iv) providing the other Party and to the extent instructed by the other Party to do so, and/or the Information Commissioner investigating the Personal Data Breach, with complete information relating to the

Personal Data Breach, including, without limitation, the information set out in Paragraph .2.

- 3.2 Each Party shall take all steps to restore, re-constitute and/or reconstruct any Personal Data where it has lost, damaged, destroyed, altered or corrupted as a result of a Personal Data Breach as if it was that Party's own data at its own cost with all possible speed and shall provide the other Party with all reasonable assistance in respect of any such Personal Data Breach, including providing the other Party, as soon as possible and within 48 hours of the Personal Data Breach relating to the Personal Data Breach, in particular:
 - (a) the nature of the Personal Data Breach;
 - (b) the nature of Personal Data affected;
 - (c) the categories and number of Data Subjects concerned;
 - (d) the name and contact details of the Supplier's Data Protection Officer or other relevant contact from whom more information may be obtained;
 - (e) measures taken or proposed to be taken to address the Personal Data Breach; and
 - (f) describe the likely consequences of the Personal Data Breach.

4. Audit

- 4.1 The Supplier shall permit:
 - the Authority, or a third-party auditor acting under the Authority's direction, to conduct, at the Authority's cost, data privacy and security audits, assessments and inspections concerning the Supplier's data security and privacy procedures relating to Personal Data, its compliance with this 0 and the Data Protection Legislation.
 - (b) the Authority, or a third-party auditor acting under the Authority's direction, access to premises at which the Personal Data is accessible or at which it is able to inspect any relevant records, including the record maintained under Article 30 GDPR by the Supplier so far as relevant to the Agreement, and procedures, including premises under the control of any third party appointed by the Supplier to assist in the provision of the Services.
- 4.2 The Authority may, in its sole discretion, require the Supplier to provide evidence of the Supplier's compliance with Paragraph .1 in lieu of conducting such an audit, assessment or inspection.

5. Impact Assessments

- 5.1 The Parties shall:
 - (a) provide all reasonable assistance to each other to prepare any Data Protection Impact Assessment as may be required (including provision of detailed information and assessments in relation to processing operations, risks and measures);

(b) maintain full and complete records of all Processing carried out in respect of the Personal Data in connection with this Agreement, in accordance with the terms of Article 30 GDPR.

6. ICO Guidance

The Parties agree to take account of any guidance issued by the Information Commissioner and/or any relevant Central Government Body. The Authority may on not less than thirty (30) Working Days' notice to the Supplier amend this Agreement to ensure that it complies with any guidance issued by the Information Commissioner and/or any relevant Central Government Body.

7. Liabilities for Data Protection Breach

[Guidance: This paragraph represents a risk share, you may wish to reconsider the apportionment of liability and whether recoverability of losses are likely to be hindered by the contractual limitation of liability provisions]

- 7.1 If financial penalties are imposed by the Information Commissioner on either the Authority or the Supplier for a Personal Data Breach ("Financial Penalties") then the following shall occur:
 - (a) If in the view of the Information Commissioner, the Authority is responsible for the Personal Data Breach, in that it is caused as a result of the actions or inaction of the Authority, its employees, agents, contractors (other than the Supplier) or systems and procedures controlled by the Authority, then the Authority shall be responsible for the payment of such Financial Penalties. In this case, the Authority will conduct an internal audit and engage at its reasonable cost when necessary, an independent third party to conduct an audit of any such data incident. The Supplier shall provide to the Authority and its third party investigators and auditors, on request and at the Supplier's reasonable cost, full cooperation and access to conduct a thorough audit of such data incident;
 - (b) If in the view of the Information Commissioner, the Supplier is responsible for the Personal Data Breach, in that it is not a breach that the Authority is responsible for, then the Supplier shall be responsible for the payment of these Financial Penalties. The Supplier will provide to the Authority and its auditors, on request and at the Supplier's sole cost, full cooperation and access to conduct a thorough audit of such data incident.
 - (c) If no view as to responsibility is expressed by the Information Commissioner, then the Authority and the Supplier shall work together to investigate the relevant data incident and allocate responsibility for any Financial Penalties as outlined above, or by agreement to split any financial penalties equally if no responsibility for the Personal Data Breach can be apportioned. In the event that the Parties do not agree such apportionment then such Dispute shall be referred to the Dispute Resolution Procedure).
- 7.2 If either the Authority or the Supplier is the defendant in a legal claim brought before a court of competent jurisdiction ("Court") by a third party in respect of a Personal Data Breach, then

unless the Parties otherwise agree, the Party that is determined by the final decision of the court to be responsible for the Personal Data Breach shall be liable for the losses arising from such breach. Where both Parties are liable, the liability will be apportioned between the Parties in accordance with the decision of the Court.

- 7.3 In respect of any losses, cost claims or expenses incurred by either Party as a result of a Personal Data Breach (the "Claim Losses"):
 - (a) if the Authority is responsible for the relevant breach, then the Authority shall be responsible for the Claim Losses;
 - (b) if the Supplier is responsible for the relevant breach, then the Supplier shall be responsible for the Claim Losses: and
 - (c) if responsibility is unclear, then the Authority and the Supplier shall be responsible for the Claim Losses equally.
- 7.4 Nothing in Paragraphs ,2-.3 shall preclude the Authority and the Supplier reaching any other agreement, including by way of compromise with a third party complainant or claimant, as to the apportionment of financial responsibility for any Claim Losses as a result of a Personal Data Breach, having regard to all the circumstances of the breach and the legal and financial obligations of the Authority.

8. Termination

8.1 If the Supplier is in material Default under any of its obligations under this *{Joint Control Agreement}*, the Authority shall be entitled to terminate this Agreement by issuing a Termination Notice to the Supplier in accordance with Clause 33 *{Termination Rights}*.

9. Sub-Processing

- 9.1 In respect of any Processing of Personal performed by a third party on behalf of a Party, that Party shall:
 - (a) carry out adequate due diligence on such third party to ensure that it is capable of providing the level of protection for the Personal Data as is required by this Agreement, and provide evidence of such due diligence to the other Party where reasonably requested; and
 - (b) ensure that a suitable agreement is in place with the third party as required under applicable Data Protection Legislation.

10. Data Retention

10.1 The Parties agree to erase Personal Data from any computers, storage devices and storage media that are to be retained as soon as practicable after it has ceased to be necessary for them to retain such Personal Data under applicable Data Protection Legislation and their privacy policy (save to the extent (and for the limited period) that such information needs to be retained by a Party for statutory compliance purposes or as otherwise required by this Agreement), and taking all further actions as may be necessary to ensure its compliance with Data Protection Legislation and its privacy policy.

ANNEX 2: CONTROLLER TO CONTROLLER STANDARD CONTRACTUAL CLAUSES

The version of the EU SCCs available at:

https://commission.europa.eu/publications/standard-contractual-clauses-international-transfers_en

as updated from time to time

The version of the UK IDTA available at:

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/uk-gdpr-guidance-and-resources/international-transfers/international-data-transfer-agreement-and-guidance/

as updated from time to time.

ANNEX 3: CONTROLLER TO PROCESSOR STANDARD CONTRACTUAL CLAUSES

The version of the EU SCCs available at:

 $https://commission.europa.eu/publications/standard-contractual-clauses-international transfers_en\\$

as updated from time to time

The version of the UK IDTA available at:

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/uk-gdpr-guidance-and-resources/international-transfers/international-data-transfer-agreement-and-guidance/

as updated from time to time.

This Agreement has been duly executed by the Parties on the date which appears at the head of its page 1.

SIGNED for and on behalf of VF WORLDWIDE HOLDINGS LIMITED by an an Authorised Signatory:)	Signature: Name (block capitals):	Redacted' Under FOIA Section 40, Personal Information for the Authority
SIGNED for and on behalf of VF WORLDWIDE HOLDINGS LIMITED by an an Authorised Signatory:)	Position: Date:	Redacted' Under FOIA Section 40, Personal Information for the Supplier
		24.6.	8/30/23
)	Signature:	Redacted' Under FOIA Section 40, Personal Information for the Authority
		Name (block capitals):	Redacted' Under FOIA
		Position:	Section 40, Personal Information for the Supplier
		Date:	8/30/23
SIGNED for and on behalf of The Secretary of State for the Home Department (acting through UK Visas & Immigration)		Signature:	
)	Name (block capitals):	
)	Position:	
		Date:	
	Red	dacted' Under FOIA	

Redacted' Under FOIA Section 40, Personal Information for the Supplier 8/30/23

Section 40, Personal Information for the Authority